

#### WAR AND CONSCIENCE IN THE NUCLEAR AGE

#### Also by Sydney D. Bailey

Christian Perspectives on Nuclear Weapons
How Wars End (2 vols)
The Making of Resolution 242
The Procedure of the UN Security Council
Voting in the UN Security Council
The General Assembly of the United Nations
The Secretariat of the United Nations
A Short Political Guide to the United Nations
British Parliamentary Democracy
Ceylon
Parliamentary Government in Southern Asia
Naissance de Nouvelle Démocraties
Peaceful Settlements of International Disputes

# War and Conscience in the Nuclear Age

Sydney D. Bailey

ISBN 978-0-333-44384-2 ISBN 978-1-349-18866-6 (eBook) DOI 10.1007/978-1-349-18866-6

© Sydney D. Bailey 1987 Softcover reprint of the hardcover 1st edition 1987

All rights reserved. For information, write: Scholarly & Reference Division, St. Martin's Press, Inc., 175 Fifth Avenue, New York, NY 10010

First published in the United States of America in 1988

ISBN 978-0-312-01345-5

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Bailey, Sydney Dawson,

War and conscience in the nuclear age/Sydney D. Bailey.

p. cm.

Bibliography: p.

Includes index.

ISBN 978-0-312-01345-5: \$32.50

1. War—Moral and ethical aspects. 2. War—Religious aspects—Christianity. 3. War (International law) 4. Just war doctrine. I. Title.

U22.B25 1987

172′.42—dc 19

87-18755

CIP

#### For Brenda

## Contents

$A_{I}$	opendices and Tables	ix
Αŀ	pbreviations	x
Gl	ossary of Military and Disarmament Terms	xi
Αc	knowledgments	xvii
Int	troduction	1
1	The Just War in Christian Ethics	8
	The early Church	8
	Saints Ambrose and Augustine	10
	Saint Thomas Aquinas, Vitoria, Cajetan, and	
	Suárez	13
	Luther and Calvin	18
	William Penn's 'Holy Experiment'	20
	War in the twentieth century	22
	Problems of the Just War	28
	(1) proportionality	28
	(2) double effect	30
	(3) intention, threat, and bluff	30
	(4) deterrence, war-fighting, and war-winning	33
	(5) just on both sides?	33
2	The Just War in International Law	35
	Hugo Grotius: the father of international law	35
	Total war and absolute weapons	44
	Attempts to outlaw war	47
	Individual responsibility under international law	48
3	Human Rights in Armed Conflict	63
	Teheran Conference on Human Rights and UN	
	General Assembly, 1968	63
	UN report and decisions, 1969	66
	UN report and decisions, 1970	68
	UN reports and decisions, 1971–7	77
	Human rights in territories occupied by Israel	82

viii Contents

4	International Humanitarian Law	91
	The law of Geneva	92
	The law of the Hague	99
	Retribution and reprisals in armed conflict	106
	Attempts to ban the use of chemical and	
	bacteriological (biological) weapons (CBW)	108
	Attempts to ban the use of nuclear weapons	117
	Optimists and pessimists	119
	Irregular fighters and internal wars	120
	The International Red Cross	123
5	Disarmament	135
	Negotiating machinery	140
	The issues	141
	The results	142
	Verification and compliance	148
	(1) On-site inspection	149
	(2) National technical means	149
	(3) Consultation	150
	Alleged violations	151
6	In Obedience to Conscience	156
	Promise and performance	156
	The necessities of war and the claims of humanity	158
	Deterring war and conditional intentions	165
	National consensus and personal conscience	167
Appendices		179
No	otes and References	192
Bibliography		200
Index		203

## Appendices and Tables

	APPENDICES	
1	Judgment of the Nürnberg Tribunal, 1946	179
	(a) crimes against peace	
	(b) war crimes	
2	Essentials of Peace (GA res. 290, 1949)	179
3	Peace through Deeds (GA res. 380, 1950)	179
4	Use of nuclear and thermonuclear weapons (GA	
	res. 1653, 1961)	180
5	Intervention in domestic affairs (GA res. 2131,	
	1965)	180
6	Threat or use of force (GA res. 2160, 1966)	181
7	Use of chemical and bacteriological weapons (GA	
	res. 2162B, 1966)	181
8	Threat or use of force (GA res. 2625, 1970)	182
9	Basic principles for the protection of civilians (GA	
	res. 2675, 1970)	183
10	International security (GA res. 2734, 1970)	183
11	Threat or use of force (GA res. 2936, 1972)	184
12	Memorandum on incendiary weapons, 11 July 1973	184
13	Definition of aggression (GA res. 3314, 1974)	186
14	Protection of women and children in armed conflicts	
	(GA res. 3318, 1974)	188
15	Documents issued by the ICRC, 1978	189
	(a) Fundamental rules of international humanita-	
	rian law	189
	(b) The soldier's rules	190
16	Nuclear weapons (Comment of the Human Rights	
	Committee, 1984)	190
	TABLES	
1	POWs, captured civilians, and political detainees	
	visited by the ICRC, 1979–83	128
2	Arms control and disarmament agreements	144

### **Abbreviations**

ABM Anti-Ballistic Missile

BW Bacteriological (Biological) Weapon

CBW Chemical and Bacteriological (Biological) Weapon

CD Conference on Disarmament
CEP Circular Error Probable

CS gas Orthochlorobenzylidene malononitrile (chemical

harassing agent)

CTB Comprehensive Test Ban

CW Chemical Weapon EMP Electro-Magnetic Pulse

ERW Enhanced Radiation Weapon (neutron bomb)

FM27-10 US Department of the Army, Field Manual, *The* 

Law of Land Warfare, 1956

GA UN General Assembly

GAOR General Assembly Official Records
IAEA International Atomic Energy Agency
ICBM Inter-Continental Ballistic Missile

ICRC International Committee of the Red Cross

ILC International Law CommissionMAD Mutual Assured Destruction

MIRV Multiple Independently-targetable Re-entry Vehicle

MRV Multiple Re-entry Vehicle

NPT (nuclear) Non-Proliferation Treaty

PNE Peaceful Nuclear Explosion

RV Re-entry Vehicle

SALT Strategic Arms Limitation Talks

SC UN Security Council

SCOR Security Council Official Records
SLBM Submarine-Launched Ballistic Missile

UNESCO United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural

Organisation

UNRWA United Nations Relief and Works Agency for

Palestine Refugees in the Near East

WHO World Health Organisation

## Glossary of Military and Disarmament Terms

anti-ballistic missile (ABM) missile designed to intercept and destroy an incoming warhead

atomic weapon see nuclear weapon

ballistic missile a missile which travels outside the earth's atmosphere, following an

elliptical trajectory for much of

its flight

battlefield weapon weapon used in direct military

combat on land

biological weapons (BW) living organisms or infective material intended for use in warfare

to cause disease or death in humans, animals, or plants

centrifugation a method of enriching natural

uranium

chemical weapons (CW) chemical substances – whether gaseous, liquid, or solid – employed in combat because of

their direct toxic effects on humans, animals, or plants

circular error probable (CEP) the radius of a circle within which half the weapons are expected to

fall, used to indicate accuracy

Conference on Disarmament (CD)

negotiating body, based in Geneva, which is composed of 40 states, including all the nuclear-weapon

powers

conventional weapon weapon other than chemical, biological, or nuclear

co-operative measures measures taken by one side to enhance the other side's ability

to verify

cruise missile a guided missile which travels in the earth's atmosphere, similar

to an unmanned aircraft

Glossarv comprehensive (complete) ban on **CTB** testing nuclear weapons in all environments the prevention of hostile military deterrence action by fear of counter-attack enhanced radiation warhead a thermonuclear weapon so designed as to increase the initial (ERW) radiation and reduce the other effects uranium which has been purified enriched uranium from 0.7% in natural form, perhaps to over 90%, almost certainly by gaseous diffusion or centrifugation an increase in the intensity and escalation scale of military action fall-out particles contaminated radioactive material, descending to the earth's surface following a nuclear explosion the merging of many separate fires firestorm to form a large mass fire from

which hot gases rise in a single column, leading to inrushing winds which prevent the fire from spreading but add fresh oxygen so that its intensity increases

with

a military operation carried out on the attacker's own premeditated initiative: often used more narrowly to refer to a pre-emptive operation aimed at knocking out within a very short period of time all or part of an enemy's nuclear strike capability

process whereby the nucleus of a heavy atom splits into lighter nuclei with the release of substantial amounts of energy

the ability to respond to provocation or aggression at an appropriate level, whether nuclear or conventional, first put forward as

fission

first strike

flexible response

	an alternative to massive retaliation in the early 1960s and officially adopted in 1967 as the basis of NATO's strategy
fusion	process whereby light atoms com- bine to form a heavy atom with the release of very substantial amounts of energy
gaseous diffusion	a method of enriching natural uranium
half life	the time required for radioactivity to decay to half of its original value
inter-continental ballistic missile (ICBM)	a ballistic missile consisting of booster, one or more re-entry vehicles, penetration aids, a post-boost vehicle in the case of a MIRVed missile, and war- head(s), with a range exceeding 3000 miles
kiloton (kt)	measure of the explosive yield of a nuclear weapon equivalent to 1000 tons of TNT
megaton (Mt)	measure of the explosive yield of a nuclear weapon equivalent to one million tons of TNT
multiple independently-targetable re-entry vehicle (MIRV)	carried on a single missile but with warheads capable of being directed against separate targets considerable distances apart
multiple re-entry vehicle (MRV)	re-entry vehicle of a ballistic mis- sile, capable of being directed against a single cluster of targets
mutual assured destruction (MAD)	the situation in which both sides are capable of inflicting massive damage even after absorbing a first strike
mutual deterrence	situation in which both parties are deterred from launching an attack for fear of retaliation
national technical means	procedures and equipment for verifying compliance with an agreement

		,
neutron bomb		see enhanced radiation warhead
nuclear weapon		a weapon in which energy is released by the fission or fusion of atomic nuclei
peaceful nuclear e (PNEs)	explosions	application of nuclear explosions for such peaceful purposes as digging canals, creating under- ground cavities, etc
Polaris		a submarine-launched intermediate-range ballistic missile of US manufacture, originally designed to carry three non-MIRVed warheads, first deployed in 1960; sometimes used loosely to describe the submarines on which the missiles are carried
pre-emptive strike		a military operation mounted in expectation of enemy attack and designed to minimise its effects
rapid re-load		the capability to fire a second missile within a short period of time
reactor		an apparatus designed to produce energy by the fission of atomic nuclei
re-entry vehicle (RV)		the part of a ballistic missile which carries the warhead into the earth's atmosphere at the end of its trajectory
reprocessing		the separation of plutonium from the spent fuel elements from a nuclear reactor
Strategic Arms Limitati (SALT)	ion Talks	between the United States and the Soviet Union which began in 1969, seeking to limit the strategic nuclear forces
security assurance		declaration not to use nuclear weapons in defined circum- stances
separation		the separation of plutonium from other substances of the spent fuel of a nuclear reactor
silo		underground missile shelter

somatic	related to the body
Standing Consultative Commission (SCC)	US-Soviet consultative body estab- lished in accordance with SALT
strategic weapons	weapons of last resort able to reach an enemy's homeland: custo- marily used to refer to ICBMs, SLBMs, and bomber aircraft of intercontinental range, some- times also to ABMs designed to counter ICBMs or SLBMs
tactical	carried out in immediate support of military operation (NATO is tending to give up this term)
terminal guidance	guidance provided in the final, near-target phase of the flight of a missile
thermonuclear weapon	a weapon in which energy is released by the fusion of atomic nuclei
threshold test ban	agreement not to test underground nuclear weapons with a yield exceeding 150 kts, 1974
Tlatelolco, Treaty of	treaty designed to keep Latin America free of nuclear weapons, 1967
toxins	poisonous substances which are products of organisms but are inanimate and incapable of reproducing themselves
Trident C4	a submarine-launched intercontinental ballistic missile of US manufacture with up to 8 MIRVed warheads, first flighttested in 1977; sometimes used loosely to describe the submarines on which the missiles are carried
Trident D5	improved version, longer range, more warheads
uranium enrichment	see enriched uranium
warhead	that part of a weapon which contains the high explosive, nuclear,

xvi Glossary

chemical, or biological material or device

yield the energy released in an explosion, measured in tons of TNT, kilotons (kts), or megatons (Mts)

## Acknowledgments

In writing this book, I have learned most on some crucial issues from those whose opinions differ from my own. I am grateful to friends in the British Council of Churches, the Council on Christian Approaches to Defence and Disarmament, the International Institute for Strategic Studies, and a panel of the American Society of International Law for forcing me to think about the Nürnberg principles and the potential contradiction between individual conscience and national consensus.

I have also appreciated the help of many colleagues in obtaining books, journals, and documents. I thank, in particular, Nicole Gallimore and John Montgomery in the library of the Royal Institute of International Affairs; Vivian Hewitt, formerly librarian at the Carnegie Endowment for International Peace; Diane Jumet in the office of the UN Secretary-General; Dominique Junod and Bruno Zimmerman, from the International Committee of the Red Cross; Jiri Toman, of the Henry Dunant Institute in Geneva; and Judith Baker and Diane Hendrik, in the Quaker UN Office in Geneva. I am grateful to the Catholic Central Library in London and the Catholic University of America Press for advice about English translations of Latin works, and the library at Friends House, London, and the Friends Historical Library, Swarthmore College, Pennsylvania, for help in tracking down records of what Quakers call the Holy Experiment.

Other friends (and, in two cases, complete strangers) suggested ideas to follow up, read and commented on the first draft of parts of the book, or helped in other ways. Some prefer that I not mention their names. To them, and to the following, I express warm thanks: Sir Hugh Beach, Geoffrey Best, Jack Boag, François Bugnion, Carl Builder, William Epstein, Jacques Freymond, Graham Gibbs, Guerman G. Gventsadse, the Rev. Richard Harries, the Rev. Anthony Harvey, Sir Arthur Hockaday, William Douglas Home, Michael Pakenham, Sir Michael Quinlan, Joseph Rotblat, Georg Schwarzenberger, Nicholas Sims, Duncan Wood, and the late Bishop B. C. Butler OSB.

The publications of the Stockholm International Peace Research Institute (SIPRI) have been invaluable.

S. D. B. June 1986

### Introduction

There are four kinds of contradiction in the principles and laws governing military activities. One, which has two aspects, is between promise and performance, between words and deeds. There is, in the first place, the contradiction between the obligation which states have assumed under international treaties not to resort to armed force, as against the way states actually behave. The UN Charter is a treaty to which most of the world's sovereign states have adhered and the obligations of which over-ride obligations under other international agreements (Art. 103 of the Charter). One of the obligations under the Charter is not to use force against the territorial integrity or political independence of any other state (Art. 2(4)). Those are fine words, to be sure, echoing the Kellogg-Briand renunciation of war as an instrument of national policy; but when we examine the deeds of states since 1945, we find that there have been many armed conflicts in disregard of UN Charter obligations. According to the Nürnberg Charter and a resolution of the UN General Assembly, to wage war in violation of an international treaty is a crime against peace (see Appendices 1(a) and 13).

A second aspect of the contradiction between theory and practice. between words and deeds, concerns the obligations assumed by states under international humanitarian law as against the way states actually behave when they engage in military operations. To take one example. it is abundantly clear from treaties in the Hague and Geneva streams of law, and in resolutions of the UN General Assembly, that it is prohibited to make direct attacks on civilians, prisoners of war (POWs), wounded and sick combatants, medical services, military chaplains, or other non-combatants. Those also are fine words, but it is apparent from the reports of the International Committee of the Red Cross, and what we know from the media in our own country, that military operations are often conducted in substantial disregard of the principle of non-combatant immunity. The British manual of military law states plainly that it is a generally recognised rule of international law 'that civilians must not be made the object of attack directed exclusively against them' (para. 13). Governments do not deny that international law prohibits direct attacks on non-combatants. Indeed, it is significant that when states violate this or other rules of international law, they do not deny that such acts are contrary to the

laws of war, but justify the violation on the ground that the enemy had committed a prior illegality, or even that the action was intended to put an end to the war quickly and thus to save lives.

International law is not simply what scholars write in books. Its sources include treaties, judicial decisions, and 'the general principles of law recognized by civilized nations', but also 'international custom, as evidence of a general practice accepted as law' (Art. 38 of the Statute of the International Court). Does that mean, then, that if enough states violate the principle of non-combatant immunity often enough, direct attacks on non-combatants would thereby become licit and be recognised as 'international custom ... a general practice accepted as law'?

Surely not. Such attacks would violate other sources of international law, including treaties (the Hague and Geneva Conventions) and judicial decisions (the Nürnberg judgment), as well as a general principle of law recognised by civilised nations and to be found in most military manuals. Indeed, I know of no occasion in the past forty years when a government has claimed that direct attacks on non-combatants are or should be regarded as 'international custom' or 'a general practice accepted as law', though governments continue to make, or threaten to make, such attacks. A recent study prepared for the Rand Corporation, which is not usually squeamish on defence issues, concluded that the policy of mutual assured destruction depends on acts which would be unlawful under the international law of armed conflicts. According to the Nürnberg Charter, to violate the laws or customs of war is a war crime (see Appendix 1(b)).

But there is another contradiction which is encountered when states or other entities engage in military operations and which is apparent in the main treaties governing the conduct of armed conflict – the Hague Conventions of 1899 and 1907 on the laws and customs of war on land, the four Geneva (Red Cross) Conventions of 1949, the Hague Convention of 1954 on the protection of cultural property, and the two Additional Protocols of 1977 to the Geneva Conventions, as well as in the Charter of the Nürnberg Tribunal. There is, on the one hand, the pressure of military exigency. The treaties do not use identical language for this pressure, but the meaning is the same – the necessities of war,<sup>2</sup> military necessity or necessities,<sup>3</sup> imperative or urgent or unavoidable or absolute military necessity or necessities,<sup>4</sup> the arbitrary judgment of military commanders.<sup>5</sup> Against these pressures must be set 'the usages established among civilized peoples, the laws of humanity, the dictates of the public conscience'.<sup>6</sup>

The conflict between the necessities of war and the laws of humanity was referred to in one of the earliest humanitarian instruments. the St Petersburg Declaration of 1868. The wording quoted at the end of the last paragraph is taken from the Martens Clause, which formed part of the Hague Convention of 1899 on the laws and customs of war on land, and has been repeatedly re-affirmed in subsequent treaties. The Hague Convention of 1899 was known to be incomplete when it was adopted, and it has in any event been overtaken by advances in military technology; but it was to apply until a more complete code of the laws of war could be issued. Parts of the laws of war have been developed and codified since 1899, but the task is by no means complete. There is, for example, no rule of international law dealing specifically with the use of nuclear weapons, though the UN General Assembly has issued a number of recommendations on the subject (see Appendix 4). Military commanders must often face acutely difficult decisions when seeking to give appropriate weight to military necessity, while at the same time avoiding actions which might cause unnecessary suffering or superfluous injury, as well as actions which might cause excessive harm to non-combatants as an indirect effect of a legitimate military attack.

In examining these contradictions, I have come to realise the close connection between the Just War doctrine as an ethical concept, as a norm of international law, and as the humanitarian basis of Red Cross and Red Crescent agencies (chapters 1–4). The International Committee of the Red Cross avoids using the expression *Just War*, as it is so frequently misused by those who want to justify their own side by resort to a slogan. The Just War concept has, nevertheless, a clear meaning in the Christian tradition, and I see no sufficient reason for seeking an alternative expression. Moreover, it should be stressed that the Just War doctrine is composed of restrictions and prohibitions rather than permissions.

I have sought to show in chapters 3 and 4 that there is no longer an adequate reason for separating the law of the Hague (conduct of military operations) from the law of Geneva (humanitarian protection of and aid to the victims of war). Whatever their original sources, the two streams of law have now merged.

I have made clear in chapter 5 that arms control and disarmament agreements necessarily include measures for effective international control. Three main kinds of verification are envisaged or used: on-site inspection, national technical means, and consultative procedures. It should be obvious from chapters 3 and 4 that human rights and

humanitarian treaties also need proper supervision to ensure compliance, and also sanctions in the event of grave breaches. Most of the humanitarian norms for armed conflict are clear: what we still need are effective mechanisms of verification and implementation. This may eventually mean supplementing the International Court of Justice at the Hague, which deals with states and international organisations, with an international criminal court before which could be brought individuals accused of breaches of humanitarian law or other international crimes.

In chapter 5 I review some of the reasons for negotiating on the control and reduction of weapons, describe the negotiating machinery which now exists, review some of the difficulties of reaching agreement when there are major military asymmetries, and refer also to the role of unilateral initiatives and tacit understandings. I then turn to the conclusions of two UN studies on nuclear weapons, the materials and installations needed for nuclear explosions, the launching platforms and delivery vehicles, the financial costs of acquiring nuclear weapons and the dangers of proliferation, and I describe what it is believed would be the effects of using nuclear weapons and the durability of some radioactive substances released in nuclear explosions. I then examine the various processes which have been the subjects of international negotiation and agreement: research, testing, development, manufacture, stockpiling, transfer, and deployment of weapons, and their destruction or dismantling. While the central strategic balance has been remarkably stable, this has been due to separate national or alliance decisions and procedures rather than to substantial supervised disarmament. Reasonable security for the two alliances could be assured at balanced but much lower levels of weaponry. The results of negotiating over forty years are hopeful in the context of the difficulties to be overcome but miniscule in the context of the dangers that remain.

As the world moves hesitantly from arms control to minor or interim measures of reduction or restraint, and even more hesitantly along the tortuous path to substantial reductions, we have to ask whether there are any weapons or methods of war which violate ethical and legal norms so clearly that they should be unreservedly prohibited. And if, in spite of all efforts at peace-making and peace-keeping, wars still occur, are there any restraints which civilised nations should observe, unilaterally or on a reciprocal basis?

This book began life in 1967 as a one-page summary for a Quaker committee of those categories of persons entitled to protection and

immunity from direct attack in armed conflict under the Hague and Geneva Conventions. It was then revised and expanded to nine pages for a conference in Oxford in 1968 of the Council on Christian Approaches to Defence and Disarmament (CCADD), and was further revised and expanded to nineteen pages for another CCADD conference in the Netherlands in 1969. It was later considered by a panel of the American Society for International Law. Some of this material then formed the basis for a book entitled *Prohibitions and Restraints in War* which was published in 1972 under the auspices of the Royal Institute of International Affairs. This has been out of print for about a decade.

In a review of that book published in *International Affairs*, Alastair Buchan expressed regret that I had not injected more of my own views into it.

It would have been invaluable to have had, in addition to meticulous research and multiple quotations..., [Bailey's] own assessment of what that intractable body, the international community, great powers and small, stable and unstable societies, democracies and dictatorships, will or will not accept by way of codified restraints in war and conflict, what is enforceable and what is not. One can only hope that this is for a later volume.

The selection of material for any book necessarily represents a personal opinion; beyond that, I have in the main preferred to provide the basic material on which the reader can make up his or her own mind. Moreover, I doubt whether my personal views are very interesting or very important, and I know that they have often been immature and incoherent, even if held with passion and tenacity. I have exercised less restraint this time and expressed my own views on some issues, sometimes explicitly, as in chapter 6, but more often by implication. Some of the issues to which Alastair Buchan drew attention will remain intractable so long as governments put short-term advantage before long-term interest.

Those absolute pacifists who believe that war is in all circumstances immoral devote their main energies to its prevention and, when it occurs, to personal abstention, and have tended to regard the drawing up of humanitarian rules by which it should be conducted as a distraction from their main task or even as positively dangerous, because an effort of this kind might seem to imply that war can be made civilised. Most of those who hold that war may in certain circumstances be the lesser evil believe that it should not be conducted without limit or restraint. Increasingly during the past century,

governments have issued declarations or negotiated agreements to prohibit unilateral resort to armed force or to ensure that, if armed conflict does occur, it is conducted with discrimination and proportion.

That is the third contradiction: between the belief that all-out war is too terrible to serve any rational or just purpose, and the belief that precisely because all-out war is so terrible, civilised human beings must seek to subject it to limitations. The dilemma is that the more war is subject to restraints, the more 'thinkable' it becomes. If war is more 'thinkable', is it therefore more likely? Or, on the contrary, should we make war as monstrous as human ingenuity can contrive in the hope that the 'unthinkability' of war would exercise a deterrent effect?

The fourth contradiction, or possible contradiction, is between loyalty to the state or community and obedience to conscience. For most of us, this dilemma has never arisen, though we may admire those elsewhere who have put conscience first – Claus von Stauffenberg, Dietrich Bonhoeffer, and the other anti-Hitler plotters in Nazi Germany; Chief Albert Luthuli and the campaigners against unjust laws in South Africa; Alexander Solzhenitsyn, Andrei Sakharov, and the other Soviet dissidents.

For almost all of us, there *could* conceivably come a point where we would refuse on grounds of conscience to undertake a particular task: a Catholic doctor might refuse to perform an abortion, a Quaker scientist might decline to do research on germ warfare, an ordinary citizen might in certain cases refuse jury service if capital punishment were re-introduced, and so on.

In a democratic society, conscientious abstention of this kind is respected as much as possible. During the second world war, the law in Britain provided that those who sincerely objected to serving in the armed forces on conscientious grounds should be exempt from military service. It is a privilege to live in such a country, and some conscientious objectors may have been troubled that their contemporaries in 1939–45 were fighting and dying for a way of life that included the right not to fight.

How does the citizen behave where the system does not allow for conscientious objection? In what circumstances should we put individual conscience above superior orders or the law itself? Is civil disobedience ever a responsible option? Or, to carry the train of thought a stage further, is it ever a duty to conspire against unjust or oppressive rulers? At what point would we face the choice between obeying God rather than men?

All I would insist on here is that for many people in the world, these questions are not simply theoretical, they are real, immediate, and existential.

In this book, I review four of the contradictions arising in armed conflict: between words and deeds when states decide to resort to armed force and in the actual conduct of military operations, between military necessity and the demands of humanity, between making war more horrible and therefore unthinkable or more humane in the hope that thinkable war enhances deterrence, and between loyalty to the national consensus and obedience to conscience.

The UN Charter affirms that 'We the peoples' are determined to 'save succeeding generations from the scourge of war...'. The obligations and activities reviewed in this book are no substitute for the primary goal of the United Nations, which often seems impossible but always is necessary.

## 1 The Just War in Christian Ethics

Let hope keep you joyful; in trouble stand firm ... Call down blessings on your persecutors ... Never pay back evil for evil .... If possible, so far as it lies with you, live at peace with all men.

Paul's letter to the Christians in Rome
(New English Bible)

#### THE EARLY CHURCH

The doctrine of the Just War had its origin in Christian ethics more than 1000 years before Hugo Grotius began to clothe it in legal forms.

The first Christians did not perform military service, being more concerned with their religious tasks than with the secular affairs of the Roman Empire. The spirit of Christ was to transform the life of the individual. The essential social groupings were the family and the Church; within these, Christian principles were to have absolute validity. All other elements of human existence, including the state, belonged to 'the world'. The unbeliever was in bondage to 'the world', and only Jesus Christ could free him. Christian hope was based on the faith that individual men and women would be saved, but the redemption of 'the world' would not become visible until the return of Christ. This would inaugurate 'the next world', when God's perfect rule over all creation would be established. The earthly life of Christians was a period of preparation for full sainthood; their real citizenship was in heaven.

During the period of waiting until the Second Coming of Christ, believers were to be sober and industrious, content with their earthly circumstances, in all things submissive – young to old, women to men, servants to masters, and all to Caesar. Governmental authority, although pagan, was accepted as a divine institution and was to be obeyed so long as this did not conflict with Christian conscience.

Almost all Christian writers before the fourth century took it for granted that service in the army was incompatible with Christian principles. 'The Lord... in disarming Peter, unbelted every soldier', wrote Tertullian (about 200 AD). If a soldier were converted to Christianity, he was expected to give up military service. '[Once] we have embraced the faith and have been baptized, we either must immediately leave military service (as many have done); or we must resort to all kinds of excuses in order to avoid any action which is ... forbidden' (Tertullian again). Several cases are recorded by both Christian and non-Christian writers of converted soldiers suffering martyrdom.<sup>1</sup>

The early Christians thus did not bear arms, but they did not usually condemn the use of arms by the unconverted if this were necessary for the purpose of maintaining an orderly fabric of society.

Critics of Christianity maintained that the Christian attitude was irresponsible. They argued, first, that Christians accepted the benefits of Imperial Rome but were unwilling to meet all the obligations of citizenship. How would the Emperor be defended, asked Celsus (about 180 AD), if everybody were to embrace such a utopian religion? When asked how Christians should act when others were fighting, Tertullian said that the life of the Christian was to be of the quality that made war unnecessary, and that he was to pray for those who served righteously as soldiers. Origen (3rd century) put it like this:

We ... are much more helpful to the king than those who go into the field to fight .... And none fight better for the king than we do. We do not indeed fight under him, although he require it; but we do fight on his behalf ... by offering our prayers to God.

It was not surprising that the enemies of Christianity thought that this was to leave the dirty work to the unenlightened.

The other charge (and it was one that was to be made against Christian pacifists repeatedly, up to our own day) was that the practice of Christianity actually increased the number of wars. Sometimes the argument was that popular hatred of Christianity was itself a cause of war; in Saint Augustine's time, and particularly after the sack of Rome by Alaric in 410, it was said that the effect of Christian teaching was to weaken the will and capacity to resist aggression.

Arnobius (4th century) rebutted the first charge in these words:

Actually, regarding the wars which you say were begun on account of hatred of our religion, it would not be difficult to prove that after Christ was on earth, not only did they not increase but in great measure were reduced as a result of the repression of fierce passions. ... We have learned from his teachings ... that it is better to suffer wrong than be its cause.

The situation was to change radically during the fourth century. The first Christians had assumed that the pagan world of Caesar was wicked and doomed, that its redemption had to await the return of Christ. But the Second Coming was delayed and then, to the amazement of the Christians, the Emperor was converted. Not only that, Constantine ascribed his victories in war to the fact that he had adopted the Christian faith: assuredly those who believed in the God of the Christians would prosper, claimed Constantine, and pagans would suffer nothing but misfortune.

All this was to throw the Church into confusion. Some retreated into monasticism. Some joined utopian sects which were regarded as heretical, and in due course died or were coerced out of existence. The majority took the view that this was a fulfilment of Biblical prophecy and that they should seize the opportunity to extend the frontiers of Christianity into the political realm, even if this meant some modification in putting into practice the high ethical standards of the Christian gospel. In 380 the Emperor Theodosius I declared that Catholic Christianity was the state religion of the Roman Empire. Non-Christians were but 'foolish madmen' and should be 'branded with the ignominious name of heretics'. They would be punished with 'the chastisement of the divine condemnation' as well as with 'the punishment which our authority ... shall decide to inflict'. Christians were learning to live with the ambiguities of politics. The emblem of the cross was inscribed on the shields of Roman soldiers, and early in the fifth century non-Christians were excluded from serving in the army.

#### SAINTS AMBROSE AND AUGUSTINE

The pioneer in asserting the claims of the Church in the post-Constantinian era was Saint Ambrose, bishop of Milan (339–97). 'For the first time in history we find a representative of the Church entering the secular arena. ... Never before had the claims of the Church been asserted in so daring and uncompromising a manner.' Ambrose had been elected bishop of Milan by popular acclamation in 373, although he was a layman and had not at the time been baptised. Indeed, his

promotion in the Church from baptism and confirmation, via deacon and presbyter, to bishop, took place within the space of a week.

Ambrose wrote of the blessings of peace, but accepts the necessity of going to war in a just cause and 'when driven to it by the wrongs received'. Restraint is to be shown during the conduct of war and after victory. '[Justice] must even be preserved in all dealings with enemies .... But a deeper vengeance is taken on fiercer foes, and on those that are false as well as those who have done greater wrong.' Ambrose lays great stress on justice, which accords with nature, and 'is binding, even in war'. Clergy are to take no part in fighting 'for we have our thoughts fixed more on the duty of the soul than on that of the body'. He assured the Emperor Gratian of his prayers for the victory of Roman arms, but ten years later he did not hesitate to write a stern letter rebuking the Emperor Theodosius for the massacre of 7000 inhabitants of Thessalonica in retaliation for a seditious outbreak which had led to the murder of a number of officers of the garrison. Theodosius was excommunicated by Ambrose until he had shown public penance.

Saint Augustine (354–430) further developed the ideas put forward by Ambrose, but he did not pretend to be a systematic thinker. He was essentially a polemicist, and his most important works were written to combat heretical and schismatic tendencies – Manicheans, Donatists, Pelagians. These splinter groups varied greatly, but the one thing they had in common was the notion that it is obligatory and possible to be faithful to the gospel in this life, a rejection of the dilution of Christian discipleship which seemed inseparable from wholehearted participation in the affairs of 'the world'. They saw themselves as a holy remnant, undefiled and unspotted by the relativisms and ambiguities of secular affairs. Augustine, by contrast, was an enthusiastic exponent of involvement and responsibility.

Augustine's ideas of the Just War were by no means original. In rejecting the pacifism of the early Church, he was only giving a Christian flavour to Greek philosophy and Roman practice. Time and again in his writings, he insists that if fighting were contrary to Christian teaching, Christ would have told those soldiers he encountered to lay down their arms.

Augustine starts from the premiss that order is a very great good, and is a prerequisite of justice. If order is threatened or disturbed, the Christian is not allowed to kill in a private capacity, but may do so at the command of the lawful authorities: 'I do not approve of killing [in self-defence] unless one happens to be a soldier or public function-

ary...[acting] according to the commission lawfully given him, and in the manner becoming to his office.' Killing is also permitted at God's express command. He attaches great importance to the duty of obedience to the lawful authorities and considers that a soldier is 'innocent' even if he obeys an unrighteous command on the part of the ruler.

'Just wars [wrote Augustine] are usually defined as those which avenge injuries, when the nation or city against which warlike action is to be directed has neglected either to punish wrongs committed by its own citizens or to restore what has been unjustly taken by it.' It is the adversary's wickedness which makes a cause just: 'If the victory fall to the wicked (as sometimes it may) it is God's decree to humble the conquered, either reforming their sins, or punishing them.' God is at all times sovereign, 'ending [wars] sooner or later as He wills'.

Men ought to hate war and desire peace, but real peace will not be achieved in this world, 'because the mutability of human estate can never grant any realm an absolute security'. Real peace will be possible only in the heavenly city 'whose king is truth, whose law is love, whose measure is eternity'. Augustine wrote often that, though war is the contrary of peace, war's only purpose is to secure peace. Yet he is clearly uncomfortable with this paradox, and insists that 'it is a greater glory to destroy war with a word than men with a sword'.

The Christian is to wage war with moderation, to show mercy to prisoners and the defeated, 'especially where no disturbance of peace is to be feared'. If an earthly state observes Christian teachings, 'even war will not be waged without kindness'. Augustine makes an interesting distinction between the possession of weapons (deterrence) and their use (war-fighting). Christ had told Peter to take a sword, but rebuked him when he used it to cut off Malchus' ear. 'Doubtless it was mysterious that the Lord should require them to carry weapons, and forbid the use of them. But it was His part to give the suitable precepts, and it was their part to obey without reserve.'

Augustine was continually trying to rebut the charge that Christian doctrine is not adaptable to the customs of the secular realm, and it is here that his writings are least satisfactory. How is a state which claims to be based on Christian principles, he asks, to implement the precept to return evil with good, to turn the other cheek, to go the second mile? Augustine gives three answers. First, if the advice of Christ had been followed, the Roman state would have been founded, sanctified, strengthened, and enlarged very much more successfully than had been the case under non-Christian rulers. Let those who say that

Christian teaching is opposed to the welfare of the state consider how differently things would have turned out if only rulers and judges, parents and children, masters and slaves, tax-collectors and tax-payers, had followed Christian teaching: the critics would be forced to admit that nothing would provide more effectively for the safety of the realm than to observe Christian teaching. The Roman Empire had become rich and famous 'by natural virtues without true religion'; how much more might have been added if men had been Christian.

Secondly, the purpose of overcoming evil with good is to show how temporal things are to be despised for the sake of faith and justice. The intention must be to love both the victim and the aggressor, to bring the offender to repentance rather than to overcome him by force. But, adds Augustine without further explanation, 'we often have to act with a sort of kindly harshness, when we are trying to make unwilling souls yield, because we have to consider their welfare rather than their inclination'.

Thirdly, the precepts of Christ refer to the interior disposition of the heart rather than to the outward act.

## SAINT THOMAS AQUINAS, VITORIA, CAJETAN, AND SUÁREZ

For many centuries, the Christian Church had almost nothing but the scattered writings of Ambrose and Augustine as a basis for the Just War doctrine. The decretals of Gratian of Bologna (twelfth century) provide the beginning of systematic thought about the Christian concept of the Just War, and between the thirteenth and sixteenth centuries the Just War doctrine was further elaborated and refined. Conditions were laid down about the requirements of the doctrine, both as regards the purposes for which a Just War could be fought, the procedure by which it should be initiated, and the manner in which it had to be conducted.

Saint Thomas Aquinas (1226–74), like Augustine, starts from the assumption that war is opposed to charity, and then asks 'whether it is always a sin to wage war' (my italics). With admirable lucidity, Thomas writes that war may be just (or justified) if three conditions are satisfied.<sup>3</sup>

(1) The authority of the sovereign by whose command the war is to be waged. It is not the business of a private individual to declare war, he wrote, because he can seek redress of his rights from a tribunal.

- (2) A just cause is required, namely that those who are attacked should deserve it on account of some fault.
- (3) It is necessary that the belligerents should have a rightful intention, so that they intend the advancement of good or the avoidance of evil.

The first explicit requirement in point of time to be added to the three conditions of Thomas Aquinas was that for a war to be just, the ruler ought to be so sure of the degree of his power that he is morally certain of victory. War brings so many evils in its train that it is wicked to cause or permit these evils, and then fail to secure the good ends for which the war is fought. The Spanish Jesuit Francisco Suárez (1548–1617) claimed that the requirement about certainty of victory had been first put forward by Thomas de Vio Cajetan, an Italian Dominican (1469–1534), but the passage in Cajetan to which Suárez refers deals with superstitious amulets. In any case, Suárez considered that Cajetan had been too rigorous in his demand for moral certainty. First, because from a human standpoint, such a degree of certainty is almost impossible of realisation. Secondly, because it may be in the interest of a state not to await such certitude, 'but rather to test its ability to conquer the enemy, even when that ability is somewhat doubtful'. Thirdly, because if complete certainty were required, 'a weaker sovereign could never declare war upon a stronger'. Suárez considered that a ruler should avoid an offensive war if there was not a 'probable expectation of victory, or one equally balanced as to the chances of victory or defeat'. A defensive war might be attempted without such certainty or balance of chances, because in that case 'it is a matter of necessity'.

Three further conditions of a Just War were made explicit by a succession of gifted Spanish neo-scholastics, especially Francisco de Vitoria (c. 1480–1546) and Suárez.

The first additional condition was that a serious effort must be made to resolve the matter at issue by peaceful means before resorting to force. Vitoria keeps coming back to the need for caution and prudence. 'Not every kind and degree of wrong can suffice for commencing a war.' Before embarking on war, the ruler must make 'an exceedingly careful examination' and must listen to the opinions of those who are opposed to going to war. 'For it is the extreme of savagery to seek for and rejoice in grounds for killing and destroying men whom God has created and for whom Christ died. But only under compulsion and reluctantly should [the ruler] come to the necessity

of war.' Vitoria insists that those whose conscience is against the justice of a war may not serve in it 'whether they be right or wrong' (my italics).

It might be thought that Vitoria was only emphasising the requirements of Thomas Aquinas that a just cause and rightful intention are necessary. Suárez, however, carries the idea of proportionality a stage further. War, he wrote, brings so many misfortunes in its train and is so often carried on in an evil fashion that it requires many justifying circumstances to make it righteous. The only just and sufficient cause is 'a grave injustice which cannot be avenged or repaired in any other way'. Before a ruler goes to war, he must call to the attention of the opposing state the existence of a just cause, and must seek suitable reparation. If the other state agrees to make reparation, the ruler 'is bound to accept it, and desist from war, for if he does not do so, the war will be unjust'.

In the light of these requirements, Vitoria and Suárez both raise the question whether a war can be just on both sides. Both answer that, apart from ignorance, this is impossible.

The final conditions relate to the actual conduct of war and comprise two distinct principles: proportion and discrimination. These were implied but not spelled out in the writings of Augustine and Thomas Aquinas. Suárez put it like this: 'The method of its conduct must be proper, and due proportion must be observed at its beginning, during its prosecution and after victory.' When Vitoria and Suárez held that the conduct of war should be 'proper', they mainly had in mind the immunity of the innocent from direct attack, but all writers of the period follow Thomas Aquinas in distinguishing between two effects of an act, one of which is intended, while the other is beside the intention—the law of double effect. 'Now moral acts [wrote Thomas] take their species according to what is intended and not according to what is beside the intention, since this is accidental.'4

All Christian theologians agreed that it was unlawful to slay the innocent directly and intentionally. Vitoria defined the innocent as including women, children, 'harmless agricultural folk', 'the rest of the peaceable civilian population', 'foreigners or guests who are sojourning among the enemy', clerics and members of religious orders. Suárez points out that the immunity of religious persons and priests is by canon law; he substitutes 'ambassadors' for 'foreigners or guests' (by the law of nations rather than natural law); and he adds among those who should be immune 'all unable to bear arms... [and] those who are able to bear arms, if it is evident that ... they have not shared in the crime nor in the unjust war'.

The law of double effect was put to some odd purposes in the Middle Ages as, indeed, it is in our own day. Domingo de Soto (1495–1560) followed Aquinas in holding that there were two consequences of self-defence, 'the preservation of one's own life and the destruction of another's, of which the former was intended, the latter was accidental'. But the more usual application nowadays has been to say that the killing of enemy soldiers is intended, while the accidental killing of civilians in the course of military operations is unintended.

The real problem, then as now, was whether it was lawful to engage in a military operation in which the death of innocent people could be expected, even though it was not intended. The modern version of this question is whether those who hold the Christian version of the Just War doctrine may, in order to maintain nuclear deterrence, threaten to attack military targets in the knowledge that if deterrence fails and strategic nuclear weapons are used, civilians will be injured or killed as a collateral effect. Paul Ramsey has answered the question in this way: 'Certainly there can be justified destruction of an entire city that is an indirect consequence of the destruction of a military installation. The destruction of a city may be a collateral effect, an accompanying, unavoidable result of bombing military targets.'<sup>5</sup>

Vitoria and Suárez both accept that innocent people may be slain as an indirect effect or collateral circumstance. Vitoria considered that it was permissible to kill innocent people in the course of storming a fortress or city, but this conclusion evidently troubled him, for he added:

Great attention, however, must be paid to the point already taken, namely, the obligation to see that greater evils do not arise out of war than the war would avert. For if little effect upon the ultimate issue of the war is to be expected from the storming of a fortress or fortified town wherein are many innocent folk, it would not be right, for the purpose of assailing a few guilty, to slay the many innocent.... In sum, it is never right to slay the guiltless, even as an indirect and unintended result, except when there is no other means of carrying on the operations of a just war.... <sup>6</sup>

Vitoria goes on to consider whether it is lawful to kill the innocent from whom some danger is apprehended in the future; 'for example, the children of Saracens are guiltless, but there is good reason to fear that when they grow up they will fight against Christians'. He writes that although such killing 'may possibly be defended', it is in no wise right. It is 'intolerable that any one should be killed for a future fault'. Similarly it is not lawful to kill innocent hostages.

Suárez held that the intentional slaying of the innocent is always illicit. 'No one may be deprived of his life save by reason of his own guilt.' All kinds of harm may be inflicted on an enemy 'provided that these... do not involve an intrinsic injury to innocent persons, which would be in itself an evil'. The death of innocent people is acceptable only if it is 'not sought for its own sake, but is an incidental consequence'.

A few Catholic writers in the United States have questioned whether the principle of non-combatant immunity is now an essential part of the Just War doctrine. William O'Brien, for example, argues that the principle that non-combatants are immune from direct intentional attack is not derived from some first principle of natural law, but arose out of the practice of individuals and states in the late medieval and early Renaissance period. The principle was possible, he writes, because of the material facts of war at the time the principle was being made explicit. It was a restraint hallowed by custom rather than as 'the result of deductive moral reasoning'. Strict adherence to it today would mean, in O'Brien's view, abandoning both the concept of nuclear deterrence and the possibility of fighting a nuclear war against a nuclear enemy. O'Brien, and also Richard Shelly Hartigan, would hold that the principle of non-combatant immunity must today be subordinate to the over-riding obligation to deter or defeat an aggressor.

O'Brien and Hartigan are a minority, nevertheless, and the weight of opinion is that non-combatant immunity is an integral part of the Just War doctrine. The principle was reaffirmed by the Second Vatican Council in the following terms: 'Any act of war aimed indiscriminately at the destruction of entire cities or extensive areas along with their population is a crime against God and man himself. It merits unequivocal and unhesitating condemnation.'8

The principle of discrimination has in practice meant regarding combatants as guilty and non-combatants as innocent. In insurgency and counter-insurgency warfare, the traditional distinction between soldier and civilian is blurred, and the principle of discrimination is more difficult to apply. Moreover, the invention of weapons of mass destruction introduces a further difficulty, since it is difficult to use these weapons in such a way that only military targets are harmed.

The Just War doctrine at the time of the Reformation may be said to have required seven conditions to be satisfied for a war to be justified: jus ad bellum (justice in going to war)

- (1) War can be decided upon only by the legitimate authorities.
- (2) War may be resorted to only after a specific fault and if the purpose is to make reparation for injury or to restore what has been wrongfully seized.
- (3) The intention must be the advancement of good or the avoidance of evil.
- (4) In a war other than one strictly in self-defence, there must be a reasonable prospect of victory.
- (5) Every effort must be made to resolve differences by peaceful means before resorting to the use of force.

jus in bello (justice in conducting military operations)

- (6) The innocent shall be immune from direct attack.
- (7) The amount of force used shall not be disproportionate.

It is interesting that the United Nations, without explicit reference to the Just War tradition, has adopted very similar principles for its own peace-keeping operations.<sup>9</sup>

#### LUTHER AND CALVIN

The Christian version of the Just War doctrine entered the Protestant tradition at the time of the Reformation. Luther, like Augustine, was a polemicist and dealt with the problem haphazardly in books, tracts, and sermons, written between 1523 and 1530, with such vivid titles as Whether soldiers, too, can be saved. Calvin, in this respect more like Thomas Aquinas, was a systematic thinker and dealt succinctly with the question in a couple of pages of his Institutes of the Christian Religion (1536).

Luther with great force, and Calvin with more restraint, start from the assumption that governmental authority is divinely instituted and must be obeyed. The citizen is not bound to obey the ruler if the ruler is in the wrong; but if there arise cases of doubt, and if citizens 'cannot with all diligence find out, they may obey him [the ruler] without peril to their souls'. War should be fought 'at the emperor's command, under his banner, and in his name. Then everyone can be sure in his conscience that he is obeying the ordinance of God.' The magistrate (ruler), wrote Calvin, 'does nothing by himself, but carries out the very judgments of God ...; all things are done on the authority of God who commands it'.

Both Calvin and Luther seem to regard as illicit what is nowadays sometimes called the Just Revolution. Calvin writes that rulers are 'the guardians and defenders of the laws' and should overthrow all who seek to undermine the authority of the laws: the only justification for rebellion is that the ruler is tyrannical. Luther opposed rebellion conducted in the name of Christianity: 'war and uprisings against our superiors [or 'overlords', as he writes elsewhere] cannot be right'.

Following the Catholic tradition, Luther and Calvin insist that rulers may resort to war only 'to execute... public vengeance [as Calvin puts it]..., to restrain the seditious stirrings of restless men, to help those forcibly oppressed, to punish evil deeds..., to defend by war the dominions entrusted to their safe-keeping'. Recourse to arms should arise from 'concern for the people alone'. When men allege that war is a great plague, wrote Luther, they should consider how great is the plague that war prevents. It is 'a small misfortune that prevents a great misfortune'.

Luther expressly makes the point emphasised by the neo-scholastics on the need to be sure of victory.

If we are not going to make an adequate, honest resistance that will have some reserve power, it would be far better not to begin a war, but to yield lands and people... without useless bloodshed, rather than have him [the Turk] win anyhow in an easy battle and with shameful bloodshed....

Luther and Calvin both insist on the need to seek a peaceful resolution of disputes before resorting to arms. Calvin warns the ruler not to seek occasion to take to arms lightly 'unless they are driven to it by extreme necessity'. Surely, he writes, 'everything else ought to be tried before recourse is had to arms'.

As to the actual conduct of military operations, Calvin and Luther give different advice. Calvin warns rulers against 'undue cruelty' and 'giving vent to their passions'. 'Rather, if they have to punish, let them not be carried away with headlong anger, or be seized with hatred, or burn with implacable severity. Let them also ... have pity on the common nature in the one whose special fault they are punishing.' But he also warns against imprudent leniency and quotes a Latin tag to the effect that it is indeed bad to live under a prince with whom nothing is permitted, but much worse under one by whom everything is allowed.

Luther, in more bloodthirsty vein, writes that it is 'both Christian and an act of love to kill the enemy without hesitation, to plunder and burn and injure him by every method of warfare until he is conquered'. Almost as an afterthought, he adds 'except that one must beware of sin, and not violate wives and virgins'.

Both the Reformers accept the need for Christians to bear arms, and Luther urges Christians to offer their services as hangmen, constables, judges, lords, or princes. The profession of the soldier is 'right and godly', and children are especially urged not to 'despise, reject, or do away with soldiers... and those whose business is war'. Every occupation 'has its own honour before God'.

Calvin prefaces his discussion of the problem of war by admitting that it is 'a seemingly hard and difficult question' since the law of God forbids all Christians to kill. Luther asks why Christ and the apostles did not bear the sword, and answers briskly, 'You tell me, why did Christ not take a wife or become a cobbler or a tailor'.

If an office or vocation were to be regarded as disreputable on the ground that Christ did not pursue it himself, what would become of all the offices and vocations other than ministry, the one occupation he did follow? Christ pursued his own office and vocation, but he did not thereby reject any other.

Although Christ did not bear or prescribe the sword, 'it is sufficient that he did not forbid or abolish it but actually confirmed it'.

#### WILLIAM PENN'S 'HOLY EXPERIMENT'

Through all the centuries, there was always a minority of Christians which believed that the Church made a disastrous compromise at the time of Constantine, and that it can recover its original vitality only by unequivocal loyalty to the total demands of the teachings of Jesus, whatever the consequences. But the mainstream of Christian thinking has held that fourth-century Christians were right, that there can be no going back to the 'innocence' of the early Church.

What the man or woman in the street wants to know, however, is not whether pacifism is an authentic position for a Christian, but whether it works. Some pacifists would claim no more than that pacifism is right for them, a vocation: probably the majority of pacifists see pacifism as a practicable policy, and indeed the early Quakers tried to build a state on pacifist principles in Pennsylvania – what William Penn and his fellow-Quakers called 'The Holy Experiment'.

Penn wished to return to the 'purity' of the early Church, but not by withdrawing from politics. 'True godliness', he once wrote, 'don't turn men out of the world, but enables them to live better in it, and excites their endeavours to mend it.' His policy received its first major test in

1689 — a request that Pennsylvania should make preparations for defence. The initial reaction of the Quaker members of the Council was to belittle the gravity of the threat. Said John Simcock, 'I see no danger but from the bears and wolves'. When the issue could no longer be evaded, the Quakers decided to state their personal attitudes as a matter of conscience and to abstain from voting, but Simcock made it clear that they did not want to tie the hands of others; 'they may do every one what they please'.

In 1693, when the English Crown had resumed control over Pennsylvania, there came another request for funds, but Governor Benjamin Fletcher agreed that those who had scruples about supporting war could give money which might be used for other purposes and 'not be dipt in blood'. The Assembly refused to vote funds until other matters had been attended to, but in the end a money bill was approved.

Meanwhile, Penn in London promised that he would transmit to the Council and the Assembly of the colony all messages from the English Crown, and he said that he had no doubt that the colony would supply such men or money as the Crown considered necessary for the safety of America.

Requests for money or men continued to trouble the Pennsylvania Quakers. In 1695 the General Assembly in the colony said they would vote funds only if a new constitution were adopted, whereupon Governor Fletcher dissolved the two Houses. In 1696 £300 was voted in the expectation that it would be used to buy food and clothes for distressed Indians. The following year Pennsylvania was asked to supply 80 men or £2000 for defence, but a joint committee of the two houses replied by drawing attention to the fact that they had contributed £300 the previous year.

In 1709, the issue arose once again, and the Quakers held an informal meeting to decide their attitude: '... notwithstanding [that] their profession and principles would not by any means allow them to bear arms; yet it was their duty to support the Govmt of their Sovereign the Queen ... and therefore that they might and ought to present the Queen with a proper sum of money.' £500 was appropriated, which led to a sharp response from Governor Charles Gookin: 'Words alone, I assure you, Gent., are not much valued by the ministry at Home, and £500 from Pennsylvania will add... but little weight.' The Quakers might have scruples about war, he said, but that should not prevent them from being generous in their gifts to the Queen. No conscience could be pleaded to prevent the grant of a sum 'in some measure worthy of Her Royal acceptance'.

What is an ad hoc decision the first time it is taken easily becomes a precedent. When money was requested for military purposes, the first reaction of Friends in Pennsylvania was to deny that the situation was dangerous. When this argument had exhausted its utility, Friends claimed that the measures contemplated were provocative. If a request for funds were persisted in, they said that their grievances should be considered first, or that it was inconvenient for the Assembly to meet, or simply that they could not afford the money. When prevarication would no longer suffice, funds were usually voted, at first on the understanding that they would not be used for military purposes, but after 1709 simply as a present for Queen Anne or King George.

The attitude of Friends to military service is illustrated by a phrase which occurs several times in the laws of Pennsylvania: 'the people called Quakers who, though they do not, as the world is now circumstanced, condemn the use of arms in others, yet are principled against it themselves.'

I do not want to belittle the Quakers of Pennsylvania or the principles they tried to put into effect, but to show how difficult it is to convert a personal vocation into a public policy. Penn's Holy Experiment is remembered for its pioneering achievements in such matters as religious toleration, respect for the rights of the Indians, and a humane penal system. But Pennsylvania could not be isolated from the external situation. The colony posed no threat to others, but the Quakers of that day learned, as each generation has learned since, that their task is not to create a peaceable kingdom as a sanctuary into which to escape from the wars and rumours of wars which threaten the rest of mankind. The clear implication of Penn's essay *Towards the Present and Future Peace of Europe* (1693) is that pacifism is not enough. Men and women must also build the institutions of peace.

### WAR IN THE TWENTIETH CENTURY

The vocation and witness of Christian pacifists has perhaps become more relevant as war has become more terrible. At the first Assembly of the World Council of Churches in 1948, three positions held by Christians were outlined: that there is a duty to maintain the rule of law, by force if necessary; that 'modern warfare, with its mass destruction, can never be an act of justice' (a form of nuclear pacifism); that some Christians refuse all military service as 'an

absolute witness against war and for peace' (total pacifism). The Assembly admitted its 'deep sense of perplexity in the face of these conflicting opinions' and by implication accepted that any of the three is legitimate for Christians.

The Second Vatican Council of the Roman Catholic Church, in addition to stating and elaborating the Just War position, praised those who renounce the use of violence provided that this can be done without injury to the rights and duties of others or of the community itself. The Council thought it right that the law should make humane provisions for the case of those who for reasons of conscience refuse to bear arms, provided that they accept some other form of service to the human community.

It is evident that the Churches are as perplexed as others in the nuclear age. It is not easy to use modern strategic weapons without violating the principles of discrimination and proportion. A nuclear weapon causes harm by heat, blast, and initial radiation in a rough circle around the point of explosion. A 500 kiloton bomb over the Ministry of Defence in London, for example, would cause extensive third-degree burns to exposed people in Leytonstone 4.9 miles away and would damage most houses in Edgware 6.8 miles away. The early residual radiation released in the first 24 hours would be blown down-wind, possibly for several hundred miles: with a typical north-west wind, radioactive contamination from a 500 kiloton bomb over central London could well reach France and Belgium within a day. The remaining delayed radiation and fall-out would be sucked into the upper atmosphere and fall to the ground indiscriminately world-wide. In addition, the partial destruction of ozone in the stratosphere would lead to enhanced ultra-violet radiation which would penetrate towards the surface of the earth, supplementing the radiation released by the explosion. Radiation is known to induce cancer, to harm foetuses in the womb, and to damage reproductive organs, thus leading to genetic defects in future generations.

Two other effects of a nuclear explosion may be mentioned: the generation of an electro-magnetic pulse which damages radio, telephone, and electrical circuits: the electro-magnetic pulse from a nuclear explosion at an altitude of 300 miles above Frankfurt would destroy unprotected integrated circuits in the whole of Europe. Secondly, the rise of minute particles into the atmosphere as a result of a substantial nuclear exchange might well, on plausible assumptions, cause a drop in the mean continental temperature in the northern temperate zone by as much as 25° centigrade, leading to what has been called a 'nuclear winter'.

It hardly needs saying that nuclear weapons pose an especially acute problem for those who take the Just War tradition seriously. The V-1 and V-2 bombs of the second world war had explosive yields of less than one ton. The nuclear bombs used against Hiroshima and Nagasaki in 1945 had yields of 12,500 and 22,000 tons respectively. War-heads now exist more than one thousand times as powerful as the nuclear bombs used against Japan. The United States tested a weapon with a yield of 15 megatons (15 million tons) at Bikini Atoll in 1954, and the Soviet Union tested a 58 megaton weapon (58 million tons) in 1961.

For many centuries states have practised deterrence, the notion that if you want peace, you should prepare for war. A military capacity is no longer enough, however: it has to be accompanied by a credible declaratory policy that succeeds in convincing an adversary that it would be foolish to assume that the threat is idle. This leads to the paradox for nuclear-weapon states that peace is preserved by the knowledge that the failure of deterrence could lead to escalating violence culminating in mutual annihilation.

Western nuclear-weapon states insist that elaborate precautions have been taken to prevent unauthorised or accidental use, and that uncontrolled escalation is not inevitable; but this is a plausible hope, not a certainty. Moreover, one is entitled to ask if the threatened acts will accord with Just War criteria for military operations. Western spokesmen do not now threaten to attack civilians 'as such' if deterrence should fail, but they have been careful never to say that indirect harm to non-combatants would meet the proportionality test of the Just War doctrine. For understandable reasons, British governments have not revealed much about targeting plans.

There was always a gap between what the Just War theorists said and what the men of action did. There are some who now claim that Just War principles have lost their relevance, that it is absurd in the modern world to apply principles first enunciated in totally different circumstances sixteen hundred years ago. And it is easy to deride the Just War position, to maintain that in an era of long-range missiles with nuclear war-heads, it makes no sense to talk of confining attacks to enemy combatants and military targets or to insist that military operations shall never be excessive. But the fact is that the non-pacifist Christian has only two options: to argue that there need be no moral restraints on the right to go to war or on the conduct of military operations so long as the cause is just or, following the Just War tradition, to accept limitations and prohibitions on war-making. In

theory at any rate, a version of the Just War doctrine is today, explicitly or implicitly, the ethical position of almost all non-pacifist Christians.

But practice does not always coincide with theory, especially in time of war, and during the second world war there were only a few Christians in Britain and the United States who took completely seriously the requirements of the Just War: notably, Bishop George Bell of Chichester in Britain<sup>10</sup> and Father John Ford SJ, of Weston College in the United States. <sup>11</sup> After the war, the Just War tradition became better known among English-speaking Protestants, initially as a result of a pioneering study by a US Methodist scholar. <sup>12</sup>

I have reviewed elsewhere the responses of Christian Churches to the nuclear predicament.<sup>13</sup> I was myself a member of a Church of England working party which, using Just War criteria, recommended that Britain should withdraw in stages from all direct association with nuclear weapons, <sup>14</sup> although this recommendation was rejected by the General Synod (1983). The Roman Catholic Church has issued a series of documents in different forms on the ethics of deploying or using nuclear weapons, including Pope John the twenty-third's letter *Pacem in terris* (1963), the document of the Second Vatican Council entitled 'Pastoral Constitution on the Church in the Modern World' (*Gaudium et Spes*, 1965), Pope John Paul II's message to the United Nations (1982), and the pastoral letter of the US bishops 'The Challenge of Peace: God's promise and our response' (1983). <sup>15</sup> From these sources, one may summarise the view of the Catholic mainstream, and of many Protestants as well, as follows:

- 1. Legitimacy of war to defend justice. 'The fact of aggression, oppression and injustice in our world ... serves to legitimate the resort to weapons and armed force in defence of justice.' (US bishops' letter, para. 78).
- 2. Rejection of nuclear war. 'We see with increasing clarity the political folly of a system which threatens mutual suicide, the psychological damage this does to ordinary people, especially the young, the economic distortion of priorities.... But it is much less clear how we translate a No to nuclear war into the personal and public choices which can move us in a new direction...' (US bishops' letter, para. 133).
- 3. Modern war anachronistic. In the atomic age, the idea that war is any more a suitable way of righting wrong is contrary to reason (Pacem in terris). 'All these considerations compel us to undertake an

- evaluation of war with an entirely new attitude .... It is our clear duty, then, to strain every muscle as we work for a time when all war can be completely outlawed by international consent.' (*Gaudium et Spes*, arts 80, 82). 'To evaluate war with a new attitude, we must go far beyond an examination of weapons systems or military strategies.' (US bishops' letter, para. 67).
- 4. Deterrence. Many people regard the accumulation of arms for the purpose of deterrence as 'the most effective way by which peace of a sort between nations can be maintained at the present time. Whatever be the case with this method of deterrence, men should be convinced that the arms race in which so many countries are engaged is not the best way to preserve a steady peace .... Rather than being eliminated thereby, the causes of war threaten to grow gradually stronger.' (Gaudium et Spes, art. 81). Nevertheless, deterrence based on balance can be judged morally acceptable, not as an end in itself but as a stage on the way to progressive disarmament. At the same time, we should not be satisfied that this is the way to preserve peace, as it is always susceptible to the real danger of explosion. (Pope John Paul II to the United Nations). 'There are moral limits to deterrence policy as well as to policy regarding use .... Nuclear deterrence should be used as a step on the way to progressive disarmament.' (US bishops' letter, paras 178, 188.3).
- 5. Difficulty of keeping war limited. 'We express repeatedly in this letter our extreme scepticism about the prospects for controlling a nuclear exchange, however limited the first use might be. Precisely because of this scepticism, we judge resort to nuclear weapons to counter a conventional attack to be morally unjustifiable.... Even the "indirect effects" of initiating nuclear war are sufficient to make it an unjustifiable moral risk in any form.... There must be no misunderstanding of our profound scepticism about the moral acceptability of any use of nuclear weapons.... As a people, we must refuse to legitimate the idea of nuclear war.' (US bishops' letter, paras 131, 153, 193, 194).
- 6. Conduct of military operations. 'A justifiable use of force must be both discriminatory and proportionate .... To wage truly "total war" is by definition to take huge numbers of innocent lives. Just response to aggression must be discriminate; it must be directed against unjust aggressors, not against innocent people caught up in a war not of their making .... It is not morally acceptable to intend to kill the innocent as part of a strategy of deterring nuclear war .... No Christian can rightfully carry out orders or policies deliberately aimed at killing

non-combatants. Under no circumstances may nuclear weapons or other instruments of mass slaughter be used for purposes of destroying population centres or other predominantly civilian targets.' (US bishops' letter, paras 104, 144, 147–8, 178). Any act of war indiscriminately directed to the destruction of whole cities or vast areas with their inhabitants is a crime against God and man, which merits firm and unequivocal condemnation. (Gaudium et Spes, art. 80).

- 7. Conscience and the secular authorities. 'Since the right to command is required by the moral order and has its source in God, it follows that, if civil authorities legislate for or allow anything that is contrary to that order and therefore contrary to the will of God, neither the laws made nor the authorizations granted can be binding on the consciences of the citizens, since God has more right to be obeyed than men.' (Pacem in terris). Actions which deliberately conflict with the all-embracing principles of universal natural law, as well as orders commanding such actions, are criminal. 'The courage of those who openly and fearlessly resist men who issue such commands merits supreme commendation.' (Gaudium et Spes, art. 79).
- 8. Conscientious objection to war. 'We cannot fail to praise those who renounce the use of violence in the vindication of their rights ... provided that this can be done without injury to the rights and duties of others or of the community itself ... Moreover, it seems right that laws make humane provisions for the case of those who for reasons of conscience refuse to bear arms, provided however, that they accept some other form of service to the human community.' (Gaudium et Spes, arts 78-9).
- 9. Urgent need for disarmament. 'The production and the possession of armaments are a consequence of an ethical crisis that is disrupting society in all its political, social and economic dimensions.... True disarmament, that which will actually guarantee peace among peoples, will come about only with the resolution of this ethical crisis.... It is important and right that every serious proposal that would contribute to real disarmament and would create a better climate be given the prudent and objective consideration it deserves. Even small steps can have value that would go beyond their material or technical aspects.... Indulgence in rhetoric, in inflamed and impassioned vocabulary, in veiled threat and scare tactics can only exacerbate a problem that needs sober and diligent examination.... I re-affirm my confidence in the power of true negotiations to arrive at just and equitable solutions. Such negotiations demand patience and

diligence and must notably lead to a reduction of armaments that is balanced, simultaneous, and internationally controlled.' (Pope John Paul II to the United Nations). 'Justice, then, right reason and humanity urgently demand that the arms race should cease; that the stockpiles which exist in various countries should be reduced equally and simultaneously by the parties concerned; that nuclear weapons should be banned; and that a general agreement should eventually be reached about progressive disarmament and an effective method of control.' (Pacem in terris).

10. The role of the United Nations. 'It is Our earnest wish that the United Nations Organization ... may become ever more equal to the magnitude and nobility of its tasks, and that the day may come when every human being will find therein an effective safeguard for the rights which derive directly from his dignity as a person, and which are therefore universal, inviolable and inalienable rights.' (Pacem in terris).

#### PROBLEMS OF THE JUST WAR

The seven principles of the Just War doctrine are easy to understand but difficult to satisfy in practice. There is no space to examine all of the difficulties in depth, but I briefly review five of them.

# (1) proportionality

The concept of proportionality sometimes leads to confusion as it is used in three quite different senses. There is, in the first place, proportionality in reprisal action: the principle that when military reprisals are undertaken in response to an illegality by the other side, one of the requirements is that the scale of reprisal should not exceed the scale of the violation. This means that a future act should not exceed the scale of a past act: the decision which a military commander has to take may be difficult, but he at least has a standard against which his response is to be measured.

Secondly, there is proportionality in war-fighting (jus in bello). The principle here is that no act of war should be undertaken if the harm to be expected would be excessive in relation to the military advantage anticipated. This is inevitably a subjective test, because unlike events have to be compared – for example, an attack which in the ordinary way would be excessive might be explained and justified as a means of

ending a war quickly and thus saving lives, as in the US atomic attacks on Japan in 1945. The British Council of Churches, in a report published in 1946, commented that this argument 'undoubtedly has weight' but that it is one of peculiar danger 'since it can be used to justify any kind of barbarity.' Proportionality in war-fighting requires difficult decisions by military commanders, though the notion of minimum force is understood in some armies.

The problem of proportion in this second sense is that to assess proportionality requires a cool Cartesian calculation in time of crisis and danger. This can be illustrated by an extract from George Orwell's diary. Following his experiences in the Spanish Civil War, Orwell had fancied himself as a strategic thinker, and in his diary during the second world war, he was constantly weighing up military options. In March 1941, Orwell thought that the choices for Britain were between holding on to Libva at whatever cost and sending a major force to Greece. It would be appalling to lose Libya, he thought, and there were few purely military advantages from sending a force to Greece: but to help Greece would demonstrate that Britain would come to the aid of a European country struggling to maintain its independence. 'Everyone who thinks about the matter is torn both ways.' After weighing up the pros and cons, Orwell's conclusion was as follows: 'I am in favour of putting all our eggs in one basket and risking a big defeat, because I don't think any defeat or victory in the narrow military sense matters so much as demonstrating that we are on the side of the weak against the strong.'17 British troops had, in fact, landed in Greece nine days before Orwell wrote.

The concept of proportionality in the third sense is in decisions whether to go to war or not (jus ad bellum). This use of proportionality was well expressed in the Pastoral Letter of the US Roman Catholic bishops: 'proportionality means that the damage to be inflicted and the costs to be incurred by war must be proportionate to the good expected by taking up arms' (para. 99). This involves a comparison between two complex sets of hypothetical events in the future, events which are quite different in kind. On one side of the equation (to oversimplify greatly) might be an estimated financial burden of £10 billion plus 100,000 combatant casualties and 100,000 civilian casualties: on the other side of the equation might be the expectation of saving a nation with 10 million inhabitants from an alien, totalitarian invader; and in practice, of course, the calculation would be vastly more complicated as there would be many additional costs and possibly a few additional benefits on both sides of the equation. And there is always the

possibility of going to war and thus incurring the costs, and then failing to secure the main benefit.

Decision-makers who rely on consequentialist ethics often have to make cost-benefit analyses of this kind, though usually on a lesser scale; and not to act is also a decision, with possibly momentous consequences. But to compare the effects of unlike acts, such as surrender to oppressive government and resort to nuclear war, is to ask a lot of mere mortals.

#### (2) double effect

Thomas Aquinas distinguished between different effects of an act, one or more effects being intended by the doer and one or more effects being 'beside the intention, ... accidental'. This is a concept with which we are all familiar, as when a medical procedure has side effects which may be foreseen by the practitioner but which may be undesirable: for example, an aspirin tablet to cure a headache which irritates a sensitive stomach lining or an injection before a tooth is extracted which causes momentary pain. Military operations often have double or multiple effects – for example, a legitimate air attack on an ammunition dump which causes indirect harm to a nearby maternity hospital.

A special moral difficulty arises, nevertheless, when the harm is not only indirect but is also inevitable and foreseen. All of the delayed radiation from a nuclear explosion is inevitable and foreseen, and some of it will almost certainly cause bodily harm to innocent persons now living and genetic harm to future generations. In one sense, the harm is an accidental side-effect which, while foreseen, may not be wished for or intended by the person authorising or undertaking the nuclear attack; but it might also be argued that an effect which is certain and foreseeable cannot easily be thought of as 'beside the intention... accidental'.

This is a difficult issue for those who believe that it is possible to use nuclear weapons in accordance with Just War principles. The usual solution is to say that indirect effects are permissible so long as the unintended harm is proportionate in the second sense indicated above (proportionality in *jus in bello*).

# (3) intention, threat, and bluff

It is necessary to distinguish carefully between intention, threat, and bluff. An intention is a decision, whether announced or not, to

perform an act in the future: I will wash the dishes tonight. A threat is a declaration that an unpleasant act will be performed in defined circumstances: I will stop your pocket money if I find you ill-treating an animal. A bluff is a declaration of intent in the hope of affecting the behaviour of another person but without the firm intention of performing the unpleasant act if the threat is disregarded, as when Solomon said 'divide the living child in two'.

Does deterrence depend on intention, or threat, or bluff, or simply on uncertainty as to whether the deterrer will or will not, in defined circumstances, perform an act of which he is capable? While there may possibly be an element of bluff in the declared intention to use nuclear weapons in certain circumstances, I think we may safely eliminate it as a major component of deterrence. Bluff does not usually work the second time.

Uncertainty is a more important element in deterrence: when two sides have the capability of destroying each other, and when both have told the other that an unprovoked attack will lead to immediate nuclear retaliation, both may be uncertain whether the other will match deeds to words, and this may play a part in deterring them from acting in such a way as to invite a nuclear response.

From an ethical point of view, however, I think we should regard deterrence as depending on the threat to use nuclear weapons in certain eventualities, backed by the resolute intention of using them if the threat fails to deter: in other words, a conditional intention.

The question then has to be asked whether it is moral to threaten or have the conditional intention of performing an act which would be immoral if performed. Assume for the sake of argument that torture would be wrong in all circumstances. Would it be a moral act to have the conditional intention of using torture in a just cause: that is to say, declaring the intention of resorting to torture in certain eventualities, not as a bluff but with the firm intention of doing so if the threat fails to bring about the desired result? This is a difficult issue on which thoughtful and humane people disagree, but my own view is that if an act would be wrong, a conditional intention to perform the act would also be wrong. When republican prisoners in Northern Ireland went on hunger strike. Father Herbert McCabe maintained that because it is wrong to intend directly to take one's own life, it must be wrong to threaten to do so, 'for the threat is nothing but the announcement that under certain conditions [a man] will do this thing that is wrong.'18

How, then, should a person who accepts Just War principles view the conditional intention to use strategic nuclear weapons which is implicit in NATO's deterrence policy?

The most straightforward position is taken by those who believe that any act of war conditionally intended must be consistent with the Just War principles of discrimination and proportion. These people I refer to below as Just War deterrers. The difficulty for them is to conceive of a use of nuclear weapons which would fully meet *jus in bello* criteria and yet would impress an enemy as being militarily significant.

There are several alternative positions. Some consider that, while all acts of war actually committed should accord with *jus in bello* principles, a threat to use strategic nuclear weapons need not do so as it will never be necessary to perform the act. They hold, as do many Just War deterrers, that what deters is the *possibility* of nuclear retaliation, not the *certainty*. One difficulty for them is to convince a potential enemy that the threat is not bluff. If they do not succeed and the threat fails to deter (which they believe will never happen), they have not escaped the moral predicament, simply postponed it to a later stage.

Others take the view that it is often necessary to choose the greater good or lesser evil, that the prevention of war in the nuclear age must take precedence over other moral considerations, even if this results in the paradox of threatening to do something which would be immoral if it had to be done; that while we must do all we can to respect discrimination and proportion if deterrence fails, we sometimes have to be prepared to violate one or both of these principles if this is necessary to prevent a greater evil. The holders of this position believe that, in a tragic and imperfect world, it may sometimes be necessary to choose the lesser evil or greater good, even if this means performing an act which on the face of things would be immoral. Although some distinguished philosophers have sought to justify such a line of reasoning, I find it difficult to square it with the demands of Christian ethics.

Others would accept the last position but would carry it a stage further and maintain that if nuclear deterrence is inconsistent with *jus in bello* principles, so much the worse for *jus in bello*, that we have inherited these principles from an age that did not know and could not have foreseen total war or absolute weapons. These would be willing to abandon one or both of the traditional *jus in bello* criteria if that should be necessary to prevent submission to an unjust aggressor.

My own view, for what it is worth, is that no position is wholly free from difficulty but that the non-pacifist Christian is on firmest moral ground if the threats implicit in nuclear deterrence are confined to acts which would be moral if committed; and, according to the Just War tradition, this means that the threatened acts should conform to the *jus in bello* principles of discrimination and proportion.

# (4) deterrence, war-fighting, and war-winning

A military strategist who takes the Just War tradition seriously would base deterrence on the conditional intention of performing acts which would accord with the *jus in bello* principles of proportion and discrimination. To threaten or conditionally intend to perform acts which would violate the deterrer's own conscience is not credible and will hardly deter. If the simple fact of possessing weapons is to have a deterrent effect, there must also be a credible doctrine about use. When defence experts put forward scenarios for fighting a war, it is often difficult for the ordinary lay person to know whether this is merely a bit of declaratory deterrence or whether the military capability is not maintained for deterrence at all but for war-fighting and war-winning; and the difficulty is compounded if the military capability is nuclear. Has nuclear war become thinkable?

The truth probably is that the deterrer can never get the balance right, that rational and restrained discussion of war-fighting may enhance deterrence but that loose and excessive talk about war-fighting, and particularly cheap talk about prevailing in nuclear war, may disturb domestic or allied opinion and seem grossly provocative to the other side.

# (5) just on both sides?

The Just War concept is criticised by some as providing inadequate guidance in the contemporary world. On the other hand, it may be held that the Just War doctrine (as G. K. Chesterton wrote of the Christian ideal in general) has not been tried and found wanting, it has been found difficult and left untried. It would be contrary to reason to believe that a war can be just on both sides, so that every war is necessarily unjust for one side if not for both. Why is it, then, that Christians can be found on both sides of so many past wars, proclaiming the justice of their own cause and regarding those on the other side as misguided and wicked?

Vitoria and Suárez were surely right in holding that a war cannot be just on both sides. My own view is that the failure of Christian leaders in all ages to make it plain when their own side fails to meet the

demands of the Just War represents a major ethical scandal. Would that the Churches had been as outspoken and clear in this regard as they have been in upholding their understanding of Christian standards in sexual matters.

# 2 The Just War in International Law

All things are uncertain the moment men depart from law.... War ought not to be undertaken except for the enforcement of rights; when once undertaken, it should be carried on only within the bounds of law and good faith.... In order that wars may be justified, they must be carried on with not less scrupulousness than judicial processes are wont to be.

**Hugo Grotius** 

#### HUGO GROTIUS: THE FATHER OF INTERNATIONAL LAW

It is hardly possible to exaggerate the contribution which Hugo Grotius made to the foundation of international law as a subject in its own right, worthy of academic study, distinct from moral theology, and with immediate practical applications in the relations among rulers. Grotius was a great innovator, not because he disregarded the work of his predecessors and contemporaries, but because he brought their disparate work into coherent relationship. He was a man of extraordinary scholarship, and in his work on the law of war and peace - De jure belli ac pacis (1625)<sup>1</sup> - he cites or quotes from the works of Greek, Roman, and Jewish classical writers: Homer, Euripides, Herodotus, Thucydides, Xenophon, Plato, Aristotle, Demosthenes, Cicero, Virgil, Horace, Livy, Ovid, Seneca, both Plinys, Josephus, Plutarch, and Tacitus. He quotes from fifty-two of the Bible's seventy-five books, as well as from the Apocrypha. He was fully acquainted with the writings of the early fathers of the Church: Justin Martyr, Tertullian, Origen, Lactantius, and Saints Ambrose, Jerome, Chrysostom, and Augustine. He was also steeped in the writings of the schoolmen and quotes Thomas Aquinas, Cajetan, Domingo de Soto, and Luis Molina; and he mentions in particular that among the theological works he had studied were those of Vitoria (p. 22). He refers more than once to the writings of his Spanish Catholic contemporary Suárez, and he tells us that he had obtained the works of Ayala and Gentili. He was a Protestant, belonging to a moderate

Calvinist group, but it is noteworthy that he does not quote from the writings of Calvin or Luther. He warns his readers against the dangers of receiving with approval everything written by famous authors; often they are simply under the influence of their feelings. But 'when the schoolmen agree on a point of morals, it rarely happens that they are wrong' (pp. 28, 100).

Grotius wrote in a way that both shocked and fascinated the traditionalists, for he was a man of independent judgement. He did not look for authority in a church or creed or political ideology, but in the conscience of the individual. *De jure belli ac pacis* was first published in Paris in 1625. It was on the Roman Catholic Index from 1626 until 1896, but within a century of its first publication, Dutch, French, German, and English translations had appeared. The Latin text, with an abridged English translation by William Whewell, was published by the Cambridge University Press in 1853.

The reason why Grotius wrote this remarkable book was, as he correctly expressed it, that before his time 'no one has treated [the mutual relations among rulers of states] in a comprehensive and systematic manner'. He considered that these relations were governed by two distinct systems of law, which 'writers everywhere confuse'. First, there is the law of nature, natural law, which is based on right reason; secondly, there is the law of nations, which is derived from the law of nature. This law of nations has received its obligatory force from 'the will of all nations, or of many nations'. Grotius considered that what he wrote 'would have a degree of validity even if we should concede ... that there is no God, or that the affairs of men are of no concern to Him' (pp. 9, 13, 24, 26, 44).

Grotius also recognises a third system of law, municipal law (pp. 24, 44, 192, 234, 385, 707–9, 713, 788–9), but he sometimes confuses the reader by referring in addition to a fourth system, what he calls the rules of love or the law of the gospel (pp. 63–81, 94, 182, 234–7, 759).

In his early years Grotius had been concerned with a case before the Prize Court involving the Dutch East India Company, some of whose members were Mennonites. The Mennonites were then, and are today, pacifists, rejecting all use of armed force. From his contact with these worthy people, Grotius realised that any serious study of the law of war written by a Christian must come to grips with the question of whether it is possible to wage war without violating Christian principles. The practice of the majority of Christians might have provided him with a sufficient answer, for Christians seemed to have

no greater scruples about going to war, or about the methods of waging it, than pagans or adherents of other faiths. Indeed, this was something which greatly shocked Grotius.

Throughout the Christian world I observed a lack of restraint in relation to war.... I observed that men rush to arms for slight causes, or no cause at all, and that when once arms have been taken up there is no longer any respect for law...; it is as if, in accordance with a general decree, frenzy had openly been let loose for the committing of all crimes. (p. 20)

When good men are confronted with such ruthlessness, he writes, they are likely to go to the other extreme and forbid all use of force. He feared that his fellow countryman, Erasmus, had yielded to this temptation. Grotius was too wise to think that the truth lay at the mid point between extreme opinions.

The very effort of pressing too hard in the opposite direction ... does harm, because in such arguments the detection of what is extreme is easy, and results in weakening the influence of other statements which are well within the bounds of truth. For both extremes therefore a remedy must be found, that men may not believe that nothing is allowable, or that everything is. (p. 20)

In order to consider the question of the use of force as a matter of Christian ethics, Grotius goes back to the time of Jesus and the experience of the early Church. When soldiers came to John the Baptist, 'he did not bid them withdraw from military service, as he must have done if such was the will of God'. If it had been the purpose of Jesus absolutely to do away with capital punishment and war, 'he would have expressed his purpose with words as plain and explicit as possible'. The reason Jesus rebuked Peter for using a sword against Malchus at the time of his arrest was that 'he [Peter] was taking up arms against those who were coming as representatives of the public authority' (pp. 65, 71, 95) – a more plausible explanation than Augustine's!

Grotius insisted that, for the Christian, a greater degree of moral perfection is required than is enjoined by the law of nature alone. The law of the gospel makes it impermissible for the Christian to use force in personal self-defence, 'for Christ bids us submit to a blow rather than do harm to an aggressor'. No true Christian should, of his own accord, enter upon a public office which may require him to have to decide upon the shedding of blood, for Christian goodness is

manifested by seizing every opportunity to show mercy (pp. 27, 86–7, 178, 486).

Grotius does not deny that the early Church was pacifist. 'The early Christians, fresh from the teachings of the Apostles..., both understood the Christian rules of conduct better, and lived up to them more fully, than did men of later times.' Little by little, he writes, the interpretation of the law of the gospel was adjusted to the customs of age, and by the time of Constantine, there is no lack of writers who hold the opinion that Christians may lawfully resort to war. Many bishops were very alert guardians of discipline, but 'we do not read that there was a single one who ... sought to deter either Constantine from inflicting the death penalty and engaging in war, or Christians from military service' (pp. 84, 86, 153, 182). (What Grotius wrote may be technically correct, but there were Christians who were faithful to the pacifism of the early Church at the time of Constantine.)

But it was not the intention of Grotius to furnish a system of ethics; he was asking what can be learned from the law of nature and the law of nations about the relations between states and rulers. Grotius takes it for granted that the intentional killing of an innocent person is forbidden; 'it is necessary that he who is killed shall himself have done wrong'. Grotius then asks if there are any exceptions to the general prohibition of taking human life, if it is 'ever lawful' or 'ever permissible' to wage war. Grotius answers his own question by saying that it is permissible to use force 'as a just penalty or in case we are able in no other way to protect our life or property'. Such force may be used only in such a way that it 'does not violate the rights of others'. Not all wars, he writes cautiously, are at variance with the law of nature, 'and this may also be said to be true of the law of nations' (pp. 33, 51–90, 723).

Like the schoolmen, Grotius assumed that a war of self-defence is justified, that a state may respond with force if attacked. 'The right of self-defence ... has its origin ... in the fact that nature commits to each his own protection' (p. 172).

Three other causes are given which may make a war just. First, 'for the enforcement of rights' (p. 18). Secondly, to seek reparation for injury (pp. 170–1, 186). Thirdly, to punish the wrong-doer (pp. 171, 489, 502, 504). Yet not every wicked act should necessarily be punished; 'many reasons... admonish us to forego punishments'. There may be occasions when 'to refrain from the exercise of one's right is not merely praiseworthy but even obligatory, by reason of the love which we owe even to men who are our enemies'. Love for our

neighbour often prevents us from pressing our right to the utmost limit. The obligation to forgive rests upon us with special weight 'when either we too are conscious ... ourselves of some sin, or when the sin committed against us is the result of some human and pardonable weakness, or when it is sufficiently clear that he who has wronged us is repentant'. All these reasons for leniency have their origin in 'the love which we owe to our enemies'. In any case, there should always be a prudent calculation of likely consequences. If a particular course of action is likely to have both good and bad consequences, 'it is to be chosen only if the good has somewhat more of good than the evil has of evil' (pp. 568-70, 572, 601) - which is to ask a lot of mere mortals! Moreover, Grotius adds two further warnings. First, there may exist a just cause for going to war, but the war may be unjust because of the wrong intention of the one who engages in hostilities (p. 556). Secondly, a war may be undertaken for a just cause, but may become unjust because it gives rise to unjust acts (pp. 718–9).

Grotius follows the majority of medieval theologians by holding that morally a war cannot be just on both sides, except where ignorance is present, but he distinguishes between ethical justice and legal justice. Many things are done 'without right and yet without guilt' (pp. 565–6).

A war is not just unless it has been sanctioned by the lawful authorities, and it is also 'necessary... that it should be publicly declared' and proclaimed by one of the parties to the other. The reason why public declarations are required is to avoid resort to force to settle private quarrels. The twin requirements of the sanction of the lawful authorities and public declarations of war must both be satisfied; 'one without the other does not suffice' (pp. 91, 633, 639).

A prudent ruler will not go to war without a reasonable expectation of victory. Even if the cause is right, it is of the highest importance that the necessary resources should be available. Even if one has made a commitment to an ally one is not 'bound to render aid if there is no hope of a successful issue'. War ought not to be undertaken 'save when the hope of gain [is] greater than the fear of loss' (pp. 575–6, 581–2).

Military alliances are permissible, but not of an unconditional character. Aid should not be rendered 'for any sort of war without distinction of cause', and it is not permissible to entice or force anyone to anything which it may not be permissible for him to do. A war formally declared against a ruler is declared at the same time against 'all his subjects', and 'all who will join him as allies' (pp. 585, 622, 638).

Grotius is reluctant to concede that there can be a just revolution comparable to a just war, except where judicial procedures are not available. It is

much more consistent with moral standards, and more conducive to the peace of individuals, that a matter be judicially investigated by one who has no personal interest in it, than that individuals, too often having only their own interests in view, should seek by their own hands to obtain that which they consider right .... (p. 91)

It is not permissible 'for either private or official persons to wage war against those under whose authority they are', although if the lawful authorities issue an order which is contrary to the law of nature or the commandments of God, it should not be carried out. It is not even permissible for a private citizen to put down by force or kill a usurper of sovereign power, except where the usurper has seized power by means of an unlawful war and contrary to the law of nations, and 'no promise has been given to him, but possession is maintained by force alone'. It is a weighty question how to choose between independence and peace, between life and liberty, but private individuals ought not to take it upon themselves to decide such questions, since it involves the interest of the whole people. Even when the right of sovereignty is in dispute, the private citizen should 'accept the fact of possession'. Grotius points out that although the administration of the Roman Empire was often in the hands of extremely bad men, and there was no lack of pretenders who sought to rescue the state, the early Christians 'never associated themselves with [these] attempts'. Those who from a lawful cause have come into personal or political slavery 'ought to be satisfied with their state' (pp. 92, 138, 144, 159-63, 551, 573, 781).

A ruler desirous of winning friends should strive for a reputation for having undertaken war 'not rashly nor unjustly', and of having waged it in 'a manner above reproach'. A nation is not foolish which does not press its own advantage to the point of disregarding the law common to all nations, for no state is so powerful that it may not some time need the help of others. The state which transgresses the laws of nature and of nations cuts away the bulwarks which safeguard its own future peace (pp. 16, 20).

Grotius devotes a great deal of attention to the immunity of the innocent, and his list of those he regards as innocent is a long one. It includes children, women (unless they have committed a crime which ought to be punished), old men, all those whose manner of life is

opposed to war such as those performing religious duties and 'those who direct their energies to literary pursuits', farmers, merchants, artisans and other workmen, prisoners of war, and neutrals. Military commanders are to forbid plundering and 'the violent sack of cities and other similar actions' which cannot take place without harming many innocent people (pp. 173, 734–40, 756, 783, 790).

Grotius accepts the law of double effect as it had been formulated by Thomas Aquinas: 'many things follow indirectly, and beyond the purpose of the doer'. Thus it is permissible to bombard a ship full of pirates or a house full of brigands, even if innocent women and children are thereby endangered. At the same time, we must take care regarding what happens beyond our purpose, 'unless the good which our action has in view is much greater than the evil which is feared, or, unless the good and the evil balance'. In all cases of doubt, we should favour that course which has regard for the interest of another rather than our own (pp. 600–1).

Among the methods of war which Grotius considers to be expressly forbidden are the use of poison, the use of falsehood or deception, except perhaps to save the life of an innocent person, deliberate terrorism, and attacks on 'things of artistic value [and] things which have been devoted to sacred uses', including 'structures erected in honour of the dead'. Also forbidden is the harming or killing of hostages. A hostage is permitted to try to escape, unless he has given a pledge not to do so in order that he might have more liberty; but prisoners captured in a just war should not try to escape. Rape is contrary to the law 'not of all nations, but of the better ones'. Among Christians, rape should be subject to punishment, even in time of war (pp. 539, 617, 619, 651–3, 657, 740–1, 743, 751, 753, 768, 828–9).

It is not permissible to injure or kill to prevent a future offence, unless the danger to life or property is 'immediate and imminent in point of time'. It is quite untenable to take up arms against a power which, if it becomes too great in the future, may be a source of danger. Those who justify 'anticipatory slaying' are greatly deceived, and deceive others; while it is permissible to kill him who is making ready to kill, the man is more worthy of praise who prefers to be killed rather than to kill. The idea that the possibility of being attacked confers the right to attack (a pre-emptive strike) is 'abhorrent to every principle of equity'. Fear of an uncertainty cannot confer the right to resort to force. For protection from uncertain dangers, we must rely on 'Divine Providence and on a wariness free from reproach, not on force'. As for vengeance 'not as a retaliation for the past, but as a preventive for the

future', Christ wishes us to forego this. 'Nature does not sanction retaliation except against those who have done wrong' (pp. 175–6, 184–5, 481, 504, 741).

In a just war, he who takes booty from the enemy becomes its owner 'witout limit or restriction'; but in an unjust war, things taken must be restored. Individual soldiers who capture anything acquire it for themselves 'when they are not in formation or engaged in executing an order'. But Grotius again insists that 'the rules of love are broader than the rules of law'. Humanity requires that those who do not share in the guilt of a particular war should be left with their possessions 'particularly if it is quite clear that they will not recover from their own state what they have lost' (pp. 664, 673, 683, 759, 778).

Those rulers who decide to stay out of a war have an obligation to be impartial and, in particular, to avoid increasing the power of him who supports a wicked cause. There are advantages in having one's neutral status recognised by treaty (pp. 786–7).

A truce does not end a state of war; it is 'an agreement by which warlike acts are for a time abstained from ..., a period of rest in war, not a peace'. During a truce, all acts of war are unlawful. If one party violates a truce, the other party is 'free to take up arms even without declaring war' (pp. 832, 834–6, 838).

Peace is to be highly valued, 'especially by Christians'. Throughout the whole period of war, the soul can be kept serene and trusting in God only if it is always looking forward to peace (p. 861).

Although, according to the law of nations, prisoners of war become slaves, both Christians 'among themselves' and Moslems 'among themselves' have agreed that prisoners shall not become slaves but shall be exchanged or freed when an appropriate ransom has been paid or some other agreement has been reached. Innocent prisoners are not to be killed or punished with undue severity, nor are tasks to be imposed upon them which are excessively severe (pp. 690, 696, 763–4, 769).

Those who go to war without a just cause deserve punishment, but they shall not be executed unless they have committed a crime which a just judge would hold punishable by death. Collective punishments are forbidden. 'It is not sufficient that by a sort of fiction the enemy... be conceived as forming a single body.' On the other hand, responsibility for a wicked act does not rest solely on him who ordered it; responsibility is shared with those who granted it the necessary consent, or who helped it, or who furnished asylum, or who actually shared in committing the crime, or who gave advice or praise or

approval, or who did not forbid it, or who failed to help the injured, or who did not dissuade when they ought to have done so, or who concealed facts which they ought to have made known—'all these may be punished, if there is in them evil intent sufficient to deserve punishment'. Like Augustine and Thomas Aquinas, Grotius attaches importance to the intention behind an act, as well as to its intrinsic nature and likely consequences (pp. 522–3, 556, 600, 740–1).

In all these matters, Grotius insists on the supreme authority of the individual conscience. If an act is objectively just but the person who commits it considers it to be unjust, 'the act is vicious'. If those who are ordered to go to war consider that the cause is unjust, 'they should altogether refrain' (pp. 138, 558, 587, 622).

Indeed, Grotius is constantly advising moderation and magnanimity. It is better to acquit a guilty person than condemn one who is innocent. War is such a serious matter that the ruler should not be content with 'merely acceptable' causes, but only 'causes that are perfectly evident'. War is so horrible that 'only the utmost necessity, or true affection', can render it honourable. It is better to neglect care of our own lives in order to safeguard the life of another. Moderation is often an act of prudence. Even those who deserve punishment should be treated 'with goodness, with moderation, with highmindedness'. A conquered enemy should be shown clemency. When crimes have been committed which deserve death, 'it will be the part of mercy to give up something of one's full right because of the [large] number of those involved'. We should consider not only 'what the laws of men permit' but also 'what is right from the point of view of religion and morals'. Those displays of strength which are of no use for obtaining a right or putting an end to war 'are incompatible both with the duty of a Christian and with humanity itself'. Moderation 'gives the appearance of great assurance of victory' (pp. 559, 566–7, 586, 731, 733, 742–4, 755, 773, 776).

Grotius was writing a treatise on the law of war and peace, and much that he has to say about the law of peace lies outside the scope of the present work. Suffice it to note that Grotius considers how war may be avoided by creating the appropriate institutions for the peaceful settlement of disputes. Three ways of avoiding war are reviewed: a conference (that is to say, direct negotiations), arbitration, or decision by lot. 'Where judicial settlement fails, war begins' (pp. 171, 560–3, 823–4).

The whole structure of international law depends upon agreements being honoured, which is 'a rule of the law of nature'. 'Faith must be kept even with the faithless.' Whatever may be the terms on which peace is made, they ought to be preserved absolutely. If differences arise regarding the interpretation of an agreement, we should not depart from the natural meaning of the words, except to avoid an absurdity (pp. 14, 799, 855, 862).

Much could be written by way of comment on this fascinating treatise, but I will confine myself to two remarks. First, Grotius does not fail to remind his readers of the perfectionism of 'Sermon on the Mount' Christianity. For thirteen centuries, this emphasis has been confined to a few utopian sects, while the Christian mainstream had been more concerned with accommodating the law of the gospel to the requirements of the secular world. Yet here was Grotius, a Christian and a humanist, a man of the world, a professional bureaucrat, formulating a theory of international law, and yet constantly reiterating the need to love the enemy, to give him the benefit of the doubt, to be killed rather than to kill.

Secondly, the work of Grotius has well stood the test of time. Three and a half centuries later, the main thrust of his book is commonplace among international lawyers. There are, of course, aspects where the work of Grotius has been elaborated or refined or overtaken by events. Perhaps he should have taken a stronger line against looting. Perhaps he should have paid more attention to the protection due to prisoners of war and to the problem of reprisals. In an age which emphasises 'the inadmissibility of the acquisition of territory by war', as Security Council resolution 242 puts it, perhaps Grotius gives too much weight to the fact of possession. His discussion of what is now called 'the just revolution' is perhaps too much influenced by his passion for order and certainty. But criticism of particular defects does not detract from the seminal value of the work as a whole.

#### TOTAL WAR AND ABSOLUTE WEAPONS

It is impossible, within the scope of this book, to survey even in the most sketchy form the way others have built on the foundations laid by Hugo Grotius. His main contribution was to secularise what, until his day, had been considered to be a matter of moral theology or Christian ethics, but a matter in which practice had increasingly disregarded doctrine. In any event, there are two respects in which developments have made it increasingly difficult to apply one of the main principles which Grotius had taken over unaltered from Christian teaching: the idea that 'the innocent' should be immune from direct attack, 'the

innocent' comprising all those taking no direct part in the actual conduct of hostilities.

The first development was that of total war, the idea that entire populations should be mobilised in the war effort, the transformation of war from a contest between full-time fighters into a struggle of peoples. War-time armies in the so-called developed countries are formed by conscripting all those who are physically fit and not engaged in activities essential to the war effort. In this century, conscription has been applied to women as well as to men. The productive capacity of the community is geared to winning the war, or at least avoiding defeat. Government-controlled propaganda is directed towards the unity of the national effort and towards undermining the will of the enemy. Party politics, normally regarded as essential to the democratic system, are put into cold storage for the duration of the war, so that the energies of the nation may be fully concentrated on military victory. If national territory is occupied by the enemy, underground resistance movements operate under cover of normality. Brave men and women infiltrate into enemy society to disrupt essential activities or to stiffen the will of the underground movement. So-called fifth columns prepare the way for a take-over of further territory.

In situations of this kind, what happens to the traditional distinction between civilian and combatant, innocent and guilty? It is only too easy to assume that the adversary is not the enemy's armed forces, but his whole society. And if his whole society is the adversary, it is argued, his whole society becomes a legitimate target for attack. If this results in injury to those who are unquestionably 'innocent', such as young babies, this is justified by recourse to the principle of double effect: the harm done to 'the innocent' was not intended, even though it was expected and indeed inevitable.

During the past generation, what had become increasingly acceptable in international armed conflicts has become commonplace in internal wars, in wars of national liberation, in insurgency and counter-insurgency. Thus we have the phenomenon of the man or woman, even the child, who is a peasant by day and a guerrilla fighter by night.

Accompanying this trend towards total war has been the invention of absolute weapons, by which I mean weapons which by their nature (range and power) cannot be used in a just and rational way and yet are made and deployed in order to deter others from using them. Even before the discovery of nuclear explosives and long-range missiles, the ability to attack enemy cities had made modern war different in kind,

and not simply in degree, from the traditional war between professional armies about which Augustine, Thomas Aquinas, and Grotius, had written. 'The most radical and significant change of all in modern warfare', wrote Father John Ford in 1944, 'is... the enormously increased power of the armed forces to reach behind the lines and attack civilians indiscriminately.'2 It is not denied that both sides during the second world war resorted to terror-bombing against civilians. Frits Kalshoven has made it plain that both Britain and Germany made plans to bomb cities, but that the operational decisions to begin were almost fortuitous. On 10 May 1940, German aircraft dropped bombs on the town of Freiburg in the Black Forest in the belief that they were somewhere near Dijon in France, more than 100 miles to the south-west. On 14 May, the Germans bombed Rotterdam, and the following day, the British war cabinet authorised attacks on oil and railway targets in the Ruhr. On 24 August, German aircraft dropped bombs on London, but against orders and in the belief that they were somewhere else, and the next day British aircraft bombed Berlin. This led in turn to German attacks on the docks of East London on 5-7 September, announced in Germany as reprisals for British attacks against German civilians. Kalshoven concludes that 'certain characteristics' of British bombing were 'incompatible with the law as it stood', and that German attacks on London were 'prima facie unlawful according to the law of air warfare in force at the time' and that he can find no justification for this as a reprisal.<sup>3</sup>

When the decision had to be made about the first use of nuclear weapons, the advice offered to President Truman by a group of thoughtful and humane men, which included Henry Stimson and George Marshall, was to use the first nuclear weapon as soon as possible against a previously undamaged Japanese city containing a military installation surrounded by houses and without explicit prior warning (advice of the Interim Committee of the US War Department after its meetings on 31 May and 1 June 1945).

Deterrence depends on making a conditional threat, but to make a threat does not necessarily mean that one will carry it out. If one is told that nuclear deterrence does not include any conditional 'intention' along the lines suggested above, that states only pretend to prepare nuclear retaliation, that the threat is only a matter of declarations and semantics and will never be implemented, the private citizen can only reply that he knows nothing of such a well-intentioned subterfuge. The fact is that the credibility of

deterrence depends on convincing the other side that one has a firm resolve not to shrink from taking the action which one has declared one would take in defined circumstances.

It is the realisation of these facts which has given rise to a sort of nuclear pacifism. Those who take this view do not renounce all use of force; what they reject is the use of nuclear arms, with the risk of escalation up to weapons so powerful and so indiscriminate that it is difficult to conceive of their being used justly. Pacifism, whether a selective pacifism limited to particular weapons or particular methods of waging war, or the full-blooded and complete rejection of all use of force whatever the consequences for oneself or others, provides a way of escape from one set of dilemmas, only to face the pacifist with another set of dilemmas. Perhaps the most poignant fact with which the pacifist must come to terms is not that he or she may suffer as a consequence of the rejection of force, but that many of the victims will be totally innocent. But this is part of the human condition and is as true for the non-pacifist as it is for the pacifist.

#### ATTEMPTS TO OUTLAW WAR

It will seem to many a utopian dream to try to get rid of war simply by fiat, without first building the institutions of peace and eliminating the instruments of war. The League of Nations Covenant and the UN Charter recognise the interconnection between the three processes. Members of the League agreed 'to respect and preserve as against external aggression the territorial integrity and existing political independence of all Members' (Art. 10). States agreed not to resort to war without first trying to settle their disputes peacefully. War, or the threat of war, was not declared to be illegal but 'a matter of concern to the whole League' (Art. II(1)). Any resort to war in disregard of the Covenant was to be deemed 'an act of war against all other Members of the League' (Art. 16(1)).

The UN Charter seeks to distinguish between the legal and illegal use of force. It contains a commitment that 'Members shall refrain in their international relations from the threat or use of force against the territorial integrity or political independence of any State, or in any other manner inconsistent with the Purposes of the United Nations' (Art. 2(4)). Members agree to settle their disputes by peaceful means (Arts 2(3) and 33(1)), and Chapter VII of the Charter provides for machinery, which has largely remained a dead letter, for dealing with

threats to or breaches of the peace or acts of aggression. The last article of Chapter VII declares that the right of individual or collective self-defence remains unimpaired. Both the League and the UN pay their respects to disarmament – in the case of the League to 'the reduction of national armaments' (Art. 8(1)) and in the case of the UN to 'a system for the regulation of armaments' (Art. 26) and 'possible disarmament' (Art. 47(1)).

The most ambitious, if least realistic, attempt to outlaw war was the Pact of Paris of 27 August 1928 (often known as the Kellogg Pact or the Briand–Kellogg Pact). This committed the parties to a total renunciation of war as an instrument of national policy. Its significance was not that it would or could or did prevent resort to war; it was that the initiative for it had come from the United States, which had decided to stay out of the League of Nations.

On 24 October 1970 (United Nations Day), the UN General Assembly adopted resolution 2625, to which was annexed a Declaration and a set of principles of international law regarding friendly relations and co-operation among states. Seven principles from the Charter were chosen for progressive development and codification, namely:

- (a) that states shall refrain in their international relations from the threat or use of force against the territorial integrity or political independence of any state, or in any other manner inconsistent with the purposes of the United Nations;
- (b) that states shall settle their international disputes by peaceful means in such a manner that international peace and security and justice are not endangered;
- (c) the duty not to intervene in matters within the domestic jurisdiction of any state;
  - (d) the duty of states to co-operate with one another;
  - (e) the principle of equal rights and self-determination of peoples;
  - (f) the principle of sovereign equality of states;
- (g) the principle that states shall fulfil their obligations in good faith. That part of the Declaration regarding the renunciation of force is given in full in Appendix 8.

# INDIVIDUAL RESPONSIBILITY UNDER INTERNATIONAL LAW

If the international community is to prohibit all war, or aggressive war, or war in defiance of obligations arising from treaties and other sources

of international law, or crimes against the peace, or methods of waging war which do not conform to the usages established among civilised peoples or are contrary to the laws of humanity or violate the dictates of the public conscience, then more is needed than simple promises by governments that neither they nor their citizens will use force for illegal purposes or in an illegal way. In the conditions of the second half of the twentieth century, to resort to war against another state except in self-defence or under the enforcement provisions of the UN Charter is a crime, in both the moral and legal senses of the word. Crimes within national societies are deterred by three kinds of force: the force of personal conscience, the force of public opinion, and the force of the police. In order that the community should accept the rule of law, those who are responsible for maintaining law are themselves subject to law; 'no man [wrote A. V. Dicey] is above the law, but ... every man, whatever be his rank or condition, is subject to the ordinary law of the realm and amenable to the jurisdiction of the ordinary tribunals'.

Comparable institutions are slowly being created for the international community, but it is increasingly accepted that international law is not confined to the relations among states, that an individual who commits an act which is a crime under international law is responsible therefor and consequently liable to punishment. Almost the first act of the UN General Assembly was to ask in resolution 3 that Members should arrest war criminals who had committed atrocities and 'cause them to be sent back to the countries in which their abominable deeds were done, in order that they may be judged and punished according to the laws of those countries'. At the suggestion of Secretary-General Trygve Lie, the General Assembly in resolution 95 affirmed 'the principles of international law' recognised by the Nürnberg Charter and the judgment of the Tribunal. The International Law Commission (ILC), which had been set up by the General Assembly to promote the progressive development and codification of international law, was asked to formulate the principles of international law recognised in the Charter of the Nürnberg Tribunal and to prepare a draft code of offences against the peace and security of mankind.

It hardly needs stressing that the Nürnberg Tribunal was established by the victors to try the vanquished. If Allied nationals committed crimes under international law during the second world war, they were not brought to trial before any international tribunal. It is notable, moreover, that the accused at Nürnberg were not charged

with aerial bombardment of cities or torpedoing civilian ships, possibly because this would have exposed the prosecutors to the *tu quoque* argument. The Nürnberg Tribunal itself considered that its Charter was 'not an arbitrary exercise of power on the part of the victorious nations but ... the expression of international law existing at the time of its creation; and to that extent is itself a contribution to international law'. Nevertheless, a number of jurists considered that the Nürnberg procedure was partially defective. It is no doubt for this reason that the General Assembly was careful not to endorse the entire Nürnberg procedure, but only to affirm those 'principles of international law' which are to be found in the Charter and the judgment of the Tribunal.

In accordance with the directive of the General Assembly, the ILC formulated seven principles, as indicated in italic type below. Extracts from ILC's comments follow in indented paragraphs.<sup>4</sup>

# Principle 1

Any person who commits an act which constitutes a crime under international law is responsible therefor and liable to punishment.

The Tribunal declared that international law imposes duties and liabilities on individuals as well as on states. 'Crimes against international law are committed by men, not by abstract entities.' 'The authors of these acts cannot shelter themselves behind their official position in order to be freed from punishment....'

[The first] principle is based on the first paragraph of article 6 of the Charter of the Nürnberg Tribunal which established the competence of the Tribunal to try and punish persons who, acting in the interests of the European Axis countries, whether as individuals or as members of organizations, committed any of the crimes defined in ... article 6. The text of the Charter declared punishable only persons 'acting in the interests of the European Axis countries' but, as a matter of course, Principle I is now formulated in general terms.

The general rule underlying Principle I is that international law may impose duties on individuals directly without any interposition of internal law.

# **Principle II**

The fact that internal law does not impose a penalty for an act which constitutes a crime under international law does not relieve the person who committed the act from responsibility under international law.

Once it is admitted that individuals are responsible for crimes under international law, it is obvious that they are not relieved from their international responsibility by the fact that their acts are not held to be crimes under the law of any particular country: '... the very essence of the [Nürnberg] Charter is that individuals have international duties which transcend the national obligations of obedience imposed by the individual State.'

This principle is a corollary to Principle I...

The Charter of the Nürnberg Tribunal referred, in express terms, to this relation between international and national responsibility only with respect to crimes against humanity. Sub-paragraph (c) of article 6 of the Charter defined as crimes against humanity certain acts 'whether or not [committed] in violation of the domestic law of the country where perpetrated'. The [International Law] Commission has formulated Principle II in general terms.

The principle that a person who has committed an international crime is responsible therefor and liable to punishment under international law, independently of the provisions of internal law, implies what is commonly called the 'supremacy' of international law over national law. The Tribunal considered that international law can bind individuals even if national law does not direct them to observe the rules of international law ....

# Principle III

The fact that a person who committed an act which constitutes a crime under international law acted as Head of State or responsible Government official does not relieve him from responsibility under international law.

This principle is based on article 7 of the Charter of the Nürnberg Tribunal. According to the Charter and the judgment, the fact that an individual acted as Head of State or responsible government official did not relieve him from international responsibility. 'The principle of international law which, under certain circumstances, protects the representatives of a State', said the Tribunal, 'cannot be applied to acts which are condemned as criminal by international law ....'

The last phrase of article 7 of the Charter, 'or mitigating punishment', has not been retained in the formulation of Principle III. The [International Law] Commission considers that the

question of mitigating punishment is a matter for the competent Court to decide.

# **Principle IV**

The fact that a person acted pursuant to order of his Government or of a superior does not relieve him from responsibility under international law, provided a moral choice was in fact possible to him.

This text is based on the principle contained in article 8 of the Charter of the Nürnberg Tribunal as interpreted in the judgment. The idea expressed in Principle IV is that superior orders are not a defence provided a moral choice was possible to the accused. In conformity with this conception, the Tribunal rejected the argument of the defence that there could not be any responsibility since most of the defendants acted under the orders of Hitler. The Tribunal declared: 'The provisions of this article [article 8] are in conformity with the law of all nations. That a soldier was ordered to kill or torture in violation of the international law of war has never been recognized as a defence to such acts of brutality, though, as the Charter here provides, the order may be urged in mitigation of the punishment. The true test, which is found in varying degrees in the criminal law of most nations, is not the existence of the order, but whether moral choice was in fact possible.'

The last phrase of article 8 of the Charter 'but may be considered in mitigation of punishment, if the Tribunal determines that justice so requires', has not been retained for the reason stated under Principle III....

# Principle V

Any person charged with a crime under international law has the right to a fair trial on the facts and law.

The principle that a defendant charged with a crime under international law must have the right to a fair trial was expressly recognized and carefully developed by the Charter of the Nürnberg Tribunal. The Charter contained a chapter entitled: 'Fair Trial for Defendants', which for the purpose of ensuring such fair trial provided the following procedure:

'(a) The indictment shall include full particulars specifying in detail the charges against the defendants. A copy of the

indictment and of all the documents lodged with the indictment, translated into a language which he understands, shall be furnished to the defendant at a reasonable time before the trial.

- '(b) During any preliminary examination or trial of a defendant he shall have the right to give any explanation relevant to the charges made against him.
- '(c) A preliminary examination of a defendant and his trial shall be conducted in, or translated into, a language which the defendant understands.
- '(d) A defendant shall have the right to conduct his own defence before the Tribunal or to have the assistance of counsel.
- '(e) A defendant shall have the right through himself or through his counsel to present evidence at the trial in support of his defence, and to cross-examine any witness called by the prosecution.'

The right to a fair trial was also referred to in the judgment itself. The Tribunal said in this respect: 'With regard to the constitution of the Court all that the defendants are entitled to ask is to receive a fair trial on the facts and law.'

# Principle VI

The crimes hereinafter set out are punishable as crimes under international law:

The Tribunal was careful not to equate all internationally illegal acts or violations of international law as crimes: '... a criminal act is certainly an illegal act, but not every illegal act is criminal.' Nevertheless, the Tribunal held that acts prohibited by a treaty can be crimes even if they are not expressly designated as such in the treaty.

- (a) Crimes against peace:
  - (i) Planning, preparation, initiation or waging of a war of aggression or a war in violation of international treaties, agreements or assurances;
  - (ii) Participation in a common plan or conspiracy for the accomplishment of any of the acts mentioned under (i).

The wording of Principle VI(a) is essentially the same as that of Article 6(a) of the Nürnberg Charter: '... resort to a war of

aggression is not merely illegal, but it is criminal'. 'To initiate a war of aggression ... is not only an international crime; it is the supreme international crime ....' A war of aggression, declared the Tribunal, was already a crime in 1939. The Tribunal concluded that at least some administrative activities of high officials in territories occupied by aggressive war are tantamount to waging aggressive war.

Both categories of crimes [in Principle VI(a)] are characterized by the fact that they are connected with 'war of aggression or war in violation of international treaties, agreements or assurances'.

The Tribunal made a general statement to the effect that its Charter was 'the expression of international law existing at the time of its creation'. It, in particular, refuted the argument of the defence that aggressive war was not an international crime. For this refutation the Tribunal relied primarily on the General Treaty for the Renunciation of War of 27 August 1928 (Kellogg-Briand Pact) which in 1939 was in force between sixty-three States. 'The nations who signed the Pact or adhered to it unconditionally', said the Tribunal, 'condemned recourse to war for the future as an instrument of policy, and expressly renounced it. After the signing of the Pact, any nation resorting to war as an instrument of national policy breaks the Pact. In the opinion of the Tribunal, the solemn renunciation of war as an instrument of national policy necessarily involves the proposition that such a war is illegal in international law; and that those who planned and waged such a war, with its inevitable and terrible consequences, are committing a crime in so doing. War for the solution of international controversies undertaken as an instrument of national policy certainly includes a war of aggression, and such a war is therefore outlawed by the Pact.' ...

The Charter of the Nürnberg Tribunal did not contain any definition of 'war of aggression', nor was there any such definition in the judgment of the Tribunal. It was by reviewing the historical events before and during the war that it found that certain of the defendants planned and waged aggressive wars against twelve nations and were therefore guilty of a series of crimes....

The term 'assurances' is understood by the [International Law] Commission as including any pledge or guarantee of peace given by a State, even unilaterally.

The terms 'planning' and 'preparation' of a war of aggression were considered by the Tribunal as comprising all the stages in the bringing about of a war of aggression from the planning to the actual initiation of the war. In view of that, the Tribunal did not make any clear distinction between planning and preparation....

The meaning of the expression 'waging of a war of aggression' was discussed in the [International Law] Commission during the consideration of the definition of 'crimes against peace'. Some members of the Commission feared that everyone in uniform who fought in a war of aggression might be charged with the 'waging' of such a war. The Commission understands the expression to refer only to high-ranking military personnel and high State officials, and believes that this was also the view of the Tribunal.

A legal notion of the Charter to which the defence objected was the one concerning 'conspiracy'. The Tribunal recognized that 'conspiracy is not defined in the Charter'. However, it stated the meaning of the term, though only in a restricted way. 'But in the opinion of the Tribunal', it was said in the judgment, 'the conspiracy must be clearly outlined in its criminal purpose. It must not be too far removed from the time of decision and of action ....'

### (b) War crimes:

Violations of the laws or customs of war which include, but are not limited to, murder, ill-treatment or deportation to slave labour or for any other purpose of civilian population of or in occupied territory, murder or ill-treatment of prisoners of war, or persons on the seas, killing of hostages, plunder of public or private property, wanton destruction of cities, towns, or villages, or devastation not justified by military necessity. (The ILC noted that Article 34 of the Fourth Geneva Convention on the protection of civilians prohibits the taking of hostages.)

The above is essentially Article 6(b) of the Nürnberg Charter. The Tribunal considered that the Charter gave expression to already existing international law. 'The law of war [the Tribunal declared] is to be found not only in treaties, but in customs and practices of States which gradually obtained universal recognition, and from the general principles of justice applied by jurists and practised by military courts. This law is not static, but by continual adaptation follows the needs of a changing world. Indeed, in many cases treaties do no more than express and define for more accurate reference the principles of law already existing.' By 1939, the rules laid down in the Hague Convention of 1907 'were recognised by all civilised nations, and were regarded as being declaratory of the laws and customs of war...'. Violations of the provisions of the Hague and Geneva Conventions 'constituted crimes for which the guilty individuals were punishable'.

In a memorandum prepared by the UN Secretary-General in 1949, it was noted that the laws and customs of war are applicable even in an aggressive and therefore illegal war. The principle that violations of the laws and customs of war are international crimes, wrote the Secretary-General, 'has far-reaching implications.'

The Tribunal emphasized that before the last war the crimes defined by article 6(b) of its Charter were ... covered by specific provisions of the Regulations annexed to The Hague Convention of 1907 respecting the Laws and Customs of War on Land and of the Geneva Convention of 1929 on the Treatment of Prisoners of War. After enumerating the said provisions, the Tribunal stated: 'That violation of these provisions constituted crimes for which the guilty individuals were punishable is too well settled to admit of argument.'

## (c) Crimes against humanity:

Murder, extermination, enslavement, deportation and other inhuman acts done against any civilian population, or persecutions on political, racial or religious grounds, when such acts are done or such persecutions are carried on in execution of or in connexion with any crime against peace or any war crime.

In dealing with crimes against humanity, the Tribunal sought a compromise between two ideas. 'One is the principle of traditional international law that the treatment of nationals is a matter of domestic jurisdiction. The competing idea is the view that inhumane treatment of human beings is a wrong even if it is tolerated, encouraged or even practised by their own State, and that this wrong ought to be penalized on the international level ....'

The Tribunal itself was careful to distinguish between acts committed before 1939, and acts committed during the war. To constitute crimes against humanity, the acts relied on before the outbreak of war must have been in execution of, or in connexion with, any crime within the jurisdiction of the Tribunal. The Tribunal therefore cannot make a general declaration that the acts before 1939 were crimes against humanity within the meaning of the Charter. In other words, the Tribunal found that crimes against humanity are accessory to crimes against peace and war crimes. Nevertheless, when the International Law Commission came to draft Principle 6(c), it decided to omit the words 'before or during the war', which were included in the Nürnberg Charter, and emphasised that 'crimes

against humanity... may take place also before a war in connexion with crimes against peace'.

The wording of the Nürnberg Charter makes it clear that crimes against humanity can be committed both against the perpetrator's own compatriots and against populations of other nationalities. The Tribunal found that a person otherwise guilty of a crime against humanity cannot effectively plead that his act was legal under domestic law.

Article 6(c) of the Charter of the Nürnberg Tribunal distinguished two categories of punishable acts, to wit: first, murder, extermination, enslavement, deportation and other inhuman acts committed against any civilian population, before or during the war, and second, persecution on political, racial or religious grounds. Acts within these categories, according to the Charter, constituted international crimes only when committed 'in execution of or in connexion with any crimes within the jurisdiction of the Tribunal'. The crimes referred to as falling within the jurisdiction of the Tribunal were crimes against peace and war crimes.

Though it found that 'political opponents were murdered in Germany before the war, and that many of them were kept in concentration camps in circumstances of great horror and cruelty', that 'the policy of persecution, repression and murder of civilians... was most ruthlessly carried out', and that 'the persecution of Jews during the same period is established beyond all doubt', the Tribunal considered that it had not been satisfactorily proved that before the outbreak of war these acts had been committed in execution of, or in connexion with, any crime within the jurisdiction of the Tribunal. For this reason the Tribunal declared itself unable to 'make a general declaration that the acts before 1939 were crimes against humanity within the meaning of the Charter'.

The Tribunal did not, however, thereby exclude the possibility that crimes against humanity might be committed also before a war....

In accordance with article 6(c) of the Charter, the above formulation characterizes as crimes against humanity murder, extermination, enslavement, etc., committed against 'any' civilian population. This means that these acts may be crimes against humanity even if they are committed by the perpetrator against his own population.

### **Principle VII**

Complicity in the commission of a crime against peace, a war crime, or a crime against humanity as set forth in Principle VI is a crime under international law.

The wording of Principle VII is a paraphrase of the last paragraph of Article 6 of the Nürnberg Charter. The Tribunal did not impose a collective responsibility on the members of any organisation, based solely on the fact of membership. To hold a member responsible for the criminal activities of his organisation, the Tribunal required some conduct on the part of the member which established his complicity in the activity.

The only provision in the Charter of the Nürnberg Tribunal regarding responsibility for complicity was that of the last paragraph of article 6 which reads as follows: 'Leaders, organizers, instigators and accomplices participating in the formulation or execution of a common plan or conspiracy to commit any of the foregoing crimes are responsible for all acts performed by any persons in execution of such a plan.'

The Tribunal, commenting on this provision ... said that, in its opinion, the provision did not 'add a new and separate crime to those already listed'. In the view of the Tribunal, the provision was designed to 'establish the responsibility of persons participating in a common plan' to prepare, initiate and wage aggressive war. Interpreted literally, this statement would seem to imply that the complicity rule did not apply to crimes perpetrated by individual action.

On the other hand, the Tribunal convicted several of the defendants of war crimes and crimes against humanity because they gave orders resulting in atrocious and criminal acts which they did not commit themselves. In practice, therefore, the Tribunal seems to have applied general principles of criminal law regarding complicity. This view is corroborated by expressions used by the Tribunal in assessing the guilt of particular defendants.

These, then, were the seven Nürnberg Principles as formulated by the ILC and presented to the General Assembly in 1950. It might have been possible for the Assembly to have re-affirmed these Principles when they were first formulated; but if the matter were raised in the atmosphere prevailing in the General Assembly of the 1980s, there would undoubtedly be great pressure to extend the sixth Principle to

cover inhumane acts resulting from the more virulent forms of racism. That, in itself, might be unobjectionable, but it would change the character of the Nürnberg Principles, which were intended to deal with war crimes and related offences, and not simply with grave violations of human rights.

The ILC had been invited in 1947 to undertake two other tasks: to prepare a draft code of offences against the peace and security of mankind (resolution 177); and to study the desirability and possibility of establishing an international judicial organ for the trial of persons charged with genocide or other crimes over which jurisdiction would be conferred by international conventions (resolution 260B).

During its regular session in 1950–1, the General Assembly took four decisions which bear on the subject matter of this book. First, it invited governments to submit written observations on the ILC's formulation of the Nürnberg Principles (resolution 488). Secondly, it deferred consideration of that part of the ILC report relating to a draft code of offences against the peace and security of mankind and requested the Commission, in its further work on the draft code, to take account of the observations made in the Assembly as well as any written observations by governments (resolution 488). Thirdly, it established a committee of seventeen states to prepare one or more preliminary draft conventions and proposals relating to the establishment and statute of an international criminal court (resolution 489). Finally (although first in point of time), it remitted to the ILC a Soviet proposal on the need to define aggression (resolution 378B).

From this point onwards, the four subjects were so inextricably intertwined that it was difficult to make progress on one aspect until progress was also possible on the other three. The General Assembly had, in effect, deferred consideration of the Nürnberg Principles until a definition of aggression had been agreed. As for a possible code of offences against the peace and security of mankind, the ILC prepared a draft for consideration by the General Assembly in 1951. The rather dismal story of the General Assembly's treatment of this item thereafter is as follows:

1951	item postponed
1952, 1953	item not on the agenda
1954	ILC submits revised draft but item postponed until aggression defined (resolution 897)
1955, 1956 1957	no action written comments on ILC draft invited (resolution 1186)

1958–73 1974	no action aggression defined, but no action on draft code of offences
1975, 1976	no action
1977	item postponed (resolution 32/441)
1978	written comments again invited (resolution 33/97)
1979	no action
1980	written comments again invited (resolution 35/49)
1981–5	written comments again invited; ILC asked to continue the work (resolutions 36/106, 37/132, 39/80, 40/69)

The United Kingdom has usually abstained from voting on these decisions.

There is now general agreement in the ILC that the code of offences should cover the most serious international crimes, whether such crimes are politically motivated or not. The Commission intends to consider first the criminal responsibility of individuals, and then, at a later stage, whether states or groups of states can be made legally responsible for the criminal acts listed in the code. The Commission will make a provisional list of the acts constituting serious breaches of international law and the international instruments in which these acts are regarded as international crimes. There are at present differences of view regarding a suitable judicial organ and a scale of penalties.

The item on an international criminal court also languished in the UN system for a good many years. The Committee appointed by the General Assembly to deal with the matter in 1950 itself established a subcommittee, which prepared a number of drafts for consideration by the full Committee; several governments submitted written comments on these drafts. All this material was submitted to the General Assembly in 1952. A wide divergence of view was expressed, and a new Committee was appointed to review the documentation and, in particular, to explore the implications and consequences of establishing an international criminal court (resolution 687). The Assembly, in other words, was asking to be told what would be the consequences of implementing the decision which it had taken in principle two years previously.

The new Committee duly prepared a fresh report. In 1953 the Assembly postponed a decision of substance, and in 1954 it postponed

consideration of the report pending progress on related issues (resolution 898). The matter was deferred in 1956, and again in 1957 (resolution 1187).

The question of international criminal jurisdiction was raised in 1965 by Poland in connexion with the punishment of war criminals. The occasion which sparked off this event (or non-event, as it turned out) was the fear in Eastern Europe that the Federal Republic of Germany was on the point of enacting a law which would have provided that no further prosecutions for war crimes could begin after 1965. The law which was finally enacted in West Germany extended from 8 May 1965 to 31 December 1969 the period during which prosecutions could take place of previously undetected offences of the most serious kind, and in 1969 the deadline was further extended.

When Poland first raised the matter in 1965, these West German actions lay in the future. The Polish proposal was dealt with in the normal fashion. Studies were undertaken by the UN Secretary-General, and there were debates and decisions in the Commission on Human Rights, the Economic and Social Council, and the General Assembly. The Polish initiative had three results.

First, the General Assembly began the drafting of a document on the arrest and punishment of war criminals and persons who had committed crimes against humanity. This led in 1973 to the adoption of a declaration on international co-operation in the detection, arrest, extradition, and punishment of persons guilty of war crimes and crimes against humanity. According to Article 7 of the Declaration, states shall not grant asylum to any person where there are serious reasons for considering that he has committed a crime against peace; a war crime, or a crime against humanity (resolution 3074).

Secondly, a Convention was prepared on the Non-Applicability of Statutory Limitations to War Crimes and Crimes against Humanity, and this Convention came into force on 11 November 1970 (resolution 2391). The original intention was to prepare a convention with the single object of ensuring that no statutory limitation should apply to war crimes, with the hope that this would act as a deterrent to the recurrence of the atrocities committed during the second world war. As the work of drafting proceeded, however, the definition of 'crimes against humanity' was extended to apply not only to those mentioned in the Nürnberg Charter, and to genocide as defined in the Genocide Convention of 1948, but also to inhuman acts resulting from the policy of apartheid. A British attempt to amend the definition to read 'war crimes of a grave nature and crimes against humanity as defined in

international law' was heavily defeated, and the Convention was approved by 58 votes in favour, 7 against (including the UK), with 61 states abstaining or absent.

Thirdly, a proposal was initiated by Saudi Arabia whereby persons accused of war crimes or crimes against humanity should be tried by a tribunal consisting of judges from states not parties to the conflict, and that the right of asylum should be denied to a person found guilty of such crimes. The General Assembly decided that the proposal should be taken up 'at such time as it [the Assembly] resumes consideration of the question... or at such other times as it deems appropriate' (resolution 2392).

The fourth item of the 1950 quartet was the Soviet proposal regarding the definition of aggression, and this eventually made progress. The issue had been first raised in 1950, soon after the North Korean attack on South Korea, and it was alleged that the Soviet move was diversionary in character. The matter lay dormant for a decade but was revived in 1967, at a time when the war in Viet Nam was escalating. There are, of course, intrinsic difficulties over defining aggression, direct and indirect, in such a way as not to lay up trouble for the future; but in 1974, the General Assembly was able to adopt a declaration to the effect that aggression is the use of armed force by a state against the sovereignty, territorial integrity, or political independence of another state, and that the first use of armed force constitutes prima facie evidence of an act of aggression. Among acts of aggression, whether or not there has been a declaration of war, are blockade, allowing territory to be used by others for perpetrating aggression, and the despatch of irregular forces or mercenaries. Aggression constitutes 'a crime against international peace', and it is not lawful to acquire territory or special advantage from committing aggression (resolution 3314, see Appendix 13).

Whatever may be the final fate of the 1974 definition of aggression, the seven Nürnberg Principles, a possible code of offences against the peace and security of mankind, and the question of international criminal jurisdiction, the question of penal sanctions against individuals who commit crimes against international law remains before the international community. The UN Secretary-General has stressed that breaches of the laws and customs of war involve the personal responsibility of those committing them; he has suggested that those who violate humanitarian instruments should be liable to penal sanctions after a fair trial 'on the national level'; and he has expressed the view that future humanitarian instruments will be more effective if they expressly provide for penal sanctions against violators.<sup>5</sup>

# 3 Human Rights in Armed Conflict

Everyone has the right to life ...
Universal Declaration of Human Rights, 1948

At its very first session, the UN International Law Commission rejected a proposal that it should attempt to codify the laws of war. The majority of the members of the Commission considered that as war had been outlawed, the regulation of its conduct had ceased to be relevant.

The majority of the Commission declared itself opposed to the study of the problem at the present stage [1949]. It was considered that if the Commission, at the very beginning of its work, were to undertake this study, public opinion might interpret its action as showing lack of confidence in the efficiency of the means at the disposal of the United Nations for maintaining peace.<sup>1</sup>

The UN, after all, was created to keep the peace, and its Members have agreed to refrain from the threat or use of force in their international relations (Art. 2(4) of the Charter). But this does not mean that armed conflict has ceased. In the first place, the UN Charter does not impair the right of self-defence 'until the Security Council has taken measures necessary to maintain international peace and security' (Art. 51). Secondly, the UN is itself permitted to use armed force (Art. 42). Thirdly, armed conflict can occur between factions within a state, or between the authorities of a state and dissident groups; such conflict will not necessarily be contrary to any provision of the UN Charter. Finally, it hardly needs to be noted that states have resorted to the use of armed force against the territorial integrity or political independence of other states in disregard of their Charter obligations. There have been over 150 armed conflicts since 1945, and a new one breaks out roughly every three months.

# TEHERAN CONFERENCE ON HUMAN RIGHTS AND UN GENERAL ASSEMBLY, 1968

Since 1968 attempts have been made to reinforce the work of national

and international humanitarian agencies by resort to the human rights machinery of the UN. The first substantial discussion of the role of the UN regarding human rights in armed conflict took place in 1968 at the International Conference on Human Rights, one of the chief events of Human Rights Year. A resolution on the subject was proposed by India and co-sponsored by Czechoslovakia, Jamaica, Uganda, and Egypt. The resolution had a long preamble which, besides referring to various international legal instruments, noted that racist or colonial régimes 'frequently resort to executions and inhuman treatment'. and considered that persons who struggle against such régimes 'should be protected against inhuman or brutal treatment and...if detained should be treated as prisoners of war or political prisoners under international law'. The substance of the resolution called on states to accede to the relevant instruments; invited the General Assembly to initiate a study of existing agreements and the need for new ones; and asked the Secretary-General, after consultation with the International Committee of the Red Cross (ICRC), to urge governments to respect existing rules of international law.

The British representative at the conference expressed 'serious doubts' about the reference to colonial or racist régimes. He thought it was a mistake to make a direct link between 'freedom fighters' and prisoners of war, in the strict sense in which the ICRC had understood the latter expression. He asked for a separate vote on this part of the proposal, but it was approved by 68 votes to none, with 15 abstentions (mainly Western countries). The British representative then voted in favour of the resolution as a whole, which was adopted by 67 votes in favour and no negative votes. Switzerland abstained on the ground that the ICRC, the guardian of the Red Cross Conventions, had not been consulted; South Viet Nam also abstained.

The substance of the Teheran resolution was raised during the General Assembly later in 1968 in the form of a draft resolution sponsored by sixteen states. One paragraph of the proposal, which would have affirmed that the general principles of the law of war apply to nuclear and similar weapons, was deleted at the request of the Soviet Union. The amended proposal was then approved by the Assembly on 19 December 1968 (resolution 2444). The operative part of the resolution affirmed a resolution of the International Red Cross Conference to the effect that:

1. The right of the parties to a conflict to adopt means of injuring the enemy is not unlimited (this is the essence of Article 12 of the Brussels Declaration of 1874 and Article 22 of the regulations annexed to the Hague Conventions of 1899 and 1907 on the laws and customs of war on land).

- 2. It is prohibited to launch attacks against the civilian populations as such.
- 3. Distinction must be made at all times between persons taking part in the hostilities and members of the civilian population to the effect that the latter be spared as much as possible.

The Secretary-General was asked to do three things:

- 1. Study steps which could be taken to secure the better application of humanitarian conventions and rules in all armed conflicts:
- 2. Study the need for additional humanitarian conventions or other legal instruments;
- 3. 'Take all other necessary steps to give effect to... the present resolution and to report to the General Assembly...'

States which had not already done so were called upon to become parties to the Hague Conventions of 1899 and 1907, the Geneva Protocol of 1925, and the four Geneva Conventions of 1949.

The Secretary-General was a little slow off the mark in following up the 1968 decision of the General Assembly, but on 19 May 1969 he communicated the provisions of the resolution to member states, specialised agencies, UN bodies, and a number of non-governmental organisations. Twenty-one of the 126 member states had replied to his letter by the time his report went to press on 20 November 1969, some merely endorsing the Assembly's resolution or giving factual information about the conventions to which they were parties, others going into detail about additional steps which might be taken in the future. Many of the replies reflected the preoccupations of the government concerned: Britain sent the text of its draft convention to ban biological weapons (UN doc. A/7720, pp. 86-90); Mexico commended the treaty on the denuclearisation of Latin America (p. 80); the United States complained that North Viet Nam had been disregarding the Geneva POW Convention (pp. 90-3); Finland proposed that a study be undertaken of neutrality and the status of neutral nations (p. 76); UNESCO suggested that a study be made of the factors which contribute to the inadequacy of existing rules of international law, an appraisal of major innovative legal ideas regarding better application of existing rules, and a study of the range

of conditioning processes necessary to ensure human rights in armed conflicts (p. 95). The World Health Organisation, the UN Children's Fund, and the UN High Commissioner for Refugees also sent letters. The ICRC sent a letter and communicated the text of six resolutions adopted at the 21st International Red Cross Conference (pp. 101–6).

### **UN REPORT AND DECISIONS, 1969**

The decision of the General Assembly in 1968 had included three requests to the UN Secretary-General, who at the time was U Thant. The work was in fact done in the Human Rights Division of the UN Secretariat, and it is convenient to refer to the 1969 report, and those issued subsequently, by the short-hand expression 'UN report(s)' or 'Secretariat report(s)'.

The first UN report on human rights in armed conflict did not pretend to be more than preliminary and dealt with only a limited number of questions.<sup>2</sup> The UN Secretariat commented that constructive suggestions for remedial action had been relatively few, and that what was required was 'a relatively long-term United Nations endeavour' (para. 13).

The first chapter of the report makes the interesting point that the second world war 'gave conclusive proof of the close relationship which exists between outrageous behaviour of a Government towards its own citizens and aggression against other nations' (para. 16). The Secretariat then provided a historical survey of international humanitarian instruments, starting with the Geneva Convention of 1864 (sick and wounded in time of war) and going up to the nuclear non-proliferation treaty of 1968 (paras 36–69). The next chapter compared the four Geneva Conventions of 1949 and UN instruments in the field of human rights (paras 70-108). Chapter IV was concerned with the substance of the task entrusted to the UN Secretary-General (paras 109-227). The whole problem of humanitarian protection had become very difficult to handle because recent developments had threatened to blur traditional distinctions. The distinction between combatants and civilians was threatened by advances in military technology, and the distinction between international and internal wars had been becoming less clear (para. 131).

An issue of special concern to the United Nations was whether the UN as an entity should formally accept the obligations of the Geneva Conventions in its peace-keeping operations. In 1963, following the

fighting in Katanga, the Council of Delegates of the ICRC had passed a resolution recommending (a) that the UN should be invited to adopt a solemn declaration accepting that the Geneva Conventions apply equally to UN Emergency Forces as they apply to the forces of parties to the Conventions; (b) that the governments of countries providing contingents to the UN should, as a matter of prime importance, give their contingents 'adequate instructions on the Geneva Conventions as well as orders to comply with them'; and (c) that the authorities responsible for UN contingents should agree to take all necessary measures to 'prevent and repress' any infringements of the Conventions. This matter was raised again in 1969 in the letter of the ICRC to the UN Secretary-General, in which it proposed that the UN should itself formally undertake to apply the Geneva Conventions and other humanitarian rules in operations in which UN forces are engaged. 'Such a gesture would have value as an example' (para. 114 and p. 102).

In issuing regulations for UN forces in the Middle East, the Congo (Zaire), and Cyprus, the Secretary-General had stipulated that such forces should observe 'the principles and spirit of the general international conventions applicable to the conduct of military personnel'. At the same time, he had insisted that training and discipline of troops in UN operations had rested with each national contingent, and that progress would come from a wider acceptance of humanitarian conventions by contributing states rather than by having the UN undertake 'obligations whose discharge would invôlve the exercise of an authority it had not been granted' (pp. 101–6 and para. 9). It is a pity that none of the UN Secretaries-General has found it possible to evolve a formula which would go at least part of the way to meeting the long-held views of the ICRC in this respect.

The 1969 report contained a number of proposals of 'areas where it would appear that useful studies might be undertaken', including the clarification or strengthening of existing instruments; the preparation of new instruments for the better protection of civilians, prisoners, and combatants; the problem of internal armed conflicts; the use of napalm and other weapons said to cause unnecessary suffering; and relief activities (paras 109–227). These matters were all to be discussed in greater detail in the UN report in 1970.

The 1969 report did not become available until the first week of December, by which time the General Assembly had almost completed its session. The report was considered rather hurriedly at three meetings of a committee of the Assembly. There was general

appreciation for the preliminary report and a wish that the study should be continued. Pakistan and Tanzania proposed that in any future work 'special attention' should be given to the protection of those engaged in 'conflicts which arise from the struggle of peoples under colonial and foreign rule for liberation and self-determination' (which I will hereafter refer to by the short-hand expression 'wars of national liberation'). This amendment was approved by 48 votes (Afro-Asian and Communist countries) to 17 (West plus Japan), with 28 abstentions. The draft resolution was approved in plenary meeting on 16 December 1969 by 91 votes to none (resolution 2597). The UK was among 23 abstainers, who were presumably opponents of the Pakistani-Tanzanian amendment. The resolution asked the Secretary-General to continue the study, to consult and co-operate with the ICRC, and to present a further report in 1970.

### **UN REPORT AND DECISIONS, 1970**

The second UN report was in many ways a model of how the UN Secretariat should conduct studies and, on the basis of those studies, put forward proposals for action or further research. Some of the proposals went beyond what governments were then willing to accept, but this should not in itself be a reason for the Secretariat to refrain from reviewing various courses of action and inaction.

It may be useful to start with one matter which was dealt with in a preliminary way in 1969 and more conclusively in 1970. While it is true that the UN and regional instruments on human rights on the one hand and the four Geneva Conventions of 1949 on the other hand complement each other, the protection afforded by the two sets of instruments is not identical. Common Article 3 of the Geneva Conventions of 1949 sets out minimum standards to be applied in conflicts not of an international character (what I will in future refer to as internal wars). These standards go further in some respects than the UN Covenant on Civil and Political Rights in that they provide for judicial guarantees which may not be suspended in periods of armed conflict and expressly prohibit the taking of hostages. The UN Covenant, on the other hand, goes further than common Article 3 in that it would apply at all times, in all places, and to all individuals without distinction as to nationality or status. The Covenant also expressly prohibits retroactive penal legislation.

The 1969 report had stressed that a common feature of the four Geneva Conventions and UN human rights instruments is that they 'appear to belong to the category of treaties setting forth "absolute obligations". In other words, the obligations are unconditional and do not depend on reciprocity (A/7720, para. 82). The UN Secretariat concluded that the four Geneva Conventions should, as far as possible, remain untouched. Nevertheless, they showed 'certain imperfections, inadequacies and gaps', and it was suggested that the UN should institutionalise procedures for acting 'specially in fields in which the International Committee [of the Red Cross] cannot operate' (UN doc. A/8052, paras 14–17).

The UN Secretariat reviewed what could be done to ensure better humanitarian protection for protected persons. Civilians are especially exposed if they find themselves close to the battle zone, which may itself be constantly fluctuating. The Secretary-General had tentatively suggested in 1969, as had Austria, that sanctuaries or zones of refuge should be established for those civilians not taking part in hostilities (A/7720, paras 145-52 and p. 73), and this idea was elaborated in more detail in the 1970 report (A/8052, paras 45–87). The proposals for verification of civilian sanctuaries were to some extent adapted from the arrangements in the Hague Convention of 1954 for the Protection of Cultural Property. The Secretariat suggested that such civilian sanctuaries should be registered with an international authority and be subject to 'an effective system of control and verification'. They should bear 'special markings and insignia, clearly visible and recognizable'. Free access should be granted to official inspectors at all times, and the inspectors would be empowered to order an investigation of any suspected violation. The inspectors should be permitted to fix a time-limit for rectification which, if not complied with, could lead to the lifting of the protection and immunity. Shelter should be given in such sanctuaries to 'civilians taking no part in hostilities and in no way contributing to the war effort'. The zones would be 'completely disarmed and demilitarized' and should contain no large industrial or administrative establishments, no important communications or transport facilities, and no installations which might be put to military use. They should be demarcated in such a way that belligerents would secure no military advantage from their existence. Sanctuaries should be immune from attack, possibly even in internal wars. The Secretary-General suggested that the matter should be given 'a comprehensive analysis and study in depth ... by a group or committee of qualified experts'

with a view to the preparation of a Protocol to the Geneva Conventions of 1949 or a separate international instrument (paras 45-87).<sup>3</sup>

The other main proposal for the better protection of civilians would have involved the setting out of a code of standard minimum rules, complementary to the obligations which states had already assumed (paras 34–44). Such a code would need to define those entitled to protection as civilians, but such definition should be irrespective of nationality and should expressly apply to refugees and stateless persons. The main intention would have been to prohibit attacks directed against civilians as such, indiscriminate terrorising or destruction, and the use of civilians as an object of reprisal. There would need to be arrangements to prevent abuse, such as using civilians as a shield for military attacks or permanently placing armed forces or military installations in cities or areas with large civilian populations.

In 1969 the Secretary-General had mentioned the problem of 'terror bombing' and suggested a study of 'the effects of this kind of military operation within their legal context... and the question of defining limits' (A/7720, para. 143). In the suggested minimum code for the protection of civilians put forward a year later, the Secretariat proposed 'the specific prohibition of the use of "saturation" bombing as a means of intimidating, demoralizing and terrorizing civilians by inflicting indiscriminate destruction upon densely populated areas'. In addition, the report reiterated that belligerents have an obligation to take precautions to ensure that the objective to be attacked is not the civilian population. The purpose would be to reduce to a minimum or avoid entirely harming civilian populations in the vicinity of a military objective (A/8052, para. 42).

As for the humanitarian protection of prisoners of war, the Secretariat considered the Third Geneva Convention of 1949 to be 'generally... sound', but it was pointed out that the question whether a person qualifies for the protection of the Convention is unilaterally decided upon by the capturing power, and that there might be advantages in allowing an international agency 'to advise and give guidance' on the eligibility of persons for POW status. Other suggestions were that prisoners should not be interrogated until they had received medical attention; that all brutal methods of interrogation, including the giving of drugs, alcohol, or similar agents, and deprivation of food and rest, should be prohibited; and that the power to impose the death sentence on prisoners 'should be exercised with

the greatest moderation and if possible prohibited altogether'. It was suggested that, even in guerrilla fighting, persons should not be sentenced to death merely for acts, such as killing their enemy in open fight, which may reasonably be expected of combatants and which are committed in accordance with the laws and customs of war. In the case of internal conflicts, the Secretariat favoured the gradual elimination of capital punishment inflicted on combatants solely on the ground of having espoused the cause of either party to the conflict (paras 104–7, 111(c), 114–21, 182, 184, 190, 191).

The humanitarian protection of combatants raises many difficult questions. Some of these arise from the near impossibility of distinguishing between a 'ruse of war', which is permitted under the Hague Regulations (Art. 24) and to 'kill or wound treacherously'. which are among the acts 'especially prohibited' (Art. 23(b)). The Secretariat considered that a more precise rule was needed on this. It was also necessary to clarify the prohibition of 'the improper wearing of military insignia and uniform', as well as the prohibition of declaring that 'no quarter' will be given (paras 101-3, 108-9). The Secretariat considered that the Hague Regulations should be updated and adapted to modern conditions, either by their revision as a whole, by the preparation of 'an additional Protocol to the Geneva Convention [sic], or an independent international instrument'. The elaboration or amendment should define and if possible extend the definition of protected combatants; define what is inadmissible as 'treacherous' conduct; elaborate the existing prohibition of killing or wounding the disabled enemy; define how a combatant can clearly make known his intention to surrender; and replace the rule forbidding the declaration that 'no quarter' will be given by the positive obligation to proclaim 'that the disabled enemy will be protected under the laws and customs of war'. The Secretariat admitted the 'practical difficulties and complexity of the task' and emphasised the need for international procedures to verify the implementation of existing and any new provisions (paras 111–13).

Both civilians and combatants would benefit from the prohibition of weapons or methods of war which cause unnecessary suffering, which are 'especially prohibited' under the Hague Regulations (Art. 23(e)). The Secretariat noted in 1969 that this problem must be dealt with in large measure by means of arms control and disarmament, but it was pointed out that incendiary weapons such as napalm cause needless suffering unless their use is accompanied by 'special precautions', and it was tentatively suggested that 'the legality or otherwise of the use of

napalm' called for special study (A/7720, paras 183–201). This proposal was repeated in 1970, the Secretariat then favouring the idea of a study of 'the precise effects of the use of napalm on human beings and the living environment... with a view to curtailing or abolishing such uses of the weapons in question as might be established as inhumane' (A/8052, paras 122–6, 152).

Perhaps the most difficult group of questions concerned internal wars, guerrilla fighting, and the use of armed force by groups engaged in national liberation struggles. The Secretariat had emphasised in the 1969 report that while the distinction between international and internal conflicts may be of great importance from the point of view of international law, this may not be the case when it comes to the securing of humanitarian standards. It was also pointed out that the 'traditional distinction between international war declared ... and purely internal conflicts [had become] less clear'. A matter for further study should concern the elaboration of a new international instrument providing protection for civilians in those internal armed conflicts 'of international concern' (A/7720, paras 104, 131, 168-77). The UN Secretariat elaborated this proposal in some detail in 1970, dealing in the main with the need to clarify and strengthen common Article 3 of the Geneva Conventions. On one point, there seemed to be substantial agreement among the experts who had been consulted. While foreign military intervention can have the effect of transforming an internal conflict into an international one, it is often difficult to assess whether intervention is in fact taking place, especially if it is covert or in the guise of 'volunteers' or mercenaries. Another difficulty of definition arises because common Article 3 comes into effect only in the case of 'armed' conflict, and some experts wanted to see the application of Article 3 in certain situations of conflict where there has been no actual recourse to weapons. One possibility would have been to widen the expression 'armed conflict' so as to cover the operations of 'any movement which ... aims at overthrowing the Government by the use of arms [or] changing the form or structure of the State by modifying the Constitution or basic laws of the State or part thereof'. The Secretariat commented that some experts would regard all 'struggles for self-determination, and liberation from colonial and foreign rule ... as international' (paras 130-47).

One difficulty about giving protection to persons actively engaged in internal hostilities, indeed in all armed conflicts, is that the wider the definition of those claiming the benefits of combatant status, the wider the definition of those who may legitimately be attacked. The Secretariat examined the expression used in common Article 3, 'persons taking no active part in the hostilities', and asked whether any persons, in addition to those named in Article 3 for illustrative purposes, should be regarded as 'not actively participating in the hostilities'. It was proposed that the protection of Article 3 should apply to all those whose conduct and activities have no relation to the conduct of hostilities, those whose assistance or participation was given under duress, and those who 'merely express opinions criticizing the Government or favouring the objectives of the uprising'. It was also suggested that Article 3 should be extended so as to afford protection to medical and relief personnel; to allow the free passage of food, clothing, and medical supplies; and to allow detainees to send and receive family messages and to receive relief (A/7720, paras 148–56).

The Secretariat's first report (paras 202–27) considered the general problem of securing effective implementation of agreed norms, and this problem was considered in greater detail in the 1970 report (A/8052, paras 157–62, 185–6, 238–58). Reference has already been made to the proposal that an international agency might in some circumstances advise whether persons claiming POW status do in fact qualify for the protection given by the Third Geneva Convention. The Secretariat noted that determining whether a given situation comes within the purview of common Article 3, that is to say, is an internal conflict, is 'complex and delicate'. Among the suggestions for dealing with this was that advice on this point should be available from 'some international body... offering full guarantees of competence, independence and impartiality' (paras 116, 157–62, 191(e)).

Guerrilla warfare may be an element of an international conflict, as was the case of the underground and partisan movements in the second world war, or it may be resorted to in civil and other internal wars. The Secretariat suggested in the first report that an expert study should be made to advise whether new rules were needed to confer the status of 'protected' combatants upon guerrilla fighters not eligible for protection under the Geneva Conventions; but it was pointed out that the possibility of doing this depends to a large extent on whether the guerrillas themselves apply humanitarian norms (A/7720, paras 158–67). In the second report, the Secretariat suggested that if guerrilla groups do not have adequate facilities for holding prisoners, they might hand them over to an allied or neutral state. Guerrillas

should afford full respect and freedom of action to medical and relief personnel (A/8052, paras 166–7, 181). The Secretariat commented that 'the international provisions in force concerning the definition of protected combatants contain discrepancies, are not always precise enough and may lend themselves to difficulties of interpretation'. The Secretariat reiterated the proposal for a study in order to 'ascertain and clarify' the meaning of existing texts, to bring them into better harmony with each other, and to broaden their scope so as to cover certain categories of combatants not protected. In addition, the Secretariat put forward for study some tentative suggestions for broadening the definition or interpretation of privileged combatants in international conflicts (paras 89–98, 174–80, 183, 189, 191(b), (e), and (f)).

Among other suggestions for further consideration was that Article 23 of the Hague Regulations, which lists acts which are especially forbidden, should be construed or amended so as to prohibit 'the killing or harming of all persons who participate actively in international conflicts, at the time of surrender or capture' (paras 107, 111, 168–73, 191(a)).

An important section of the 1969 report had dealt with the role of protecting powers. The UN Secretariat had suggested that there was a pressing need for measures to improve and strengthen the system of international supervision and assistance to parties to armed conflicts in their observance of humanitarian norms. Among the proposals of the Secretariat in 1969 were the following: (a) widening the effective choice of methods of supervision and assistance available to the parties; (b) establishment of a new organ or organisation for supervision and assistance; (c) extension of the role of protecting powers to additional humanitarian functions; (d) recourse to international organisations as substitute for protecting powers; (e) creation of official panels of states willing to act as protecting powers. In addition, the General Assembly or the ICRC might, by resolution, emphasise the fact that protecting powers, in addition to safeguarding the interests of the parties, are agents of the international community (A/7720, paras 202-24). In the second report, the Secretariat suggested that these questions should receive further study, and it was emphasised that this section of the report was necessarily of a tentative character, merely outlining alternative possibilities, with emphasis on co-operation with the governments concerned. Any new organ or agency should help in applying not only the existing rules of the Geneva Conventions but also the norms set by UN instruments on human rights. It might also undertake tasks arising from new international instruments, such as advising on those eligible for POW status and whether an internal conflict exists, as well as administering and verifying civilian sanctuaries. The ICRC would not necessarily be able to assume additional functions beyond its present humanitarian responsibilities. The role of protecting power embraces diplomatic and political functions, and the ICRC might find the role of conciliator or mediator more congenial than acting as representative of one of the belligerents or of the international community. Perhaps the UN, it was suggested, constituted 'the most authentic and comprehensive expression of the international community'. If a UN organ or agency were created, it would need to have a degree of autonomy so that it could act independently and impartially. The executive head should be guided by a committee of highly qualified personalities of international renown and unquestioned integrity (paras 186, 191(d), 240–7).

The final substantive question dealt with concerned medical and relief assistance. The UN Secretariat had suggested in 1969 that guidelines should be formulated aimed at improving the efficiency, strengthening the co-ordination, and expanding the scope of relief activities in situations of armed conflict. If a UN body were created as an organ of protection as suggested above, either the UN organ, or a non-UN humanitarian organisation, might act as co-ordinator between various relief agencies. This would, of course, require careful handling so as to avoid overlapping with the ICRC (A/7720, paras 153-5, 225-7). In the second report, the UN Secretariat suggested that the UN might 'in appropriate cases' co-ordinate and execute relief activities. This might necessitate the creation of an autonomous organisation, guided by 'a committee of highly qualified personalities of international renown and unquestioned integrity... who would adequately represent the major legal and social systems of the world' (A/8052, paras 42(j), 44, 247-8).

A programme as ambitious as that outlined by the Secretary-General in his two reports would have needed:

- 1. Wide dissemination and publicity for existing humanitarian instruments, especially to military personnel (paras 251–6);
- 2. More effective implementation of existing instruments, including improved means of reporting and verification (paras 238–50);
- 3. A review of existing reservations to humanitarian conventions to see whether any of these reservations can now be withdrawn (para. 257);

- 4. Expert studies on several important matters, such as civilian sanctuaries, the effects of using incendiary weapons on human beings and the living environment, the effects of terror bombing and the possibility of defining limits, the humanitarian protection of civilians in internal armed conflicts, the humanitarian protection of guerrilla fighters, and an extended use of protecting powers (paras 83–7, 126, 186):
- 5. The preparation of amendments or protocols to existing instruments, or of entirely new instruments (paras 18, 163–5, 192–3).

The UN debate on the 1970 report was complicated by repeated attempts on the part of some representatives to discuss particular armed conflicts, especially those in South East Asia and the Middle East, and also, though to a lesser extent, the question of guerrilla fighters in Southern Africa. In the end, however, on 9 December 1970, the Assembly was able to approve five separate resolutions.

The first dealt with the protection of journalists engaged on dangerous missions in areas of armed conflict: it was adopted by 85 votes to none, with 32 abstentions (mainly Communist or Afro-Asian states) (resolution 2673). This issue had arisen because of the disappearance of seventeen foreign journalists in Cambodia (Kampuchea) earlier in 1970. The resolution recalled those provisions of the Geneva Conventions of 1949 affording 'certain protection... to journalists' and requested the Commission on Human Rights, at its next session and 'as a matter of priority', to consider the possibility of preparing a draft international agreement to be adopted 'as soon as possible', to ensure the protection of journalists engaged on dangerous missions. The abstaining states made it clear that they did not object to the principle of devising better measures to protect journalists, but they questioned whether this matter needed such high priority, and they wished to ensure that only bona fide journalists would be protected and not persons engaging in political or military activities under cover of the journalistic profession.

The second resolution had been introduced by the Sudan and co-sponsored by Ceylon, India, and the Soviet Union. It condemned countries which engage in aggressive wars and disregard the principles of the Geneva Conventions of 1949 and the Geneva Protocol of 1925 on chemical and biological weapons; affirmed that 'participants in resistance movements and freedom-fighters in Southern Africa and territories under colonial and alien domination and foreign occupa-

tion' should, if arrested, be treated as POWs; and recognised the need to develop additional international instruments providing for the protection of 'civilian populations and freedom-fighters' (resolution 2674). The resolution was adopted by 76 votes (mainly Afro-Asian and Communist states) to 1 (Portugal).

The third resolution had originally been submitted by Norway, and was adopted by 109 votes to none. It affirmed eight basic principles for the protection of civilian populations in armed conflicts, 'without prejudice to their future elaboration within the framework of progressive development of the international law of armed conflict' (resolution 2675: for text, see Appendix 9).

The fourth resolution, sponsored by the United States and 11 others, was adopted by 67 votes to 30. It called on all parties to an armed conflict to comply with the Geneva Convention relating to POWs; endorsed the continuing efforts of the ICRC to secure the effective application of the Convention; requested the Secretary-General 'to exert all efforts to obtain humane treatment for prisoners of war'; and urged compliance with particular provisions of the Convention regarding the repatriation of sick and wounded prisoners, and humane treatment of prisoners not repatriated (resolution 2676).

The fifth resolution, which was introduced by Britain and co-sponsored by 12 other states, called upon all parties to any armed conflict to observe the rules laid down in the Hague Conventions of 1899 and 1907, the Geneva Protocol of 1925, the Geneva Conventions of 1949, 'and other humanitarian rules applicable in armed conflicts'; urged states which had not already done so to adhere to 'those Conventions'; expressed the hope that the expert conference to be convened in 1971 by the ICRC would 'consider further what development is required in existing humanitarian laws applicable to armed conflicts', and requested the Secretary-General to report on the results of the ICRC expert conference 'and on any other relevant developments' (resolution 2677).

### **UN REPORTS AND DECISIONS, 1971-7**

The third UN report was issued just before the UN General Assembly convened in 1971. The UN effort to make progress on human rights in armed conflict was beginning to run out of independent steam, and the most useful contribution seemed to be to support and reinforce the work of the ICRC in devising new international instruments to

supplement the four Geneva Conventions. Indeed, one of the 1971 reports of the UN Secretariat was in the main a summary of a conference of government experts convened by the ICRC to consider the reaffirmation and development of international humanitarian law applicable in armed conflicts. The ICRC experts had considered the protection of civilians (UN doc. A/8370, paras 30–92) and combatants (paras 93–7), the protection of the sick and wounded (paras 138–9), prohibition and limitation of means of warfare (paras 98–108), guerrilla warfare (paras 131–3), national liberation struggles (paras 134–7), internal wars (paras 109–30), and respect for humanitarian conventions and rules (paras 141–58). A second report of the Secretariat was concerned exclusively with the protection of journalists engaged in dangerous missions in areas of armed conflict, supplemented by a report of a working group of the UN Human Rights Commission on the same subject.

On the basis of these reports, the General Assembly adopted three resolutions on 20 December 1971. The first, sponsored by Sweden and 11 other states, called again for respect for the humanitarian rules applicable in armed conflicts, re-affirmed the right of fighters in national liberation wars to be treated as POWs, invited the ICRC to continue work on the two draft Protocols to the Geneva Conventions. and asked the Secretary-General to prepare a report on napalm and other incendiary weapons (resolution 2852). The second resolution, initiated by Britain and co-sponsored by Japan and New Zealand, was in part repetitive, and in part procedural. There was, however, a sting in the fourth operative paragraph, which called on states 'as a matter of priority' to review any reservations they had made to existing international instruments. Most of these reservations had been made by Communist states, and they tried, but without success, to have the paragraph deleted (resolution 2853). The third resolution, spearheaded by France and co-sponsored by 8 others, repeated the invitation to the UN Commission on Human Rights to draft a convention on the protection of journalists engaged in dangerous missions (resolution 2854).

The main report of the Secretariat in 1972 summarised the most recent work of the ICRC on the reaffirmation and development of international humanitarian law. There were also UN reports in 1972 and subsequently on the protection of journalists, and this matter was in the end dealt with in 1977 in Additional Protocol I to the Geneva Conventions (Art. 79 and Annex II).

The Secretariat also issued in 1972 a first-class report on incendiary

weapons. These weapons cause most distress when used in developing countries, where medical resources are modest, so that casualties have little chance of receiving effective aid and where widespread malnutrition, chronic anaemias and other deficiencies increase the susceptibility to exposure (UN doc. A/8803, paras 104(a), 119, 130, 182). Napalm appears to cause an exceptionally high proportion of deaths, so that it is 'one of the most lethal weapons in existence today': incendiary weapons against Japan during the second world war were between five and twelve times as destructive as high-explosives (paras 104(b), 114, 155). Recovery from burn injuries is slow and patients are in great pain (para. 104(c)). Incendiary weapons 'characterize the savage and cruel consequences of total war' (para. 185).

On 29 November 1972, the General Assembly welcomed the report on incendiary weapons and deplored the use of napalm and other incendiary weapons in all armed conflicts (resolution 2932; see also resolutions 3076, 3255, 3464, 31/64, and 32/152). On 18 December, the Assembly adopted a new resolution calling on states to observe the rules of international humanitarian law, supporting the work of the ICRC, and asking the UN Secretary-General 'to prepare as soon as possible, a survey of existing rules of international law concerning the prohibition or restriction of use of specific weapons' (resolution 3032). Britain abstained in both votes.

The Secretariat reported again in 1973 on ICRC activities as well as on the recommendations of a number of non-governmental organisations, including a memorandum on incendiary weapons which I had prepared for the UN and which was submitted through the Friends World Committee for Consultation. The full text of the memorandum is in Appendix 12: the summary prepared by the UN Secretariat reads as follows.<sup>4</sup>

The writer of this memorandum feels that direct and premeditated attacks against non-combatants are contrary to international law no matter what weapons are used in such attacks. He suggests that this general rule should be reaffirmed in an instrument concerning attacks carried out by means of incendiary weapons and containing, *inter alia*, international implementation provisions which would reaffirm the Nürnberg principles on criminal responsibility and provide an international complaints procedure.

I also suggested the drafting of a standard wording on incendiary weapons for inclusion in manuals of military law.

The General Assembly had perhaps hoped that the survey of international law which it had requested in 1972 would be a brief and succinct document. In the event, the survey comprised some 300 pages of text. It was, nevertheless, a useful compilation for legal experts.

The authors stressed that the impulse to humanise armed conflict 'responds to certain fundamental principles long recognized by international law and frequently reaffirmed', so that their 'universal validity' seems 'beyond any reasonable doubt in contemporary international law' (A/9215, vol. I, p. 13). At the same time, modern weapons are cruel and tend to obliterate the distinction between combatants and civilians (p. 14). The authors reviewed the rules governing military operations, stressing that the choice of means and methods of combat is not unlimited (p. 17), and that it is prohibited to make direct attacks on non-combatants (pp. 18, 94–111, 209), to cause unnecessary suffering or superfluous injury (pp. 17, 204–8), or to resort to treachery (pp. 19, 209–10). The authors reviewed in detail international law governing

```
nuclear weapons (pp. 41–67, 147–65)
poisons (pp. 29, 115–9)
chemical and bacteriological (biological) weapons (pp. 29–39, 120–133)
incendiary weapons (pp. 40, 138–46)
land mines and booby traps (pp. 186–8)
delayed action weapons (pp. 191–2)
fragmentation bombs (p. 186)
projectiles of various kinds (pp. 39, 134–8)
balloons (pp. 68–9)
missiles (pp. 69–79, 188–91)
naval weapons (pp. 80–93, 193–201)
bombardment from air, land, or sea (pp. 165–85)
weather modification (pp. 201–3)
the establishment of demilitarised areas (pp. 112–4)
```

The compilation also contained a number of national and international judicical decisions, selected resolutions of the UN General Assembly, and the text of relevant articles of the ICRC's draft Additional Protocols to the Geneva Conventions.

The General Assembly approved two resolutions on 12 December 1973, the first repeating support for ICRC efforts, urging national liberation movements to participate in the conference to consider the

draft Additional Protocols to the Geneva Conventions, and calling again for compliance with international humanitarian rules (resolution 3102). The second resolution proclaimed the legitimacy of national liberation struggles and asked that captured combatants in such struggles should be accorded POW status (resolution 3103). Britain voted in favour of the first resolution, against the second.

During the next four years, 1974–7, the UN Secretariat reported on the sessions of the diplomatic conference on humanitarian law and in 1977 provided the texts of the resolutions and final act of the conference and of the two Additional Protocols (see below, Chapter 4). Each year during this period, the General Assembly adopted supportive resolutions, in 1974 approving as well a declaration on the protection of women and children in emergency and armed conflict (resolution 3318, see Appendix 14), in 1974 and 1975 welcoming the ICRC decision to convoke conferences on indiscriminate or excessively injurious weapons (resolutions 3319 and 3500), in 1976 urging all participants in the diplomatic conference 'to do their utmost to reach agreement' (resolution 31/19), and in 1977 welcoming the successful conclusion of the diplomatic conference and noting the recommendation that a special conference be called on prohibiting or restricting indiscriminate or excessively injurious weapons (resolution 32/44; see also resolutions 31/64 and 32/152).

The efforts of the United Nations spread over the decade 1968–77 undoubtedly had a beneficial effect in facilitating and reinforcing the work of the ICRC in supplementing the Geneva Conventions by the two Additional Protocols – although relations between the UN and ICRC Secretariats were often strained. In addition, the UN produced a technical report which formed a basis for the Convention and Protocols on indiscriminate and excessively injurious weapons, drafted provisions to cover journalists on dangerous missions, and approved two sets of principles, one for the protection of civilians in armed conflicts (1970) and one on the protection of women and children (1974) (Appendices 9 and 14).

Yet there is a paradox about all this work, a contradiction between words and deeds, between what states say and what states do. Some UN Members spoke and voted in favour of resolutions urging states to accede to named humanitarian instruments, and yet failed to take their own advice. To be specific, 26 of the states which in 1973 voted in favour of resolution 3103 calling on states to acknowledge and comply

with the Geneva Protocol of 1925, had not themselves acceded to the Protocol ten years later. And, as I will demonstrate in Chapter 4, some states which have formally accepted the obligations of humanitarian instruments have in practice failed to carry out their obligations under them

#### HUMAN RIGHTS IN TERRITORIES OCCUPIED BY ISRAEL

While these discussions were taking place, the world had not been free of armed conflict. There had been major wars in Viet Nam and Kampuchea, between Federal Nigeria and Biafra, between India and Pakistan leading to the establishment of Bangladesh, between two Arab states and Israel, and some twenty-five lesser wars. There had been decisive military intervention in Czechoslovakia, Uganda, Cyprus, Western Sahara, East Timor, and Afghanistan; liberation movements had gained control in Angola and Mozambique; and there had been a rising tide of violence in South Africa and Namibia, as well as military incursions from South Africa into neighbouring states. Tension in the Gulf had been growing, with several armed clashes between Iraq and Iran, and civil war had broken out in Lebanon. There had been major military coups in Chile and Ethiopia, armed conflict in the Horn of Africa, and political violence in many other parts of the Third World. There had been hijackings and kidnappings. UN peace-keeping forces had been functioning in Cyprus, Sinai, and on the Golan Heights, and UN observers had been deployed in Kashmir and the Middle East.

In some of these cases, the UN has exercised humanitarian responsibilities; in some there has been UN conciliation, mediation, or good offices; in many cases, UN organs had engaged in debate and passed resolutions. But it was unprecedented for UN organs to decide to investigate directly the application of humanitarian principles during armed conflict or in occupied territory after the cessation of hostilities, as happened after the 1967 war in the Middle East. Initially there were two different UN bodies of inquiry, which on the face of things was an unnecessary duplication of effort. One body, which was established by the General Assembly in 1968 and has been reappointed every year since then, is the Special Committee to investigate Israeli practices affecting the human rights of the population of the occupied territories (hereafter referred to as the Special Committee). The other body was set up by the Human Rights Commission in 1969

and was known as the Special Working Group of Experts established under resolution 6(XXV) (hereafter referred to as the Working Group).

It would be tedious to recount in detail the work of these two bodies, but some information is necessary about the circumstances in which they were set up. On 14 June 1967, immediately after the Six Day War, the UN Security Council recommended to the governments concerned 'the scrupulous respect of the humanitarian principles' contained in the Geneva Conventions of 1949 (resolution 237). On 4 July 1967 the General Assembly welcomed this resolution 'with great satisfaction' (resolution 2252).

On 27 September 1968 the question of territory occupied by Israel was debated in the Security Council at the request of Pakistan and Senegal, and the Council asked the Secretary-General to send a special representative 'to the Arab territories under military occupation by Israel', and asked the government of Israel to receive him and 'to cooperate with him and to facilitate his work' (resolution 259). On 14 October the Secretary-General reported that Israel was not prepared to co-operate with the proposed mission unless its mandate were to include the treatment of both Arabs and Jews in all the states which had taken part in the June war. U Thant therefore reported that he was unable to give effect to the Security Council's decision.

In spite of this rebuff, the General Assembly decided on 19 December 1968 to establish the Special Committee already referred to, the membership to be determined by the President of the General Assembly. The government of Israel was asked to receive the Committee, co-operate with it and facilitate its work, and the Committee was asked to report 'as soon as possible and whenever the need arises thereafter' (resolution 2443).

Before the Special Committee could be appointed, the President of the 1968 session of the General Assembly, Emilio Arenales of Guatemala, died following an operation for a brain tumour, and the question arose as to how the committee should be appointed. The government of Israel has alleged (and there is no reason to doubt the truth of this) that before his death, Arenales had

approached a large number of Member States ... but, at the time of his death, had not been successful ... on account of the refusal of a great many Member States to accept such an invitation .... In the communication addressed to ... Israel ... on 6 March 1969, the late President of the General Assembly himself expressed his view that

the establishment at that juncture of the special committee would add 'further causes of friction to the already tense situation in the Middle East'.<sup>5</sup>

The situation facing the UN upon the death of Arenales was not covered by the General Assembly's Rules of Procedure, nor were there any exact precedents. U Thant, acting under the article of the Charter which designates him as 'chief administrative officer of the Organization', felt that he had no alternative but to consult the 126 Members in writing, with the following result: 25 states did not reply and 4 'abstained'; 3 favoured convening a special session of the Assembly to decide on another method for constituting the Special Committee; 13 favoured postponing the matter until the next session of the Assembly due to convene four months later; 64 favoured designating one of the Vice-Presidents to make the appointment; 12, 'in line with the spirit ... of the rules of procedure', wanted to invite the government of Guatemala to designate the chairman of its delegation for the next session and ask him to make the appointment; and 5 were willing to accept either of the last two ad hoc procedures.

The Secretary-General noted that 'more than an absolute majority' (64 out of 126) preferred a procedure which was 'consonant with the spirit' of the Charter and rules of procedure: the designation of one of the Vice-Presidents to undertake the appointment. Accordingly, a meeting of all the Vice-Presidents of the previous General Assembly session (the Vice-Presidents are states, not individuals) was held on 23 June 1969, and they decided to entrust the appointment of the Special Committee to Dr Luis Alvarado of Peru. On 12 September 1969, four days before the 1969 session of the Assembly was due to convene, it was announced that Ceylon (Sri Lanka), Somalia, and Yugoslavia had agreed to serve. By this time, the Security Council had again called on Israel to observe the Geneva Conventions and international law governing military occupation (resolution 271).

Israel strongly objected to the procedure adopted to deal with the unprecedented procedural situation, as well as to the composition of the Committee:

In view of the one-sided character of the resolution [of the General Assembly]... all uncommitted States that were approached refused to serve on the Committee. The only countries willing to become members of the Committee were Somalia, Yugoslavia and Ceylon. None of the three countries have diplomatic relations with

Israel.... Somalia even denies Israel's right to independence and sovereignty.<sup>6</sup>

Meanwhile, the problem of the occupied territories had been raised in the UN Commission on Human Rights, which on 4 March 1969 had set up the Working Group mentioned earlier, asking it to investigate allegations that Israel had violated the Fourth Geneva Convention on the protection of civilians. The Working Group had six members appointed as individuals, the identical membership of an ad hoc Group which had previously reported on conditions in Southern Africa. Before the Working Group could report to its parent body, however, another General Assembly session had been held, at which it was revealed that the Assembly's Special Committee had been unable to do more than elect a chairman. A resolution in stronger terms than the previous year was adopted by the Assembly on 11 December 1969, which recorded 'grave concern' at reports of violations of human rights in territories occupied by Israel; condemned practices such as collective punishments, destruction of homes. and deportations; called upon Israel 'to desist forthwith from its reported repressive practices'; and asked the Special Committee to 'take cognizance' of the Assembly's new resolution on the matter (resolution 2546).

At this stage, then, there existed two UN bodies to investigate the application of humanitarian principles in territories occupied by Israel: not surprisingly, both bodies received full co-operation from Arab governments and the Arab League. Both bodies consulted representatives of the ICRC and visited refugee camps in Syria and Jordan, and both also asked the UN agency for Arab refugees (UNRWA) to provide information. The Commissioner-General of UNRWA expressed his understanding and sympathy with the needs and purposes of the Working Group, but he doubted whether its requests fell 'within the terms of the [Agency's] mandate, or are consistent with the activities as conducted at present at UNRWA'. The Special Committee expressed dismay at this apparent lack of co-operation and suggested that UNRWA should be authorised to 'make... information available, without condition, to investigating bodies'.

The failure of UNRWA to disclose information regarding conditions prevailing in the occupied territories... might appear to be a dereliction of a humanitarian duty. If, however, the policies of UNRWA preclude the organization from furnishing any

evidence..., the Special Committee must either accept the situation... or seek some change of policy.<sup>7</sup>

Neither investigating body was able to visit territory occupied by Israel, which informed the Working Group that there was no basis for co-operation. Israel took the same view of the Special Committee: 'The history of this matter has from the beginning been tainted with political bias and procedural irregularity': Israel therefore refused to co-operate.<sup>8</sup>

Besides hearing witnesses, the two bodies examined documentation including, in the case of the Working Group, specific Egyptian complaints of violations of the Geneva Conventions. The Working Group stated that it was 'not in a position to verify juridically the allegations which were received' and that the evidence presented to it was 'one-sided', because of Israel's refusal to recognise or co-operate with it. Nevertheless, the Working Group felt able to evaluate the evidence proferred. The Special Committee also felt that, despite the absence of co-operation on the part of Israel, it had created 'a basis upon which a responsible opinion can be given'.

The Working Group issued its report in stages in January and February 1970. It was of the opinion that the Fourth Geneva Convention of 1949 was being violated by Israel; that persons were being detained without trial; that houses and villages had been destroyed after the cease-fire; and that people had been expelled or transferred from their homes. It recommended that the Fourth Geneva Convention be fully implemented; that allegations of torture, looting, and pillage should be investigated by the Israeli authorities and those found responsible suitably punished; that deported or transferred persons should be allowed to return home under UN supervision; that detainees should be brought to trial at an early date; that confiscated property taken in a manner inconsistent with the Geneva Convention should be restored to its owners; and that the Israeli authorities should refrain from demolishing houses for reasons not provided for in the Convention, and should provide compensation in all cases of houses demolished in violation of the Convention.<sup>9</sup>

The Special Committee had sought to define the human rights which the Security Council had described as 'essential and inalienable' on 4 June 1967 (resolution 237). <sup>10</sup> The Committee concluded that these rights are those affirmed in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and those deriving from the express provisions of the 1949 Geneva Conventions. The Committee's general verdict was that the

situation of the refugees in the occupied territories was 'grim'. The Special Committee believed that Israel 'hoped to enervate the [Arab] community by depriving it of intelligent and active leadership' by means of deportations and expulsions, thereby reducing it 'to a state of passive subservience'. There was 'considerable evidence' of infringements of the right of persons living in the occupied areas to remain there and of the right of those who fled to return to their homes. Israel had been pursuing a policy of 'collective and area punishments... imposed indiscriminately'. While not contesting the right of the occupying power under the Fourth Geneva Convention to restrict the freedom of those who pose a threat to security, the Committee considered that this power was 'being abused' in that it was exercised too freely. Individuals were being held in detention 'for indefinite, prolonged periods' and administrative detainees and ordinary prisoners were treated alike. The Committee heard several allegations of destruction of houses and buildings ('in many instances ... unwarranted') and of confiscation and expropriation of property. Although such destruction is prohibited by the Fourth Geneva Convention 'except where such destruction is rendered absolutely necessary by military operations' (Art. 53), Israel had 'unscrupulous recourse' to military necessity in carrying out 'this wanton destruction'. Evidence had also been presented of 'widespread looting'. The Special Committee concluded that Israel had been violating human rights in the occupied territories: 'the fundamental violation...lies in the very fact of occupation'. The weight of international public opinion should be brought to bear to persuade the Israeli government to desist from violations. It recommended that there should be 'a further and more thorough study of ... the entire question of the protection of human rights in occupied territories', and asked that 'sufficient professional and other staff' should be assigned to the Special Committee should it be necessary to visit the Middle East again.

On 13 November 1970 a brief statement was circulated by the government of Israel commenting on the Committee's report. Israel reiterated her objection to the procedure followed in setting up the Committee, which had resulted in its serving as 'a tool of Arab propaganda'. The Committee had 'proceeded to organize a spectacle of hearing "evidence" from ... pre-selected, coached and rehearsed witnesses'. In the case of one witness, Israel provided detailed information to refute the Committee's allegation. This witness, a resident of Gaza, had alleged that he had been given an anaesthetic

and castrated by an Israel doctor (A/8089, para. 104). Israel contended that the witness had undergone two operations performed by Arab surgeons for the removal of his testicles before the June war. Israel maintained that it possessed a copy of a report by Professor Muhamad Safawat, dated 28 July 1966, stating that the hope of the witness for a transplant operation was illusory (A/8164).

But to demonstrate that one charge was false was not to undermine the main tenor of the Special Committee's report. Indeed, Israel's brusque reply to a report of some 130 pages showed how contemptuously Israel viewed the activities of the Special Committee.

The two UN reports were submitted to the parent bodies in 1970. The Human Rights Commission approved its Working Group's report on 23 March. Israel was condemned for refusing to apply the Fourth Geneva Convention, and called on to take measures to rectify the situation. The Working Group was asked to 'continue to investigate and report', and Israel was called on to receive the Working Group and co-operate with it.

It was, perhaps, a strange decision to continue the mandate of the Working Group when the General Assembly's Special Committee had been entrusted with an almost identical task. In the event, the Working Group did not issue a further substantive report, and the debates in the Human Rights Commission thereafter were based on the reports of the Special Committee.

At the request of Iraq, the report of the Special Committee was placed on the agenda of the General Assembly. When the report was being considered, a representative of the Palestinian Arabs was permitted to address the Assembly's committee 'without such authorization implying any recognition of the Delegation...'. A resolution sponsored by 8 Afro-Asian states was approved in plenary on 15 December by 52 votes to 20 (resolution 2727). By the resolution, the Assembly asked the Special Committee to continue its work 'pending the early termination of Israeli occupation of Arab territories', to consult the ICRC, and to report 'as soon as possible and whenever the need arises'. Israel was again asked to receive and co-operate with the Committee, and it was decided to resume consideration of the matter in 1971.

As noted earlier, the Special Committee has been re-appointed at each annual session of the General Assembly, and the subsequent reports to the next session take a standard form. Each report begins with an explanation of its mandate;<sup>12</sup> an explanation of how the Special Committee's work has been organised; the oral evidence and

written information received, as well as information derived from printed sources: a comparison of the evidence and information with the obligations under the Hague Convention of 1954 on the protection of cultural property and the Fourth Geneva Convention of 1949 on the protection of civilians, with particular reference to the behaviour of agents of the occupying power, the Convention's prohibition of collective penalties and reprisals, rights of protected persons, transfers of population, destruction of property, treatment of prisoners, and sanctions under the Convention for grave breaches (Arts 29, 33, 47, 49, 53, 64, 76, 146–7); the Special Committee's conclusions; together with a number of factual annexes. From time to time, special issues have been dealt with. The reports in 1976 and 1977, for example, included technical reports on the destruction of Ouneitra (A/31/218, paras 316-20 and Annex III. A/32/84. 242-4 and Annex II). The 1984 report included the full text of an Israeli report on the activities of anti-Arab vigilantes on the West Bank (the Karp report, A/39/591, paras 149-54 and pp. 107-23). The reports from 1979 to 1984 included sections on judicial remedies (A/34/631, paras 323-63; A/35/425, paras 260-88; A/36/579,paras 49-50; A/37/485, paras 216-43; A/38/409, paras 313-50; A/39/591, paras 308-24).

The conclusions in 1985 were essentially the same as in previous years. Israel was continuing to treat the occupied territories as part of the state of Israel by establishing settlements, expropriating property, encouraging a Palestinian exodus, and by denying Palestinians the right to return. There had been a steady decline in respect for human rights, so that the cycle of violence was bound to continue and the situation would remain explosive (A/40/702, paras 321, 326).

The General Assembly has adopted 63 resolutions on human rights in territories occupied by Israel since the June war in 1967. Britain has sometimes voted in favour of these resolutions and has sometimes abstained, but has never voted against.

The predicament for those states which believe that Israel has repeatedly failed to respect certain humanitarian norms in the occupied territories is to discover a means of inducing Israel to amend its policies, rather than to give emotional satisfaction to the critics. To drop the matter would seem to the Palestinians a great betrayal, yet to condemn Israel every year in increasingly forceful language does not have the effect of improving the lot of the people under occupation. Most Israelis have ceased to listen to raucous critics, especially those from countries with dismal records on human rights. Until the modern

age, states which were able to occupy territory were entitled to substitute their own authority for that of the defeated enemy. The doctrine now is that to wage war contrary to the UN Charter confers no rights and that, in particular, it is inadmissible to acquire territory by war. The UN Security Council has called on Israel to withdraw from territories occupied in 1967, but has also affirmed the right of all states in the Middle East to live in peace within secure and recognised boundaries. So long as Israel continues to occupy territory beyond the 1949–67 armistice lines and fails to apply all the requirements of the Fourth Geneva Convention in the territories which it occupies, it is likely to remain a pariah in the UN system, a status not substantially mitigated by offers to negotiate with its Arab neighbours without preconditions.

# 4 International Humanitarian Law

The [Hague] Conference is unanimous in thinking that it is extremely desirable that the usages of war should be defined and regulated. In this spirit it has adopted a great number of provisions which have for their object the determination of the rights and of the duties of belligerents and of populations, and for their end the reduction and softening of the evils of war, so far as military necessities permit. It has not always been possible to come to an agreement that henceforth all these stipulations should apply to all practical cases. On the other hand, it could not possibly be the intention of the Conference that unforeseen cases should, in the absence of written stipulations, be left to the arbitrary decision of those who commanded the army. In awaiting the time when a complete code of the laws of war may be elaborated and proclaimed, the Conference considers it opportune to state that in cases not provided for in the Articles of this date, populations and belligerents remain under the safeguards and government of the principles of international law, resulting from the customs established between civilized nations, the laws of humanity, and the demands of public conscience ... -Statement submitted by Fedor Fedorovich Martens, the Russian legal expert, to the Hague Conference on 20 June 1899 which, with stylistic amendments, was incorporated in the preamble to the Hague Conventions of 1899 and 1907 on the laws and customs of war on land, the last sentence of which was also incorporated in the four Geneva Conventions of 1949, the two Geneva Protocols of 1977, and the Convention on indiscriminate or excessively injurious weapons of 1981.

International humanitarian law applicable in armed conflict has been codified in two parallel streams known, somewhat confusingly, as the law of Geneva and the law of the Hague. The law of Geneva was designed to ensure respect, protection, and humane treatment of those who are taking no direct part in the fighting (wounded, sick, or

shipwrecked combatants, medical services, military chaplains, prisoners of war, and civilians) while the law of the Hague laid down the rights and duties of belligerents, including prohibitions and restrictions governing the conduct of military operations. Part of the confusion to which I refer arises from the fact that the law of the Hague includes instruments identified with other cities (the St Petersburg Declaration of 1868, the Geneva Protocol of 1925 on chemical and bacteriological (biological) weapons (CBW), and the 1981 Geneva Convention and Protocols on indiscriminate or excessively cruel weapons).

It is implicit in the Martens declaration, used as the epigraph to this chapter, that belligerents are bound by the principles of the laws and customs of war whether or not they have expressly accepted the instruments of the Hague or Geneva streams of law. The British government regards the Hague law as part of customary international law and therefore binding on states: as for the Geneva law, the official British view is that, while this reflects generally-accepted principles, its detailed provisions are binding only on parties to the Conventions and Protocols.

#### THE LAW OF GENEVA

The codification of the law of Geneva began over a century ago. The Geneva Conventions have been as follows:

- For the amelioration of the condition of the wounded in armies in the field
- 1906 For the amelioration of the condition of the wounded and sick in armies in the field
- 1929 1. For the relief of the wounded and sick in armies in the field
  - 2. Treatment of prisoners of war
- 1949 1. Amelioration of the condition of the wounded and sick in armed forces in the field
  - 2. Amelioration of the condition of wounded, sick, and shipwrecked members of the armed forces at sea
  - 3. Treatment of prisoners of war
  - 4. Protection of civilian persons in time of war (This was the first Red Cross Convention expressly to protect civilians. It applies in the main to persons who, in case of armed conflict

or occupation, find themselves in the hands of a foreign belligerent power or under foreign occupation (Art. 4) but in some respects also to 'the whole of the population of the countries in conflict' (Art. 13).

- 1977 1. Additional Protocol I to the Geneva Conventions, dealing with international armed conflicts.
  - 2. Additional Protocol II relating to internal wars. Part of the purpose of the Protocols was to codify more extended protection for civilians (Additional Protocol I, Arts 48–79, Additional Protocol II, Arts 13–18).

There were in 1986 163 parties to the Geneva Conventions, the last state to become a party being Saint Christopher and Nevis. On 28 May 1986, Benin became the 59th party to Protocol I and the 52nd party to Protocol II; some states ratified or acceded with reservations and/or declarations.

The idea that POWs should receive humane treatment is, of course, much older than the Conventions which seek to give effect to the idea. Dr Samuel Johnson, writing in 1759 in a pamphlet on French POWs in British hands towards the end of the Seven Years' War, held that the only argument against treating French POWs humanely, was that 'while we are relieving Frenchmen, there remain many Englishmen unrelieved; that while we lavish pity on our enemies, we forget the misery of our friends.' But, wrote Johnson, 'the relief of enemies has a tendency to unite mankind in fraternal affection; to soften the acrimony of adverse nations, and dispose them to peace and amity...'.

The Geneva Conventions of 1949 now in force were prepared at a diplomatic conference convened by Switzerland. The First Convention replaced the Geneva Conventions of 1864, 1906, and 1929 on sick and wounded combatants. The Second Convention replaced the Tenth Hague Convention of 1907 for the adaptation of the principles of the Geneva Convention of 1906 to maritime warfare. The Third Convention of 1949 replaced the Geneva POW Convention of 1929 and is complementary to the relevant provisions of Hague Conventions II of 1899 and IV of 1907 on the laws and customs of war on land. The Fourth Convention broke new ground in that it was the first expressly to protect civilians who, in case of armed conflict or occupation, find themselves in the hands of a state of which they are not nationals (Art. 4). Like the Third Convention, the Fourth supple-

ments the relevant provisions of the Hague Conventions of 1899 and 1907.

There are certain provisions common to all four Geneva Conventions. The parties undertake 'to respect and to ensure respect for' the Conventions 'in all circumstances' (Art. 1). The Conventions apply to 'all cases of declared war or of any other armed conflict ...' even if the state of war is not recognised by one of the parties, and also to cases of 'partial or total occupation' (Art. 2). Certain minimum provisions apply in the case of armed conflict not of an international character (Art. 3). There are common provisions about the inalienability of the rights of protected persons (non-renunciation of rights), the role and activities of the International Committee of the Red Cross, the duties of protecting powers or their substitutes, conciliation procedures in the event of conflicting interpretations, the repression of abuses and infractions, and the fact that the obligations of the Conventions continue in operation until POWs and civilian internees are repatriated or military operations have ceased (I, 5-7, 9, 11, 49-52; II, 6-7, 9, 11, 50-3; III, 5-7, 9, 11, 129-31; IV, 6-8, 10, 12, 146-9).<sup>2</sup> The final provisions define the procedures for signature, ratification, and entry into force and for subsequent accessions (I, 55–64; II, 54–63; III, 133-43; IV, 150-9). Denunciation takes effect one year after notification, except when the party is involved in an armed conflict, in which case denunciation shall not take effect until peace has been concluded and all protected persons have been repatriated. In any case, denunciation in no way impairs the obligations which the parties are bound to fulfil 'by virtue of the principles of the law of nations, as they result from the usages established among civilized peoples, from the laws of humanity and the dictates of the public conscience' (the Martens Clause) (I, 63; II, 62; III, 142; IV, 158). The parties agreed to disseminate the text of the Conventions and to include the study of them in their programmes of instruction, so that their principles might become known (I, 47; II, 48; III, 127; IV, 144).

The Conventions are based on the principle that persons who are placed *hors de combat* and those who are taking no active part in hostilities shall have their lives spared and shall in all circumstances be treated humanely. The taking of hostages, executions without regular judgment, torture, cruel or degrading treatment, and reprisals against persons protected by the Conventions, are prohibited (I, 3, 46; II, 3, 47; III, 3, 13; IV, 3, 32–4).

Wounded and sick, both military and civilian, shall be respected, as shall all medical personnel, hospitals sheltering wounded and sick, vehicles transporting them, and medical equipment allotted to them.

The emblem of the Red Cross or the Red Crescent is the sign of this protection, and it shall be used for no other purpose. Military chaplains must also be protected. Medical personnel and chaplains are, for their part, bound to refrain from committing acts harmful to the enemy (I, 12, 15, 19–21, 24–7, 32–6, 38–44; II, 12, 18, 22–4, 36–9, 41–5; IV, 16–22).

Military personnel and auxiliaries who are captured or who surrender must have their lives spared. They must at all times be treated humanely and in particular must receive the necessary food. clothing, and medical care. They shall be permitted to correspond with their families. The capturing authority will communicate the names of POWs to the Central Tracing Agency of the ICRC, which will be allowed to visit prisoners and arrange for them to receive relief. If penal proceedings are undertaken against a POW, the protecting power must be notified. Representatives of the protecting power are authorised to follow the judicial proceedings and to provide the POW with an advocate or counsel. In the event of the death penalty being pronounced, the sentence shall not be carried out until at least six months after the protecting power has been notified of the sentence. In the absence of a protecting power, the ICRC may be asked to assume the tasks normally entrusted to the protecting power (III, 4, 13–20, 70, 72, 78, 101, 104–5, 107, 123, 126).

Civilian wounded and sick, as well as civilian hospitals and their personnel, shall be the object of particular respect and may be placed under the protection of the Red Cross or Red Crescent. Civilians in occupied territory must, so far as circumstances permit, be enabled to live in a normal manner. Deportations, pillage, and indiscriminate destruction of property in occupied territory are prohibited. Civilians may be interned only for imperative reasons of security, and conditions shall be of no less a standard than those in POW camps (IV, 16–22, 33, 41–3, 49, 53).

The two Additional Protocols to the Geneva Conventions represented the consummation of a major effort by the ICRC, which began soon after the adoption of the Conventions in 1949, and which culminated in four sessions of a diplomatic conference convened by Switzerland in 1974–7. The final session was attended by 110 states and three national liberation movements (Palestine Liberation Organisation, Panafricanist Congress, South West Africa People's Organisation). Additional Protocol I, concerning international armed conflicts, applies in

situations described in the Geneva Conventions, but there is an extension to cover as well 'armed conflicts in which peoples are fighting against colonial domination and alien occupation and against racist régimes...' (Art. 1). The authority representing a people engaged in such armed conflict may undertake to apply the Geneva Conventions and Additional Protocol I by means of a unilateral declaration (Art. 96). Moreover, while the Hague and Geneva Conventions granted combatant status to irregular fighters who use a fixed distinctive sign or emblem recognisable at a distance and who carry their arms openly. Additional Protocol I requires only that irregular fighters distinguish themselves from civilians while engaged in an attack or a military operation preparatory to an attack, and that arms shall be carried openly during a military engagement or during such time as they are visible to the other side prior to an attack (Art. 44). These provisions are interesting for two reasons: first, they go much further than previous instruments in legitimising national liberation struggles, in particular, by making Additional Protocol I applicable by reference to the purpose of armed conflict rather than its objective character; and, secondly, national liberation struggles are regarded as international rather than internal armed conflicts. Additional Protocol I breaks new ground, moreover, in denying combatant status to mercenaries (Art. 47).

Additional Protocol I reaffirms the prohibition in the Hague Regulations on using arms or methods of fighting which cause superfluous injury or unnecessary suffering (Art. 35), prohibits methods of warfare likely to cause 'widespread, long-term and severe damage' to the natural environment (Art. 55), and clarifies arrangements for the protection and humane treatment due to wounded, sick, and shipwrecked combatants, including new procedures for identifying and giving immunity to medical aircraft and vehicles, and better provisions for providing information about combatants missing or killed in action (Arts 8–34 and resolutions 17, 18, and 19 of the diplomatic conference, 7 June 1977).

Additional Protocol I forbids resort to perfidy (Art. 37), abuse of the red cross or similar emblems (Art. 38), declaration that no quarter will be given (Art. 40), or attack on a person parachuting from an aircraft (Art. 42). Combatants who are *hors de combat* shall receive protection (Art. 45), but spies and mercenaries are not entitled to claim POW status (Arts 46–7).

Britain, France, and the United States made clear their view that Additional Protocol I does not regulate or prohibit the use of nuclear weapons, and this view was not openly and formally challenged. A resolution was passed at the conference calling for action to prohibit weapons with indiscriminate or excessively injurious effects (resolution 22, 9 June 1977), and this led shortly afterwards to a Convention banning or restricting the use of incendiary weapons, mines, booby traps, and weapons releasing fragments which cannot be detected by X-rays.

There are detailed provisions in Additional Protocol I for the protection of civilians against the effects of hostilities, including the prohibition of indiscriminate attacks, area bombing, and attacks designed to spread terror (Arts 48, 51–2), attacks on cultural objects and places of worship (Art. 53 and resolution 20, 7 June 1977), the destruction of crops, food, and other objects indispensable to survival (Art. 54), and attacks against installations containing dangerous forces (Art. 56). Military commanders are to do everything feasible to prevent direct or indirect harm to civilians and are not to cause incidental harm to civilians which would be excessive in relation to the concrete and direct military advantage anticipated (Arts 57-8). Provision is made for the immunity of non-defended localities and demilitarised zones (Arts 59–60), civil defence personnel (Arts 61–7), relief organisations (Arts 68–71), refugees and stateless persons (Art. 73), and journalists (Art. 79 and Annex II). Women and children are to have special respect (Arts 76-8), and there is an article setting out minimum humanitarian standards, including the prohibition of torture, hostage-taking, and collective punishments (Art. 75). The ICRC and other humanitarian organisations are to be granted the necessary facilities to carry out their activities (Art. 81). Personnel entitled to immunity and protection are to carry identity cards (Annex 1).

Provision is made for the appointment of protecting powers or substitutes (Art. 5), and there are the usual provisions for disseminating the Geneva Conventions and the Protocol (Arts 6, 83, and resolution 21, 7 June 1977), and for bringing the Protocol into effect (Arts 92–5). Procedures for dealing with breaches are more stringent than in the Geneva Conventions (Arts 85–91).

Additional Protocol II deals with internal wars or, to be more precise, 'non-international armed conflicts'. The original draft had been quite detailed, but it was not much to the liking of many Third World countries, which feared that the restrictions in the draft on methods of combat and the rules on the protection of civilians would limit the means which governments could use to repress internal conflict. At the final session of the diplomatic conference, Pakistan

(with encouragement from Iraq, Canada, and the United States) introduced a simplified draft, about half the length of the text previously under consideration, and this (with minor amendments) was approved by consensus.

Additional Protocol II recalls international instruments relating to human rights and is said to develop and supplement common Article 3 of the Geneva Conventions regarding armed conflict not of an international character. The Protocol applies to conflicts in the territory of a party 'between its armed forces and dissident armed forces or other organized armed groups' which control territory and so are able to carry out 'sustained and concerted military operations', but not covering 'situations of internal disturbances and tensions, such as riots, isolated and sporadic acts of violence...'. Additional Protocol II does not detract from state sovereignty or the responsibility of a government to use legitimate means to maintain or re-establish law and order, or to defend national unity and territorial integrity (preamble and Arts 1 and 3). There is a general article setting out minimum standards of humane treatment similar to the corresponding article in Additional Protocol I. but also expressly prohibiting slavery, rape, and acts of terrorism (Art. 4). As in Additional Protocol I, it is prohibited to declare that no quarter will be given (Art. 4). Children are to receive 'the care and aid they require' (Art. 4). Persons whose liberty has been restricted are to be treated humanely (Art. 5), and there shall be no sentences or penalties 'except ... by a court offering the essential guarantees of independence and impartiality'. The death penalty is not to be pronounced on pregnant women, mothers of young children, or persons under 18 (Art. 6). The draft contained a provision to the effect that in sentencing those who had taken part in hostilities, account should be taken of the fact that the accused had respected Additional Protocol II, but this was deleted, as was the prohibition of reprisals, and articles which would have prohibited methods or means of combat causing superfluous injury or unnecessary suffering or severe damage to the natural environment. Additional Protocol II is to be applied without discrimination ('without any adverse distinctions', Art. 2).

Wounded, sick and shipwrecked persons are to be respected and protected 'whether or not they have taken part in armed conflict' (Arts 7–8), and medical and religious personnel are to be respected and protected and 'granted all available help' (Arts 9–11).

There are provisions to ensure that civilians are protected against the dangers arising from military operations. Civilians are not to be the object of attack, and there shall be no violence designed to spread terror

(Art. 13). Additional Protocol II prohibits attacks on cultural objects and places of worship (Art. 16) or on installations containing dangerous forces (Art. 15), and destruction of crops, foodstuffs and other objects indispensable to the survival of civilians (inserted by a vigorous initiative of the Holy See) (Art. 14). There shall be no forced removal of civilians 'unless the security of the civilians involved or imperative military reasons so demand' (Art. 17). A draft article requiring that those planning attacks should distinguish between civilians and combatants was deleted.

Additional Protocol II concludes with the usual provisions for entry into force (Arts 20–3) and for disseminating the Protocol as widely as possible (Art. 19).

One difficulty of securing full implementation of the law of Geneva is that the law of the Hague has not kept pace with military technology. Indeed, the ICRC has come to the conclusion that a clear distinction between the law of Geneva and the law of the Hague can no longer be maintained. The UN General Assembly has, by implication, taken the same view, in regarding 'Respect for Human Rights in Armed Conflicts' as a single subject and in calling in one paragraph for states to become parties to the Hague Conventions of 1899 and 1907 and the Geneva CBW Protocol of 1925 (which belong to the law of the Hague) and to the Geneva Conventions of 1949. The humanitarian effort now must encompass both fields of law.

An ICRC summary of the fundamental rules of international humanitarian law applicable in armed conflict is given in Appendix 15(a).

### THE LAW OF THE HAGUE

The law of the Hague comprises the St Petersburg Declaration of 1868, the Hague Conventions of 1899 and 1907 on the laws and customs of war on land, the Geneva Protocol of 1925 prohibiting the use in war of chemical and bacteriological (biological) weapons (CBW), the Hague Convention of 1954 on the protection of cultural property, and the Geneva Convention and Protocols of 1981 banning or restricting the use of weapons which are indiscriminate or cause excessive injury. The St Petersburg Declaration of 1868, the Geneva Protocol of 1925, and the 1981 Convention on indiscriminate or cruel

weapons are also measures of arms control, but it is convenient to deal with them below.

Hague Convention II with respect to the laws and customs of war on land, with the annexed Regulations, was signed at the Hague on 29 July 1899. It was replaced, as between the contracting parties, by Convention IV, signed at the Hague on 18 October 1907. The 1899 Convention 'remains in force as between the Powers which signed it, and which do not also ratify' the 1907 Convention (Art. 4).<sup>3</sup> Britain ratified the 1899 Convention in 1900, and the 1907 Convention in 1909.

The Regulations annexed to the Conventions defined those who qualify for belligerent status (Arts 1–3) and also contain specific rules for POWs (Arts 4–20). The obligations of belligerents with regard to the sick and wounded are to be governed by the Geneva Convention of 1864 (Art. 21).

The Regulations especially forbid the use of poison or poisonous weapons; the killing or wounding of 'an enemy who, having laid down his arms, or having no longer means of defence, has surrendered'; the declaration that no quarter will be given; the improper use of a flag of truce, the national flag, the military insignia and uniform of the enemy, or the Red Cross emblem; the destruction or seizure of enemy property 'unless ... imperatively demanded by the necessities of war'; and the killing or wounding 'treacherously' of individuals belonging to the hostile nation or army – although 'ruses of war' and the employment of 'measures necessary for obtaining information about the enemy and the country' are permitted (Arts 23–4).

It is prohibited to attack or bombard undefended towns, villages, dwellings, or buildings. The Officer commanding an attacking force must do all in his power to warn the authorities before beginning a bombardment, 'except in cases of assault'. The pillage of a town or place is prohibited, even when taken by assault. In the event of siege or bombardment, 'all necessary steps must be taken to spare, as far as possible', buildings dedicated to religion, art, science, or charitable purposes, historic monuments, hospitals, and places where the sick and wounded are being collected, 'provided they are not being used at the time for military purposes' (Arts 25–8).

A section dealing with 'military authority over the territory of the hostile state' contains provisions for protecting the inhabitants of occupied territories. The occupying power must 'take all the measures in his power to restore and ensure, as far as possible, public order and safety, while respecting, unless absolutely prevented, the laws in force in the country' (Art. 43). Respect must be paid to family honour and

rights, the lives of persons, and private property (which must not be confiscated), as well as religious convictions and practice (Art. 46). No 'general penalty' shall be inflicted upon the population on account of 'the acts of individuals for which they can not be regarded as jointly and severally responsible' (Art. 50). The provisions in the 1899 Convention on the internment of belligerents and the care of wounded in neutral countries (Arts 57–60) were transferred in 1907 to Convention V respecting the rights and duties of neutral powers and persons in case of war on land.

More than fifty states have ratified or acceded to or consider themselves bound by one or both of the Hague Conventions. But what is perhaps of greater importance is the judgment of the Nürnberg Tribunal, to the effect that by 1939 the rules of land warfare laid down in the 1907 Convention had been recognised by all civilised nations and were regarded as being declaratory of the laws and customs of war: this conclusion is repeated in the Foreword to the US manual of military law. The International Military Tribunal for the Far East declared in its judgment that the 1907 Convention was good evidence of the customary law of nations.

We now move on half a century to the Convention for the protection of cultural property in the event of armed conflict signed at the Hague on 14 May 1954.<sup>5</sup> This elaborates some of the provisions of Article 27 of the Hague Convention of 1907 on the laws and customs of war on land; it was prepared at an inter-governmental conference convened by UNESCO.

As in the case of the Hague Conventions of 1899 and 1907 and the Geneva Conventions of 1949, it applies in the event of international armed conflicts (Art. 18), but it follows the Geneva Conventions in providing also for the application of certain minimum provisions in non-international armed conflicts (Art. 19). The parties undertake to refrain from using cultural property for purposes which are likely to expose it to destruction or damage, and to refrain from hostile acts against such property. They further undertake to prevent theft, pillage, or misappropriation of cultural property, and acts of vandalism. They agree not to requisition 'movable cultural property', and there is an unconditional ban on 'any act directed by way of reprisals against cultural property' (Art. 4).

The Convention grants special protection to 'a limited number of refuges [zones of sanctuary] intended to shelter movable cultural property [and] immovable cultural property of very great importance'. These refuges must be situated at 'an adequate distance' from

any large industrial centre or important military objectives, and they are not to be used for military purposes (Art. 8).

The Convention, the annexed Regulations, and a Protocol create machinery for implementation, and provide for the function of protecting powers, for conciliation, and for the assistance of UNESCO. In 1985 there were 72 parties to the 1954 Hague Convention (including the Holy See) and 59 parties to the Protocol concerned with the safeguarding and return of cultural property which has been improperly exported during enemy occupation.

There was opened for signature in 1981 a Convention and Protocols prohibiting or restricting the use against civilians in international wars of certain weapons which have indiscriminate effects or which cause excessive injury, including mines, booby traps, and incendiary weapons, and all uses against both combatants and civilians of weapons which release fragments which cannot be detected by X-rays. An attempt was made to prohibit small-calibre weapons on the ground that these, like dum-dum bullets, cause excessive injury, but this was unsuccessful. There were 26 parties to the Convention and Protocols in 1986. It may be noted that the British Manual of Military Law states that fire weapons shall be directed solely against 'inanimate military targets' and that it is illegal to use them 'solely against combatant personnel'.6

The Hague law is based on principles which after eighty years still remain valid.

(1) The parties stated, in the preamble to the Hague Conventions of 1899 and 1907, their wish to preserve peace and prevent armed conflicts. But when, to use the wording of the Conventions, 'events' bring about an 'appeal to arms', the parties still desire to serve the interests of humanity and the needs of civilisation. The parties therefore considered it important to revise the general laws and customs of war, either by defining them more precisely or by confining them within 'such limits as would mitigate their severity as far as possible'. The Conventions were designed 'to diminish the evils of war, as far as military requirements permit...'.

The preamble then recorded the failure of the parties to find agreement covering all the circumstances which might arise in practice; and yet they did not intend that, when unforeseen cases occur, the absence of a written agreement should mean that 'the arbitrary judgment of military commanders' should be decisive. The

preamble sets out the so-called Martens declaration, named after the Russian jurist, Fedor Fedorovich Martens, which forms the epigraph to this chapter. In other words, the code contained in the Regulations was recognised to be incomplete: it was to be supplemented by principles applied in the interests of humanity and civilisation, even when these are not expressed in treaty form.

(2) The second basic principle of the Hague Conventions is to be found in Article 22 of the annexed Regulations: 'The right of belligerents to adopt means of injuring the enemy is not unlimited.' This principle had been affirmed in Article 12 of the Brussels Declaration of 1874. (Britain signed the Brussels Declaration but it did not receive enough ratifications to enter into force.)

This general rule that belligerents may not adopt unlimited means of injuring an enemy may be made concrete in three ways: limitations for the benefit of persons, target limitations, and limitations on weapons and their use.

(a) The limitations for the benefit of persons proceed from the basic principle of the Just War doctrine, namely, that combatants are the main force of resistance and a legitimate target of military operations, and that non-combatants shall neither participate in nor be subject to hostilities. Rousseau expressed the principle as follows:

The object of war being the destruction of the enemy State, a commander has a perfect right to kill its defenders so long as their arms are in their hands: but once they have laid them down and have submitted, they cease to be enemies... and revert to the condition of men, pure and simple, over whose lives no one can any longer exercise a rightful claim.<sup>7</sup>

If combatants who surrender are to be immune from attack, how much more those who never took up arms. The ICRC, after mature consideration, has concluded that if the principle of the protection of the civilian population is to be maintained, it should apply even to civilians engaged in 'non-peaceful' activities, such as scientists and workers in industries closely connected with the war effort. The ICRC admits that this would open the way to abuses, but holds that 'these are minor drawbacks compared with the danger of excluding the above categories from the civilian population'. Additional Protocol I to the Geneva Conventions defines a civilian as any person who is not a member of organised armed forces, militias, volunteer corps, and resistance movements, and those who do not spontaneously take up arms to resist an invading force (Art. 50).

If civilians are not to be exposed to attack, belligerents should take every precaution to reduce to a minimum the damage inflicted on non-combatants during attacks against military objectives, and should not commit acts of destruction in such a way as to cause indirect harm to the civilian population disproportionate to the importance of the military objective under attack. For the attacking side, this requires careful choice and identification of military objectives, precision in attack, abstention from area bombing unless the area is exclusively military, abstention from attacking civil defence organisations, and (as required by Article 26 of the Hague Regulations and Article 57.2(c) of Additional Protocol I of 1977) the giving of warning in specified cases. For the side being attacked, it requires the evacuation of civilians from the vicinity of military objectives; civilians staying in or near military objectives or threatened areas do so at their own risk.

The prohibition of direct attacks on civilians presupposes that a distinction can be made between combatants and civilians. The fact is that the immunity of civilians is still one of the pillars of international law. Although there have been many examples of blatant disregard of the rule, no government has claimed that to do so is lawful. To the extent that violations have been defended, the argument has been that it was a reprisal for an unlawful act of an enemy or an exceptional measure dictated by over-riding considerations, such as the saving of human lives by putting an end to the war quickly.

The distinction between combatants and civilians cannot easily be maintained in an era of total war and absolute weapons. War is no longer the concern of professional fighters only: whole societies are mobilised to support the war effort. And modern weapons have some effects which are both indiscriminate and excessive in relation to any concrete and direct military advantage. The St Petersburg Declaration of 1868 solemnly affirmed that 'the progress of civilization ought to have the effect of alleviating as much as possible the calamities of war'. Unfortunately the progress of civilisation has not had that beneficial effect: it has, on the contrary, provided human beings with more effective instruments of slaughter – submarines, aircraft, long-range missiles, nuclear explosives, nerve gases, and the like. Mankind is no more secure than it was when the Hague Conventions were concluded eighty years ago: what has changed is that the price of failure has increased.

(b) Target limitations constitute a corollary of the group of limitations referred to above. The accepted rule is that attacks may be directed only against military objectives, that is to say, those of which the total

or partial destruction would confer a distinct military advantage. The rule is stated in the 1907 Hague Regulations in the following terms: 'The attack or bombardment, by whatever means, of towns, villages, dwellings, or buildings which are undefended is prohibited' (Art. 25). Additional Protocol I to the Geneva Conventions prohibits all indiscriminate attacks, area bombing, attacks designed to spread terror, attacks on cultural objects and places of worship, the destruction of crops, food, and other objects indispensable to the survival of civilians, and attacks against the natural environment or installations containing dangerous forces. Military commanders are to do everything feasible to prevent direct or indirect harm to civilians and are not to cause incidental harm to civilians which would be excessive in relation to the concrete and direct military advantage anticipated (Arts 51–8).

The present state of humanitarian law clearly has paradoxical results. The crew of a bombing plane may direct their weapons against a military target in a built-up area and, as an indirect consequence, may kill or injure tens or hundreds of thousands of 'innocent' civilians. If the plane is later hit by anti-aircraft fire, the crew may eject or bail out, and then claim the full protection of the Hague and Geneva Conventions from those who may have survived their attack.

On the initiative of Norway, the General Assembly on 9 December 1970 approved resolution 2675 containing eight 'basic principles for the protection of civilian populations in armed conflicts'. The text of the substantive part of the resolution is given in Appendix 9.

- (c) As for limitations on weapons and their use, the basic principle of the Hague Law is that it is forbidden to use weapons which cause superfluous injury (1899 Convention), unnecessary suffering (1907 Convention), or which are excessively injurious (1981 Geneva Convention). This concept was derived from Article 13 of the Brussels Declaration of 1874. The aim when this text was adopted was not primarily to spare civilians, but to avoid causing suffering to combatants in excess of what is essential to place an adversary hors de combat. This is a very subjective test. What may seem 'necessary' to the attacker may seem quite 'unnecessary' to those attacked. Some of the most effective weapons are also the most cruel.
- (3) Another principle, implicit in the Hague Regulations but explicitly affirmed in the Geneva Conventions and Protocols, and also explicit in the Nürnberg principles, is that international law imposes direct and personal obligations on individuals. A person who

violates international humanitarian law is responsible therefor and liable to punishment, and it is no defence to enter a plea of superior orders.

### RETRIBUTION AND REPRISALS IN ARMED CONFLICT

Reprisals in time of peace are coercive measures for resolving conflict without resort to armed force; reprisals in time of armed conflict, usually known as belligerent reprisals, are acts of retaliation to compel an enemy to comply with the laws and customs of war. It is reprisals in this latter sense with which I am concerned here.

Military retribution is an act of counter-attack, punishment, or revenge. Any particular act of retribution may be open to question on prudential or humanitarian grounds, but so long as it conforms to the laws and customs applicable in armed conflicts, it is not illegal. Belligerent reprisals, by contrast, are acts which in ordinary circumstances would be regarded as violations of international law. The only justification for resorting to such unlawful acts arises from the prior commission of an illegal act by the enemy. The matter is put very clearly in the US military manual, The Law of Land Warfare: 'Reprisals are acts of retaliation in the form of conduct which would otherwise be unlawful, resorted to by one belligerent against enemy personnel or property for acts of warfare committed by the other belligerent in violation of the law of war, for the purpose of enforcing future compliance with the recognized rules of civilized warfare. A reprisal in time of war, then, has three tenses: a past act of warfare in violation of the law of war, a present act of retaliation in a form which would otherwise be illegal, in order to enforce future compliance with the recognised rules of war. The rationale behind reprisals has been that a belligerent should not be put at a disadvantage because the enemy breaks the rules.

Certain acts of belligerent reprisal are expressly prohibited. The Geneva Conventions of 1949 forbid reprisals against protected persons, namely, wounded, sick, and shipwrecked members of the armed forces, prisoners of war, and civilian persons in occupied territory or enemy nationals on the territory of a belligerent state (I, 46; II, 47; III, 13; IV, 33). The Hague Convention of 1954 on the protection of cultural property contains an absolute ban on reprisals (Art. 4). Resolution 2675 adopted by the UN General Assembly in 1970 affirmed that 'civilian populations or individual members

thereof, should not be the object of reprisals' (see Appendix 9, para. 7). Additional Protocol I to the Geneva Conventions prohibits reprisals against wounded, sick, and shipwrecked combatants, civilians, objects indispensable to the survival of the civilian population, works and installations containing dangerous forces, cultural objects, places of worship, and the natural environment (Arts 20, 51(6), 52(1), 53(c), 54(4), 55(2), 56(4)). A Protocol to the 1981 Convention on indiscriminate or excessively injurious weapons prohibits the use of mines, booby traps, delayed action or remote control weapons against civilians 'by way of reprisals' (Protocol II, Art. 3(2)). It is probably now the case that the only legitimate reprisal in armed conflict is to use illegal weapons or methods of fighting against combatants or military objectives.

In a study on human rights in armed conflict in 1969, the UN Secretary-General drew attention to the risk that under the stress of armed conflict, the notion of reciprocity may lead to reprisals 'which may be themselves contrary to internationally proclaimed objectives of the humane treatment of civilians, prisoners and combatants, and the application of which should be forbidden or, to say the least, strictly circumscribed'. The international community should direct its efforts towards the development of 'internationally agreed standards'. In a report a year later, he suggested a total prohibition 'in all circumstances' of the use of the civilian population as an object of reprisal.<sup>11</sup> The declaration on some principles of international law, adopted by the UN General Assembly without dissent on 24 October 1970 as resolution 2625, reaffirmed the principle in the UN Charter that states should refrain in their international relations from the threat or use of force against the territorial integrity or political independence of any state, or in any other manner inconsistent with the purposes of the United Nations (Art. 2(4)), and added that 'States have a duty to refrain from acts of reprisal involving the use of force' (see Appendix 8). The United Kingdom accepted this unqualified wording on the understanding that the term 'force' denotes physical or armed force, and would thus accord with Britain's consistent interpretation of the term 'force' as used in the UN Charter. 12 The Security Council, in its resolution 188 of 9 April 1964. condemned reprisals as 'incompatible with the purposes and principles of the United Nations'.

It is not difficult to see how the admissibility of the notion of reprisals in peace or in war opens the way to abuse, and it can be plausibly maintained that it is now up to the UN Security Council rather than the victim to determine when an illegality has occurred and what form any reprisal should take. That certainly seems to have been the view of UN Secretary-General Dag Hammarskjold when he was trying to reinforce the cease-fire commitments in the Middle East in 1956. <sup>13</sup> Such a view is strengthened by the Security Council's repeated condemnation of particular acts of reprisal.

The ICRC has held that the only position it can adopt is to call for a complete prohibition of belligerent reprisals, with procedures for investigating alleged violations. But realising that an immediate prohibition of reprisals is not possible, the ICRC has drawn attention to 'limits... formulated in the texts of qualified writers or in the publications of specialized institutions'.<sup>14</sup>

- (a) Reprisals cannot be exercised unless the party alleging violation has offered the possibility of an enquiry and impartial observation of the facts;
- (b) The scale of reprisals must not be out of proportion to that of the violation they aim at stopping;
- (c) Reprisals must be carried out, so far as possible, only in the same field as that of the violation;
- (d) They should in any case not be contrary to the laws of humanity.

Those writers who have given most attention to belligerent reprisals in practice as well as in theory are most sceptical of the utility of the concept. E. S. Colbert raised the question whether the doctrine of reprisals 'makes a contribution to the maintenance of law and order sufficiently great to outweigh its potentialities for abuse'. Frits Kalshoven considers that 'the balance of merits and demerits of belligerent reprisals has now become so entirely negative as no longer to allow of their being regarded as even moderately effective sanctions of the laws of war...'. They are 'a complete anachronism' and 'a total prohibition... is the only tenable proposition.' Indeed, the man or woman in the street, unschooled in the niceties of international law, may well agree with Professor Telford Taylor that 'resort to crime in order to reform the criminal is an unappetizing method'. 16

## ATTEMPTS TO BAN THE USE OF CHEMICAL AND BACTERIOLOGICAL (BIOLOGICAL) WEAPONS (CBW)

I am concerned in this chapter with attempts to limit or prohibit the *use* of weapons: efforts to control research, development, testing,

manufacture, stockpiling, deployment, and transfer of weapons are reviewed in chapter 5.

Chemical weapons are usually defined as those chemical agents employed for their toxic effects on humans, animals, or plants. This definition is intended to exclude incendiary and smoke weapons, which exert their primary effects through physical force, fire, deprivation of air, or reduced visibility, and which are better classified with high explosives. Chemical weapons include incapacitating agents (tear and harassing gases), defoliants, and herbicides. Some gases, such as CS, are used in aerosol form, and since 2 February 1970 British official spokesmen have sometimes referred to them as 'smokes'. One is reminded of the opening sentence of the standard British lecture on air raid precautions during the second world war. 'Gases are of three kinds: solids, liquids, and vapours.'

What most people call 'germ warfare' was referred to in the Geneva Protocol of 1925 as 'bacteriological methods of warfare'. There are, however, living organisms, in addition to bacteria, which can be used as weapons. To avoid misunderstanding, it is now customary to use the term 'bacteriological (biological) weapons'. A complication sometimes arises when the term 'biological agent' is used, since it might reasonably be held that human beings are biological agents.

The attempt to prohibit the use of chemical and germ weapons in war by means of specific legal instruments began over a century ago with the St Petersburg Declaration of 1868. Before the middle of the nineteenth century the law of war was entirely customary, and it is still often necessary to distinguish between legal obligations of a contractual nature which derive from international treaties, and obligations which are part of customary international law. One difficulty in the field of chemical and biological weapons is that some of the basic texts are ambiguous or inconsistent on this point.

Looking back more than a century, the St Petersburg Declaration seems to have been more important for the general principles it enunciated than for its specific provision – the prohibition of 'any projectile of a weight below 400 grammes [about 14 ounces], which is either explosive or charged with fulminating [flashing] or inflammable substances'.

The Declaration's preamble states the need for civilised nations to agree on technical limits 'at which the necessities of war ought to yield to the requirements of humanity'. There follow five principles, of which the first reads somewhat quaintly in the age of nerve gases and thermonuclear missiles: 'Considering that the progress of civilization

should have the effect of alleviating as much as possible the calamities of war.' The second principle, by implication, affirmed the immunity of civilians from direct attack: 'the only legitimate object which States should endeavour to accomplish during war is to weaken the military forces of the enemy'. The remaining three principles were concerned with the protection of wounded combatants:

Considering...that for this purpose [weakening the enemy's military forces] it is sufficient to disable the greatest possible number of men;

That this object would be exceeded by the employment of arms which uselessly aggravate the suffering of disabled men, or render their death inevitable;

That the employment of such arms would, therefore, be contrary to the laws of humanity.

It should be noted that the Declaration banned only projectiles *less* than the specified weight, on the ground that small projectiles would cause unnecessary suffering. Larger shells were permitted, because it was considered that the amount of suffering they caused was not disproportionate to the military advantages of employing them.

The next document bearing on CBW is the Brussels Declaration of 27 August 1874. This Declaration included the important statement which was later to become the second basic principle of the Hague Conventions: 'The laws of war do not recognize in belligerents an unlimited power in the adoption of means of injuring an enemy' (Art. 12). The Brussels Declaration also stated as 'especially forbidden' the use of 'poison or poisoned weapons' (Art. 13(a)).

The Regulations annexed to Hague Convention (II) of 1899 repeated the 1874 ban on unlimited warfare: 'The right of belligerents to adopt means of injuring the enemy is not unlimited' (Art. 22). The use of 'poison or poisoned arms' was again declared to be 'especially prohibited', as was the use of 'arms, projectiles, or material of a nature to cause superfluous injury' (Art. 23(a) and (e)). There was also concluded at the 1899 Hague Conference a separate declaration banning, on a reciprocal basis, the use of 'projectiles the sole object of which is the diffusion of asphyxiating or deleterious gases' (my italics). Britain ratified the 1899 Declaration on poisonous gases in 1907.

Hague Convention IV of 18 October 1907 was a slightly improved version of Convention II of 1899 on the laws and customs of war. The 1907 Convention reaffirmed that belligerents do not have the right to

adopt unlimited means of injuring the enemy (Art. 22), and it was again declared to be 'especially forbidden' to employ poison or poisonous weapons, or to use arms, projectiles, or material calculated to cause unnecessary suffering (Art. 23(a) and (e)).

In spite of these rules, 6000 tons of lachrymators and 7000 tons of respiratory irritants were used during the first world war. In reaction against this, the post-war treaties attempted to carry the prohibition of poisonous or germ weapons a stage further, the wording used being significant in two respects. First, the weapons prohibited were defined as 'asphyxiating, poisonous or other [in French, similaires] gases and all analogous liquids, materials or devices [procédés]'. This was the wording destined to be used in the Geneva CBW Protocol of 1925. Secondly, the peace treaties asserted without qualification that the use of the specified weapons was already prohibited: 'The use of ... being prohibited, their manufacture and importation are strictly forbidden ... '(my italics).

The same wording, 'asphyxiating, poisonous or other gases and all analogous liquids, materials or devices', was used in the Washington Naval Treaty of 1922, which was, however, never ratified by France and consequently did not enter into effect. The treaty declared that the use in war of the specified substances had been 'justly condemned by the general opinion of the civilized worlds'; it asserted that a prohibition of the use in war of these substances had been 'declared in treaties to which a majority of the civilized powers are parties'; in order that the prohibition should be 'universally accepted as'a part of international law, binding alike on the conscience and practice of nations', the parties assented to the prohibition and agreed to be bound by it 'as between themselves'; and the parties invited 'all other civilized nations to adhere thereto'.

The 1922 wording was followed in all important respects in the Geneva CBW Protocol of 17 June 1925, but the parties agreed also 'to extend this prohibition [of the use of the specified chemical agents in war] to the use of bacteriological methods of warfare'. The 1922 reference to treaties 'to which a majority of the civilized powers are parties' was retained, except that 'civilized' was dropped. Moreover, instead of simply inviting others states to adhere, the 1925 Protocol commits the parties to exerting every effort to induce other states to accede. It should be noted *en passant* that the 1925 Protocol was a by-product of a convention on the supervision of the international trade in arms, ammunition, and implements of war, which never came into force.

Nobody would now claim that the Geneva Protocol was well drafted, either in English or French. It is by no means clear which paragraphs of the section relating to chemical weapons are declaratory of customary international law, and which are solely of a contractual nature. The fact that the chemical part is simply extended to bacteriological warfare would be easier to interpret if the chemical part were itself unambiguous. There is a great deal in the Protocol for lawyers to argue about, but the lay person will not go far wrong by regarding the Protocol as a no-first-use treaty, confined to the use of the specified agents in war. The Protocol does not prohibit research, manufacture, stockpiling, transfer, training, or – in practice – reprisals, and it does not ban the use of the specified substances in non-war situations. Needless to say, non-parties to the Protocol, and parties released from their obligations under it because of a breach by an adversary, remain bound by the customary law applicable in armed conflicts.

Britain ratified the Geneva Protocol in 1930. A good many states, including Britain, ratified with a reservation of reciprocity, which in Britain's case reads as follows:

The said Protocol is only binding on His Britannic Majesty as regards those Powers and States which have both signed and ratified the Protocol, or have finally acceded thereto; The said Protocol shall cease to be binding on His Britannic Majesty towards any Power at enmity with him whose armed forces, or the armed forces of whose allies, fail to respect the prohibitions laid down in the said Protocol.

No state has ratified or acceded with a reservation limiting the types of chemical weapons to which the Protocol applies.

Before ratifying the Geneva Protocol, any government must ask itself precisely what substances are to be prohibited in war. The British government's conclusion on this matter was made clear in Parliament on 18 February 1930: 'Smoke screens are not considered as poisonous and do not, therefore, come within the terms of the Geneva Gas Protocol. Tear gases and shells producing poisonous fumes are, however, prohibited under the Protocol.'

A draft disarmament treaty being considered in 1930 contained an undertaking, subject to reciprocity, to abstain from the use in war of 'asphyxiating, poisonous or *similar* [other] gases, and of all analogous liquids, *substances or processes* [materials or devices]'. On 18 November 1930 Britain submitted to the Preparatory Commis-

sion for the Disarmament Conference a memorandum to the effect that, basing itself on the English text of the draft treaty, the British government took the view that the prohibition of the use of gases in war included lachrymatory gases. The British memorandum, and a French note reaching a similar conclusion, were discussed in Geneva on 2 December 1930, and there was virtual unanimity in support of the view that the prohibition contained in the Geneva Protocol and the draft treaty applied to the use in war of tear gases; only the United States, not then a party to the 1925 Protocol, expressed reservations.

It so happened that a parliamentary question on the definition of poisonous elements under the Geneva Protocol was due to be answered in the House of Commons a fortnight after the Geneva debate. As background for answering the question, E. H. Carr, then in the Foreign Office, wrote a minute on the complication arising from the fact that 'the Americans... do not regard the prohibition as extending to tear gas, which apparently is harmless to health' (my italics). Among those initialling the minute without dissent were Sir Robert Vansittart and Hugh Dalton. In his reply to the question on 17 December, Arthur Henderson simply said that the exact substances which are prohibited are not defined, either in the Protocol or elsewhere.

The significance of the Carr minute did not become fully apparent until much later – indeed, not until 1970, when the British government interpreted the prohibition contained in the Geneva Protocol as not being applicable to CS gas. The tear gas available in 1930 was CN; Corson and Stoughton had synthesised CS in 1928, but it was not developed for use until the 1950s. It seems clear from Carr's minute that it was known to the British government in 1930 (the year Britain ratified the Geneva Protocol) that there existed tear gases not harmful to human health.

Be that as it may, the 1930 view that the prohibition of gases in war included tear gases continued to be the British position, and when Britain put forward a draft disarmanent treaty in March 1933, it was provided that the prohibition of the use of chemical weapons in war should apply to the use of 'toxic, asphyxiating, lachrymatory, irritant or vesicant [blistering] substances', that parties to the treaty would inform the proposed disarmament commission of 'lachrymatory substances intended... for police operations', and that smoke or fog used for screening purposes was not included in the prohibition of chemical weapons 'provided that such smoke or fog is not liable to produce harmful effects under normal conditions of use'. On 8 June

1933 the Disarmament Conference decided to accept the British draft as a basis for future work, but as Hitler strengthened his grip in Germany, the inter-war disarmament effort lapsed into futility.

Interest in CBW revived in 1952, when the Communist states alleged that the United States had used germ weapons in Korea. A Soviet proposal in the UN Security Council to appeal to states to ratify or accede to the Geneva Protocol was not adopted (1 vote in favour, 10 abstentions), and a US proposal to refer the matter to the UN Disarmament Commission was withdrawn. The Soviet Union then vetoed two proposals, one of which would have asked the ICRC to investigate the charges, and the other would have condemned the fabrication and dissemination of false charges. <sup>19</sup>

During the 1960s, Britain favoured the separation of biological from chemical weapons, on the ground that the former had virtually never been used in war and a total ban could be imposed immediately. Britain therefore put forward a draft convention designed to prohibit not only the use of biological weapons in war, but also research directed towards production of biological weapons, manufacture, acquisition, and possession, and to eliminate stocks. Britain also made a diplomatic effort to persuade states to ratify or accede to the Geneva CBW Protocol. In 1966, there had been 48 parties, and this increased to 90 in 1971 and 105 in 1985.

In 1969, following the publication of a UN expert report on chemical weapons, UN Secretary-General Thant appealed to states to make a clear affirmation that the prohibition in the Geneva Protocol 'applies to the use in war of all chemical, bacteriological and biological agents (including tear gas and other harassing agents), which now exist or which may be developed in the future'. It was noticeable that the response by Britain's minister for disarmament to this appeal was cautious. British reservations increased as the weeks went by, particularly when British troops had to use CS in Northern Ireland, the first instance of the use of tear gas for riot control within the United Kingdom.

Uncertainty about the British position continued for some months, but on 2 February 1970, when replying to a seemingly innocuous parliamentary question about disarmament, the Foreign Secretary said that he would like to explain the government's view regarding the use of tear gases in war. He quoted the conclusion of the second Labour government in 1930 that smoke screens did not come within the Geneva Protocol: 'modern technology has developed CS smoke which, unlike the tear gases available in 1930, is considered to be not

significantly harmful to man in other than wholly exceptional circumstances'. He then expressed the government's view that CS 'and other such gases' should be regarded as outside the prohibition of use in war contained in the Geneva Protocol. The next day the Prime Minister added that CS 'has been newly discovered or invented – whatever is the right phrase – since 1930'. While it is true that CS was not 'available' in 1930, it was known to the British government at that time that gases with the characteristics of CS existed.

Until government files are open to public inspection, we cannot be sure why the British government reached this decision. Many ordinary citizens no doubt took the view that it would be absurd not to use in war a chemical substance which British troops were using for riot control in the United Kingdom in time of peace.

Opposition to the decision announced in 1970 was based on three main considerations. First, there is an important distinction between use in peace and use in war. Tear gas is used in peace under strict controls and to avoid using more lethal weapons: the purpose is to reduce injuries and save lives. In war, tear gas may be used in conjunction with other weapons to increase the lethal effectiveness of the latter. Whatever may have been the original intention of the US authorities, it is beyond doubt that tear gases were used in South East Asia to enhance the effectiveness of conventional anti-personnel weapons. But the grave danger, as was shown in the first world war, is the risk of escalation from chemicals which merely irritate to those that cause serious injury, and then perhaps to those that kill (for example, nerve gases).

The second objection was to the method used to reinterpret an international treaty. Britain had taken the view when ratifying the Geneva Protocol in 1930 that the Protocol banned the use of tear gases in war, and had played a leading part in trying to persuade other countries to take the same view. A unilateral reinterpretation of an international treaty undermines the effort to build world order. The offence was compounded in this case because it followed so closely on U Thant's appeal and the vote of a substantial majority in the UN General Assembly urging states to respect the traditional view of the obligations contained in the Geneva Protocol.

The third objection followed naturally from the second. Britain had been establishing a reputation as a country genuinely committed to making progress in arms control and disarmament. Britain had proposed separating biological from chemical weapons, and dealing with the former by means of an immediate and total ban, but there

were critics who said that the ulterior motive for this ploy was to make it easier for the United States to continue using harassing gases and anti-plant chemicals in Vietnam. The effect of the British proposal to separate biological from chemical weapons, said the critics, would not be to strengthen the Geneva Protocol, but to weaken it. If, as was alleged, Britiain's stance was having the effect of weakening the Geneva Protocol as it applied to chemical weapons, how could British delegates in international bodies convince the critics of Britain's good faith in giving priority to a treaty on biological weapons?

The British government can at any time return to the traditional interpretation of the Geneva Protocol. If doubts should exist regarding the precise scope of the Protocol, an authoritative opinion could be secured from the International Court of Justice.

Shortly before the British announcement about the scope of the Geneva Protocol, the Nixon Administration had been conducting a reivew of policy on CBW, and on 25 November 1969, the President announced that he was asking the Senate to advise and consent to US ratification of the Geneva Protocol of 1925. The United States took the view that the Protocol restricted but did not prohibit the use in war of riot-control agents and chemical herbicides.

In addition, Nixon announced that the United States was taking two unilateral steps regarding CBW.

- (1) The United States would not be the first to use incapacitating or lethal chemical weapons.
- (2) The United States renounced entirely the use of all biological weapons, would destroy stocks of such weapons, and would discontinue research on biological warfare except for research on 'defensive measures such as immunization and safety measures'.

Nixon also stated his support for the British draft convention on biological weapons, but would 'seek ... to clarify specific provisions of the draft to assure that necessary safeguards are included'. On 14 February 1970 it was announced that the US ban on biological weapons would also apply to biological toxins, which are chemicals even though 'the technology of their production resembles that of biological agents'. Toxins are not capable of reproduction.

This was an interesting example of how a unilateral act may stimulate and reinforce the negotiating process, for it soon led to the conclusion of a new Convention prohibiting the development, production, or acquisition of bacteriological (biological) and toxin weapons and for the destruction of stocks. Alleged breaches are to be dealt with by the UN Security Council. Nothing in the Convention is to lessen the prohibition of use contained in the Geneva Protocol. There were 100 parties to the BW Convention in 1986. I refer later in this chapter to Iraq's use of chemical weapons against Iran.

### ATTEMPTS TO BAN THE USE OF NUCLEAR WEAPONS

Nuclear weapons were used twice in 1945, but those were relatively small atomic bombs. Some of the nuclear-weapon states now possess weapons more than one thousand times as powerful as those dropped on Japan and a million times as powerful as the conventional bombs of the second world war. The paradox of nuclear deterrence is that weapons are deployed in order to prevent others from using them, and each technological development by one side is matched almost at once by a similar development on the other side.

Proposals to ban the use of nuclear weapons naturally appeal to persons of humane sentiments or, if a ban could be universal and effective, to those who understand that any use of nuclear weapons against another nuclear-weapon state might quickly lead to mutual annihilation. NATO strategy is to deploy nuclear weapons in order to deter an attack by the Warsaw Pact's massive conventional forces. For this reason among others, the West resists all proposals for an unconditional ban on using nuclear weapons on the ground that a threat to use nuclear weapons, first if necessary, is needed in order to deter aggression with conventional arms. To the neutral and non-aligned countries, and to many pacifists and nuclear-pacifists, the stance of NATO is morally indefensible. If nuclear weapons were ever used, the harm could not be confined to the country attacked, for much of the delayed radiation and other effects would cause somatic or genetic injury to people far away from the area of conflict. Indeed, it might be thought by the non-expert that nuclear weapons were encompassed by the Geneva Protocol's ban on using liquids, materials, and devices analogous to chemical weapons, but this has never been seriously advanced.

In the early days of the UN, the problem of nuclear weapons revolved mainly around the radical US plan for placing nuclear operations under international ownership and control, and the Soviet slogan about banning the bomb, which was widely regarded at the time as a propaganda ploy. Serious debate and negotiation about disarmament date from 1954, when the Soviet Union agreed to take as a basis

for discussion a comprehensive Anglo-French plan for verified disarmament by stages.

In 1961, as a result of an initiative by Ethopia, it was decided to separate the question of the use of nuclear weapons from other disarmament matters, and the UN Secretary-General was asked to consult governments with a view to convening a conference for signing a convention banning the use of such weapons.

Britain and the United States opposed this decision on the ground that deterrence depends on a determination to respond to aggression at whatever level is necessary, and that there should be no abrogation of the right of self-defence. The Western view was that paper promises not to use weapons which you possess and are training your armed forces to use are no substitute for concrete measures of arms control or disarmament. It was clear that Western governments wished to leave open the possibility of using nuclear weapons in response to a conventional attack.

The Soviet government has always adopted a simple view of this problem in its public pronouncements: that a convention to prohibit the use of nuclear weapons would be an important step on the road to their complete abolition.

The UN item regarding non-use of nuclear weapons has been continued at each annual session of the General Assembly, with Communist and Third World support and NATO opposition. The UN General Assembly has repeatedly condemned any use of nuclear weapons as contrary to the spirit and aims of the United Nations and to the rules of international law, and as a crime against humanity and civilisation (see Appendix 4). The British manual of military law states that there is no rule of international law dealing specifically with the use of nuclear weapons, so that use involves the application of the recognised principles of international law. The US manual states more categorically that the use of explosive atomic weapons 'cannot as such be regarded as violative of international law in the absence of any customary rule of international law or international convention restricting their employment.'<sup>20</sup>

The Treaty of Tlatelolco prohibits the use of nuclear weapons in Latin America, and a similar agreement has been drafted for the South Pacific area. The only other restrictions on use are in separate unilateral declarations by the first five nuclear-weapon states in 1978, undertaking not to use these weapons against non-nuclear-weapon states. In Britain's case, the assurance was not to use nuclear weapons against states which are parties to the Treaty on the non-proliferation

of nuclear weapons or similar internationally binding commitments, except in the case of an attack on the United Kingdom, its dependencies, its armed forces, or its allies.

### **OPTIMISTS AND PESSIMISTS**

Slaughter and devastation on the scale now feasible is beyond the human imagination. For the private citizen with humanitarian impulses and an optimistic outlook, the division of humanitarian law into the Hague and Geneva streams had a certain logic. For the pacifist minority, and for those like the ICRC who reject 'the very idea of war', as one ICRC document puts it, the obvious task has been to strengthen the law of Geneva, which is concerned with the protection of those not taking a direct part in hostilities, and at the same time to do what is possible in an imperfect world towards the abolition of war itself. Andrew Carnegie was so sure that war could be abolished in a foreseeable future that when he set aside \$10 million to promote world peace, he was careful to instruct the trustees in his own distinctive spelling about what should be done with the money when that goal had been achieved.

When civilized nations enter into such treaties as named, and war is discarded as disgraceful to civilized men, as personal war (duelling) and man selling and buying (slavery) hav been discarded within the wide boundaries of our English-speaking race, the Trustees will pleas then consider what is the next most degrading remaining evil or evils whose banishment – or what new elevating element or elements if introduced or fosterd, or both combined – would most advance the progress, elevation and happiness of man, and so on from century to century, without end, my Trustees of each age shall determin how they can best aid man in his upward march to higher and higher stages of development unceasingly, for now we know that man was created, not with an instinct for his own degradation, but imbued with the desire and the power for improvement to which, perchance, there may be no limit short of perfection even here in this life upon erth.

For those who may be less sanguine about achieving perfection at an early date, it has not been enough simply to develop and strengthen the law of Geneva for protecting non-combatants; there has been the further task of strengthening the law of the Hague, which seeks to

make war less brutal. It is true that some unbending pacifists assert that it is vain to imagine that war can be made more humane when it is of its nature opposed to humane sentiments. But the mainstream of humanitarian opinion considers this view to be mistaken. The unlawfulness or immorality of the resort to force does not negate the legitimacy of the law of armed conflict, which seeks to lessen the consequences of the inability of the international community to prevent the use of military force. Jean Pictet, a veteran of the Red Cross movement, points out that no one questions the need for an efficient health organisation or a reliable fire brigade, 'but it is not for any love of disease or fire'. It is a basic assumption of all humanitarian efforts that evils which cannot be immediately suppressed should, if possible, be attenuated. The ICRC considers that all Red Cross work 'is a protest against violence'. Endeavours to abolish war and to protect its victims 'complete one another and must be conducted on a parallel'.21

### IRREGULAR FIGHTERS AND INTERNAL WARS

It is necessary to start this section with some definitions. The Hague Regulations are declared to apply 'not only to armies, but also to militia and volunteer corps fulfilling [certain] conditions' (Art. 1). The first three Geneva Conventions of 1949 apply to 'members of the armed forces of a Party to the conflict as well as members of militias or volunteer corps forming part of such armed forces'. In addition, the first three Geneva Conventions cover 'members of other militias or other volunteer corps, including those of organized resistance movements...' (I, 13; II, 13; III, 4). Additional Protocol I regards conflicts against colonial domination, alien occupation, or racist régimes as international wars and grants combatant status to fighters who carry their arms openly during each military engagement or during such times as they are visible to an adversary while engaged in a military deployment prior to the launching of an attack (Arts 1(4), 44(3)). The UN General Assembly has, in a number of resolutions, called for the application of the Geneva Conventions to 'freedom fighters', 'participants in resistance movements and freedom fighters', and 'people captured during their struggle for freedom'. As noted in chapter 3, I will use the portmanteau words irregulars or irregular fighters for such clandestine underground fighters, partisans, guerrillas, or resistance groups, and the term wars of national liberation for armed conflicts against colonial domination, alien occupation, or racist régimes. The Geneva Conventions of 1949 and Additional Protocol II refer to 'armed conflicts not of an international character'. I often use a shorter expression, such as *internal armed conflicts* or *internal wars*.

It should be emphasised that there is no necessary connection between irregular fighters and internal wars. Irregulars have in the past taken part in inter-state conflicts of the classical kind. Some internal wars have been conducted solely by regular forces. But if one reviews the 150 or so armed conflicts since the second world war, one finds that a large number of them have been internal, and that irregulars have often taken part on one or both sides. Moreover, the frontier between internal and international wars is not always clear. Many legal experts would regard the intervention of foreign personnel as transforming an internal conflict into an international one, but there are ways of providing disguised aid by means of 'volunteers' and mercenaries – though mercenaries are denied combatant status under Additional Protocol I (Art. 47). The fact is that states are nearly always reluctant to admit that armed conflict is taking place within their borders and consequently that common Article 3 or Additional Protocol II come into force.

Both the Hague Regulations and the Geneva Conventions list four conditions which must be fulfilled by irregular fighters if they are to qualify for the protection afforded by the Conventions. These conditions were first formulated in the Brussels Declaration of 1874 (Art. 9). The purpose was to make a clear distinction between combatants and non-combatants, so that hostile action would be directed against combatants only, and secondarily to avoid a situation in which marauders or bandits, on capture, might claim POW status. The four conditions common to the Hague Regulations and the Geneva Conventions are:

- (1) Irregulars must be 'commanded by a person responsible for his subordinates'.
- (2) They must have 'a fixed distinctive sign [or emblem] recognizable at a distance'.
- (3) They must carry their arms 'openly'.
- (4) They must conduct their operations 'in accordance with the laws and customs of war'.

In addition, the Geneva Conventions apply to 'organised resistance movements'.

Additional Protocol I introduces a new element into the law of armed conflict by extending common Article 2 of the Geneva Conventions ('all cases of declared war or of any other armed conflict which may arise between two or more of the High Contracting Parties') to cover wars of national liberation. National liberation movements may undertake to apply the Geneva Conventions and Additional Protocol I by unilateral declaration (Art. 96(3)).

Another effect of the Additional Protocol I is to modify the second and third conditions common to the Hague and Geneva Conventions. It is now accepted that the nature of hostilities may make it impossible for an irregular fighter to distinguish himself with a sign or emblem recognisable at a distance and to carry his arms openly at all times. Nevertheless, he retains combatant status so long as he carried his arms openly during a military deployment before the launching of an attack and during each military engagement.

The requirements in the Hague and Geneva Conventions that irregular fighters shall conduct their operations in accordance with the laws and customs of war seem to me to raise very difficult questions. Regular armed forces, operating in accordance with printed manuals of military law, have been known to disregard 'the laws and customs of war'; irregular fighters, with no such manuals, and in some cases with minimal education and training, are likely to have no more than a rudimentary idea of 'the laws and customs of war'. Moreover, their opponents may be flouting these laws and customs.

On the other hand, it would be an entirely retrograde step to introduce the idea that 'the laws and customs of war' are losing or have lost their validity. These laws and customs, which are for the protection of combatants as well as non-combatants, should be made more precise and strengthened, not dispensed with.

It can hardly be disputed that in insurgency and counter-insurgency warfare, civilians may be more severely affected than in most forms of war. The purpose of the irregular fighter is often to demonstrate that the public authorities are incapable of governing. This can be accomplished by fostering discontent, but also by resorting to acts of terrorism such as the assassination of the élite on the other side. The fact that this may be done in a righteous cause, as in a struggle for equal rights and self-determination of peoples, does not alter the fact that deliberately to kill an innocent person is murder.

Additional Protocol I contains fundamental guarantees for humane treatment which are to be applied without discrimination and which prohibit 'at any time and in any place whatsoever' acts or threats of violence to persons and outrages upon personal dignity, including corporal punishment, torture, mutilation, murder, hostage-taking, and collective punishments (Art. 75(2)). Common Article 3 of the Geneva Conventions relating to internal wars also prohibit violence to life and person, in particular murder of all kinds, mutilation, cruel treatment, and torture; outrages upon personal dignity, in particular humiliating and degrading treatment; the taking of hostages; and the passing of sentences and the carrying out of executions without previous judgment pronounced by a regularly constituted court, affording all the judicial guarantees which are recognised as indispensable by civilised peoples. These 'minimum' requirements are supplemented in Additional Protocol II by a ban on acts or threats of violence against persons and outrages upon personal dignity, acts of terrorism, hostage-taking, slavery, collective punishments, and pillage (Art. 4(2)).

### THE INTERNATIONAL RED CROSS

The International Red Cross movement consists of three elements. There is, first of all, the International Committee of the Red Cross (ICRC), initially known as the International Committee for aid to wounded soldiers, founded by five Swiss citizens in 1863 following the publication of Henry Dunant's *A Memory of Solferino*.

Secondly, there are the 139 national Red Cross or Red Crescent Societies, the most recent society to be recognised being that of the United Arab Emirates (27 August 1986). In order to be recognised, a national society must meet certain conditions. It must be constituted on the territory of a party to the first Geneva Convention of 1949, be the only such society, operate throughout the entire country and its dependencies, and be officially recognised by its own government. Membership must be open to all without discrimination, it must respect fundamental Red Cross principles, must adhere to the statutes of the International Red Cross, and must use the title and emblem of the Red Cross or the Red Crescent.

There is a society in Israel which uses as an emblem the Red Shield of David but in accordance with the last requirement mentioned above, this society has not been officially recognised by the Red Cross movement.<sup>22</sup>

The first conference of national Red Cross societies took place in

1867, and the societies formed the League of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies in 1919, the third element of the Red Cross movement.

The three elements of the International Red Cross meet together, normally every four years, as the International Conference of the Red Cross. Sometimes people speak loosely of the International Red Cross when in fact they mean the International Committee of the Red Cross.

Article 4 of the Statute of the ICRC, as amended in 1973, defines the role of the ICRC as follows:

- (1) The special role of the ICRC shall be:
  - (a) to maintain the Fundamental Principles of the Red Cross as proclaimed by the XXth International Conference of the Red Cross;
  - (b) to recognize any newly established or reconstituted National Red Cross Society which fulfils the conditions for recognition in force, and to notify other National Societies of such recognition;
  - (c) to undertake the tasks incumbent on it under the Geneva Conventions, to work for the faithful application of these Conventions and to take cognizance of any complaints regarding alleged breaches of the humanitarian Conventions;
  - (d) to take action in its capacity as a neutral institution, especially in case of war, civil war, or internal strife; to endeavour to ensure at all times that the military and civilian victims of such conflicts and of their direct results receive protection and assistance, and to serve in humanitarian matters, as an intermediary between the parties;
  - (e) to ensure the operation of the Central Information Agencies provided for in the Geneva Conventions;
  - (f) to contribute, in view of such conflicts, to the preparation and development of medical personnel and medical equipment, in co-operation with other Red Cross organizations, the medical services of the armed forces and other competent authorities;
  - (g) to work for the continual improvement of humanitarian international law and for the better understanding and dissemination of the Geneva Conventions and to prepare for their possible extension;
  - (h) to accept the mandates entrusted to it by the International Conferences of the Red Cross.
- (2) The ICRC may also take any humanitarian initiative which comes within its roles as a specifically neutral and independent institution and consider any questions requiring examination by such an institution.

The ICRC is a self-perpetuating body in that membership is only by co-optation and is limited to Swiss citizens.

The Red Cross movement was initially concerned with the care of sick and wounded combatants on the field of battle. It later extended its concern to prisoners of war, and in 1949 there was adopted for the first time a Convention designed to ensure humane treatment of civilians in occupied territories. The two Additional Protocols of 1977 provide for further measures of protection in both inter-state and internal wars. In accordance with the last sentence of Article 4 of the statute of the ICRC, and often in the absence of formal agreement, the ICRC makes its services available for a wide range of humanitarian activities – protection and assistance to victims of inter-state or internal armed conflict or other disasters.

The ICRC has to act with great discretion in situations of political delicacy. During the conflict between Federal Nigeria and Biafra, for example, the ICRC was engaged in what was then its largest humanitarian effort since the second world war – and also 'the most thankless'. After the Nigerian air force had shot down a Swedish aircraft operating under ICRC responsibility, the ICRC's activity was almost completely paralysed. Fourteen ICRC delegates or pilots were killed on duty during this conflict.

In 1962, the Soviet Union suggested that the ICRC should check on the withdrawal of Soviet missiles from Cuba. The ICRC was willing to place inspectors at the disposal of the United Nations under certain conditions and if the parties agreed, but UN Secretary-General Thant was told that, while Cuba had no objection to ICRC inspection of Soviet ships at sea, 'Cuba was opposed to Red Cross inspection in Cuban ports'. The crisis was finally resolved some weeks later without a role for the ICRC.<sup>23</sup> The Soviet Union has vetoed two proposals in the UN Security Council which would have requested the ICRC to undertake tasks: the first in connection with allegations of the use of bacterial weapons in Korea (1952) and the second in connection with the shooting down of a US aircraft (1960).<sup>24</sup>

The primary task of the ICRC, as is made explicit in Article 4(c), (d), and (f) of its Statute, is in providing medical personnel and equipment in 'war, civil war or internal strife', and in working for the faithful application of the principle in the Geneva Conventions that those not taking part in the fighting are entitled to immunity from direct attack and must receive humanitarian treatment. The Fourth Geneva Convention provides for the establishment of 'hospital and safety zones' and 'neutralized zones' for both civilians and wounded or sick combatants (IV, 14-5), and Additional Protocol I provides for 'non-defended localities' and 'demilitarized zones' (Arts 59-60).

Sanctuaries of this kind were created by the ICRC, either alone or in co-operation with others, in Jerusalem in 1948,<sup>25</sup> in Dhaka in 1971,<sup>26</sup> and in Phnom Penh in 1975, and such zones were in process of being established in the Falkland Isles (Malvinas) and Argentina in 1982 when the cease-fire came into force.

All the elements in the Geneva stream of law contain national and international procedures for dealing with grave breaches. The ICRC's relief and related activities are given reasonable publicity but, when the ICRC undertakes more delicate tasks (such as visiting political prisoners), the general rule is that it seeks no publicity and reports only to the government concerned. The ICRC publicises the difficulties it encounters or its findings only if (a) the breaches of international humanitarian law are major and repeated, (b) its delegates have witnessed the violations with their own eyes or the breaches have been established by reliable and verifiable sources, (c) confidential representations to the governments concerned have not succeeded, and (d) such action would be in the interest of the victims.<sup>27</sup>

Alleged violations of the Geneva Conventions have been brought before the UN Security Council in connexion with the Bangladesh war (1971–2), the Middle East (1967 and since), and Iraq–Iran (1983 and since). The Security Council either appeals to the parties to respect the Geneva Conventions or, if the breach is reliably established, condemns the guilty party.<sup>28</sup>

The ICRC acts on its own initiative in reminding states of their humanitarian responsibilities in particular cases, whether these responsibilities derive from specific instruments or (in the words of the Martens Clause) 'result from the usages established among civilized peoples, from the laws of humanity, and the dictates of the public conscience'.

When visiting political detainees, ICRC delegates insist on being given a list of detainees before the visit or being granted facilities to compile it during the visit, on seeing all political detainees, on being enabled to talk with them freely and in private, and in repeating the visit as needed. If necessary and possible, delegates organise the transmission of family messages and assistance to detainees and their families. In the five-year period covered by the ICRC's annual reports for 1979–83, delegates visited POWs, captured civilians, and political detainees in no fewer than 45 states or territories, as shown in Table 1.

A glance at the ICRC histories by Pierre Boissier and André Dunand, the four official volumes on the astonishing work of the ICRC during the second world war, and the forty annual reports since

1945, makes clear that the ICRC undertakes an impressive array of routine tasks patiently and anonymously. Other non-governmental agencies complain that the ICRC is sometimes inclined to be standoffish and too self-assured, but this stance is no doubt inevitable. It would perhaps help if women played a larger role, but the ICRC conforms to the general style of public life in Switzerland.

As there have been some 150 conflicts since 1945 in which armed force has been used, it is impossible within the compass of this book to describe the ICRC's role in every case, but I review below four cases of exceptional ICRC responsibility: Korea (1950–3), the Cuban missile crisis (1962), the third Middle East war (1967), and Iraq-Iran (since 1980). Focusing on these four unusual cases can easily give a misleading impression. From the point of view of this book, however, it is necessary to review a number of those exceptional cases where the performance of states did not match promise, or where military necessity overcame the claims of humanity.

Korea In Korea, the Unified Command tried to respect the provisions of the Geneva Conventions, except those relating to repatriation of POWs. By August 1951, after just over a year of fighting, the Unified Command had notified the ICRC of the names of 163,539 prisoners which it held. During the same period, North Korea had supplied the names of only 110 prisoners – though it became clear later that year that more than 11,000 POWs were held by the Communist side, and more than 11,000 were in fact released after the armistice in 1953. The ICRC was consistently denied access to POW camps in the North, and its activities in the South were sometimes interfered with. The ICRC delegate was distressed at the brutal treatment of civilian prisoners in the South, and on more than one occasion protested to the South Korean authorities. The ICRC also protested to the Unified Command that the use of collective punishments in POW camps was contrary to the Geneva POW Convention (Art. 87).

During the armistice negotiations at Panmunjom, North Korea and China suggested 'the formation of joint teams of the International Committee of the Red Cross' and the Red Cross of North Korea and China to assist in supervising POW exchanges after the armistice. The ICRC said the proposal was 'entirely untenable' as it would violate the neutrality of the ICRC, and it issued a statement making clear its independence of governments and other official bodies. The UN Command thought this episode had been an attempt to identify the

TABLE 1 POWs, captured civilians, and political detainees visited by the ICRC, 1979-83

Detaining state	6261	0861	1979 1980 1981 1982	1982	1983
Afghanistan		•		•	
Angola		•	•	•	
Argentina	•	•	•	•	•
Bolivia		•	•		
Burundi				•	
Cape Verde Islands				•	•
Chad		•		•	•
Chile	•	•	•	•	•
Colombia	•	•	•		•
Democratic Yemen			•		
El Salvador	•	•	•	•	•
Ethiopia		•	•		•
Grenada					•
Haiti			•		
Indonesia (including East Timor in 1982)	•		•	•	•
Iran		•	•	•	•
Iraq		•	•	•	•
Israel and the Occupied Territories		•	•	•	•
Jordan		•	•	•	•
Lebanon				•	•
Lesotho				•	

Malaysia	•	•	•	•	•
Mauritania		•			
Namibia		•	•	•	•
Nicaragua	•	•	•	•	•
Paraguay	•	•	•		•
Peru				•	•
Philippines		•	•	•	•
Poland				•	
Rwanda					•
Somalia		•		•	•
South Africa (including the Homelands)	•	•	•	•	•
Southern Rhodesia (Zimbabwe)	•				
Spain			•		
Suriname				•	•
Switzerland (Soviet prisoners captured in Afghanistan)				•	•
Syria				•	•
Tanzania		•	•		
Thailand			,	•	
Uganda		•	•	,	
United Kingdom (Northern Ireland in 1981 and 1983, Falklands/Malvinas in			•	•	•
1982)				ı.	,
Uruguay		•			•
Yemen Arab Republic		•	•	•	•
Zaire	•	•	•	•	•
Zambia		•			×

ICRC as an agency of the Unified Command. When allegations about bacterial warfare were made by North Korea and China, Dean Acheson suggested that these should be investigated by the ICRC: the ICRC, in an unusual move (which it perhaps later regretted), said that it would 'set up a Commission which will be under its direction', with 'every guarantee of moral and scientific independence ... by experts who have highest qualification', on the understanding that the two sides would co-operate. This was acceptable to the United States but not to the Communists, so the idea was dropped.<sup>29</sup>

Cuban missile crisis The Cuban missile crisis of 1962 confronted the ICRC with acutely difficult decisions. The UN Security Council debated the matter at four meetings on 23–25 October, but thereafter the matter was dealt with by UN Secretary-General Thant, initially in correspondence with the three heads of government. At 4 am on the night of 30/31 October, the ICRC received a request from Thant to provide 30 inspectors to monitor the removal of Soviet missiles from Cuba. The idea of ICRC inspection had been raised by the Soviet Union the previous day, subject to the agreement of Cuba. 30

This was an unprecedented request to the ICRC, outside the scope of its normal humanitarian duties, but the ICRC took the line that in a situation of exceptional gravity, it should do what it could to meet the request, though subject to certain conditions:

- (1) All three parties explicitly, and the main maritime powers implicitly, should agree to the operation;
- (2) The inspectors would be selected by the ICRC and placed at the disposal of the United Nations and subject to UN authority and control, but would at the same time have a large measure of authority;
- (3) The emblem of the Red Cross would not be used;
- (4) In no circumstances would there be resort to force;
- (5) The operation would be consistent with Red Cross principles and the provisions of international law;
- (6) The task could be carried out in a real and effective manner.

The ICRC understood from the United Nations that 'Cuba would give its agreement'.

Meanwhile, Thant had been to Havana for discussions with Prime Minister Castro and his colleagues. Castro's line was that ICRC inspection of Soviet vessels at sea was not the concern of Cuba, but there could be no ICRC inspection on Cuban territory. Thant was also informed that dismantling of Soviet missiles would be completed within two or three days. Three weeks later the ICRC was told that its help was no longer necessary.

Middle East An exception to the general ICRC rule of no publicity was the publication in 1970 of a report on ICRC activities in the Middle East for the period June 1967 to June 1970. According to a UN Committee, part of this report had been leaked, so the ICRC decided to minimise the damage by publishing the full text.<sup>31</sup>

The ICRC found that, following the June War, problems relating to the treatment of the wounded and prisoners of war were settled 'relatively quickly'. Matters were different in the case of the application of the Fourth Convention concerned with civilians in occupied territories. The ICRC informed Israel in July 1967 that 'in its opinion the Fourth Convention was applicable'. Israel replied a year later that it wished 'to leave the question ... open for the moment'. To this day the government of Israel continues to hold this position, though many Israeli specialists in international law consider that it is legally incorrect, especially in regard to Sinai (while it was under Israeli occupation) and the Golan Heights. 32 Though Israel does not regard the Fourth Convention as applicable, it has claimed to be acting in accordance with its main humanitarian principles. The refusal of the Israeli government to apply the Fourth Convention has hindered the ICRC in seeking to prevent such prohibited activities as the destruction of houses and the deportation of protected persons.

The Fourth Convention prohibits destruction of property 'except where such destruction is rendered absolutely necessary by military operations' (Art. 53, my italics). It also prohibits the punishment of any protected person except for an offence which he or she has personally committed (Art. 33, my italics): in other words, indiscriminate or collective punishments are banned. The ICRC found that destruction of property was in fact carried out by Israel. When the ICRC delegate made representations to the Israeli Ministry of Defence about this, he was told 'that it was not for the ICRC to intervene in a question that affected directly the security of the State'. The ICRC took the view that, while deploring all terrorist attacks against civilians, such attacks were in themselves no justification for resorting to reprisals or any other form of collective penalties.

None of the parties to the Geneva Conventions directly involved in the Middle East conflict had availed themselves of the possibility of requesting a state or a neutral organisation to assume the functions of protecting power. Indeed, when the ICRC communicated with the states concerned with regard to the application of the Geneva Conventions, only the government of Jordan replied and then simply to say that 'it did not accept the ICRC's viewpoint'.

ICRC delegates were usually given freedom of movement to visit prisoners of war. All applications for information with regard to missing prisoners rapidly received official answers from the Israeli military authorities, and requests and suggestions were met in most cases by positive responses. The ICRC was able to arrange for the repatriation of all seriously wounded casualties before the end of 1967. After delay in some cases, 5,638 Arab POWs and 19 Israeli POWs were exchanged. Detainees and internees were visited, but ICRC delegates encountered difficulties in 1969 and 1970 in visiting Israeli prisoners held in Egypt; in 1970 the same problem was encountered in Syria.

There were greater difficulties over the repatriation of civilians, but 'some twenty-thousand persons were enabled to return to their homes on one side or other of the cease-fire lines'. Some 3,700 family reunions were permitted on compassionate grounds.

The ICRC had evidence of deportations from the Golan Heights, the West Bank of the Jordan, and the Gaza Strip. The Israeli authorities stated that in the case of the Golan Heights there had been no deportations, only 'voluntary departures'. As for the West Bank, those deported were Jordanian citizens engaged in activities detrimental to the interests of the state: deportation, in Israel's view, was more humane than internment. There had been transfers of population within the Occupied Territories, and in most cases the persons transferred had accepted compensation.

The ICRC took the view that 'at least by analogy' the provisions of the Fourth Convention should apply to Jewish communities in Arab countries. The ICRC delegate was able to visit Jews 'assigned to residence in camps' in Libya, and was in 'more or less constant touch' with three communities of Jews of Syrian nationality. The Egyptian government, on the other hand, would not permit ICRC delegates to visit interned Jews.

As the ICRC has not published comparable reports of other situations during and following armed conflict, it is impossible to judge whether its experience in the Middle East in 1967–70 was in any way typical. No country complied fully with the obligations it had assumed, yet no country was totally impervious to the appeals of the ICRC.

Iraq-Iran The war between Iraq and Iran raised many difficult and delicate problems regarding humanitarian norms. There were allegations by both sides about direct attacks on civilians and about inhumane treatment of POWs, and Iran alleged that Iraq had used chemical weapons, in violation of the Geneva CBW Protocol. United Nations experts carried out a number of investigations of alleged attacks on civilians. Although not all the charges could be verified, it was clear to the UN experts that both countries had made attacks which had caused damage to civilian targets. The allegation that Iraq had used chemical weapons was confirmed by UN experts in 1984 and again in 1986.

The ICRC does not normally publicize the difficulties it encounters or its findings on particular issues, but in exceptional circumstances the ICRC believes that its duty to the victims leaves it no alternative but to seek publicity. In May 1983, the ICRC issued a public appeal about grave and repeated breaches of international humanitarian law by both sides in the Iraq-Iran war (summary executions of captured soldiers. abandoning of the wounded on the field of battle, indiscriminate bombing of towns and villages) and the obstacles it had encountered in exercising its mandate under the Geneva Conventions. In February 1984, the ICRC issued a second memorandum making similar points. Also in 1984, the ICRC issued a report on the use on the battlefield of substances prohibited by international law and incompatible with humanitarian principles, and later issued a press release calling on both belligerents to cease bombing raids on civilian zones, even if in the form of reprisal or counter-reprisal. Finally, the President of the ICRC made a formal public statement about official allegations in Iran that the ICRC had been spying for Iraq, and he also reported that Iran had first obstructed and then suspended ICRC activities. This followed an incident in a POW camp in Gorgan in Iran, which caused Iraq to request a UN inquiry. Another group of experts was appointed by UN Secretary-General Pérez de Cuéllar. After a full investigation, the UN experts concluded that both Iraq and Iran had failed to uphold the standards and policies which they professed.

It is easy for the cynic to dismiss the Geneva Conventions as mere paper promises, but there can be no doubt that they influence the way governments behave at a time when national security is at stake.

The ICRC has no power other than the power of reason and humanity. It can appeal to a government's sense of compassion, but conscience is a very personal attribute. All governments have an interest in respect for law and would like if possible to implement their legal obligations, if for no better reason than the hope that they can rely on other governments to do likewise.

There are well-known defects in the present system of humanitarian law applicable in armed conflict. There is, unfortunately, widespread ignorance of its basic principles. There are some gaps in the law itself. What law there is could be more rigorously applied, and there could be more effective action in the case of grave breaches.

## 5 Disarmament

To disarm is an irregular verb with no first person singular and only a future tense. Edouard Herriot

Arms control is a process or action, following a negotiated agreement or undertaken and declared unilaterally, to prohibit or limit the testing, manufacture, stockpiling, transfer, or deployment of specified weapons, or not to use them at all, or to use them only in reprisal.

Disarmament is a process or action, following a negotiated agreement or undertaken and declared unilaterally, whereby weapons already in existence are dismantled or destroyed or the materials diverted to peaceful uses.

The phrase 'general and complete disarmament' is popular with some committed disarmers but it is in one respect ambiguous. 'General' means either applying to all states or covering all weapons: 'complete' is not ambiguous and means total.

Governments, when they are serious about it and not just indulging in cosmetics and propaganda, pursue arms control and disarmament because they believe that this is one way of increasing national and international peace and security. Public opinion is often sceptical or indifferent: the subject is highly technical, a great deal of time is spent in producing a coherent national policy out of disparate and competing interests, negotiations with allies and adversaries seem endless, and the achievements often meagre; and in periods of acute international tension, it may seem more urgent to come to grips with the political difficulties of which arms are only a symptom.

There are, however, other considerations. Arms are sometimes an intrinsic source of tension – witness the Cuban missile crisis and the difficulties over the neutron bomb and intermediate-range missiles. Arms races are always expensive and usually destabilising. Moreover, the very process of negotiating about arms control and disarmament provides a means of communication between potential adversaries about those policies and actions which give rise to anxiety and often to over-reaction. The exchange of information during negotiations helps the parties to adjust those defence postures which the other side finds provocative, and to do so without impairing the security of one's own side.

The vast subject of arms control and disarmament becomes more complex every year, and many governments now have special sections or departments which specialise in the subject, whereas only thirty years ago, most officials privately regarded the matter with scorn, whatever they may have had to say in public. And it still remains true that, in many parts of the world, there are military people and civilians who think of disarmament as a plot to weaken their own side while the potential enemy improves his position.

In this chapter I want to illustrate the problem of prohibitions and restraints in war by considering the efforts which have been made to control the means of military combat. It can be argued that if one despairs of abolishing war in any conceivable future, then it is more important to ease particular crises or to seek agreement on general principles of restraint rather than to attempt to control weapons. Indeed, it has been said that very few of the prohibitions and permissions of the traditional code regarding the just use of force are susceptible of being embodied in treaties or agreements. And it is true that even a total ban on a weapon, covering every phase from research and development to deployment and actual use in war, cannot alter the fact that once a weapon has been invented, it cannot be disinvented. How to make it has become part of our permanent stock of knowledge.

At the same time, some weapons arouse especial revulsion in the public mind. On the other hand, chemical and nuclear weapons have been used in war. Moreover, it is difficult to use some modern weapons in accordance with the twin principles of discrimination and proportion, so that there are particular reasons of ethics and law for regarding their control as a matter of great urgency.

As a broad generalisation, one may say that weapons are neutral: moral and political issues arise only when someone intends, threatens, or decides to use them. At the same time nuclear, biological, and chemical weapons may be of such magnitude that one can understand why the possibility of their use should give rise to feelings of revulsion, and why it seems reasonable to make efforts to prohibit or limit their production, deployment, and use.

While the manufacture of chemical and biological weapons is within the capacity of many countries, that of nuclear weapons is, at the time of writing, an overt monopoly of five countries: the United States, the Soviet Union, the United Kingdom, France, and China. India had exploded a peaceful nuclear device, but any device that explodes may be directed to a target and used for military purposes. It is believed

that Israel has the means of assembling nuclear weapons quite quickly, and possibly also South Africa. Pakistan, Argentina, and Brazil have been developing facilities for making material which could be used for weapons purposes. None of these six states is a party to the nuclear Non-Proliferation Treaty (NPT), and one or two of the parties to the NPT have hinted that they might abandon their non-nuclear status if external circumstances should warrant such a decision. It is not implausible to speculate that, if present trends continue, there are likely to be ten or a dozen nuclear-weapon states by the end of the century, most of the new nuclear powers being in unstable parts of the world.

Two substances have been used to cause a nuclear explosion: uranium-235 and plutonium-239. Uranium-235 exists naturally, but it has to be enriched from less than one per cent to something like 90% or more for use in a weapon. All the enrichment processes, such as gaseous diffusion and centrifugation, are expensive.

Plutonium-239 is made by irradiating uranium-238 in a nuclear reactor and then separating the plutonium from the spent fuel. A separation facility is also complicated and expensive.

Natural uranium is found in the United States, Canada, Australia, South Africa and Namibia, and in about ten other countries in commercial quantities, and presumably in the Communist world as well.

The launching platform for a nuclear weapon may be a fixed silo or mobile vehicle on land, an aircraft, a submarine, or a surface ship. Submarine-launched missiles are the least vulnerable to attack, whereas fixed land-based missiles may be no use unless they are used first, before they are attacked.

Ballistic missiles are rapid rockets in which the final stage travels to the target along a predetermined trajectory. Cruise missiles are like relatively slow pilotless aircraft which are guided to the target by an on-board computer.

The energy from a nuclear explosion is measured in kilotons or megatons (kts or Mts, a thousand or a million metric tons of conventional TNT). The bombs of the second world war, including the German V-1 and V-2 weapons, had yields of less than one ton. The nuclear bombs used against Hiroshima and Nagasaki had yields of 12.5 and 22 kts respectively. Polaris missiles, sixteen of which are deployed on one or more British submarines, were made in the United States but carry up to three British-made war-heads of about 200 kts each: the Trident D5 missile will also be made in the United States and

will carry between eight and fourteen independently-targetable British-made war-heads of about 100 kts each.

The accuracy of a weapon is defined as Circular Error Probable (CEP), being the radius of a circle within which half the war-heads are expected to fall. If a weapon has a CEP of 200 metres, half the war-heads are expected to fall within 200 metres of the target and half outside a circle with that radius. The Polaris missile has a CEP of about 800 metres, the Trident D5 missile about 450 metres, and the Tomahawk cruise missile perhaps as little as 20 metres.

If a country wishes to manufacture nuclear weapons, it needs to make or obtain either highly enriched uranium or plutonium extracted from the spent fuel of a nuclear reactor; the ability to construct a device which will explode by fission or fusion; and the ability to construct a delivery vehicle for conveying the war-head to the target. Most of the basic information for these processes is now available in the open literature, but it is a flight of fantasy to imagine that a usable nuclear weapon can be constructed in a garage or cow-shed.

Making nuclear weapons is not cheap. A UN expert committee estimated in 1967 that a small nuclear capability would cost in the region of \$560 million a year: that would correspond to about \$3.4 billion at 1986 prices. Once a country has achieved nuclear status, however, the annual maintenance cost is not impossibly high. Britain's strategic nuclear forces represent 2 or 3 per cent of the defence budget, though the percentage is likely to double as the Trident programme proceeds.

If a nuclear weapon explodes above ground, about 50 per cent of the yield is in the form of blast and shock, 35 per cent in heat and light, 15 per cent in radiation. In the enhanced radiation war-head (the neutron bomb), the amount of yield in prompt radiation is increased from 5 to about 30 per cent, so that the weapon can be used against personnel in tanks, while causing less collateral damage to buildings.

Nuclear weapons cause harm by blast, heat, and prompt radiation in a rough circle around the explosion, harm by early residual radiation in an elliptical-shaped area down-wind from the explosion, and harm from delayed residual radiation and fall-out which is distributed indiscriminately world-wide. Residual radiation causes cancerous tumors, harm to foetuses in the womb, and damage to reproductive organs leading to physical and/or mental genetic defects in future generations. It is difficult to quantify the genetic harm as it depends on future mating decisions, but a UN committee of experts estimated in 1980 that atmospheric testing of nuclear weapons had then caused 'a

global dispersion of radioactive debris from about 145 Mt of fission yield', leading to 'about 150,000 premature deaths world-wide', mainly in the Northern Hemisphere.<sup>2</sup> This would suggest one premature death from somatic or genetic causes for every kiloton of yield into the atmosphere, but I should stress that this is a layman's deduction on plausible assumptions, not a scientific estimate. A high-altitude explosion causes harm to integrated circuits over a wide area by electro-magnetic pulse (EMP), and it is likely that an extensive use of nuclear arms would have serious climatic effects (the so-called nuclear winter).

Radioactive substances produced by a nuclear explosion decay naturally, but at differing rates. The process of decay is measured by 'half life', the period of time for the radioactivity to have decayed to half of its original value. The half life of some substances produced by nuclear explosions are as follows:

iodine-131 8 days strontium-90 28 years carbon-14 5,730 years plutonium-239 24,100 years

It is clear that nuclear weapons are uniquely destructive, and that some effects are uniquely indiscriminate. It is probably the case that nuclear weapons are unprecedented in that it is impossible to use them without harming innocent people from early residual radiation down-wind from the explosion and from delayed radiation and fall-out world-wide.

An expert UN committee, which included Lord Zuckerman, pointed out in 1967 that nuclear weapons have transformed the conduct of war. Air warfare has made it possible to destroy cities without first defeating the defending armies. Large megaton nuclear weapons have a greater destructive power than all of the conventional explosive that has ever been used in warfare since the invention of gunpowder, and the two superpowers in 1967 possessed more than enough destructive power to eliminate all mankind. The distinction sometimes made between tactical and strategic nuclear war would in practice be likely to be meaningless. Moreover, the disastrous effects of all-out nuclear war could not be confined to the powers engaged in that war. Once the nuclear arms race begins, 'no size of programme ever satisfies'. Having acquired an unsophisticated nuclear-weapons system, a country is driven inexorably to produce more sophisticated and less vulnerable means of delivery. Spiralling arms races,

concluded the experts, have no end and lead to phases of 'major insecurity'. The goal should be the total elimination of stocks and a ban on use. 'The ultimate question for the world to decide... is what short-term interests it is prepared to sacrifice, in exchange for an assurance of survival and security'.<sup>3</sup>

A further UN expert study in 1980 confirmed the main conclusions of their predecessors. Nuclear arsenals were the equivalent of more than three tons for every human being. New weapons were emerging, not because of military needs, 'but because technology by its own impetus often takes the lead over policy, creating weapons for which needs have to be invented ...'. The more numerous the weapons, the more complex the systems, the more sophisticated the doctrines, 'the more likely it may be that the weapons may be used by mistake ...'. The experts questioned whether doctrines of deterrence would prove to be reliable instruments of control in a crisis.<sup>4</sup>

#### NEGOTIATING MACHINERY

A considerable number of diplomatic organs are concerned with arms control and disarmament. Some are forums for debate and make recommendations by voting: others are negotiating bodies which, except occasionally for minor procedural questions, proceed on the basis of unanimity.

The founders of the United Nations seem to have envisaged disarmament as coming within the purview of the Security Council. In order to establish peace with the least diversion of human and economic resources to armaments, the Security Council was to formulate plans 'for the regulation of armaments and possible disarmament' (Arts 26 and 47). It was intended that the Council should be assisted by the Military Staff Committee, composed of the Council's five permanent members, but though the Military Staff Committee meets once a fortnight, it has not reported any substantive work since 1948.

In the early days, atomic energy and conventional armaments were dealt with by two separate UN bodies, but these were dissolved in 1952, when the General Assembly created a Disarmament Commission (a committee of the whole) to deal with both conventional and nuclear arms. Disarmament is now debated every year in the First Committee of the UN General Assembly, which adopts between 60 and 70 resolutions, and in occasional session of the Disarmament Commission. There have been two special sessions of the General

Assembly devoted exclusively to disarmament (1978 and 1982), and there was established in 1972 a committee on the possible holding of a world disarmament conference. The Security Council still remains seized of items concerned with the regulation and reduction of armaments and the international control of atomic energy.

The main negotiating body is now the Conference on Disarmament, with 40 members, which meets in Geneva and reports to the General Assembly. There is also a UN committee on the Indian Ocean as a zone of peace, and several bodies have conducted or are conducting studies or research on such matters as the economic and social consequences of the arms race, the relationship between disarmament and development, zones free of nuclear weapons, reduction of military budgets, procedures for investigating alleged uses of chemical or biological weapons, military research and development, and the strengthening of international security. Outside the UN framework are bilateral negotiations on nuclear weapons between the United States and the Soviet Union (Geneva), negotiations on conventional force reductions in Europe between countries from NATO and the Warsaw Pact (Vienna), and disarmament and confidence-building in Europe as part of the Helsinki process (Stockholm).

#### THE ISSUES

Various processes are, in theory, susceptible to control:

- (1) research, testing, and development of war-heads and the means of delivery;
- (2) manufacture and stockpiling of weapons;
- (3) transfer of weapons by gift or sale;
- (4) operational deployment in particular regions or environments;
- (5) use of weapons.

I have dealt in chapter 4 with efforts to limit or ban the use of chemical, bacteriological (biological), and nuclear weapons.

The usual means of controlling weapons is by negotiation leading to a treaty or other international agreement, but states may also act unilaterally, as did President Nixon over biological weapons, either to stimulate or reinforce the negotiating process or, more rarely, for Kantian moral reasons regardless of the response of others. Many states impose unilateral restrictions on their own policy regarding the sale or transfer of arms to non-allies.

One of the difficulties encountered in negotiation arises from the fact that nations of similar size may, for reasons of geography and

history, deploy different kinds of military force. An island like Sri Lanka is likely to have a navy, while a land-locked country like Zimbabwe will give priority to land and air forces. Even when countries have defence forces of similar character and scale, there will be many asymmetries to take into account. Are military formations of identical size? A West German armoured division has twice as many men and tanks as its British equivalent. A US airborne division has more than twice as many men as the Soviet equivalent. And how is it possible to establish equivalences between different weapons and military capabilities? How many high-yield but relatively inaccurate nuclear bombs dropped by gravity from aircraft are equal to how many lower-yield but relatively accurate nuclear ballistic missiles launched from fixed silos or submarines? How compare a missile with one warhead, a missile with several warheads which can be directed only at a single target, and a missile with several warheads which can be directed independently at different targets? How is it possible to take account of less tangible factors like secrecy, discipline, reliability of equipment, and speed of maintenance?

#### THE RESULTS

If the negotiations on disarmament over the past three decades are assessed in the light of the difficulties to be overcome, the results may seem reasonably satisfactory: but if they are viewed in the context of the magnitude of the dangers from uncontrolled arms races, then the results are meagre in the extreme. In the first year of peace after the second world war, there was one country with nuclear weapons; the stockpile was almost certainly less than a dozen bombs; and the yield of the nuclear weapons then existing was measured in kilotons. Today there are five overt nuclear-weapon states, and probably two or three others with the capability to assemble nuclear explosive devices quickly; nuclear war-heads deployed or stockpiled are believed to exceed 50,000 in number; and about 1,500 of these war-heads are in the megaton range.

Because nuclear weapons cannot easily be used with discrimination and proportion, because war between nuclear-weapon states might escalate quickly from limited to massive use, and because the consequences of all-out nuclear war would be catastrophic beyond human imagining, it is natural that major attention should have been directed to bringing the competition in nuclear weaponry under control. This is perfectly understandable and necessary, but it leads to a situation in which more than 150 states which do not possess nuclear weapons, or do not provide a base for the nuclear weapons of allies, are provided with an alibi for doing nothing about regional arms races on the ground that priority should be given to the nuclear threat. The truth is that most states in the world *could* contribute to the disarmament process if they were so minded. Any ambassador worth his salt can think of a score of disarmament measures for others to carry out. As I wrote in a poem for the *Economist* thirty years ago

The rumours were spreading, the news was alarming, While diplomats placidly talked of disarming, Though everyone knew that concealed in their pockets Were recent refinements in hydrogen rockets. With candour commendable each one protested At nuclear weapons that *others* had tested.<sup>5</sup>

Let us now turn to the five groups of processes listed under 'The Issues' (page 141).

## (1) Research, testing, and development

It would be virtually impossible to verify a ban on *research* and *development*, even with the most intrusive kinds of on-site inspection, because research into defences against weapons clearly has to be permissible. It is, however, possible to prohibit or limit the *testing* of some weapons.

One special feature of nuclear weapons is that simply to test them above ground or in the oceans releases radiation which harms some people now living and causes genetic damage to generations yet unborn. A total prohibition on all testing of nuclear weapons, if it could be generally accepted and effectively enforced, would prove a formidable barrier to an increase in the number of states possessing their own nuclear weapons (horizontal proliferation) and would also prevent the further sophistication of nuclear weapons by countries already possessing them (vertical proliferation).

The Antarctic Treaty of 1959 (see Table 2\*, no. 1) prohibits the testing of 'any type of weapons' as well as 'Any nuclear explosions'. The Treaty of Tlatelolco (no. 4) commits the parties to refraining from the testing of nuclear weapons and from encouraging or authorising such testing, directly or indirectly, in Latin America. The partial test ban treaty of 1963, to which the Soviet Union, the United Kingdom,

TABLE 2\* Arms control and disarmament agreements<sup>6</sup>

		No. of parties (signatories only in nos 12, 14, and 17) in 1985
1	Antarctic Treaty, 1959	32
2	Partial test ban treaty, prohibiting nuclear tests in the atmosphere, outer space, and under water, 1963	110
3	Outer space treaty, 1967	83
4	Treaty of Tlatelolco and Additional Protocols, prohibiting nuclear weapons in Latin America, 1967	31
5	Nuclear Non-Proliferation Treaty, 1968	127
6	Treaty prohibiting the emplacement of weapons on the sea-bed and ocean floor, 1971	73
7	Convention prohibiting bacteriological (biological) weapons and toxins, 1972	99
8	Interim Agreement, Protocol, and agreed interpretations on the limitation of strategic offensive arms (SALT I), 1972	2
9	Anti-Ballistic Missiles Treaty, 1972	2
10	Establishment of Standing Consultative Commission, 1972	2
11	Protocol to the ABM Treaty, 1974	2
12	Threshold treaty and Protocol on underground nuclear tests, 1974	2
13	Declaration of Ayachuco, 1974	9
14	Treaty and Protocol on peaceful nuclear explosions, 1976	2
15	Convention prohibiting environmental modification for military purposes, 1977	45
16	Guidelines for nuclear transfers (the London Club), 1977	15
17	Treaty, Protocol, agreed statements, common understandings, and agreed memorandum and statements on the limitation of strategic offensive arms (SALT II), 1979	2
18	Agreement on the moon and other celestial bodies, 1979	5

<sup>\*</sup>Figures in brackets in the text refer to numbered items in this table.

and the United States are parties (no. 2), prohibits tests of nuclear weapons 'in the atmosphere; beyond its limits, including outer space; or under water, including territorial waters or high seas; or in any other environment if such explosion causes radioactive debris to be present outside the territorial limits' of the state carrying out such tests. The 1974 threshold test ban treaty (no. 12) extended the partial ban to 'any underground nuclear weapon test having a yield exceeding 150 kilotons' (more than ten times the size of the Hiroshima bomb). The Soviet Union and the United States are the only signatories to the threshold test ban: it has not yet been ratified by the United States, but neither party has indicated an intention not to ratify. Britain has undertaken to observe the provisions of the ban, despite the fact that the United States has not ratified and that the ban is not yet legally in force. In any case, the United Kingdom uses US underground facilities for its tests, so that Britain is in effect limited to underground tests of nuclear weapons below 150 kts. A 1976 treaty between the two super-powers (no. 14), not yet ratified by the United States so not legally in force, established agreed arrangements for carrying out peaceful nuclear explosions, and the nuclear non-proliferation treaty (NPT) (no. 5) provided for international co-operation for ensuring that 'potential benefits from any peaceful applications of nuclear explosions will be made available to non-nuclear-weapon States ... on a non-discriminatory basis'. The 1972 convention on biological (bacteriological) and toxin weapons (no. 7) includes a ban on developing the specified agents.

## (2) Manufacture and stockpiling

The attempt to stop the horizontal proliferation of nuclear weapons began with an Irish proposal in 1958 and culminated in the Non-Proliferation Treaty of 1968 (NPT) (no. 5). This was accompanied by a resolution of the Security Council on security assurances and three virtually identical statements made in the Council by the British, Soviet, and US representatives. The International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA) established the safeguards procedures required under the NPT in 1971. Neither China nor France has ratified the NPT, but France has declared that it will in practice respect the treaty provisions.

The NPT contains three sets of obligations. The nuclear-weapon states undertake not to transfer nuclear weapons to any recipient whatsoever, or to assist or encourage non-nuclear-weapon states to

manufacture, acquire, or control such weapons. The non-nuclear-weapon states undertake not to manufacture or acquire nuclear weapons, and to accept the safeguards system of the IAEA. All parties agree to co-operate in the development of the peaceful uses of nuclear energy, including nuclear explosions for peaceful purposes, and to negotiate further measures of nuclear disarmament.

It has sometimes been said that the NPT is 'discriminatory' in that it seeks to freeze permanently a situation in which five states possess nuclear weapons, while all other parties have to accept the status of not having such weapons and of being subject to IAEA controls. There is no denying the force of this, but it must at the same time be said that non-nuclear-weapon states derive advantages from the treaty; if that were not so, more than 120 of them would not have ratified it.

The Treaty of Tlatelolco (no. 4) is intended to prohibit the manufacture, production, storage, or any form of possession or control of nuclear weapons. The 1972 Convention on biological and toxin weapons (no. 7) includes a ban on production and stockpiling, but there is at present no ban on manufacturing or stockpiling chemical weapons.

## (3) Transfer of weapons

As noted above, the NPT (no. 5) prohibits the transfer of nuclear weapons 'directly or indirectly', and this is buttressed by an agreement among the main nuclear suppliers in the so-called London Club (no. 16), who have agreed on 'fundamental principles for safeguards and export controls' for nuclear transfers to non-nuclear-weapon states including 'common criteria for technology transfers'. The Treaty of Tlatelolco (no. 4) prohibits the acquisition or receipt of nuclear weapons in Latin America. The convention on biological weapons and toxins (no. 7) prohibits the transfer of these weapons 'directly or indirectly', but there is at present no ban on transferring chemical weapons to others.

There have been a number of initiatives to limit or at least publicise the transfer of conventional weapons, but these have invariably run into opposition from recipients. Nine Latin American states agreed in 1974 (no. 13) 'to create conditions which will make possible the effective limitation of armaments and an end to their acquisition for offensive purposes ...'.

## (4) Deployment

## (a) environments

The outer space treaty of 1967, the agreement on the moon and other celestial bodies of 1979, and the treaty on the sea-bed and ocean floor of 1971 (nos 3, 18, and 6 respectively) prohibit placing nuclear weapons or other weapons of mass destruction 'in orbit around the earth', or on or in orbit around the moon and other celestial bodies, or 'on the seabed and ocean floor and in the subsoil thereof'.

#### (b) regions

The Antarctic Treaty of 1959 (no. 1) prohibits 'any measures of a military nature, such as the establishment of military bases and fortifications, the carrying out of military maneuvres' as well as the disposal of radioactive waste in Antarctica. The Treaty of Tlatelolco in 1967 (no. 4) is intended to prohibit the installation or deployment of nuclear weapons in Latin America. Two protocols call on nuclear-weapon states and on external states with territories in the zone to respect or apply the denuclearisation provisions. A zone free of nuclear and biological weapons is being created for the South Pacific, and the UN General Assembly has called for Africa and other regions to be free of nuclear weapons.

## (c) numbers

SALT I between the two super-powers had two elements: an interim agreement limiting strategic offensive arms and a treaty limiting anti-ballistic missile systems (ABMs), supplemented by a protocol (nos 8, 9, and 11). The interim agreement established numerical limits for fixed land-based missiles and for submarines and submarine-launched missiles, but placed no limits on other missiles. Modernisation and replacement of missiles was permitted within specified limits. The ABM Treaty limited the parties to two ABM deployment areas each, subsequently reduced to one area each by the ABM Protocol.

SALT II (no. 17), which was intended to replace SALT I, comprised a treaty, protocol, agreed statements and common understandings, and an agreed memorandum and accompanying statements giving information on the numbers of strategic offensive arms held by the two super-powers in June 1979.<sup>7</sup>

Equal over-all numerical ceilings, and a number of sub-ceilings, were placed on specified strategic weapons. Both sides were required to dismantle some nuclear delivery vehicles, and there was a ban on

constructing new ICBMs and restrictions on modernisation. A number of unusual or exotic nuclear weapons were not to be developed, tested, or deployed. Limits were agreed on flight-testing and on rapid re-load systems, and each side agreed to notify the other of certain test launches. Finally, the two powers agreed a number of principles and guidelines for future negotiations. SALT II was never ratified by the United States, but both sides undertook in 1981 to abide by its provisions pending the conclusion of new agreements. By mid-1986, there were signs that the United States might abandon this commitment.

## (5) Destruction or dismantling of weapons

All of the agreements in Table 2 established restraints or prohibitions on the means of preparing or waging war or, in one case, consultative machinery regarding the implementation of agreements (no. 10); but only three agreements in the Table provided for actual *disarmament*, the destruction or dismantling of weapons or the diversion of military materials to peaceful purposes – the convention on bacteriological (biological) and toxin weapons (no. 7) by which states undertook to 'destroy' or to 'divert to peaceful purposes' the specified agents, and SALT I and SALT II (nos 8 and 17) which required both super-powers to dismantle some weapons.

If the last quarter of a century is any guide, many agreements to limit or ban weapons restrain states from doing what they had no intention of doing anyway.

#### VERIFICATION AND COMPLIANCE

Most negotiated disarmament agreements are subject to verification. There are three kinds of verification:

- (1) international, such as the safeguards procedures of the International Atomic Energy Agency or UN inspection of the zones of limited armaments on the Golan Heights between Israel and Syria;
- (2) regional, as under the 1954 Protocol to the Brussels Treaty whereby the German Federal Republic undertook not to manufacture atomic, biological, or chemical weapons on its territory, or the Treaty of Tlatelolco on the denuclearisation of Latin America;

(3) bilateral, as under various agreements between the super-powers on nuclear weapons.

Treaties which ban the use or first use of weapons, but not manufacture or deployment (such as the Geneva Protocol of 1925 banning the use of poisons and germs in war), do not provide verification procedures.

Any verification which relies on fallible machines or potentially lazy or disloyal human beings can never be 100% foolproof, so what is aimed at is verification sufficiently effective as to make cheating an irrational option. On-site inspection could improve the effectiveness of other systems of verification, but many states (especially, perhaps, those under Communist rule) are hesitant to allow foreigners to have access to sensitive military installations or security zones. There is, in any case, a fuzzy grey area between the illicit gathering of intelligence and the legitimate monitoring of arms control agreements.

The main methods of verification, used singly or in conjunction, are as follows:

### 1. On-site inspection

The Antarctic Treaty (no. 1) permits the parties to send observers to all areas of Antarctica at all times. The Outer Space Treaty (no. 3) provides for observation of stations, installations, equipment, and space vehicles 'on a basis of reciprocity' and of the flight of space objects 'on a basis of equality'. The Sea-bed Treaty (no. 6) allows unrestricted verification 'to promote the objectives of and insure compliance with' the Treaty. The Treaty on the denuclearisation of Latin America and the Treaty on peaceful nuclear explosions (nos 4 and 14) provide for selective but not unrestricted on-site inspection, and the nuclear Non-Proliferation Treaty (no. 5) provides for both regular on-site inspection and the use of unmanned instrumentation. There has been much discussion and negotiation about on-site inspection of putative bans on underground nuclear tests and the production of chemical weapons.

#### 2. National technical means

These means are provided for in the threshold test ban treaty, the Treaty on peaceful nuclear explosions, the Interim Agreement on Strategic Arms and the Anti-Ballistic Missile Treaty and Protocol

(SALT I), and the 1979 treaty on strategic arms (SALT II) which has not yet been ratified by the United States (nos 8, 9, 11, 12, 14, and 17). Under SALT I and SALT II, the parties agreed not to conceal measures which might impede verification by the other party, and not to interfere with the other's national technical means. National technical means are not prohibited in other treaties, including the Antarctic and Partial Test Ban Treaties (nos 1 and 2). National technical means comprise photo-reconnaissance, radar, seismic detectors, signal interception, and other long-distance technologies.

#### 3. Consultation

The two super-powers have established a Standing Consultative Commission (no. 10) to 'promote the objectives and implementation' of agreements and treaties on strategic arms and anti-ballistic systems (nos 8, 9, 11, and 17), and the treaty on peaceful nuclear explosions (no. 14) also provides for a Joint Consultative Commission to promote the objectives and implementation of the Treaty and to develop co-operation. Other agreements providing for consultation and the exchange of information are the Antarctic Treaty, the Treaty on the denuclearisation of Latin America, the Sea-bed Treaty, the Biological Weapons Convention, the Threshold Test Ban, the Convention banning environmental modification, and the agreement on the moon and other celestial bodies (nos 1, 4, 6, 7, 12, 15, and 18).

Many arms control agreements in addition to verification procedures contain one or more provisions for dealing with ambiguous activities or alleged breaches. These provisions may simply be for consultations: the Treaty of Tlatelolco for keeping nuclear weapons out of Latin America (no. 4) provides that a conference of all the parties may make appropriate recommendations in the event of non-compliance, and the Convention to ban biological weapons (no. 7) provides for consultation and co-operation 'through appropriate international procedures within the framework of the United Nations' in solving 'any problems which may arise ...'.

The Convention banning environmental modification (no. 15) provides for fact-finding if it is alleged that a party is in breach of its obligations. The Partial Test Ban, the nuclear Non-Proliferation Treaty, the Sea-bed Treaty, the biological weapons Convention, and the Threshold Test Ban (nos 2, 5, 6, 7, and 12) contain express provisions for withdrawal if 'extraordinary events... have jeopardized the supreme interests' of a party. The Treaty of Tlatelolco (no. 4) provides

for withdrawal if circumstances have arisen or may arise which affect the supreme national interests of a party or the peace and security of one or more parties. The Outer Space Treaty (no. 3) provides for withdrawal after one year's notice in writing. Some treaties provide for more than one procedure for dealing with alleged violations.

#### ALLEGED VIOLATIONS

In a series of reports in 1984–6, the Reagan Administration alleged that the Soviet Union has violated the Partial and Threshold Test Bans, the Interim Agreement on strategic arms and the ABM Treaty (SALT I), the 1979 Treaty on strategic arms (SALT II), and the Convention on biological weapons (nos 2, 7, 8, 9, 12, and 17). The United States had not ratified the Threshold Test Ban or SALT II.

One of the difficulties of assessing compliance is that some of the terms in the agreements are imprecise. The Interim Agreement on strategic arms (SALT I) (no. 8) prohibited the conversion of certain old missile launchers into launchers for 'heavy' missiles, and yet the two parties attached to the Agreement inconsistent declarations about the meaning of 'heavy'. Under the ABM Treaty (no. 9) the parties agreed not to deploy radars for early warning of strategic ballistic missile attack except at locations along the periphery of its national territory and oriented outwards, but how is it possible to know whether a radar is for early warning and battle management or for the tracking of peaceful space vehicles? Under SALT II, the parties agreed not to encode telemetric signals in missile tests in such a way as to impede verification by the other party, leaving plenty of scope for disagreement as to the criteria for determining when the use of code would impede verification. The ban on deployment of particular missiles under SALT II does not make it clear whether the storage of obsolete missiles represents deployment or not. SALT II contains several imprecise terms: 'systems for rapid reload of ICBM launchers' (what is the duration of 'rapid'?), 'new type of light ICBM' (how define 'new'?), 'no significant increase' (when is an increase 'significant'?).

President Reagan's report of 23 December 1985 is headed 'Soviet Non-compliance with Arms Control Agreements, but many of the alleged breaches refer to 'ambiguities', 'uncertainties', 'evidence ... insufficient fully to assess compliance', 'potential violation', 'may be preparing ...'. There are also a number of unqualified allegations of

non-compliance or of likely non-compliance with legal obligations or political commitments, of which the most serious relates to the siting, orientation, and capability of the phased-array radar at Krasnojarsk. President Reagan concluded that there was 'a pattern of Soviet non-compliance... of increasing importance and serious concern' which had enabled the Soviet Union to register military gains.

The Soviet Union has firmly denied US allegations of non-compliance and has complained of US violations. According to the Soviet Union, the hardening of silos for MIRVed Minuteman III missiles violates the article in the SALT I Interim Agreement (no. 8) which prohibits deliberate attempts to impede the other side's national means of verification. The Soviet Union alleges that the US space-tracking radar at Shemya in the Aleutian Islands and the Pave Paws phased-array radars being constructed in the continental United States could be used for ABM tracking, and that these installations and the upgrading of the radars at Fylingdales Moor (England), Thule (Greenland), and Clear (Alaska) violate the ABM Treaty (no. 9). The Soviet Union also claims that some US underground nuclear tests have been in excess of 150 kilotons, and that radioactive debris has vented into Mexico and Canada, in contravention of the Threshold Test Ban (no. 12). The Soviet Union also alleges that the deployment of Tomahawk cruise missiles in Europe is inconsistent with the ban on cruise missiles with a range exceeding 600 kilometres contained in the Protocol to the SALT II Treaty (no. 17).9

It must be tempting for both states to go up to, and perhaps even beyond, the margins of what is permissible, as much to test the other side's capability to detect violations as to gain immediate military advantage from non-compliance. If this is done too blatantly, or too crudely, or too often, public opinion will conclude that arms control is a dangerous exercise which should be eschewed by prudent governments.

In any case, the preceding summary of what has been achieved may give a more hopeful impression than the situation warrants, for a great deal remains to be done if arms races are to be effectively curbed. The main near-nuclear powers have not become parties to the Non-Proliferation Treaty. China and France have not acceded to the partial test ban or agreed to respect the limits in the Threshold Test Ban, and there is at present no restriction at all on testing nuclear weapons underground so long as the yield does not exceed 150 kilotons. Although progress has been made in keeping nuclear weapons out of

Latin America, France has not yet ratified Protocol I to respect the denuclearisation provisions in territories for which it is responsible in the region, and no significant progress has been made to keep Africa, the Middle East, or South Asia free of nuclear weapons. There is still no agreement to ban the production, transfer, or deployment of chemical weapons, and there is no international control on transfers of conventional arms. The vertical proliferation of nuclear weapons has continued, and there is no agreement to prohibit their use or first use, comparable to the Geneva Protocol of 1925 which bans the use in war of bacteriological (biological) and chemical weapons. Proposals for a nuclear freeze, for a ban on anti-satellite activities, or for the demilitarisation of the Indian Ocean have made virtually no progress. The possibility of limiting military budgets has been helpfully elucidated, but no agreement is in sight.

On many of the issues which divide NATO and the Warsaw Pact, the Soviet positions have in recent years seemed more forthcoming than those of the United States. President Reagan and some of his close advisors had for long had a deep suspicion of Soviet intentions, a conviction that previous Administrations had shamefully neglected US defences, and a belief that arms control agreements are a snare and a delusion. Pressure from allies of the United States rather than the reasonableness of Soviet proposals induced the Reagan Administration to modify its initial hard stance on some disarmament issues, but not enough to impress uncommitted opinion. Reagan's Strategic Defence Initiative (Star Wars) had aroused anxieties about the likely militarisation of space and the destablisation of the strategic balance rather than hopes that future generations would escape from the nuclear threat and so live in peace.

On one crucial issue, nevertheless, the Soviet Union has apparently been unwilling to meet Western requirements. The reluctance of the Soviet side to accept unfettered on-site inspection, coupled with the conjecture that some Soviet acts had been in breach of international agreements, had fuelled the suspicions of Western arms control sceptics.

While it is nonsense to assert that nuclear weapons, and nuclear weapons alone, have kept the peace, the central strategic balance has been more stable and robust than even the most optimistic analysts predicted thirty-five years ago. But if perchance mutual deterrence should fail and nuclear weapons should be used in combat, it is unlikely that the war could be kept limited. It is almost certain that

escalation would take place in quite a short period of time either because of a deliberate decision on one side or both or because of accidental or unauthorised use.

It is true that no state beyond the first five has claimed to possess nuclear weapons since the NPT (Non-Proliferation Treaty) was finalised almost twenty years ago. While not denying the utility of the NPT and the export guidelines of the London Club, I would stress that it has not been possible to induce a single near-nuclear country to stop the drive to acquire nuclear weapons. Each potential nuclear-weapon power uses much the same arguments for acquiring a nuclear-weapons capability as Britain has used for maintaining one.

The Soviet Union deploys chemical weapons, and the United States has threatened to build up its own stocks, especially of binary shells (weapons containing two chemicals of relatively low toxicity which mix while the munition is being delivered to the target so as to produce a nerve gas or other super-toxic agent). A medium-sized industrialised nuclear-weapons power like Britain or France is likely to devote about 5 per cent of the gross national product to defence, but there are at least nine countries, most of them rather poor, that spend more than twice that proportion (Ethiopia, Guyana, Iran, Jordan, Lebanon, Mongolia, North Yemen, Saudia Arabia, and Syria), two which spend more than 20 per cent (Israel and Oman), and one which spends more than 30 per cent (Iraq). Yet all attempts to control the trade in conventional arms have been frustrated by the opposition of recipients. It should not be forgotten in this connexion that there have been more than one hundred and fifty 'small' wars since 1945, mainly in the Third World.

The never-ending competition in the development of weapons shows how an arms race acquires a momentum of its own. The technical experts feel impelled to transform each new theoretical possibility into an actuality, and decide afterwards what its military justification should be. Each side, on the basis of intelligence which may be incomplete or faulty, over-reacts to the supposed developments on the other side. Both the United States and the Soviet Union, wishing to diversify their military capabilities, and insuring against a technological breakthrough by the other, have acquired a massive strategic 'overkill' capacity.

It is sometimes said that as a country acquires a nuclear capability, so its leaders inevitably develop an enhanced sense of international responsibility. If a direct connection between the two processes were proved beyond all doubt, then the NPT would seem to be an

unmitigated disaster, since it denies to the vast majority of countries a sure means of achieving an enhanced sense of international responsibility.

The superpowers cannot use their nuclear strength for day-to-day political purposes. Power is the ability to persuade others to behave in ways they had not intended, but the excessive power which the nuclear states believe to be necessary for deterrence is, one hopes, unusable. The paradox is that nuclear weapons are not there to be used, but to deter their use by others.

Although the central strategic balance is relatively stable, the nuclear powers realise that deterrence alone is not enough: they have to face the possibility that deterrence may fail, whether by accident, miscalculation, or sheer lunacy. In a multilateral alliance, who should decide when deterrence has failed, and what should be a prudent response? How can the risks of escalation be minimised?

Nuclear strategy has acquired an esoteric intellectual frame-work and jargon of its own, but the possibility of nuclear war is too serious a matter to be left to the pundits in the think-tanks. The ordinary citizen is entitled to basic information about the nuclear weapons now available, and the implications of using them, and he is entitled to decide in time of peace on any limits within which he wishes his government to operate in the event that deterrence should fail. A crucial moral question is whether there are any circumstances in which a civilised government would be right actually to use strategic offensive nuclear weapons. Simply to ask the question may be thought to weaken the credibility of deterrence, but if it is a proper question for governments to ask and answer in private (which it surely is), it is difficult to maintain that it is an improper question for ordinary citizens to ask and try to answer in public.

For myself, I can only say that I cannot alter the fact that nuclear weapons cannot be disinvented. I consider that the security of mankind requires their immediate control and ultimate abolition. I believe that to the extent that Britain has influence, it should be to insist that such weapons shall never be used against enemy cities or civilian areas, whatever the provocation. The resolution of the UN General Assembly condemning the use of nuclear weapons (see Appendix 4) may not have been legally binding, but I find its main thrust morally persuasive.

## 6 In Obedience to Conscience

I have often thought that one of the less attractive traits of various professional bodies and institutions is the deeply ingrained suspicion and outright hostility which can exist towards anything unorthodox or unconventional. I suppose it is inevitable that something which is different should arouse strong feelings on the part of the majority whose conventional wisdom is being challenged .... I suppose, too, that human nature is such that we are frequently prevented from seeing that what is taken for today's unorthodoxy is probably going to be tomorrow's convention. Perhaps we just have to accept it is God's will that the unorthodox individual is doomed to vears of frustration, ridicule and failure in order to act out his role in the scheme of things, until his day arrives and mankind is ready to receive his message: a message which he probably finds hard to explain, but which he knows comes from a far deeper source than conscious thought.

Prince Charles, 1982

It is, I think, obvious that resort to armed conflict involves a number of contradictions.

#### PROMISE AND PERFORMANCE

One clear contradiction is that between the obligations of states under international law, including the obligations of UN Membership, and the way states behave in practice. All the world's major sovereign states except Switzerland and the two Koreas are Members of the United Nations, and there are three main conditions of Membership: to be a state, to be 'peace-loving', and to be 'able and willing' to carry out in good faith the obligations contained in the UN Charter (Arts 2(2) and 4(1)). Among the obligations of UN Membership are to settle international disputes peacefully and without endangering international peace and security (Arts 2(3) and 33(1)) and, obversely, to refrain from the threat or use of force against the territorial integrity or political independence of any state (Art. 2(4)).

It is common knowledge that there have been more than 150 wars since the United Nations was founded. Some of these wars were wholly internal, conflicts between the armed forces of a state and dissident

armed forces or other organised armed groups, such as the Greek Civil War of 1945–9. Some were conflicts between two governmental authorities within one nation, as in the first phase of the Korean War which began on 25 June 1950. Some were internal wars but with major external assistance to one or more sides, such as the conflict in Cyprus in 1974 or that in the Lebanon since 1976. But having eliminated the doubtful or ambiguous cases, one is left with a core of more than one hundred inter-state wars, of which that between Iraq and Iran is the most notable at the time of writing.

It is stated explicitly in the UN Charter that the Charter does not impair the inherent right of individual or collective self-defence (1) if an armed attack occurs, and (2) until the Security Council has taken the necessary measures to maintain peace and security (Art. 51). When states resort to armed force or other coercive action, the first line of diplomatic defence tends to be the claim that they were acting in self-defence. When Israel complained in the 1950s that Egypt was interfering with transit through the Suez Canal, Egypt argued that self-preservation, which it equated with self-defence, was a national duty, and citing the self-defence provision of the UN Charter as the justification for the Egyptian blockade. 'Egypt was and still is the victim of aggression', claimed Egypt with questionable plausibility.<sup>1</sup> Similarly, when Israel attacked Arab airfields on 5 June 1967, the Israeli ambassador in New York told the Security Council with equal implausibility that Egyptian forces had 'moved against Israel' and that Israeli forces were 'now engaged in repelling the Egyptian forces.'2 Turning to more recent times, it is noteworthy that when Libya and the United States were at loggerheads about Libvan terrorism and US retribution in March–April 1986, both parties claimed to be exercising self-defence under Article 51 of the UN Charter.<sup>3</sup> The plea of self-defence clearly covers a multitude of sins.

In order to plug whatever leaks there may be in the UN Charter, the General Assembly has adopted resolutions on the threat or use of force (Appendices 2, 5, 6, 8, 10, and 11) and on what constitutes aggression (Appendices 3 and 13). The process of drafting and debating such resolutions was doubtless educative for the participants, but more radical steps are needed if states are really to fulfil in good faith their obligations under the UN Charter. It is now an axiom of international law that a person who commits an act which constitutes a crime under international law is responsible therefor and liable to punishment. The world now needs a court or tribunal, paralleling the existing Court at the Hague, before which could be brought persons

accused of major international crimes, including those violations of the UN Charter which were defined at Nürnberg as crimes against peace.

# THE NECESSITIES OF WAR AND THE CLAIMS OF HUMANITY

If, in spite of the commitments which states have entered into, wars still occur, what can be done on an international basis to minimise human suffering? Was the International Law Commission right in 1949 when it refused to codify the laws of war on the ground that such an action would seem to show lack of confidence in the capacity of the United Nations to keep the peace? Do the Hague and Geneva Conventions legitimise violence, as was the view of the notable peace-worker, Gräfin Bertha von Suttner, or do they reinforce humanity, as the Red Cross movement has intended? Do efforts to bring aid to war victims have the unintended effect of making war more acceptable? Which should have higher priority: efforts to abolish war or efforts to make war more humane?

For pacifists, the main task has not been the drawing up of guidelines regarding the just use of armed force, since they believe that resort to armed force nearly always creates more problems than it solves. For them, the main problem has been whether the renunciation of armed force is compatible with responsible citizenship in a substantially non-pacifist world. Is pacifism a vocation for the few, analogous to the vocation of celibacy, a commitment and testimony to another way of life; or is it a doctrine which can be translated into workable policies which could be put before the electorate as practicable alternatives to those present policies which depend, in the last resort, on willingness to threaten or use military power?

Max Weber distinguished between an ethic of responsibility and an ethic of ultimate ends, which seem to be 'two fundamentally differing and irreconcilably opposed maxims'. An ethic of responsibility takes account of 'the average deficiencies of people', and it must be willing to pay the price of using morally dubious means 'or at least dangerous ones'. The person who engages in politics encounters ethical paradoxes and must face the consequences of what may become of himself under the impact of those paradoxes. Whoever uses violent means for whatever ends – 'and every politician does' – must take account of the consequences of violence. Indeed, it is when we come to

the legitimising of violence that we face the most acute ethical problem of politics, for underneath an ethic of responsibility there lurk 'the diabolic forces... in all violence.' The person who seeks salvation should not pursue it along the avenue of politics, for the tasks of politics 'can only be solved by violence'.

The believer in an ethic of ultimate ends also feels responsible, but only for seeing that the flame of pure intention is not quenched. The demands of the Sermon on the Mount imply a law of absolute imperatives. Weber held that an ethic of ultimate ends must reject all action that employs morally dubious or dangerous means.

Politics is made with the head, claimed Weber, but certainly not with the head alone. A person following an ethic of responsibility may in the end reach a point where he says: 'Here I stand; I can do no other.' That is something 'genuinely human and moving'. Anyone who is not spiritually dead must realise the possibility of finding himself in that position. So in reality the two ethics are not absolute contrasts but supplements 'which only in unison constitute a genuine man'.<sup>4</sup>

This was an issue which I often discussed with George Orwell in 1944–5, but he remained firmly of the view that 'pacifism refuses to face the problem of government' and that pacifists always think of themselves as 'people who will never be in a position of control, which is why I call them irresponsible.'5

Non-pacifists will doubtless continue to look to some version of the Just War doctrine to provide guidelines regarding the just use of armed force. Admittedly, the doctrine has been more elegant in theory than useful in practice. The fact that the principles of proportion and non-combatant immunity are increasingly difficult to apply in practice is not, in itself, a reason for renouncing them.

The dilemma for pacifist and non-pacifist alike has been well stated by Sir Laurens van der Post: 'To me the most urgent problem of our time is the problem of discovering a way of overcoming evil without becoming another form of evil in the process.'6

For the Red Cross movement and those other humanitarians who want to subject armed force to moral and legal controls, the issue is not simply whether to include work for peace among the aims: that is taken for granted. The problem is whether the peace effort should be restricted to the proclamation of pious generalities, which would certainly be otiose, or should include detailed plans for a more peaceful world, such as the advocacy of general and complete disarmament or universal respect for human rights, which would probably be divisive.

The Red Cross movement has striven to pursue a middle course, but leaning slightly to the platitudinous side. Henry Dunant, who, along with Gustave Moynier, is generally regarded as the inspirer of the Red Cross idea, was always sympathetic to the pacifist idea but he did not interest himself in the peace *movement* until he was almost 70 years of age, when he made contact by letter with the Gräfin von Suttner.

Dunant had been born into a patrician Geneva family in 1828. He was a puzzling character: philanthropist, internationalist, reformer, visionary, unsuccessful businessman, always effervescing with novel ideas, but over-credulous and a poor judge of other people. Having witnessed the carnage at the battle of Solferino in 1859. Dunant wrote his Un Souvenir de Solférino,7 which led in a short time to the foundation of the International Committee for the relief of wounded in time of war, with Dunant as secretary, which later was to become the International Committee of the Red Cross. Dunant's draft for the charter of the international Red Cross movement stated that each national committee would be authorised 'to compensate... for the inadequacies of the official medical services of armies...'. This was too much for the British War Office: perhaps over-sensitive after Florence Nightingale's revelations about medical deficiencies in Crimea, the British representative claimed that his country's medical services were perfectly well able to cope without foreign guidance. If there were shortcomings in other countries, they should examine what Britain had done. Britain was officially opposed to any action which might detract from national responsibility. Dunant's draft charter was tactfully amended so as to provide that, should the need arise, each national committee would 'assist the army medical services by every means in its power.'8

Dunant was tireless in touring the European capitals to urge the formation of national relief committees for victims of war, often disregarding advice or even instructions from his colleagues in Geneva. In 1867, disaster struck, when a bank in Geneva of which Dunant was a director went bankrupt, and the court found that Dunant had 'knowingly deceived his colleagues'. The International Committee severed all ties with Dunant. Within a few years, he had disappeared from view. Ill and poverty-stricken, Dunant eventually reached the Swiss village of Heiden, about 8 miles east of St Gallen, where he entered the town hospital. He was so poor that he had to stay in bed while his clothes were laundered. He wrote his memoirs in simple exercise books, denouncing states and churches and other official institutions. He wanted to be 'a disciple of Christ as in the 1st

century, nothing more.' In 1895, 28 years after the bankruptcy, a passing journalist met him by chance in a public park and discovered his identity. The following year, on Dunant's 68th birthday, messages of congratulation descended on him from all parts of Europe. In 1897, shortly after his 69th birthday, he finally took the decisive step of joining the Society of the Friends of Peace.

Scholars may argue about the morality or legality of war, but wars do in fact take place, and states engaged in armed conflict are bound by the laws and customs of war. The Nürnberg Tribunal held that the rules of land warfare expressed in the Hague Convention of 1907 were in 1939 recognised by all civilised nations and were declaratory of the laws and customs of war (Appendix 1(b)). The US manual of military law states that 'the general principles' of the Geneva POW Convention of 1929 'have been held declaratory of the customary law of war to which states are subject.' The position of the ICRC is that the minimum principles of humanitarian law found in the Conventions and Protocols are valid at all times, in all places, and under all circumstances. 10

Situations may arise during armed conflict for which there are no express provisions in the Hague Conventions and the Geneva Conventions and Protocols. War has been transformed by technology since the adoption of the Hague Conventions in 1899 and 1907, and some matters which were traditionally part of the Hague law governing the conduct of military operations are now covered by the Geneva law for the protection of war victims.

The delegates who assembled in the Hague in 1899 and 1907 were not able to devise rules covering all the circumstances which might arise in practice, though they did hope that it would be possible at a later stage to prepare a more complete code of the laws of war. On the other hand, they did not intend that unforeseen cases should be left to the arbitrary judgement of military commanders. They therefore agreed on 20 June 1899, after heated debate, that the gaps should be covered by a declaration devised by the Russian jurist F. F. Martens.

Fedor Fedorovich Martens was a familiar figure at international conferences on humanitarian law, a Russian Privy Counsellor while only in his twenties, legal expert of the Imperial Foreign Ministry, and eventually to become a member of the Permanent Court of Arbitration. Because of his passionate commitment to the idea of international arbitration, Martens was widely known as the Chief Justice of Christendom or, in Britain, as the Lord Chancellor of Europe. <sup>11</sup>

Martens was born in Estonia in 1845 into a poor Lutheran family.

When he was ten years old he went to an orphan school in St Petersburg, then took a law degree, and in 1868 entered the Imperial Foreign Ministry. He joined the Orthodox Church and adopted a Russian name. In 1871 he became lecturer in international law at the Imperial Law School, and in 1873 he was appointed to the chair of international law at the university of St Petersburg. He was a staunch Russian patriot who, according to Arthur Nussbaum, 'considered it his professional duty... to defend and back up the policies of his government at any price.' Legal argument enabled him to render his pleas for Russian claims 'more impressive or more palatable'. T. E. Holland makes the same point but in more charitable language: Martens was 'a faithful exponent of the humane theories of his Imperial masters; so much so that his arguments sometimes suggested rather the diplomatist... than the jurist...'.

Martens was present at the abortive gathering in Brussels in 1874 on humanitarian law. He was twice appointed vice-president of the Institute of International Law, was an honorary member of the French Academy of Moral and Political Science, a corresponding member of the British Academy, and an honorary doctor of Oxford, Cambridge, and Yale. He was a prolific writer and editor. During the first Hague Conference in 1899 he chaired the commission on the laws and customs of war on land; in 1907, he chaired the commission on naval questions, and the relative failure of that commission was certainly not the fault of Martens, for he always strove for acceptable compromises. He was in favour of making arbitral awards binding on the parties, and he spoke vigorously in defence of commissions of inquiry as a means for the peaceful settlement of international disputes. He always spoke extemporaneously and without notes: in later life, he was crippled with gout. He died in 1909 in the course of a train journey from Estonia to St Petersburg.

A clause from the declaration drafted by Martens is to be found in the preamble to the Hague Conventions of 1899 and 1907 on the laws and customs of war on land, and is reproduced in the Geneva Conventions and Protocols and other humanitarian instruments. How the Martens declaration came to be drafted in 1899 is recorded by Frederick Holls, a member of the US delegation; James Scott Brown gives the text of the vital clause in his massive 1,500-page study of the Hague Conferences but, strangely, makes no mention of the author.

Discussion on the laws and customs of land warfare at the 1899 Conference was based on three documents: the code drawn up in 1863 in the United States by Francis Lieber, the Brussels Declaration of 1874 (which never entered into force), and the Oxford Manual prepared by a committee of the Institute of International Law, of which Martens was a member.

When the Hague Conference came to consider who should be entitled to benefit from the laws and customs of war, the basis of discussion was Article 9 of the Brussels Declaration, which lists four conditions for combatant status.

The British War Office was firmly opposed to any international code on the laws and customs of war; 'but an undertaking may be given that His Majesty's Government will consider the question of issuing instructions on these subjects for the general guidance of British forces.' Some delegates in the Hague found the four Brussels conditions for combatant status too restrictive, and the British delegate proposed the following amendment:

Nothing in this chapter shall be construed as diminishing or denying the right belonging to the people of an invaded country to fulfil their duty of opposing the invaders by the most energetic patriotic resistance, and by all permitted means.

The Belgian delegate took the same line: too great a limitation on belligerent status 'would practically mean the abolition of patriotism'. The first duty of every citizen was to defend his own country, and national uprisings against invaders formed the grandest episodes of history. The Dutch delegate, on the other hand, pointed out that 'operations on the part of an undrilled population against an army had become more and more hopeless'. The Swiss delegate proposed an amendment to prohibit reprisals against 'any population which has openly taken arms to resist the invasion of its territory' (Levée en Masse). The German delegate commented that much had been said on the subject of humanity, but it was time to remember that soldiers too were human beings. Exhausted soldiers who had engaged in heavy combat and long marches had a right to be sure that apparently peaceable inhabitants would not suddenly prove to be wild and merciless enemies. While he would vote for a compromise text in a spirit of conciliation, 'my concessions must cease; it is absolutely impossible for me to go one step further ... '.

It was in this situation of apparent deadlock that Martens introduced the declaration which forms the epigraph of chapter 4; the British and Swiss amendments were withdrawn; and the Martens declaration was adopted unanimously. The crux of the Martens clause is as follows:

Until a more complete code of the laws of war has been issued, the

high contracting Parties deem it expedient to declare that, in cases not included in the Regulations adopted by them, the inhabitants and the belligerents remain under the protection and the rule of the principles of the law of nations, as they result from the usages established among civilized peoples, from the laws of humanity, and the dictates of the public conscience.

The main responsibility for maintaining and improving international humanitarian law now rests with the International Committee of the Red Cross, but its responsibility is not exclusive; the UN and regional agencies, in the work to secure universal respect for and observance of human rights, have a parallel role. Arms control and disarmament, whether by express agreement, tacit understanding, or unilateral initiative, are also required. In the long run, however, there is no substitute for an informed, alert, and enlightened public opinion.

It is obvious that those who are actually engaged in armed conflict should respect the humanitarian codes, but how should they act if confronted with a contradiction between the claims of humanity and military necessity? The preamble to the Hague Conventions, for example, refers to the hope of diminishing the evils of war 'as far as military requirements permit', and one of the Hague rules declares it 'especially forbidden' to destroy or seize the enemy's property unless such action is 'imperatively demanded by the necessities of war' (Art. 23(g)). What weight should be given to the claims of humanity and to military necessity?

Military necessity is defined in the US manual of military law as those measures which are indispensable for securing the complete submission of the enemy as soon as possible but which are not forbidden by international law; the plea of military necessity cannot be used as a defence for acts forbidden by the laws of war. <sup>12</sup> The British manual of military law makes it clear that military necessity is not a defence to crime. <sup>13</sup>

This was made clear in one of the war crimes trials in Hamburg after the second world war. The defence argued that the principles underlying the Hague Conventions had to be adjusted to the necessities of war, that because the comprehensive character of total war had implications which were not generally foreseen when the Hague regulations were drafted, the principles of those regulations could no longer be regarded as absolute or unconditional but must be modified if not suspended in the light of military necessity. It was

claimed by the defence that the laws of war have grown out of the practice and experience of warfare, and that these laws of war are merely usages arising from military practice. War is not a legal but a political act, it was argued, and the usages of war cease to be binding when they interfere with the effective prosecution of the war. The decision when military necessity would justify disregard of the usages of war must be left to the discretion of the military commander concerned.

The British military court rejected the argument that the principles underlying the Hague Convention have to be adjusted to the necessities of war. Referring to the preamble to the Convention, the court held that the Hague rules themselves 'have already made allowance for military necessity. Military necessity has already been taken into consideration in the framing of these laws'. The court also rejected the plea of superior orders, while admitting that an officer receiving an order from his superior to commit a wrongful act is placed in a position of extreme difficulty.

The accused was found guilty of some but not all of the charges and sentenced to imprisonment for eighteen years, subsequently reduced to twelve years. <sup>14</sup>

## DETERRING WAR AND CONDITIONAL INTENTIONS

Some nuclear deterrers have reservations about attempts to subject war to legal or moral restraints, for they believe that deterrence depends on the conditional intention to perform deeds which would be unspeakably macabre if committed. For them, the more appalling the conditionally-intended act, the greater the deterrent effect, and consequently the less likely the need to perform it.

I have not encountered any convincing ethical justification for this position, but one can see how it has come to be held. The enormously destructive power of the other side's nuclear weapons has meant that the two super-powers are 'condemned to suicide or coexistence', as Raymond Aron has put it.<sup>15</sup>

It would be easier to find an ethical justification for the idea of making war as terrible as possible if technical mistakes could be certainly prevented and if all rulers were invariably rational, but history unquestionably shows that mistakes do occur and that rulers sometimes act in ways contrary to their own interests. It is not inconceivable that mutual deterrence might one day fail, and the

greater the number of nuclear-weapon states, the greater the risk of failure. Moreover, the more horrible the acts conditionally intended or threatened in time of peace, the more horrific would the consequences likely to be if deterrence should indeed fail.

Moreover, anger and hatred have led to military excesses. I do not accept that aggression is an ineradicable human drive, a 'universal trait of the social life of humans'. But Konrad Lorenz has shown that human beings do have characteristics which make them dangerous creatures – in particular, lack of natural weapons, and lack of strong inhibitions against injuring their own kind. And humans become more of a danger as their capacity to injure, kill, and destroy by 'unnatural' means increases. 17

It is because of the temptation to lose control in the heat of battle that professional military men pay heed to the obligations of the Martens clause, for there has always been an unwritten code of chivalry and magnanimity in war, often based on the expectation of reciprocity. One of the earlier documented examples of military magnanimity dates from about 1000 BC. The warrior David had developed an intense friendship with Jonathan, whom we would now call a royal prince for he was a son of king Saul of Israel. David was anointed by the prophet Samuel and became an armour-bearer to king Saul, whom he entertained by playing the harp. In time, Saul became very attached to David and, because of his military prowess, gave him an important military command. As a result, David became a popular hero, for the people shouted 'Saul hath slain his thousands, and David his ten thousands.' David's growing popularity and his intimacy with Jonathan began to arouse Saul's jealousy.

David falls in love with Saul's daughter Michal. Saul agrees to the betrothal but, instead of demanding a dowry, he incites David to make war on the Philistines and return with 100 enemy foreskins. David returns with 200.

Saul now encourages Jonathan to kill David, but Jonathan pleads for David's life because David has not sinned against Saul, 'and because his works have been to thee-ward very good.' In spite of Jonathan's plea, Saul tries to kill David but fails.

Jonathan warns David of the danger to his life, so David hides, leaving a pillow in his bed. When Saul's emissaries arrive, Michal says that David is sick. 'And when the messengers were come in, behold, there was an image in the bed, with a pillow of goat's hair ... '. David manages to flee.

Saul, furious with Jonathan, tries to kill him with a javelin, but

Jonathan escapes. David collects a band of 400 followers, an alienated group of outlaws composed of 'every one that was in distress, and every one that was in debt, and every one that was discontented...'. They take refuge in the Cave of Adullam. Saul sets out to find David with an army of 3000 men. David moves to the wilderness near Ein Gedi on the Dead Sea, and then by chance he comes across Saul in a cave. David cuts off part of Saul's robe but does him no harm, so that Saul says, 'Thou art more righteous than I: for thou hast rewarded me good, whereas I have rewarded thee evil.' All the same, Saul's antagonism continues.

Some time later, David finds Saul asleep in a ditch. One of David's companions urges him to kill the king, but David refuses: 'The Lord forbid that I should stretch forth mine hand against... the Lord's anointed.' David leaves, taking with him Saul's spear and water jar. When Saul wakes up, he realises that David has been magnanimous a second time, so he decides to patch up the quarrel: 'return, my son David: for I will no more do thee harm... behold, I have played the fool, and have erred exceedingly.'

Jonathan is killed in battle, and Saul finally takes his own life, leading to David's well-known lament, 'How are the mighty fallen...'.18

This story, no doubt based on real events, combines brutality and generosity in much the same way as war has done down the ages. In our day, however, we have to operate within internationally-agreed codes, and major violations of these codes may constitute war crimes. A person who commits an act which is a crime under international law is responsible therefor and liable to punishment. That is the first principle of the Nürnberg process.

# NATIONAL CONSENSUS AND PERSONAL CONSCIENCE

Before the nineteenth century, those in Britain who objected on grounds of conscience to direct participation in war, or preparation for war, simply did other things. It was, in a sense, a non-issue. Britain had not been invaded for more than seven hundred years, and Britain's wars were always fought somewhere else. War was of immediate interest to a few politicians and to men in the armed forces, but its impact for ordinary people was marginal, pretty well limited to increased taxes and the occasional appearance of press gangs. Samuel Pepys, as surveyor-general of victualling, was about as close to the

Anglo-Dutch war of 1665–7 as it was possible for a civilian to be. He was, moreover, intensely inquisitive about all aspects of the conduct of war, but he never once mentions in his diary what the war was about. For civilians like Pepys, war was a calamity like the Fire of London or the Plague, something to be endured with patience and fortitude.

The War of American Independence (the American Revolution) was probably the last major war which most ordinary British people could disregard most of the time. The political objectors to the war were regarded as a nuisance by the king and his ministers, but not as traitors or cowards, and those in the armed forces who opposed the war or its methods simply asked to be assigned elsewhere.

Take the case of admiral Augustus (later Viscount) Keppel. He strongly condemned the war and so begged to be excused from serving in the Western hemisphere. He was, however, quite willing to serve with the Channel fleet against France. After an engagement near Brest in 1778, he was tried by court-martial on charges of misconduct but was acquitted. In 1782, he was appointed First Lord of the Admiralty. 19

Or consider another military opponent of the war, Jeffrey Amherst, after whom Amherst College was named. Amherst, who became a peer in 1776, had had a distinguished military career in North America. He was a man of great humanity and probity, tolerating no graft or looting, and avoiding billeting his troops on unwelcoming households except in situations of dire emergency. He was reluctant to fight against the American colonists, and his name was considered as a possible conciliator. He declined the over-all command in North America in 1778 and was then appointed commander-in-chief in Great Britain. He was created field marshal in 1796. <sup>20</sup>

Other opponents of the war adopted a more surprising expedient and tried to combine high military commands with conciliation towards the American colonists. The most notable of these were the Howe brothers, Richard and William, both of whom sat in the House of Commons while continuing on active service. Richard, who became an Irish peer in 1758, was a vice-admiral at the time of the American war and commanded the fleet in North America. Sir William, who was to inherit the Irish viscountcy after Richard had been made a British peer, held the rank of lieutenant-general and was appointed commander-in-chief in North America.

The stance of the Howe brothers was that to demand the unconditional surrender of the colonists would lead to determined resistance, forcing Britain to conquer one of its own colonies and thereafter leaving the colonists sullen and ungovernable. Two British

Quakers, David Barclay and Dr John Fothergill, had already been in touch with Benjamin Franklin about a negotiated settlement, but Franklin's plan of conciliation demanded too much of Britain. Richard Howe made contact with Franklin in the hope of moderating his plan of conciliation, even raising with Franklin the possibility of a joint peace mission, while at the same time suggesting to British ministers that he be sent to America to explore a peaceful settlement. Meanwhile, his brother William was trying to secure a senior military command which would enable him to negotiate directly with the colonists.<sup>21</sup>

These efforts at conciliation were unavailing, and the Howe brothers were given high commands in America, where they were soon making friendly gestures and taking new peace initiatives. When general George Washington complained that American prisoners were being badly treated, William Howe let it be known that he utterly disapproved of all infringements of human rights. Richard Howe was most reluctant to enforce a coastal blockade so long as the freedom of American ships to engage in ordinary subsistence activities was not materially abused. His aim was 'to encourage and cultivate all amicable correspondence' with the colonists, and thus gain their confidence and goodwill. Both Howes took a strong stand against looting, which was a special problem with the Hessian mercenaries. The Howes also resisted attempts to organise raids on the New England coast.

The Howes made repeated attempts to negotiate with the colonists, and the politicians at home regarded them as half-hearted about prosecuting the war. King George III complained that their leniency was really cruelty, for it encouraged the colonists to keep up a hopeless struggle. In the end, Richard Howe asked to be relieved of his command and William announced that he intended to retire.

The character of warfare was to change radically in the next two centuries. Goethe dates the transition precisely as 20 September 1792. This was the date of the battle between Austria-Prussia and France at Valmy in Marne, the opening engagement of the French revolutionary wars. Goethe experienced for himself the stress of battle. At dusk, he gathered with the soldiers and, as was his custom, said something to enliven and amuse the troops.

From this place and from this day forth commences a new era in the world's history, and you can all say that you were present at its birth.<sup>22</sup>

From then onwards, war in the Western world increasingly engaged whole societies and not just politicians and military professionals. With

the spread of education and the introduction of democratic government, all adult citizens had views as to the justice of the wars in which their countries were engaged, and on acceptable terms for peace. Amateur strategists in pubs and wine cellars pronounced dogmatically on the conduct of military operations. Hardly a family in the belligerent countries in the first world war was untouched by death or injury. Patriotism had become a national virtue, and opposition to a particular war was ascribed to disloyalty or, for males of military age, to selfishness or cowardice.

British people of my generation were brought up to regard love of country and bravery in its defence as prime values. Patriotism was inculcated at home and school: indeed, at my school it was the supreme virtue. Armistice Day, the only weekday which was a whole holiday, was observed with great solemnity. When the king visited the school, he wore military uniform and his inspection of the Officers Training Corps (OTC) was the most important event of the day. It was compulsory for all boys to serve in the OTC, though one maverick refused on grounds of conscience. There was a large board in the school hall with the names of those masters and boys who had been killed during the first world war, under the inscription Dulce et decorum est pro patria mori. On one memorable Speech Day, after we had sung 'Fight the good fight', a bishop assured us that service in the armed forces was the most Christian vocation open to us, more virtuous even than becoming a schoolmaster or taking holy orders; we then sang 'Onward, Christian soldiers'. Patriotism shaded into nationalism, nationalism into chauvinism, and chauvinism into xenophobia.

British people of this sort, and doubtless their counterparts in other countries, were not brought up to love their country right or wrong, for it was taken for granted that their country would always be right, and it was inconceivable that there would ever be a contradiction between loyalty to nation and obedience to conscience. Such a conflict might arise in enemy or potential enemy countries, but not on our side. And the more democratic the system of government, the greater was the obligation to respect the national consensus.

Yet for a few people, the choice between national loyalty and obedience to conscience has been a real one, and there have always been some in the twentieth century who have refused to take a combatant role in wars they considered unjust. I do not have in mind those absolute pacifists who, for reasons of conscience, reject all use of armed force, whatever the consequences for themselves and others:

nor those, like Bertrand Russell, who engage in civil disobedience in order to gain publicity for minority views;<sup>23</sup> nor those, like some British and French fascists in the second world war, who want the enemy to win. I have in mind, rather, those who have no moral objection to the limited and discriminate use of armed force, and who desire no publicity for their own conscientious stands, and who have no particular sympathy for the enemy's society or war aims, but who become objectors or even draft dodgers because they believe that the goals or methods of their own side in a particular war are offensive to an informed conscience – those Portugese, for example, who refused to fight in colonial wars in Africa, or those non-pacifist Americans who regarded the Viet Nam war as a moral disaster, or those white South Africans who now consider that a statutory system of racial discrimination is indefensible. A few Germans, both pacifists and non-pacifists, resisted the Nazi tyranny and refused to take part in the struggle to impose it on unwilling people, but in their cases nearly always at great cost. Some, like Dietrich Bonhoeffer, are now well known: others were quiet heroes like my own father-in-law, a German Quaker, who was incarcerated in the Buchenwald concentration camp. The Nazi indictment, which we treasure in our family, stated that he had a politically negative attitude to the National Socialist state (politisch ablehnende Haltung gegenüber dem nat. soc. Staat), especially by his pacifist convictions and friendliness towards Jews (seine pazifistische und judenfrendliche Haltung).<sup>24</sup>

The German heroes and heroines of the resistance suffered for their convictions. We in Britain are privileged to live in a democracy, and we should not lightly decide that loyalty to personal conscience should take precedence over the obligations of citizenship, especially when the very values of democratic society are at risk. The law in Britain during the second world war provided that those who had genuine conscientious objections to military service should be granted exemption, either unconditionally or on condition of performing an alternative form of service. What more could the community be reasonably asked to do, it might be asked, to respect the consciences of those unwilling to undertake combatant service in a war against a régime which was so blatantly anti-humanitarian?

The Nürnberg Tribunal held that a person who commits a crime under international law is not relieved of responsibility by the plea that the international crime of which he is accused is not an offence under internal law, nor that he acted as head of state or responsible government official or in accordance with superior orders. These are

important principles, even though the prosecutors and judges at Nürnberg were from the victors and the defendants from the vanquished. 'When I refuse to obey an unjust law,' wrote Alexis de Tocqueville, 'I do not contest the right which the majority has of commanding, but I simply appeal from the sovereignty of the people to the sovereignty of mankind.'<sup>25</sup>

It is evident that those preparing for or engaged in armed conflict, even in a subordinate role, now have to consult international law as well as their own consciences. Indeed, it is stipulated in the Geneva Conventions that in order to be sure of POW status if captured, combatants have to conduct military operations in accordance with the laws and customs of war.

This places a heavy responsibility on those who perform military service as well as on those who give political directions, and it is a task that has become more onerous with the invention of nuclear weapons and other weapons of mass destruction. And it is unquestionably difficult to take moral decisions in the midst of battle or when national survival is at stake: 'as anyone who has studied what actually happens on a battlefield quickly grasps, the place is in effect a moral no man's land ...'. 26

Reinhold Niebuhr held that 'group relations can never be as ethical as those which characterise individual relations',<sup>27</sup> but Pope John XXIII was satisfied with no less. 'The same moral law, which governs the relations between individual human beings, serves also to regulate the relations of political Communities with one another.'<sup>28</sup> That is why the Martens clause places such confidence in the usages established among civilised peoples, the laws of humanity, and the dictates of the public conscience.

It has been my experience that ordinary people in Britain do understand that it is in normal circumstances immoral to obey an immoral command, but they consider that this right or duty should be exercised with exceptional caution after one has taken an oath of allegiance or undertaken a commitment of loyalty, and especially in time of war when national values are at stake.

All the same, people do consult their own consciences about the just use of force. A few members of the armed forces in the Netherlands, for example, have asked not to be assigned to tasks connected with nuclear weapons, and a few scientists and engineers have declined to work on nuclear or biological weapons for reasons of conscience. One such was Leo Szilard, who was one of the first scientists to discern the awesome moral and political implications of the atom bomb research

on which he was engaged. When he learned from Niels Bohr that German scientists were working on nuclear fission. Szilard immediately set to work to see whether uranium could sustain a chain reaction. He later worked with Enrico Fermi: Fermi wanted to publicise their findings, but Szilard was opposed to this course and in the end he persuaded Einstein to write to president Roosevelt about the destructive potential of nuclear fission. In a memorandum written as early as 1942, Szilard urged that more thought should be given to 'the ultimate political necessities' which would arise from the work on the atomic bomb: 'We cannot have peace in a world in which various sovereign nations have atomic bombs in the possession of their armies...'.<sup>29</sup> Szilard once told his friend Hans Bethe that he was thinking of keeping a diary: 'I don't intend to publish it; I am merely going to record the facts for the information of God.' 'Don't you think God knows the facts?' Bethe asked, 'Yes,' said Szilard, 'He knows the facts, but He does not know this version of the facts.' This is doubtless why the documentary record of Szilard's life is sub-titled his version of the facts. 30

Michael Bess has written that Szilard 'did as much as any other single person to bring nuclear weapons into existence ... [but] he worked even harder to rid the planet of them.' Szilard realised that many scientists did not understand what would be the long-term consequences of their research. 'Well,' Robert Oppenheimer said to him one day 'this is a weapon which has no military significance. It will make a big bang – a very big bang – but it is not a weapon which is useful in war.'

In 1945, when the atom bomb had been tested but not yet used, Szilard began to organise his fellow-scientists in a movement against using the bomb. He thought a petition was unlikely to have a decisive influence on the course of events, but 'I personally feel that it would be a matter of importance if a large number of scientists who have worked in this field went clearly and unmistakably on record as to their opposition on moral grounds to the use of these bombs in the present phase of the war.' In a perceptive address a few weeks after the two bombs had been dropped on Japan, Szilard foresaw clearly the doctrine of deterrence: 'Perhaps we are resolved not to use them [nuclear weapons] but think that the mere possession of them will impress other countries...'. But possession alone was not enough: '... these bombs will be of no earthly use to us unless we are actually determined to go to war if necessary.' He did not believe that a situation of mutual deterrence, in which both the United States and

the Soviet Union have large stockpiles of atomic bombs, could be durable. He believed in 1945 that the only hope lay in world government, but he put the chance of achieving this at only 10 per cent. This was not a very high chance, 'but ... we have to base our thinking and acting entirely on this narrow margin of hope.'

Gradually Szilard came to understand that world government was not on the agenda, and so he switched to less ambitious goals: international control of nuclear weapons, phased disarmament, the creation of zones from which nuclear weapons or all weapons would be excluded, mutual inspection to assure compliance, a UN security force, the strengthening of international law, personal contacts among scientists. He always insisted that nuclear wars would not be limited and could not be won. A disarmed peace would undoubtedly be risky, but so was an armed peace.

Szilard started corresponding with world leaders, including Khrushchev, and he was an active though unpredictable participant in the Pugwash movement, an international effort of scientists designed to prevent nuclear war, which first met in the home of Cyrus Eaton, a wealthy businessman, in the Nova Scotian village of Pugwash. Szilard's journey, according to Michael Bess, was 'solitary and uphill', but he never wavered from his commitment to 'a continually receding ideal'. His fertile brain went on producing imaginative and novel ideas - 'a bewildering array of alternatives.' In my last conversation with him in 1959, he advanced the idea, which he admitted was 'a little fantastic', of locating the US and Soviet chiefs of staff in each other's capitals. He pointed out that civilians in cities in the two countries were already 'atom-bomb hostages', and this was supposed to exert a deterrent effect. Why not go a logical step further and locate the decision-makers from both sides in places which would inevitably be targets for their own bombs if mutual deterrence should fail? What could be more deterring than that? This was not advanced as a solution for all time, but talking about it forced people to think: he wanted to give human beings a breathing spell in which to build a saner world.

Another scientist who worked on the atom bomb in the Manhattan Project and then withdrew for conscientious reasons when he realised what was at stake was Joseph Rotblat. The discovery of the fission of uranium in 1939 was known among the international community of physicists, and Rotblat soon realised that a chain reaction would release a vast amount of energy in a short period of time, resulting in an explosion of a different order of magnitude from conventional chemical explosives. When he read in a German journal about the

possibility of nuclear explosives, Rotblat found a rationale for working on nuclear weapons.

I convinced myself that the only way to stop the Germans from using [an atomic bomb] against us would be if we too had the bomb and threatened to retaliate. My scenario never envisaged that we should use it, not even against the Germans. We needed the bomb for the sole purpose of making sure that it would not be used by them ....

After conducting experiments which established the feasibility of the bomb, Rotblat realised that to translate a theory about a nuclear explosion into a weapon would require an enormous technological effort, and in due course he found himself in the Manhattan Project at Los Alamos.<sup>31</sup>

In 1944, Rotblat happened to be present at a conversation between General Leslie Groves, the director of the Manhattan Project, and Professor (later Sir) James Chadwick, a senior British scientist. Groves mentioned quite casually (and most improperly, one might add) that the real purpose of making the bomb was to 'subdue' the Soviet Union. Rotblat was shocked that a responsible American could contemplate using the atomic bomb 'against the people who were making extreme sacrifices ...', especially 'at a time when thousands of Russians were dying every day on the Eastern Front'.

When Rotblat heard at the end of 1944 that the Germans had abandoned their atom bomb research, he left the Manhattan Project and spent the rest of his career working in medical physics. He was one of the founders of the Pugwash movement, was for many years its secretary-general, and is now chairman of the British group.

Rotblat has reviewed the motives of those who have worked on nuclear weapons. For some, it was primarily a matter of ending the war quickly and so saving allied lives. Others thought that work on weapons would advance their careers. For others, it was pure and simple scientific curiosity. Rotblat himself is not an absolute pacifist, but he told me recently that he regards scientific work on weapons of mass destruction as an abuse of professional integrity.

Consider also the case of William Douglas Home, playwright and brother of Lord Home of the Hirsel. Home was not an absolute pacifist, so that when he was called up for military service in 1940, he wrote to the Labour Exchange to say that, as no tribunal would exempt him from military service, he was prepared to be conscripted.

I did not feel able to claim 'religious' objection (though my estimate of the Gospels inevitably led me towards such a state of mind)

because, rightly or wrongly, I assumed that if a man is to be a religious objector to war, he must be a good man, in the sense that he keeps all the commandments ....

Not surprisingly, the Labour Exchange had more pressing tasks than to reply to this letter. When Home was selected for training as an officer, he told the colonel that he had political reservations about the war because of the absence of peace aims. 'Oh, to hell with politics!' the colonel replied. 'You're in the Army now, you bloody fool.' Home noted that few people were touched with doubt, so that the story of his military life would make many people sick.

In the first place, they will not tolerate the thought that any man has the right to think for himself when his country is at war. Secondly, they will assert that, even if he does have disquieting thoughts, he should keep them to himself.

Lord Home thought that his brother William was 'a genuine conscientious objector'. 32

Home served as an officer in a tank regiment until the evening before an assault on Le Havre, when the colonel wanted to appoint him as liaison officer. The German general had asked to be allowed to evacuate civilians, and Home considered that the request should have been met.

I knew, as I had known at other times since 1939, that I must voice my protest or else curse myself for evermore .... Faced with what I conceived to be an immoral order, I must either obey it and abandon what I had conceived to be the humanitarian fight that I had waged so long ... or I must disobey it and face the unknown fate that would be mine.

The following dialogue ensued.

```
'No', I said.
'Do what you're told, Home.'
'No', I said again.
'Why not?' he asked me, angrily.
'Because we haven't let out the civilians.'
'That's no concern of yours.'
'I disagree.'
```

'All right, Home. Go and look after the transport.'

'No sir, I'm afraid not. I'm not taking part at all.'

Home was court-martialled ('they could do nothing else', he wrote to his parents), was cashiered and sentenced to one year's hard labour, which he served (no doubt with remission) in Wormwood Scrubs and then at Wakefield. 'I was a prisoner – a tired, confused, bewildered prisoner, but, for the first time in the war, I had a conscience clear as day.' He found that Wormwood Scrubs shared, to an almost unbearable degree, 'the cold impersonal austerity of any public lavatory'. Anyone who wishes to gain some idea of the adverse effect which prison *décor* has on the morale of prisoners, he wrote, should spend a couple of hours contemplating the 'chilly, shiny, dampish interior of such an architectural abortion as the gentlemen's lavatory in Piccadilly Circus'. When his parents visited him in prison, his father, invariably courteous, made a point of going to the governor's house to thank him for his hospitality to their son.

A second example is even more surprising, for it concerns a simple peasant on the other side, Franz Jägerstätter.

Jägerstätter was born out of wedlock in the remote Austrian village of St Radegund in 1907. He had a normal Catholic upbringing in a peasant family, though as a youth he was said to have been rather wild. He considered joining a religious order, but the village priest advised against this. In 1936 he married a woman from a nearby village, and they spent their honeymoon in Rome. About this time, he seems to have had a deep religious experience. He worshipped regularly at the village church, receiving the sacrament daily, and he served as sexton. The Jägerstätters had three daughters.<sup>33</sup>

Jägerstätter belonged to no political organisation, but he had a fundamental moral objection to the Nazi ideology and was the only man in St Radegund to vote against the Anschluss in 1938. He refused all government hand-outs because he considered the source tainted. He was called up for military service in February 1943, but was determined not to fight for the Nazi régime. He was imprisoned, first in Linz and then in Berlin, and was beheaded on 9 August 1943. He was 36 years old. The prison chaplain arranged for his body to be cremated, but the ashes were given a ceremonial burial in St Radegund after the war.

Jägerstätter reached a kind of pacifist position entirely on his own. He was a 'simple, untutored peasant' from 'a remote and isolated rural village'. He was highly respected by the village priest, but all the clergy with whom he came in contact advised him against going through with his conscientious objection to fighting for the Nazi régime, as did his defence lawyer. The prison chaplain told him that,

as a private citizen, he had no responsibility for the acts and policies of the government. All of his spiritual counsellors

advised him that the order of priority, as far as his personal obligations and responsibilities were concerned, began with his duties as husband and father and loyal citizen; that he had neither the competence, the information, nor the right to challenge the secular ruler as to the justice or injustice of the war in which he had been ordered to serve.

At one stage, Jägerstätter toyed with the idea of performing non-combatant service in a medical unit but finally decided against this. His lawyer assured him that he would never be called on to bear arms if he would withdraw his refusal to serve, but he was unshakable.

All who met Jägerstätter were impressed with his firm Christian commitment and his mental balance. One commented that he was 'clear and logical in his arguments ...'. 'I definitely prefer to relinquish my rights under the Third Reich [wrote Jägerstätter] and thus make sure of deserving the rights granted under the Kingdom of God.' Christians are to obey secular rulers, he wrote, but only to the extent that they do not order us to do evil, for we must obey God rather than men. 'I do not believe that Christ ever said that one must obey ... rulers when they command something that is actually wicked.' He preferred to do his fighting with the word of God and not with arms in an unjust war. Is it not more Christian, he asked, to offer oneself as a victim rather than to commit murder, to kill those who want to live and have a right to live?

He was careful not to criticise the bishops and priests for thinking differently: 'They, too, are men like us, made of flesh and blood ... much more sorely tempted by the evil enemy than the rest of us.' Maybe they had been too poorly prepared to take up this struggle between life and death. 'This is why we should not make it harder for our spiritual leaders... by making accusations against them. Let us pray for them instead ...'.

When the village came to erect a war memorial after the war, Jägerstätter's name was included under a special inscription, seinem Gewissen folgend, in obedience to conscience.

# **Appendices**

# 1. JUDGMENT OF THE NÜRNBERG TRIBUNAL, 1946

## (a) crimes against peace

In the opinion of the Tribunal, the solemn renunciation of war as an instrument of national policy necessarily involves the proposition that such a war is illegal in international law; and that those who plan and wage such a war, with its inevitable and terrible consequences, are committing a crime in so doing. War for the solution of international controversies undertaken as an instrument of national policy certainly includes a war of aggression, and such a war is therefore outlawed by the Pact [of Paris of 1928] ...

## (b) war crimes

In the opinion of the Tribunal the rules of land warfare expressed in the [Hague] Convention [of 1907 on land warfare] undoubtedly represented an advance over existing international law at the time of their adoption. But the convention expressly stated that it was an attempt 'to revise the general laws and customs of war', which it thus recognized to be then existing, but by 1939 these rules laid down in the Convention were recognized by all civilized nations, and were regarded as being declaratory of the laws and customs of war....

## 2. ESSENTIALS OF PEACE (GA RES. 290, 1949)

The General Assembly ...

Calls upon every nation:

- 2. To refrain from threatening or using force contrary to the Charter;
- 3. To refrain from any threats or acts, direct or indirect, aimed at impairing the freedom, independence or integrity of any State, or at fomenting civil strife and subverting the will of the people in any State...

# 3. PEACE THROUGH DEEDS (GA RES. 380, 1950)

The General Assembly ...

Solemnly reaffirms that, whatever the weapons used, any aggression, whether committed openly, or by fomenting civil strife in the interest of a foreign Power, or otherwise, is the gravest of all crimes against peace and security throughout the world...

# 4. USE OF NUCLEAR AND THERMONUCLEAR WEAPONS (GA RES. 1653, 1961)

The General Assembly,

. . .

Gravely concerned that, while negotiations on disarmament have not so far achieved satisfactory results, the armaments race, particularly in the nuclear and thermo-nuclear fields, has reached a dangerous stage requiring all possible precautionary measures to protect humanity and civilization from the hazard of nuclear and thermo-nuclear catastrophe,

Recalling that the use of weapons of mass destruction, causing unnecessary human suffering, was in the past prohibited, as being contrary to the laws of humanity and to the principles of international law, by international declarations and binding agreements, such as the Declaration of St. Petersburg of 1868, the Declaration of the Brussels Conference of 1874, the Conventions of The Hague Peace Conferences of 1899 and 1907, and the Geneva Protocol of 1925, to which the majority of nations are still parties,

Considering that the use of nuclear and thermo-nuclear weapons would bring about indiscriminate suffering and destruction to mankind and civilization to an even greater extent than the use of those weapons declared by the aforementioned international declarations and agreements to be contrary to the laws of humanity and a crime under international law,

Believing that the use of weapons of mass destruction, such as nuclear and thermo-nuclear weapons, is a direct negation of the high ideals and objectives which the United Nations has been established to achieve through the protection of succeeding generations from the scourge of war and through the preservation and promotion of their cultures,

#### 1. Declares that:

- (a) The use of nuclear and thermo-nuclear weapons is contrary to the spirit, letter and aims of the United Nations and, as such, a direct violation of the Charter of the United Nations;
- (b) The use of nuclear and thermo-nuclear weapons would exceed even the scope of war and cause indiscriminate suffering and destruction to mankind and civilization and, as such, is contrary to the rules of international law and to the laws of humanity;
- (c) The use of nuclear and thermo-nuclear weapons is a war directed not against an enemy or enemies alone but also against mankind in general, since the peoples of the world not involved in such a war will be subjected to all the evils generated by the use of such weapons;
- (d) Any State using nuclear and thermo-nuclear weapons is to be considered as violating the Charter of the United Nations, as acting contrary to the laws of humanity and as committing a crime against mankind and civilization;

. . .

# 5. INTERVENTION IN DOMESTIC AFFAIRS (GA RES. 2131, 1965)

•••

1. No State has the right to intervene, directly or indirectly, for any reason whatever, in the internal or external affairs of any other State. Consequently,

armed intervention and all other forms of interference or attempted threats against the personality of the State or against its political, economic and cultural elements, are condemned.

- 2. No State may use or encourage the use of economic, political or any other type of measures to coerce another State in order to obtain from it the subordination of the exercise of its sovereign rights or to secure from it advantages of any kind. Also, no State shall organize, assist, foment, finance, incite or tolerate subversive, terrorist or armed activities directed towards the violent overthrow of the régime of another State, or interfere in civil strife in another State.
- 3. The use of force to deprive peoples of their national identity constitutes a violation of their inalienable rights and of the principle of non-intervention.

• • •

# 6. THREAT OR USE OF FORCE (GA RES. 2160, 1966)

The General Assembly ... Reaffirms, that:

- (a) States shall strictly observe, in their international relations, the prohibition of the threat or use of force against the territorial integrity or political independence of any State, or in any other manner inconsistent with the purposes of the United Nations. Accordingly, armed attack by one State against another or the use of force in any other form contrary to the Charter of the United Nations constitutes a violation of international law giving rise to international responsibility;
- (b) Any forcible action, direct or indirect, which deprives peoples under foreign domination of their right to self-determination and freedom and independence and of their right to determine freely their political status and pursue their economic, social and cultural development constitutes a violation of the Charter of the United Nations. Accordingly, the use of force to deprive peoples of their national identity ... constitutes a violation of their inalienable rights and of the principle of non-intervention;

٠.,

# 7. USE OF CHEMICAL AND BACTERIOLOGICAL WEAPONS (GA RES. 2162B, 1966)

The General Assembly,

Guided by the principles of the Charter of the United Nations and of international law,

Considering that weapons of mass destruction constitute a danger to all mankind and are incompatible with the accepted norms of civilization,

Affirming that the strict observance of the rules of international law on the conduct of warfare is in the interest of maintaining these standards of civilization,

Recalling that the Geneva Protocol for the Prohibition of the Use in War of Asphyxiating, Poisonous or Other Gases, and of Bacteriological Methods of

Warfare, of 17 June 1925, has been signed and adopted and is recognized by many States,

. . .

- 1. Calls for strict observance by all States of the principles and objectives of the Protocol for the Prohibition of the Use in War of Asphyxiating, Poisonous or Other Gases, and of Bacteriological Methods of Warfare, signed at Geneva on 17 June 1925, and condemns all actions contrary to those objectives;
  - 2. Invites all States to accede to the Geneva Protocol of 17 June 1925.

## 8. THREAT OR USE OF FORCE (GA RES. 2625, 1970)

. . .

Every State has the duty to refrain in its international relations from the threat or use of force against the territorial integrity or political independence of any State, or in any other manner inconsistent with the purposes of the United Nations. Such a threat or use of force constitutes a violation of international law and the Charter of the United Nations and shall never be employed as a means of settling international issues.

A war of aggression constitutes a crime against the peace, for which there is responsibility under international law.

In accordance with the purposes and principles of the United Nations, States have the duty to refrain from propaganda for wars of aggression.

Every State has the duty to refrain from the threat or use of force to violate the existing international boundaries of another State or as a means of solving international disputes, including territorial disputes and problems concerning frontiers of States.

Every State likewise has the duty to refrain from the threat or use of force to violate international lines of demarcation, such as armistice lines, established by or pursuant to an international agreement to which it is a party or which it is otherwise bound to respect. Nothing in the foregoing shall be construed as prejudicing the positions of the parties concerned with regard to the status and effects of such lines under their special régimes or as affecting their temporary character.

States have a duty to refrain from acts of reprisal involving the use of force.

Every State has the duty to refrain from any forcible action which deprives peoples referred to in the elaboration of the principle of equal rights and self-determination of their right to self-determination and freedom and independence.

Every State has the duty to refrain from organizing or encouraging the organization of irregular forces or armed bands, including mercenaries, for incursion into the territory of another State.

Every State has the duty to refrain from organizing, instigating, assisting or participating in acts of civil strife or terrorist acts in another State or acquiescing in organized activities within its territory directed towards the commission of such acts, when the acts referred to in the present paragraph involve a threat or use of force.

The territory of a State shall not be the object of military occupation resulting from the use of force in contravention of the provisions of the Charter. The territory of a State shall not be the object of acquisition by

another State resulting from the threat or use of force. No territorial acquisition resulting from the threat or use of force shall be recognized as legal. Nothing in the foregoing shall be construed as affecting:

- (a) Provisions of the Charter or any international agreement prior to the Charter régime and valid under international law; or
  - (b) The powers of the Security Council under the Charter.

All States shall pursue in good faith negotiations for the early conclusion of a universal treaty on general and complete disarmament under effective international control and strive to adopt appropriate measures to reduce international tensions and strengthen confidence among States.

All States shall comply in good faith with their obligations under the generally recognized principles and rules of international law with respect to the maintenance of international peace and security, and shall endeavour to make the United Nations security system based upon the Charter more effective.

Nothing in the foregoing paragraphs shall be construed as enlarging or diminishing in any way the scope of the provisions of the Charter concerning cases in which the use of force is lawful.

# 9. BASIC PRINCIPLES FOR THE PROTECTION OF CIVILIANS (GA RES. 2675, 1970)

- 1. Fundamental human rights, as accepted in international law and laid down in international instruments, continue to apply fully in situations of armed conflict.
- 2. In the conduct of military operations during armed conflicts, a distinction must be made at all times between persons actively taking part in the hostilities and civilian populations.
- 3. In the conduct of military operations, every effort should be made to spare civilian populations from the ravages of war, and all necessary precautions should be taken to avoid injury, loss or damage to civilian populations.
- 4. Civilian populations as such should not be the object of military operations.
- 5. Dwellings and other installations that are used only by civilian populations should not be the object of military operations.
- 6. Places or areas designated for the sole protection of civilians, such as hospital zones or similar refuges, should not be the object of military operations.
- 7. Civilian populations, or individual members thereof, should not be the object of reprisals, forcible transfers or other assaults on their integrity.
- 8. The provision of international relief to civilian populations is in conformity with the humanitarian principles of the Charter of the United Nations, the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and other international instruments in the field of human rights ...

## 10. INTERNATIONAL SECURITY (GA RES. 2734, 1970)

The General Assembly,

Solemnly reaffirms that every State has the duty to refrain from the threat or use of force against the territorial integrity and political independence of any other State, and that the territory of a State shall not be the object of military occupation resulting from the use of force in contravention of the provisions of the Charter, that the territory of a State shall not be the object of acquisition by another State resulting from the threat or use of force, that no territorial acquisition resulting from the threat or use of force shall be recognized as legal and that every State has the duty to refrain from organizing, instigating, assisting or participating in acts of civil strife or terrorist acts in another State ...

# 11. THREAT OR USE OF FORCE (GA RES. 2936, 1972)

The General Assembly,

. . .

Noting with concern that the use of force in various forms is still occurring in violation of the Charter,

Bearing in mind that the threat of the use of nuclear weapons continues to exist,

Guided by the desire of all peoples to eliminate war and above all to prevent a nuclear disaster,

Reaffirming, in accordance with Article 51 of the Charter, the inalienable right of States to self-defence against armed attack,

Mindful of the principle of the inadmissibility of acquisition of territory by force and the inherent right of States to recover such territories by all the means at their disposal,

Reaffirming its recognition of the legitimacy of the struggle of colonial peoples for their freedom by all appropriate means at their disposal,

· . .

Believing that renunciation of the use or threat of force and prohibition of the use of nuclear weapons should be fully observed as a law of international life,

1. Solemnly declares, on behalf of the States Members of the Organization, their renunciation of the use or threat of force in all its forms and manifestations in international relations, in accordance with the Charter of the United Nations, and the permanent prohibition of the use of nuclear weapons;

. . .

# 12. MEMORANDUM ON INCENDIARY WEAPONS, 11 JULY 1973

1. The UN report on 'Napalm and other incendiary weapons and all aspects of their possible use' (A/8803) was produced by a group of government experts. It surveys the development of incendiary weapons, from the dreaded Greek Fire reported by the Crusaders to the relatively unreliable battlefield weapons of the first world war, and up to modern incendiary weapons which

are highly effective for incapacitating enemy personnel and as area weapons. Estimates of the relative effectiveness of incendiary weapons compared with other weapons are largely based on experience during the second world war.

- 2. The UN experts make three points about the medical effects of incendiaries. First, these weapons cause especially intense pain. Secondly, there is a high death rate among casualties. Thirdly, casualties from developing countries suffer more than those from developed countries because of shortage of medical facilities, widespread malnutrition, chronic anaemias, and other deficiencies.
- 3. The experts point out that weapons containing napalm or phosphorus differ from other incendiaries in that particles of these agents adhere to surfaces while burning. The use of napalm and phosphorus incendiary weapons against personnel is thus likely to violate the ban on 'unnecessary suffering' contained in Art. 23(e) of the Regulations attached to the Hague Convention of 1907, which is now part of general international law.
- 4. There are three theoretical routes to possible limitation or prohibition: via the Law of the Hague, which governs the conduct of military operations; via the Law of Geneva (the Red Cross conventions), which is designed to secure humanitarian protection of those taking no direct part in the fighting; or by an arms control agreement.
- 5. The last comprehensive revision of the Hague Law was in 1907. If it is to have real value, it obviously must be brought up to date; but it is not at present a realistic route.
- 6. The two more promising possibilities are through the arms control machinery of the UN, or at the Diplomatic Conference to review the Red Cross conventions, due to meet in Switzerland in 1974.
- 7. Deliberate and direct attacks on non-combatants with any weapons are contrary to international law. This law has often been flouted, but the violator never questions the law; he justifies his violation by reference to a prior illegality by the enemy or some similar reasoning. The law on this point has been reaffirmed recently by the General Assembly and the International Red Cross Conference. It is a finely balanced question whether the rule of 'no deliberate and direct attacks on non-combatants' would be strengthened or weakened by its reaffirmation in an international agreement dealing only with incendiary weapons.
- 8. An international agreement designed to prevent 'unnecessary suffering' to combatants would deal primarily with incendiary weapons containing napalm or phosphorus. The question would then arise: are there adequate means to deter violations?
- 9. The main deterrent against violations of the Geneva Protocol's ban on using chemical weapons in war is the threat of reprisals. No system of ensuring compliance with arms control agreements can be entirely foolproof, but the international community can probably do better now than it did in 1925.
- (i) The parties to a ban on using those incendiary weapons defined in the agreement could be required to incorporate a standard form of wording into their manuals of military law.
- (ii) Any agreement could reaffirm the Nürnberg principle that individual violators are responsible for their own acts and that the plea of 'superior orders' is no defence. Violators would be liable for prosecution as war criminals, preferably before an international criminal court.

- (iii) Major violations would almost certainly be publicized through the mass media and would expose the violator to the condemnation of world opinion. In addition, there could be a complaints procedure similar to that contained in Article VI of the recent Biological Weapons Convention.
- (iv) The ultimate deterrent would presumably be the threat of reprisal action. This would have to be subject to strict safeguards, laid down in the agreement. For example:
- (a) Only properly authorized persons may decide to resort to reprisals;
- (b) Such resort may only be in response to an enemy violation, and should be officially and publicly announced as such;
- (c) The reprisal should be proportionate to the violation, and should cease when the violation stops.
- 10. I conclude with three points. First, an international ban on the more horrific uses of incendiary weapons is desirable on humanitarian grounds. Secondly, such a ban, while difficult to achieve, is within the realms of possibility. Thirdly, the present time of no major conflict is unusually propitious to conclude such an agreement.

S. D. B.

# 13. DEFINITION OF AGGRESSION (GA RES. 3314, 1974)

The General Assembly,

Basing itself on the fact that one of the fundamental purposes of the United Nations is to maintain international peace and security and to take effective collective measures for the prevention and removal of threats to the peace, and for the suppression of acts of aggression or other breaches of the peace,

Recalling that the Security Council, in accordance with Article 39 of the Charter of the United Nations, shall determine the existence of any threat to the peace, breach of the peace or act of aggression and shall make recommendations, or decide what measures shall be taken in accordance with Articles 41 and 42, to maintain or restore international peace and security.

Recalling also the duty of States under the Charter to settle their international disputes by peaceful means in order not to endanger international peace, security and justice,

Bearing in mind that nothing in this Definition shall be interpreted as in any way affecting the scope of the provisions of the Charter with respect to the functions and powers of the organs of the United Nations,

Considering also that, since aggression is the most serious and dangerous form of the illegal use of force, being fraught, in the conditions created by the existence of all types of weapons of mass destruction, with the possible threat of a world conflict and all its catastrophic consequences, aggression should be defined at the present stage,

Reaffirming the duty of States not to use armed force to deprive peoples of their right to self-determination, freedom and independence, or to disrupt territorial integrity,

Reaffirming also that the territory of a State shall not be violated by being the object, even temporarily, of military occupation or of other measures of force taken by another State in contravention of the Charter, and that it shall

not be the object of acquisition by another State resulting from such measures or the threat thereof.

. . .

Convinced that the adoption of a definition of aggression ought to have the effect of deterring a potential aggressor, would simplify the determination of acts of aggression and the implementation of measures to suppress them and would also facilitate the protection of the rights and lawful interests of, and the rendering of assistance to, the victim,

Believing that, although the question whether an act of aggression has been committed must be considered in the light of all the circumstances of each particular case, it is nevertheless desirable to formulate basic principles as guidance for such determination,

Adopts the following Definition of Aggression:

#### Article 1

Aggression is the use of armed force by a State against the sovereignty, territorial integrity or political independence of another State, or in any other manner inconsistent with the Charter of the United Nations, as set out in this Definition.

Explanatory note: In this Definition the term 'State':

- (a) Is used without prejudice to questions of recognition or to whether a State is a member of the United Nations;
  - (b) Includes the concept of a 'group of States' where appropriate.

## Article 2

The first use of armed force by a State in contravention of the Charter shall constitute *prima facie* evidence of an act of aggression although the Security Council may, in conformity with the Charter, conclude that a determination that an act of aggression has been committed would not be justified in the light of other relevant circumstances, including the fact that the acts concerned or their consequences are not of sufficient gravity.

#### Article 3

Any of the following acts, regardless of a declaration of war, shall, subject to and in accordance with the provisions of article 2, qualify as an act of aggression:

- (a) The invasion or attack by the armed forces of a State of the territory of another State, or any military occupation, however temporary, resulting from such invasion or attack, or any annexation by the use of force of the territory of another State or part thereof;
- (b) Bombardment by the armed forces of a State against the territory of another State or the use of any weapons by a State against the territory of another State;
- (c) The blockade of the ports or coasts of a State by the armed forces of another State:
- (d) An attack by the armed forces of a State on the land, sea or air forces, or marine and air fleets of another State;
- (e) The use of armed forces of one State which are within the territory of another State with the agreement of the receiving State, in contravention of the conditions provided for in the agreement or any extension of their presence in such territory beyond the termination of the agreement;
  - (f) The action of a State in allowing its territory, which it has placed at the

disposal of another State, to be used by that other State for perpetrating an act of aggression against a third State;

(g) The sending by or on behalf of a State of armed bands, groups, irregulars or mercenaries, which carry out acts of armed force against another State of such gravity as to amount to the acts listed above, or its substantial involvement therein.

## Article 4

The acts enumerated above are not exhaustive and the Security Council may determine that other acts constitute aggression under the provisions of the Charter.

## Article 5

- 1. No consideration of whatever nature, whether political, economic, military or otherwise, may serve as a justification for aggression.
- 2. A war of aggression is a crime against international peace. Aggression gives rise to international responsibility.
- 3. No territorial acquisition or special advantage resulting from aggression is or shall be recognized as lawful.

## Article 6

Nothing in this Definition shall be construed as in any way enlarging or diminishing the scope of the Charter, including its provisions concerning cases in which the use of force is lawful.

#### Article 7

Nothing in this Definition, and in particular article 3, could in any way prejudice the right to self-determination, freedom and independence, as derived from the Charter, of peoples forcibly deprived of that right and referred to in the Declaration on Principles of International Law concerning Friendly Relations and Co-operation among States in accordance with the Charter of the United Nations, particularly peoples under colonial and racist régimes or other forms of alien domination; nor the right of these peoples to struggle to that end and to seek and receive support, in accordance with the principles of the Charter and in conformity with the above-mentioned Declaration.

#### Article 8

In their interpretation and application the above provisions are interrelated and each provision should be construed in the context of the other provisions.

# 14. PROTECTION OF WOMEN AND CHILDREN IN ARMED CONFLICTS (GA RES. 3318, 1974)

- 1. Attacks and bombings on the civilian population, inflicting incalculable suffering, especially on women and children, who are the most vulnerable members of the population, shall be prohibited, and such acts shall be condemned.
- 2. The use of chemical and bacteriological weapons in the course of military operations constitutes one of the most flagrant violations of the Geneva Protocol of 1925, the Geneva Conventions of 1949 and the principles of international humanitarian law and inflict heavy losses on

civilian populations, including defenceless women and children, and shall be severely condemned.

All States shall abide fully by their obligations under the Geneva Protocol of 1925 and the Geneva Conventions of 1949, as well as other instruments of international law relative to respect for human rights in armed conflicts, which offer important guarantees for the protection of women and children.

- 4. All efforts shall be made by States involved in armed conflicts, military operations in foreign territories and in territories still under colonial domination to spare women and children from the ravages of war. All the necessary steps shall be taken to ensure the prohibition of measures such as persecution, torture, punitive measures, degrading treatment and violence, particularly against that part of the civilian population that consists of women and children.
- 5. All forms of repression and cruel and inhuman treatment of women and children, including imprisonment, torture, shooting, mass arrests, collective punishment, destruction of dwellings and forcible eviction, committed by belligerents in the course of military operations or in occupied territories shall be considered criminal.
- 6. Women and children belonging to the civilian population and finding themselves in circumstances of emergency and armed conflict in the struggle for peace, self-determination, national liberation and independence, or who live in occupied territories, shall not be deprived of shelter, food, medical aid or other inalienable rights, in accordance with the provisions of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, the Declaration of the Rights of the Child or other instruments of international law.

## 15. DOCUMENTS ISSUED BY THE ICRC, 1978

## (a) Fundamental rules of international humanitarian law

- Persons hors de combat and those who do not take a direct part in hostilities
  are entitled to respect for their lives and physical and moral integrity. They
  shall in all circumstances be protected and treated humanely without any
  adverse distinction.
- It is forbidden to kill or injure an enemy who surrenders or who is hors de combat.
- 3. The wounded and sick shall be collected and cared for by the party to the conflict which has them in its power. Protection also covers medical personnel, establishments, transports and *matériel*. The emblem of the red cross (red crescent) is the sign of such protection and must be respected.
- 4. Captured combatants and civilians under the authority of an adverse party are entitled to respect for their lives, dignity, personal rights and convictions. They shall be protected against all acts of violence and reprisals. They shall have the right to correspond with their families and to receive relief.
- 5. Everyone shall be entitled to benefit from fundamental judicial guarantees. No one shall be held responsible for an act he has not committed. No one

- shall be subjected to physical or mental torture, corporal punishment or cruel or degrading treatment.
- 6. Parties to a conflict and members of their armed forces do not have an unlimited choice of methods and means of warfare. It is prohibited to employ weapons or methods of warfare of a nature to cause unnecessary losses or excessive suffering.
- 7. Parties to a conflict shall at all times distinguish between the civilian population and combatants in order to spare civilian population and property. Neither the civilian population as such nor civilian persons shall be the object of attack. Attacks shall be directed solely against military objectives.

## (b) The soldier's rules

- 1. Be a disciplined soldier. Disobedience of the laws of war dishonours your army and yourself and causes unnecessary suffering; far from weakening the enemy's will to fight, it often strengthens it.
- 2. Fight only enemy combatants and attack only military objectives.
- 3. Destroy no more than your mission requires.
- 4. Do not fight enemies who are *hors de combat* or who surrender. Disarm them and hand them over to your superior.
- 5. Collect and care for the wounded and sick, be they friend or foe.
- 6. Treat all civilians and all enemies in your power with humanity.
- Prisoners of war must be treated humanely and are bound to give only information about their identity. No physical or mental torture of prisoners of war is permitted.
- 8. Do not take hostages.
- 9. Abstain from all acts of vengeance.
- 10. Respect all persons and objects bearing the emblem of the Red Cross, Red Crescent, Red Lion-and-Sun, the white flag of truce or emblems designating cultural property.
- 11. Respect other people's property. Looting is prohibited.
- 12. Endeavour to prevent any breach of the above rules. Report any violation to your superior. Any breach of the laws of war is punishable.

# 16. NUCLEAR WEAPONS (COMMENT OF THE HUMAN RIGHTS COMMITTEE, 1984)

- 1. In its general comment 6(16) adopted at its 378th meeting, on 27 July 1982, the Human Rights Committee observed that the right to life enunciated in the first paragraph of article 6 of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights is the supreme right from which no derogation is permitted even in time of public emergency. The same right to life is enshrined in article 3 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights adopted by the General Assembly of the United Nations on 10 December 1948. It is basic to all human rights.
  - 2. In its previous general comment, the Committee also observed that it is

the supreme duty of States to prevent wars. War and other acts of mass violence continue to be a scourge of humanity and take the lives of thousands of innocent human beings every year.

- 3. While remaining deeply concerned by the toll of human life taken by conventional weapons in armed conflicts, the Committee has noted that, during successive sessions of the General Assembly, representatives from all geographical regions have expressed their growing concern at the development and proliferation of increasingly awesome weapons of mass destruction, which not only threaten human life but also absorb resources that could otherwise be used for vital economic and social purposes, particularly for the benefit of developing countries, and thereby for promoting and securing the enjoyment of human rights for all.
- 4. The Committee associates itself with this concern. It is evident that the designing, testing, manufacture, possession and deployment of nuclear weapons are among the greatest threats to the right to life which confront mankind today. This threat is compounded by the danger that the actual use of such weapons may be brought about, not only in the event of war, but even through human or mechanical error or failure.
- 5. Furthermore, the very existence and gravity of this threat generate a climate of suspicion and fear between States, which is in itself antagonistic to the promotion of universal respect for and observance of human rights and fundamental freedoms in accordance with the Charter of the United Nations and the International Covenants on Human Rights.
- 6. The production, testing, possession, deployment and use of nuclear weapons should be prohibited and recognized as crimes against humanity.
- 7. The Committee accordingly, in the interest of mankind, calls upon all States, whether Parties to the Covenant or not, to take urgent steps, unilaterally and by agreement, to rid the world of this menace.

# Notes and References

## INTRODUCTION

- Carl H. Builder and Morlie H. Graubard, The International Law of Armed Conflict: Implications for the Concept of Assured Destruction (Rand Corp., ref. R-2804-FF, 1982) pp. iii, v, vii, ix, x, 40, 47-8; see also Arthur Selwyn Miller and Martin Feinrider (eds), Nuclear Weapons and Law (Westport and London: Greenwood, 1984).
- 2. St Petersburg Declaration; Hague Regulations of 1899 and 1907, Art. 23(g).
- 3. Preamble to the Hague Conventions; Nürnberg Charter, Art. 6(b); First Geneva Convention, Art. 50; Second Geneva Convention, Art. 51; Fourth Geneva Convention, Art. 147; Hague Convention on Cultural Property, Art. 4(2).
- 4. First Geneva Convention, Art. 8; Second Geneva Convention, Arts 8, 28; Third Geneva Convention, Art. 126; Fourth Geneva Convention, Arts 53, 143; Hague Convention on Cultural Property, Art. 11(2); Additional Protocol I, Arts 54(5), 62(1), 67(4), 71(3); Additional Protocol II, Art. 17(1).
- 5. Preamble to the Hague Conventions.
- 6. Ibid.; First Geneva Convention, Art. 63; Second Geneva Convention, Art. 62; Third Geneva Convention, Art. 142; Fourth Geneva Convention, Art. 158; Additional Protocol I, Art. 1(2); Additional Protocol II, Preamble; Convention on indiscriminate or excessively injurious weapons, Preamble.

# 1. THE JUST WAR IN CHRISTIAN ETHICS

- 1. C. John Cadoux, *The early Christian attitude to war* (London: Headley Bros, 1919) pp. 149-54.
- 2. F. Homes Dudden, *Life and Times of St Ambrose* (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1935) pp. 497, 499.
- 3. Summa Theologica, II/II, Question 40, art. 1.
- 4. Ibid., Question 64, art. 7.
- 5. James Finn (ed.), *Protest: Pacificism and Politics* (New York: Council on Religion and International Affairs, 1968) p. 421.
- 6. Vitoria's *De Indis et de iure belli relectiones*, section 37, English translation by J. P. Bate, edited by E. Nys (Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, 1917) p. 179 of the English translation.
- 7. William V. O'Brien, Nuclear War, Deterrence and Morality (New York: Newman Press, 1967) pp. 31, 57, 81-3, 85; Richard Shelly Hartigan, 'Noncombatant Immunity: Reflections on its Origins and Present Status', Review of Politics, 29, 2 (April 1967) pp. 204-20; see also Hartigan's articles 'Saint Augustine on War and Killing: the Problem of the

- Innocent', Journal of Historical Ideas, XXVII, 2 (April–June 1966) pp. 195–204, and 'Noncombatant Immunity: its Scope and Development', Continuum, II, 3 (Autumn 1965) pp. 300–14.
- 8. Walter M. Abbott (ed.), *Documents of Vatican II* (New York: America Press, 1966) 'Pastoral Constitution of the Church in the Modern World' (*Gaudium et Spes*) art. 80 (p. 294).
- 9. See my article 'Some reflexions on the use of force', Friends Quarterly, 16, 6 (April 1969) p. 261.
- 10. Ronald C. D. Jasper, George Bell, Bishop of Chichester (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1967) pp. 261-4, 276-9. Harold Nicolson was so outraged when a cleric claimed that the bombing of Cologne was a Christian act that he wrote in his diary: 'I wish the clergy would keep their mouths shut about the war. It is none of their business' (11 June 1942).
- 11. See his seminal article 'The morality of obliteration bombing', *Theological Studies* V, 3 (September 1944) pp. 261–309.
- 12. Paul Ramsey, War and the Christian Conscience: how shall modern war be conducted justly? (Durham, N. C.: Duke University Press, 1961; paperback edn, 1970).
- 13. 'Christian Churches and Nuclear Weapons', Disarmament: a periodic review by the United Nations, VI, 3 (Autumn/Winter 1983) pp. 8-17.
- 14. The Church and the Bomb (London: Hodder & Stoughton, 1985); 'How we wrote "The Church and the Bomb", Crucible, 22nd year (October-December 1983) pp. 177-84; 'Myths about "The Church and the Bomb", Friends Quarterly, 23, 3 (July 1983) pp. 150-7.
- 15. The text of the letter was first published in Washington, D.C., in *Origins*, 13, 1 (May 1983). The British edition, published by the Catholic Truth Society and SPCK in 1983, has numbered paragraphs and I have quoted from this version.
- 16. The era of atomic power (London: SCM Press, 1946) p. 50.
- 17. The Collected essays, journalism and letters of George Orwell, II, My Country, Right or Left, 1940–1943, edited by Sonia Orwell and Ian Angus (Harmondsworth: Penguin Books, in association with Secker & Warburg, 1970) p. 437.
- 18. 'Thoughts on Hunger Strikes', New Blackfriars, 62, 733-4 (July-August 1981) p. 307.

## 2. THE JUST WAR IN INTERNATIONAL LAW

1. An English translation by F. W. Kelsey and others was published in 1925 by the Carnegie Endowment for International Peace in the series 'Classics of International Law', and reprinted in 1964 by Oceana Publications, New York (Wildy & Sons, London). The three volumes comprise an Introduction by the editor of the series, a Dedication and Prologue by the author, the main work, an Appendix, and the author's 'Notes on the Epistle of Paul to Philemon'. The work itself is divided into 56 chapters, 935 numbered sections, and many thousand numbered paragraphs. As the pages of the three volumes are numbered consecutively, I cite the page numbers in parenthesis, rather than volume, chapter, section and

- paragraph numbers. The English translation of the Prologue only was published as a pamphlet in the United States by Bobbs-Merrill in 1957.
- 2. 'The Morality of Obliteration Bombing', *Theological Studies*, V, 3 (September 1944) p. 281.
- 3. Frits Kalshoven, Belligerent Reprisals [Leiden: Sijthoff, 1971) pp. 163-6, 168, 170, 175.
- 4. The Charter and Judgment of the Nürnberg Tribunal: memorandum by the UN Secretary-General (UN doc. A/CN.4/5, 3 March 1949, pp. 1–86); General Assembly Official Records, 5th session, Supplement no. 12, A/1316, paras 98–127 (para. nos and footnotes omitted).
- 5. UN docs. A/7720, 20 November 1969, paras 122–7; A/8052, 18 September 1970, para. 110 (both mimeo.).

## 3. HUMAN RIGHTS IN ARMED CONFLICT

- General Assembly Official Records, 4th session, Supplement no. 10, A/925, para. 18.
- The main reports of the UN Secretariat on human rights in armed conflict were as follows: A/7720, 20 November 1969; A/8052, 18 September 1970; A/8370, and Add. 1, 2 September and 5 October 1971; A/8438, 29 September 1971; A/8781, 20 September 1972, and Corr. 1, 11 October 1972; A/8803, 9 October 1972, and Corr. 1, 19 October 1972; A/9073, 9 July 1973; A/9123, 19 September 1972, and Corr. 1, 2 October 1972, and Adds 1 & 2, 8 November and 21 November 1973; A/9215 (2 vols), 7 November 1973; A/9643, 22 July 1974; A/9669 and Add. 1, 12 September and 19 November 1974; A/10147, 1 August 1975; A/10195 and Add. 1, 5 September and 11 November 1975; A/31/163, 18 August 1976; A/32/144, 15 August 1977 (all mimeo.).
- 3. On demilitarised sanctuaries, see also my *How wars end* (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1982) I, pp. 230-5, 250-5.
- 4. UN doc. A/9123/Add. 1, 8 November 1973 (mimeo.).
- 5. UN doc. A/7495 and Add. 1, 28 May 1969 (both mimeo.).
- 6. General Assembly Official Records, 25th session, Annexes, Agenda item 101, p. 2, A/8164.
- 7. UN doc. A/8089, 26 October 1970 (mimeo.), para. 53.
- 8. UN docs E/CN.4/1016, 20 January 1970, para. 9, and A/8089, 26 October 1970, para. 11 (both mimeo.).
- 9. UN doc. E/CN.4/1016/Add. 2, 11 February 1970, pp. 2-6 (mimeo.).
- 10. The reports of the Special Committee have been issued as UN documents as follows: A/8089, 26 October 1970; A/8389 and Corrs 1 & 2, 5 October, 15 October and 10 December 1971: A/8389/Add, 1 and Corrs, 9 December and 18 December 1971; A/8828, 9 October 1972; A/9148 and Add. 1, 25 October and 20 November 1973; A/9817, 4 1974; A/10272. 27 November October 1975: A/31/218. A/33/356. October 1976: A/32/284. 27 October 1977; November 1978; A/34/631, 13 November 1979; A/35/425, 6

- October 1980; A/36/579, 26 October 1981; A/37/485, 20 October 1982; A/38/409, 14 October 1983; A/39/591, 29 October 1984; A/40/702, 4 October 1985; A/41/680, 20 October 1986.
- 11. General Assembly Official Records, 25th session Annexes, Agenda item 101, A/8237.
- 12. The mandate derives from General Assembly resolutions 2443, 2546, 2727, 2851, 3005, 3092B, 3240A and C, 3525A and C, 31/106C and D, 32/91B and C, 33/113C, 34/90A, 35/122C, 36/147C, 37/88C, 38/79D, 39/95D, and 40/161D.
- 13. See my The making of resolution 242 (Dordrecht: Nijhoff, 1985).

## 4. INTERNATIONAL HUMANITARIAN LAW

- 1. Donald Greene (ed.), *The Oxford Authors: Samuel Johnson* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1984) pp. 547–8.
- 2. The usual method of citing the Conventions is to give first the number of the Convention in roman numerals, and then the article number(s).
- 3. The Hague Conventions of 1899 (II) and 1907 (IV), respecting the Laws and Customs of War on Land (Washington, D.C.: Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, 1915) pamphlet no. 5. In summarising the Conventions, I have used the translation of the 1907 text, and this is the version included in Documents on the Laws of War, edited by Adam Roberts and Richard Guelff (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1982) pp. 43–59.
- 4. The Law of Land Warfare (Washington, D.C.: US Department of the Army, 1956) FM27-10, p. i.
- 5. In the Table of Contents of the British Manual of Military Law, the Convention is incorrectly ascribed to Geneva (p. xxiii).
- 6. The Law of War on Land (London: HMSO, 1958) paras 109, n. 1, and 110, n. 1.
- 7. Social Contract (1762) chapter IV in Social Contract: essays by Locke, Hume and Rousseau (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1947, World's classics) p. 251.
- 8. Draft rules for the limitation of the dangers incurred by the civilian population in time of war, 2nd edn (Geneva: ICRC, 1958) pp. 46-50.
- 9. The italicised words were not in the 1899 Convention.
- The Law of Land Warfare (Washington D.C.: US Department of the Army, 1956) FM27-10, para. 497a; see also The Law of War on Land, being part III of the British Manual of Military Law (London: HMSO, 1958) paras 642-9.
- 11. UN docs A/7720, 20 November 1969, para. 203, and A/8052, 18 September 1970, para. 42(c) (both mimeo.).
- 12. General Assembly Official Records, 23rd session, Agenda item 87, A/7326, para. 119.
- 13. Security Council Official Records, 11th year, Supplement for April–June 1956, pp. 40–1, paras 40, 44–6 of S/3596.
- 14. Reaffirmation and Development of the Laws and Customs applicable in Armed Conflicts: report submitted to the 21st International Conference of the Red Cross (Geneva: ICRC, 1969) pp. 83–7.

- 15. E. S. Colbert, *Retaliation in International Law* (New York: King's Crown Press, 1948) p. 200; Frits Kalshoven, *Belligerent Reprisals* (Leiden: Sijthoff, 1971) pp. 375, 377.
- 16. Nuremberg and Vietnam: an American Tragedy (Chicago: Quadrangle, 1970; a New York Times book distributed by Random House) p. 54.
- 17. Wording of Geneva Protocol of 1925 in square brackets.
- 18. I am indebted to David Carlton for this information. The file containing the minute is in the Public Record Office, ref. W 13568 in FO 371/14974.
- 19. The text of the vetoed proposals is given in my *Voting in the Security Council* (Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 1969) pp. 175–7.
- 20. The Law of War on Land (London: HMSO, 1958) paras 107 n. 1(b), 113; The Law of Land Warfare (Washington, D.C., US Department of the Army, 1956) para. 35.
- 21. Jean Pictet, The Red Cross and Peace (Geneva: ICRC, 1951) p. 10; Reaffirmation and Development of the Laws and Customs applicable in Armed Conflicts: report submitted to the 21st International Conference of the Red Cross (Geneva: ICRC, 1969) p. 11; Pictet, The Red Cross as a Factor in World Peace: report of a round table conference held at the Hague, 28 August 1967 (Geneva: ICRC, 1968) p. 9.
- 22. Shabtai Rosenne, 'The Red Cross, Red Crescent, Red Lion and Sun and the Red Shield of David', *Israel Yearbook on Human Rights*, 5 (1975) pp. 9–54. Iran formerly used as an emblem the Red Lion and Sun.
- 23. As note 30.
- 24. For text of the vetoed proposals, see my *Voting in the Security Council* (Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 1969) pp. 175–6, 188.
- 25. See my How wars end (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1982) II, pp. 175-6; see also Hospital Localities and Safety Zones (Geneva: ICRC, 1952).
- 26. 'Nonmilitary areas in UN Practice', American Journal of International Law, 74, 3 (July 1980) p. 505.
- 27. International Review of the Red Cross (March-April 1981) pp. 76-83.
- 28. See 'The Security Council', chapter 7, in Philip Alston (ed.), Making and Breaking Human Rights: a critical appraisal of the United Nations' record (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1987).
- 29. Conflit de Corée: recueil de documents (Geneva: ICRC, 1952) I, pp. 42-3, 165-8 (docs 55, 223); II, pp. 13-14, 29-40, 90-1, 107, (docs 322, 351, 408, 434); Security Council Official Records, 7th year, Special Supplement no. 3, pp. 19-21, S/2541; 9th year, Supplement for January-March 1954, p. 42, S/3185.
- 30. The main sources for this episode are as follows: GAOR, 18th session, Supplement no. 2, A/5502, pp. 6–8; SCOR, 17th year, Supplement for October-December 1962, pp. 168, 174–81, S/5197, S/5210, S/5214; 18th year, Supplement for January-March 1963, pp. 85–90, S/5227, S/5228, S/5230; U Thant, View from the UN (London: David & Charles, 1978) pp. 155–8, 161–94, 460–9; Annual Report of the ICRC for 1962, pp. 31–4; A Paul Ruegger, privately printed (Riehen, Basel: A. Schudel & Co., 1977) pp. 158–62.
- 31. International Review of the Red Cross (August and September 1970) pp. 424-59, 484-511; UN doc. A/8089, 26 October 1970 (mimeo.), paras 51-2, 149.

32. See, for example, Yoram Dinstein, 'The International Law of Belligerent Occupation and Human Rights', *Israel Yearbook on Human Rights*, 8 (1978) p. 107.

# 5. DISARMAMENT

- 1. But see my article 'An ethical basis for the regulation of weapons', *Crucible* (January 1974) pp. 13–18.
- 2. UN doc. A/35/392, 12 September 1980 (mimeo.) paras 259–60,
- 3. UN doc. A/6858, 10 October 1967 (mimeo.), paras 1, 14, 40, 42, 45, 80-1.
- 4. UN doc. A/35/392, 12 September 1980 (mimeo.), paras 9, 67, 143, 356, 493, 498.
- 5. 21 December 1957, pp. 1058-9.
- 6. The text of these and other agreements is given in Josef Goldblat, Agreements for Arms Control: a critical survey (London: Taylor & Francis, 1982) for the Stockholm International Peace Research Institute.
- 7. Fascinating inside accounts of the negotiations between the super-powers on strategic arms, from an American point of view, include John Newhouse, *Cold Dawn* (New York: Holt, Rinehart & Winston, 1973); Henry Kissinger, *White House Years* (Boston: Little, Brown, 1979) pp. 147–50, 195–225, 534–51, 810–23, 1128–31, 1216–46; Strobe Talbot, *Endgame* (New York: Harper & Row, 1979); Gerard Smith, *Doubletalk* (New York: Doubleday, 1980); Strobe Talbot, *Deadly Gambits* (New York: Knopf, 1984; London: Pan paperback, 1985).
- 8. Special Reports nos 122 and 136 (Washington, D.C.: US State Department, 1985).
- 9. 'The United States violates its international commitments', *Soviet News*, 1 February 1984, pp. 35–6.

## 6. IN OBEDIENCE TO CONSCIENCE

- 1. SCOR, 6th year, 549th mtg (26 July 1951), para. 78; 550th mtg (1 August 1951), paras 33, 36–40, 42; 553rd mtg (16 August 1951), para. 60; 9th year, 661st mtg (12 March 1954) paras 69–73. In view of the importance of the issues raised in this chapter, I am citing sources where possible.
- 2. SCOR, 22nd year, 1347th mtg (5 June 1967), para. 4.
- 3. UN docs A/41/231, 24 March 1986, S/17938, 25 March 1986; S/17983, 12 April 1986; S/17986, 14 April 1986; S/17990, 14 April 1986; S/PV.2668, 26 March 1986, pp. 21–2; S/PV.2673, 14 April 1986, pp. 13–15; S/PV.2674, 15 April 1986, p. 10 (all mimeo.).
- 4. Max Weber, 'Politics as a vocation' (speech at Munich University in 1918), in H. H. Gerth and C. Wright Mills (eds), From Max Weber: essays in sociology (London: Routledge & Kegan Paul, 1948) pp. 120-6.
- 5. Collected Essays, Journalism and Letters of George Orwell, edited by Sonia Orwell and Ian Angus (Harmondsworth: Penguin, 1970) II, pp. 136.

- 6. Letter to The Times, 23 November 1970.
- 7. (Washington, D.C.: American Red Cross, 1959) English translation of the first French edition, 1862.
- 8. Pierre Boissier, From Solferino to Tsushima (Geneva: Henry Dunant Institute, 1985) pp. 58, 74, 80, 89, 203-4, 353-5.
- 9. FM27-10, p. i.
- 10. Jean Pictet, Development and Principles of International Humanitarian Law (Dordrecht: Nijhoff; Geneva: Henry Dunant Institute, 1985) p. 86.
- 11. Information about Martens has been derived from the following sources: Frederick W. Holls, The Peace Conference at the Hague and its bearing on international law and policy (London: Macmillan, 1900) pp. 135-8, 141-2, 145, 151, 161-2, 169, 206-10, 251-2, 285, 287-90, 314, 321; James Scott Brown, The Hague Peace Conference of 1899 and 1907 (Baltimore: Johns Hopkins Press, 1909) I, pp. 47, 73, 203, 281, II, pp. 63, 78, 81, 115, 134, 162, 174, 433, 525-6, 528; American Journal of International Law, 3, 4 (October 1909) pp. 983-5; T. E. Holland, 'Frederic de Martens', Journal of the Society of Comparative Legislation. X (1909) pp. 10-12; Andrew Dickson White, Autobiography (New York: Century, 1914) II pp. 264-6, 270, 283, 285-6, 292, 320-1, 328, 335, 336; G. P. Gooch and Harold Temperley (eds), British Documents on the Origins of the War, 1898-1914 (London: HMSO, I, 1927; VIII, 1932) I, p. 226 (doc. 276); VIII, pp. 201, 207-14 (docs 173, 178-80, 182-3), 230 (ed. note), 225 (doc. 292); Arthur Nussbaum, 'Frederic de Martens: representative Tsarist writer on International Law', Nordisk Tidsskrift for International Ret og Jus Gentium (1952) pp. 51-66; Pierre Boissier, From Solferino to Tsushima: history of the International Committee of the Red Cross (Geneva: Henry Dunant Institute, 1985) pp. 311, 339–40, 358, 366, 369, 376, 383.
- 12. FM27-10, para. 3.
- 13. British Manual of Military Law, para. 633, note 1(c).
- 14. H. Lauterpacht (ed.), Annual Digest and Reports of Public International Law Cases, 1949 (London: Butterworth, 1955) case 192, pp. 509-25.
- 15. On War (New York and London: Norton, 1968) p. 5.
- 16. Stanislav Andreski, 'Origins of War', in J. D. Carthy and F. J. Ebling (eds), *Natural History of Aggression* (London & New York: Academic Press, 1964) p. 129.
- 17. On Aggression (London: Methuen paperback, 1967) p. 207.
- 18. The story can be found in the first book of Samuel, chapters 16–26.
- 19. Thomas Keppel, *Life of Augustus, Viscount Keppel* (London: Henry Colburn, 1842) I, p. 409; II, pp. 1–2, 7, 10–11, 87, 103–8, 182–3.
- J. C. Long, Lord Jeffrey Amherst: a soldier of the king (New York: Macmillan, 1933) pp. 120-1, 125-6, 137-8, 143, 223, 237-8, 243, 324.
- 21. Ira D. Gruber, *The Howe Brothers and the American Revolution* (New York: Norton, 1972, for the Institute of Early American History and Culture) pp. 52–5, 58, 62, 90, 95, 103, 142–3, 145, 151, 156–7, 159, 184, 194, 204–5, 208–9, 243, 261, 326, 339, 355, 359–60.
- 22. J. W. von Goethe, Campaign in France in the year 1792, trans. Robert Farie (London: Chapman & Hall, 1849) pp. 79–81.

- 23. Autobiography, III, 1944-1967 (London: Allen & Unwin, 1969) p. 115.
- 24. Indictment of Leohnard Friedrich, Bad Pyrmont, 15 September 1942.
- 25. Democracy in America, 1835, chapter XV.
- 26. John Keegan in the *Times Literary Supplement*, 15 November 1985, p. 1286.
- 27. Moral Man and Immoral Society (New York and London: Charles Scribner's Sons, 1932) p. 83.
- 28. Pacem in terris, 1963, para. 80.
- 29. Prime Minister Clement Attlee made the same point when he wrote to President Truman that if mankind continued to make the atomic bomb without changing the political relationship of states, 'sooner or later these bombs will be used for mutual annihilation' (25 September 1945).
- Spencer R. Weart and Gertrude Weiss Szilard, Leo Szilard: his version of the facts (Cambridge, Mass. and London: MIT Press, 1978) pp. 154, 185, 210, 234-5; Freeman Dyson, Disturbing the Universe (New York and London: Harper & Row, 1979) pp. ix, 52, 102, 130; Michael Bess, 'Leo Szilard: scientist, activist, visionary', Bulletin of the Atomic Scientists, 41, 11 (December 1985) pp. 11-18.
- 31. 'Leaving the bomb project', *Bulletin of the Atomic Scientists*, special anniversary issue (August 1985) pp. 16–19.
- 32. William Douglas Home, *Half-term report* (London: Longman, 1954) pp. 37–8, 104–5, 108–22, 130–1, 134–5, 139, 162–4, 170–3, 178–209; *Mr. Home pronounced Hume* (London: Collins, 1979) pp. 51–9; *Sins of Commission* (Salisbury: Michael Russell, 1985) pp. 10–11, 60–1, 65, 72–3; Lord Home, *The Way the Wind Blows* (London: Collins, 1976) p. 85.
- 33. Gordon C. Zahn, In Solitary Witness, The Life and Death of Franz Jägerstätter (London: Chapman, 1966; New York: Holt, Rinehart & Winston, 1964) pp. 3-4, 57-8, 64, 76, 80, 86, 88, 92, 96, 105, 107, 111, 126, 144, 161, 215, 220, 234-5; (paperback edition published by the Liturgical Press, Collegeville); Zahn, Franz Jäegerstäetter: martyr for conscience (Erie, Pa., Benet Press, no date but circa 1984).

## Bibliography

- Bailey, Sydney D., Christian Perspectives on Nuclear Weapons, second edn (London: British Council of Churches, 1984).
- —, Peaceful settlement of international disputes, third edn (New York: UN Institute for Training and Research, 1970).
- Best, Geoffrey, Humanity in Warfare: The Modern History of the International Law of Armed Conflict (London: Weidenfeld & Nicolson, 1980).
- Boissier, Pierre, From Solferino to Tsushima: history of the International Committee of the Red Cross (Geneva: Henry Dunant Institute, 1985).
- Bonhoeffer, Dietrich, *Ethics*, trans. Neville Horton Smith, ed. Eberhard Bethge (London: SCM Press, 1955; paperback edn, Fontana Library, 1964).
- Brownlie, Ian, International law and the use of force by states (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1963).
- Bugnion, François, The emblem of the Red Cross: a brief history (Geneva: ICRC, 1977).
- Builder, Carl H. and Morlie H. Graubard, *The International Law of Armed Conflict: Implications for the Concept of Assured Destruction* (Santa Monica, Ca.: Rand, 1982 (R-2804-FF)).
- Caedel, Martin, Pacifism in Britain, 1914–1945: the defining of faith (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1980).
- 'Challenge of Peace: God's promise and our response', first published in *Origins*, 13, 1 (May 1983); British edn, Catholic Truth Society and SPCK, 1983.
- Church and the Bomb: nuclear weapons and Christian conscience, report of a working party (London: Hodder and Stoughton, 1985).
- Common Security, report of the Palme Commission (London: Pan, 1982).
- Comprehensive Study on Nuclear Weapons, report of an expert group: UN doc. A/35/392, 12 September 1980 (mimeo.).
- Delessert, Christiane Shields, Release and repatriation of prisoners of war at the end of hostilities ... (Zurich: Schulthess Polygraphischer, 1977).
- Dunant, Henry, *Un Souvenir de Solférino*, first published 1862: (Berne: Swiss Red Cross, 1979; English translation, Washington, D.C.: American National Red Cross, 1959).
- Durand, André, From Sarajevo to Hiroshima: history of the International Committee of the Red Cross (Geneva: Henry Dunant Institute, 1984).
- Epstein, William, *The last chance* (New York: Free Press; London: Collier Macmillan, 1976).
- Forsythe, David P., Humanitarian Politics: The International Committee of the Red Cross (Baltimore and London: Johns Hopkins University Press, 1977).
- Fotion, N., and Elfstrom, G., Military ethics: guidelines for peace and war (London: Routledge & Kegan Paul, 1986).
- Freedman, Lawrence, *Britain and nuclear weapons* (London: Macmillan, 1980, for the Royal Institute of International Affairs).
- Freymond, Jacques, Guerres, Révolutions, Croix-Rouge: Réflexions sur la rôle du Comité Internationale de la Croix-Rouge (Geneva: Institut Universitaire de Hautes Études Internationales, 1976).

- Glasstone, Samuel and Philip J. Dolan (eds), *The Effects of Nuclear Weapons*, third edn (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1977).
- Goldblat, Jozef, Agreements for Arms Control: a critical survey (London: Taylor and Francis, 1982, for the Stockholm International Peace Research Institute).
- Greenspan, Morris, *The Modern Law of Land Warfare* (Berkeley and Los Angeles: University of California Press, 1959).
- Grotius, Hugo, *De jure belli ac pacis*, English translation, (Washington, D.C.: Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, 1925) 3 vols; reprinted (New York: Oceana; London: Wildy, 1964).
- Higgins, Rosalyn, *The development of international law through the political organs of the United Nations* (London: Oxford University Press, 1963, under the auspices of the Royal Institute of International Affairs).
- Hospital Localities and Safety Zones (Geneva: ICRC, 1952).
- Howard, Michael (ed.), Restraints on war: Studies in the limitation of armed conflict (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1979).
- Human Rights in Armed Conflict, reports of the UN Secretary-General: UN docs. A/7720, 20 November 1969; A/8052, 18 September 1970; and A/9215 (2 vols), 7 November 1973 (all mimeo.).
- International Red Cross Handbook, 12th edn (Geneva: ICRC, 1983).
- Kalshoven, Frits, Belligerent Reprisals (Leiden: Sijthoff, 1971).
- —, The Law of Warfare (Leiden: Sijthoff, 1973).
- Kenny, Anthony, The logic of deterrence (London: Firethorn, 1985).
- Krass, Allan S., Verification: how much is enough? (London and Philadelphia: Taylor and Francis, 1985, for the Stockholm International Peace Research Institute).
- Law of War on Land, being part III of the Manual of Military Law (London: HMSO, 1958 and subsequent amendments).
- Lord McNair and A. D. Watts, *The legal effects of war* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1966).
- Martin, David A., *Pacifism: an historical and sociological study* (London: Routledge and Kegan Paul, 1965).
- Mayer, Peter (ed.), *The Pacifist Conscience* (New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston; London: Rupert Hart-Davis; paperback edn, Pelican Books, 1966).
- Moreillon, Jacques, Le Comité international de la Croix-Rouge et la protection des détenus politiques (Geneva: Henry Dunant Institute and l'Age d'Homme, 1973).
- Niebuhr, Reinhold, An Interpretation of Christian Ethics (New York: Meridian Books, 1956).
- Nye, Joseph S., *Nuclear Ethics* (London: Collier Macmillan; New York: Free Press, 1986).
- Paskins, Barrie, and Michael Dockrill, *The Ethics of War* (London: Duckworth, 1979).
- Pictet, Jean (general ed.), Commentary on the Geneva Conventions of 12 August 1949, 4 vols, (Geneva: ICRC, 1952-60).
- ----, Humanitarian Law and the Protection of War Victims (Leiden: Sijthoff, 1973).

- Pictet, Jean, Development and Principles of International Humanitarian Law (Geneva: ICRC, 1985).
- Ramsey, Paul, War and the Christian Conscience: how shall modern war be conducted justly? (Durham, N. C.: Duke University Press, 1961).
- Roberts, Adam, and Richard Guelff (eds), Documents on the laws of war (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1982).
- Rosas, Allan, The Legal Status of Prisoners of War: A Study in International Humanitarian Law Applicable in Armed Conflicts (Helsinki: Suomalainen Tiedeakatemia, 1976).
- Rosenblad, Esbjörn, *International Humanitarian Law of Armed Conflict:* some aspects of the principle of distinction and related problems (Geneva: Henry Dunant Institute, 1979).
- Schindler, D. and J. Toman (eds), *The Laws of Armed Conflict* (Leiden: Sijthoff, 1973).
- Schweitzer, Albert, Civilization and Ethics (London: Unwin Books, in association with Adam and Charles Black, 1961).
- Sims, Nicholas A., Approaches to disarmament, second edn (London: Quaker Peace and Service, 1979).
- Stone, Julius, Legal Controls of International Conflict: a treatise on the dynamics of disputes- and war-law, second edn (London: Stevens, 1959).
- Tillich, Paul, *Morality and beyond* (London: Routledge & Kegan Paul, 1964, paperback edn, Fontana Library, 1969).
- Unilateral Nuclear Disarmament Measures, report of an expert group: UN doc. A/39/516, 5 October 1984 (mimeo.).
- Verzijl, J. H. W., International Law in Historical Perspective, part IX-A, The Laws of War (Alphen aan den Rijn, Netherlands: Sijthoff and Noordhoff, 1978).
- Walzer, Michael, Just and Unjust Wars: a moral argument with historical illustrations (New York: Basic Books, 1977; London: Penguin, 1980).
- Willemin, Georges, and Roger Heacock, under the direction of Jacques Freymond, *The International Committee of the Red Cross* (The Hague: Nijhoff, 1984).
- Wright, Quincy, A Study of War (Chicago, Ill.: University of Chicago Press, 1942) 2 vols.

Barclay, David, 169

Acheson, Dean, 130 Bell, George, Bishop of Chichester, Africa: as nuclear-free zone, 147, 25 153 Benin, 93 aggression: defined, 62, 166-8 Bess, Michael, 173-4 Agreement on the moon and other Bethe, Hans, 173 celestial bodies, 1979, 147, 150 Biafra, 82, 125 Alaric, Visigoth king, 9 Biological Weapons Convention, Alvarado, Luis, 84 1972, 117, 144 Ambrose, St, Bishop of Milan, blockade, 62 bluff, 30-2 10-11, 13American War of Independence, Bohr, Niels, 173 Boissier, Pierre, 126 bombing: of civilian targets, 46, 70, Amherst, Field Marshal Jeffrey, Baron, 168 Anne, Queen of England, 22 Bonhoeffer, Dietrich, 6, 171 Antarctic Treaty, 1959, 143-4, 147, Brazil: and possible acquisition of 149-50 nuclear weapons, 137 Anti-Ballistic Missiles Treaty, 1972, Briand-Kellogg Pact (Pact of Paris), 144, 147, 149, 151 1928, 1, 48, 54 apartheid, 61 Britain: and banning of chemical and biological (bacteriological) Aquinas, St Thomas, 13–16, 18, 30, 41, 43, 46 weapons, 65, 114-16; in UN, 78-9, Arab League, 85 81; ratifies Hague Conventions, Arab refugees, 85 100; Geneva Protocol, 112–15; Arenales, Emilio, 83–4 and nuclear disarmament, 118; Argentina: and possible acquisition manufactures nuclear weapons, of nuclear weapons, 137 136; nuclear test treaties, 143, 145; arms control see disarmament opposes international code on Arnobius of Sicca, 9 war, 163 Aron, Raymond, 165 British Council of Churches, 29 atomic bomb see Manhattan Project; Brown, James Scott, 162 nuclear weapons Brussels Declaration, 1874, 65, 103, Augustine, St, Bishop of Hippo, 9, 110, 121, 162–3; 1954 Protocol, 11-13, 15, 37, 43, 46 148 ' Austria, 69 Buchan, Alastair, 5 Ayala, B., 35 Cajetan, Thomas de Vio, 14 Bacteriological Weapons Calvin, John, 18–20, 36 Convention see Biological Cambodia see Kampuchea Weapons Convention; see also Canada, 98 chemical and bacteriological Carnegie, Andrew, 119 (biological) weapons Carr, Edward Hallett, 113 ballistic missiles, 137 Castro, Fidel, 130 Bangladesh, 82, 126 Celsus, 9

Ceylon see Sri Lanka

Chadwick, (Sir) James, 175 Covenant on Civil and Political Charles, Prince of Wales, 156 Rights (UN), 68 chemical and bacteriological cruise missiles, 137-8, 152 (biological) weapons (CBW): CS gas, 109, 113-15 Geneva Protocol on use in war. Cuba: missile crisis, 125, 130–1, 135 92, 99; prohibitions and controls, Cultural Property, Convention for 108–17, 136, 144–6, 149–50; USA the Protection of (Hague, 1954), accused of using in Korea, 114, 69, 101 116, 130; use alleged in Iraq-Iran Cyprus, 67, 157 war, 117, 133; stocks of, 154; UN resolution on, 181-2; see also Dalton, Hugh, 113 Biological Weapons Convention; David, King of Israel, 166–7 deterrence: and a Christian view of, Convention on bacteriological (biological) and toxin weapons 24-8; and intention, 31, 46-7; and Chesterton, G. K., 33 Just War, 33; and nuclear children see women and children weapons, 154-5, 165-7 China, 136, 145, 152 Dicey, A. V., 49 Christianity: and war, 8–34; Grotius diplomatic conference on and, 36-8, 44 humanitarian law, 81 Church of England: General Synod disarmament (and arms control): of, 25 UN and League of Nations on, 48; Circular Error Probable (CEP), 138 and unnecessary suffering, 71; civilians: immunity and protection nuclear, 117-19; negotiations for, of, 1, 65, 69–70, 73, 76, 78, 81, 89, 135–6; negotiating machinery, 183; and Geneva Convention IV, 140–1; issues, 141–2; agreements 95; involvement in modern war, and treaties, 143-8; verification 169-70; see also innocent, the; and compliance, 148-51 non-combatants Disarmament Conference, 1933, Clear (Alaska), 152 112-14 Colbert, E. S., 108 double effect, law of, 15–16, 30, 41, combatant status, 163; see also 45 civilians Douglas Home, William, 175–7 complicity (in war crimes), 58 Dunand, André, 126 Conference on Disarmament, 141 Dunant, Henry, 160-1 Congo see Zaire conspiracy in crimes against peace, Eaton, Cyrus, 174 Egypt, 86, 132, 157 Einstein, Albert, 173 Constantine, Roman Emperor, 10, 20, 38 electro-magnetic pulse (EMP), 23, Convention on bacteriological (biological) and toxin weapons, environmental modification for 1972, 144–6, 160–1; see also military purposes, Convention chemical and bacteriological prohibiting, 1977, 144, 150 (biological) weapons Erasmus, Desiderio, 37 Convention on the Nonethic: of responsibility and of ultimate ends (Max Weber), 158-9 Applicability of Statutory Limitations to War Crimes and Ethiopia, 118 Crimes Against Humanity, 1970, 61 Fermi, Enrico, 173 Council on Christian Approaches to Finland, 65 Defence and Disarmament

Fletcher, Benjamin, 21

(CCADD), 5

Ford, Father John, SJ, 25, 46 Fothergill, John, 169 France: in UN, 78; and manufacture of nuclear weapons, 136; non-accession to nuclear arms control treaties, 145, 152–3 Franklin, Benjamin, 169 freedom fighters, 64, 71–3, 76–8, 120–1; see also guerrilla fighters Friends World Committee for Consultation, 79 Fylingdales Moor (England), 152 gases (poison and harassing), 109–15 Gaudium et Spes, 1965, 25–7 General Treaty for the Renunciation	Golan Heights, 148 Gookin, Charles, 21 Gratian, Roman Emperor, 11 Gratian of Bologna, 13 Greece: civil war, 1945–9, 157 Grotius, Hugo: and Just War, 9, 38–44, 46; as founder of international law, 35, 44; and rules of love, 36, 42, 44; and Christianity, 36–8, 44; on revolution, 40; on prohibitions in war, 40–1; on avoiding war, 43–4; De jure belli ac pacis, 35–44 Groves, General Leslie, 175 guerrilla (irregular) fighters and warfare, 64, 71–3, 76–8, 96, 120–3;
of War, 1928 see Briand-Kellogg	see also freedom fighters
Pact Geneva Conventions	Hagus Conferences 1900 and 1007
Geneva Conventions 1864, 66, 92–3	Hague Conferences, 1899 and 1907, 91, 163
1864, 66, 92–3 1906, 92–3 1929, 92–3, 161 1949: and war, 2–3, 5; and protection of persons in war, 5; parties to, 65, 93; UN and, 66–70, 76–8, 81, 84; and internal or guerrilla wars, 72–3, 120–2; Additional Protocols, 81, 91, 93, 95–9, 103–5, 120–3, 125; Israel and, 84; provisions and scope, 92–9, 172; forbid reprisals, 106–7; and control of nuclear weapons, 119; and International Red Cross, 124–6; and modern war, 161; Martens and, 162 Geneva Protocol on chemical and bacteriological weapons, 1925, 65, 70, 76–7, 82, 92, 109, 111–17, 149, 153 Geneva talks (USA–USSR), 141	91, 163 Hague Conventions: 1899, 2–3, 5, 65, 77, 91, 94, 99–106, 110, 161–6 1907: recognised, 55; UN on, 56, 77; parties to, 65; and Martens, 91, 162–3; and Geneva conventions, 94; and unlimited means of warfare, 110–11; and Nürnberg Tribunal, 161; and modern warfare, 161; and military necessity, 164–5 Hague, law of, 99–106, 119 Hague Regulations, 71, 74 Hammarskjold, Dag, 108 Hartigan, Richard Shelly, 17 Helsinki process (Stockholm), 141 Henderson, Arthur, 113 Hitler, Adolf, 52 Holland, T. E., 162 Holls, Frederick, 162 'Holy Experiment' (Pennsylvania), 20–2
Genocide Convention, 1948, 61 Gentili, Albericus, 35 George I, King of Great Britain, 22 George III, King of Great Britain, 169	Holy See, 99, 102 Home of the Hirsel, Sir Alec Douglas-Home, Baron, 175–6 Home, William Douglas see Douglas Home, William
germ warfare see chemical and bacteriological (biological) weapons Germany, West (FRG), 61, 148 Goethe, J. W. von, 169	hostages, 55 Howe, Vice-Admiral Richard, Earl, 168-9 Howe, Lt-General Sir William, Viscount, 168-9
= = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = =	. ======, ==== ;

Human Rights Committee, 190-1 Human Rights Year, 1968, 64 humanity, crimes against, 56-7, 59, 61

incendiary weapons, 78–80, 109; UN memorandum on, 184–6; see also napalm
India, 76, 82, 136
Indian Ocean, 141, 153
individual responsibility, 50–2, 55, 167, 171
innocent, the: defined, 15–17, 44–5; Grotius on, 40–1, 44–5; and total war, 45; and indiscriminate weapons, 46; see also civilians
Institute of International Law, 163
intention, 30–3
Interim Agreement on Strategic

Arms see SALT I inter-continental ballistic missiles (ICBMs), 148

intermediate-range missiles, 135 internal wars, 72, 93, 97, 120–3; see also freedom fighters; guerrilla fighters

International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA), 145-6, 148 International Committee of the Red Cross (ICRC): and violation of non-combatant immunity, 1; and human rights in war, 64, 66, 69, 74–5, 77–81, 99, 161, 164; and UN forces, 67-8; relations with UN Secretariat, 81; and Israeli occupation of Arab territories, 88; and Geneva Conventions, 94; Central Tracing Agency, 95; and Hague Conventions, 103; on belligerent reprisals, 108; and use of CBW, 114; and control of nuclear weapons, 119; and abolition of war, 120; role and composition, 124-7; sanctuaries, 125–6; in Korea, 127–8; and Cuban crisis, 130–1; in Middle East, 131–2; in Iraq–Iran war, 133; founded, 160

Documents: fundamental rules of international humanitarian law, 189–90; soldiers' rules, 190

International Conference on Human Rights, Teheran, 1968, 63–5 International Court of Justice, The Hague, 2, 4, 157 international criminal court: proposed, 59–61, 157–8 international law: Just War in. 35–62; seven Nürnberg principles, 50-62; see also Grotius, Hugo **International Law Commission** (UN): founded, 49; draft code of offences, 59–60; and international judicial organ, 59; opposes codification of laws of war, 63, 158 **International Military Tribunal for** the Far East, 101 International Red Cross: composition and role, 123-34; International Conference, 124; see also International Committee of

the Red Cross Iran, 117, 126, 133, 157 Iraq, 88, 98, 117, 126, 133, 157 irregular fighters, see guerrilla fighters

Israel: territories occupied by, 82–90; Red Shield of David Society, 123; and ICRC, 131; and prisoners of war, 132; and possible acquisition of nuclear weapons, 137; disputes with Egypt, 157

Jägerstätter, Franz, 177-8 Japan, 78 Jesus Christ, 8, 12–14, 20, 37 John XXIII, Pope, 172; Pacem in terris, 25, 27-8 John Paul II, Pope, 25–6, 28 Johnson, Samuel, 93 Joint Consultative Committee (on strategic arms control), 150 Jonathan, son of King Saul, 166–7 Jordan, 85, 132 journalists: protection of, 76, 78, 81 jus ad bellum, 18, 29 jus in bello, 18, 28, 30, 32–3 Just War: concept of, 3; in Christian ethics, 8-34; seven principles, 28–34; and deterrence, 32; in international law, 35-62; Grotius on, 38-43; and non-pacifists, 159

Kalshoven, Frits, 46, 108
Kampuchea (Cambodia), 76, 82
Karp report, 89
Katanga, 67
Kellogg-Briand Pact see
Briand-Kellogg Pact
Keppel, Admiral August, Viscount, 168
Khrushchev, Nikita S., 174
Korea, 62, 114, 125, 127, 130, 156
Krasnojarsk, 152

Latin America, 65, 118, 146–8, 150, 152

Law of Land Warfare, The (US military manual), 101, 106, 118, 164

League of Nations, 47–8

League of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies, 124

Lebanon, 157

Libya, 157

Lie, Trygve, 49

Lieber, Francis, 162

London Club (guidelines for nuclear transfers), 146, 154

Lorenz, Konrad, 166

Luther, Martin, 18–20, 36

Luthuli, Chief Albert, 6

McCabe, Father Herbert, 31

Malchus, 12, 37

Manhattan Project, 174–5 Manual of Military Law (British), 101, 102, 106, 118, 164 Marshall, General George, 46 Martens, Fedor Fedorovich, 91–2, 103, 161–3; 1899 declaration ('Martens clause'), 3, 94, 103, 126, 162–4, 166, 172 Mennonites, 36 mercenaries, 62, 72 Mexico, 65 Middle East: UN forces in, 67, 82; Security Council and, 126; ICRC in, 82-90, 131-2; and freedom from nuclear weapons, 153; see also Israel moon see Agreement on the moon and other celestial bodies, 1979

Moynier, Gustave, 160

mutual assured destruction (MAD), 2

napalm, 71-2, 79

Netherlands, 172 neutrality, 42 neutron bomb, 135, 138 New Zealand, 78 Niebuhr, Reinhold, 172 Nigeria, 82, 125 Nightingale, Florence, 160 Nixon, Richard M., 116, 141 Non-Applicability of Statutory Limitations see Convention on Non-Applicability of Statutory Limitations to War Crimes non-combatants, 1-2, 24; see also civilians Non-Proliferation Treaty, 1968 (NPT), 66, 137, 144-6, 149-50, North Atlantic Treaty Organisation (NATO), 117–18, 141 Northern Ireland, 114 Norway, 77, 105 nuclear energy, 146 nuclear weapons: effect, 23, 138-9; attempts to control, 117–19, 136, 140-6; manufacture, 136-8, 154; issues, 141–2; numbers and stockpile, 142, 147; research, testing and development, 143–5; transfer of, 146; destruction or dismantling of, 148; proliferation, 153–4; as deterrent, 154–5; some scientists' opposition to, 173-5; Human Rights Committee on (1984), 190-1Nürnberg Tribunal and Charter: on crimes, 1–2, 49–58, 158; UN

General Assembly recognises principles, 49–50; seven principles of international law, 50–9, 61–2, 79, 105; on rules of land warfare, 161; and individual responsibility, 50–2, 167, 171
Nussbaum, Arthur, 162

O'Brien, William, 17 Oppenheimer, Robert, 173 Origen, 9

Orwell, George, 29, 159 Outer Space Treaty, 1967, 144, 147, 149, 151 Oxford Manual, 163 pacifists and pacifism, 20-2, 47, 158-60, 170-1 Pakistan, 68, 82-3, 97, 137 Palestine Liberation Organisation, 95 Palestinians, 89 Panafricanist Congress, 95 Paris, Pact of, 1928 see Briand-Kellogg Pact Partial Test Ban Treaty, 1963, 143-4, 150 patriotism, 170 Pave Paws (radar), 152 peaceful nuclear explosions, Treaty on, 1976, 144, 149–50 Penn, William, 20–2 Pepys, Samuel, 167–8 Pérez de Cuéllar, Javier, 133 Peter, St, 9, 12, 37 Pictet, Jean, 120 plutonium 239, 137, 139 poisons see chemical and bacteriological (biological) weapons Poland, 61 Polaris missiles, 137–8 pre-emptive strike: Grotius on, 41 prisoners of war (POWs): Grotius on, 42, 44; 1929 Geneva Convention on, 56, 77, 93-5, 161, 172; and 'freedom fighters', 64, 71–3, 76–8; humanitarian protection of, 70–1, 73, 75–7; Hague Conventions on, 100; ICRC and, 127-9; exchanged in Middle East, 132 Prohibitions and Restraints in War (S. Bailey), 5 proportionality, 28–30 Pugwash movement, 174–5 Quakers, 20–2 Quneitra, 89

radiation effects, nuclear, 23, 30

Ramsey, Paul, 16

Rand Corporation, 2 Reagan, Ronald, 151, 153 Red Crescent, 3, 95, 123 Red Cross: humanitarianism, 3; emblem, 95, 100; and pacifism, 158-60; see also International Committee of the Red Cross: International Red Cross Red Shield of David Society (Israel), reprisals, 28, 44, 48, 106-8 retaliation, 42 retribution, 106 revolution, 40, 44; see also freedom fighters; guerrilla fighters Roman Catholic Church: and nuclear deterrence, 25-8 Roosevelt, Franklin D., 173 Rotblat, Joseph, 174-5 Rousseau, Jean-Jacques, 103 'ruses of war', 71, 100 Russell, Bertrand, 171 Russia see Soviet Union

Safawat, Muhamad, 88 Saint Christopher and Nevis, 93 St Petersburg Declaration, 1868, 3, 92, 99, 104, 109-10 Sakharov, Andrei, 6 SALT I, 1972 (Interim Agreement on strategic arms), 144, 147–52 SALT II, 1979, 144, 147–8, 150–2 Saudi Arabia, 62 Saul, King of Israel, 166–7 Sea-bed and ocean floor, Treaty on, 1971, 144, 147, 149–50 Senegal, 83 Shemya (Aleutian Islands), 152 Simcock, John, 21 Society of the Friends of Peace, 161 soldiers: ICRC rules for, 190 Solferino, Battle of, 1859, 160 Solzhenitsyn, Alexander, 6 Somalia, 84–5 South Africa, 137 South Asia: freedom from nuclear weapons, 153 South Pacific: as nuclearweapon-free zone, 147 South West Africa People's Organisation, 95

Soviet Union: in UN, 76, 114; accuses USA of germ warfare, 114; and nuclear control, 117; and ICRC, 125; and Cuban missile crisis, 125, 130; and manufacture of nuclear weapons, 136, 154; in Geneva talks, 141; nuclear weapons test treaties, 143, 145; alleged violation of nuclear agreements, 151-3; chemical weapons, 154 Special Committee (on Israel practices; UN), 82, 85-8 Sri Lanka (formerly Ceylon), 76, 84, 142 Standing Consultative Commission (on nuclear arms control), 150 Stauffenberg, Claus von, 6 Stimson, Henry, 46 Strategic Defence Initiative ('Star Wars'), 153 Suárez, Francisco, 14-17, 33, 35 Sudan, 76 Suez Canal, 157 Suttner, Gräfin Bertha von, 158, 160 Sweden, 78 Switzerland, 156 Syria, 85 Szilard, Leo, 172-4

Tanzania, 68 Taylor, Telford, 108 Teheran Conference see International Conference on Human Rights, 1968 Tertullian, 9 Thant, U, 66, 83–4, 115, 130–1 Theodosius I, Emperor, 10-11 threat, 30-3 Threshold test ban treaty, 1974, 144-5, 149-51 Thule (Greenland), 152 Tlatelolco, Treaty of, 1967, 118, 143-4, 146-8, 150; see also Latin America Tocqueville, Alexis de, 172 Tomahawk cruise missiles, 138, 152 total war, 45 Trident missiles, 137–8 Truman, Harry S., 46

UNESCO, 65, 101-2 United Arab Emirates, 123 United Kingdom see Britain United Nations: Charter, 1, 7, 47-9, 63, 90, 157-8; need for, 28; and laws and customs of war, 56; protection and supervision of human rights in war, 75, 77, 164; and Korean war, 127, 130; membership, 156 Children's Fund, 66 Disarmament Commission, 140 Emergency Forces, 67, 82 General Assembly: on use of nuclear weapons, 3; resolution on friendly relations, 48; and Nürnberg Charter, 49-50; 58-9; decisions on international law of war, 59-62; and prosecution of war criminals, 61; and human rights in war, 63-9, 74, 76, 78–81, 99; and Israeli practices, 82-4; and CBW, 115; and nuclear disarmament, 118, 140; and 'freedom fighters', 120; condemns use of nuclear weapons, 155; on threat or use of force, 157, 181, 182, 184 Texts of documents: on essentials of peace (resolution 290, 1949), 179; peace through deeds (resolution 380, 1950), 179; on establishing an international Criminal court (resolutions 687, 1952; 898, 1954; 1187, 1957), 61; establishes Convention on Non-Applicability of Statutory Limitations (resolution 2391, 1970), 61; on denying asylum to war criminals (resolution 2392, 1970), 62; (resolution 3074, 1973), 61; use of nuclear weapons (resolution 1653, 1961), 180; intervention in domestic affairs (resolution 2131, 1965), 180; threat or use of force (resolutions 2160, 1966; 2625, 1970; 2936, 1972),

United Nations: General Assembly Text of documents - continued 181, 182, 184; use of chemical and bacteriological (biological) weapons (resolution 2162B, 1966), 181; basic principles for the protection of civilians (resolution 2675, 1970), 183; international security (resolution 2734, 1970), 183; uranium 235, 137 incendiary weapons (memo. 1973), 184; definition of aggression (resolution 3314, 1974), 186–8; protection of women and children (resolution 3318, 1974), 188–9 High Commissioner for Refugees, Human Rights Commission, 78, 85, 88 Human Rights Committee, 190-1 Military Staff Committee, 140 Secretariat, 66, 68–9, 71–5, 78, 81 47-50 Security Council: resolution on acquisition of territory, 44; and maintenance of peace, 63, 157; condemns reprisals, 107-8; and Cuban missile crisis, 130; and disarmament, 140-1, 145 UNRWA, 85 Working Group (of Experts), 83, 85-6,88 see also International Law Commission United States of America: on North Viet Nam's disregard of POW convention, 65; and UN resolution on POWs, 77; and Additional Protocols, 98; and CBW prohibitions, 113; accused of using chemical weapons in Korea, 114, 116, 130; and nuclear disarmament, 118; and manufacture of nuclear weapons,

136, 154; in Geneva talks, 141;

nuclear test ban treaties, 145; non-ratification of SALT II, 148, 150–1; and alleged violations of nuclear agreements, 151-2; chemical weapons, 154 United States bishops: pastoral letter ('The Challenge of Peace'), 25–6, Universal Declaration of Human Rights, 86, 190

Valmy, Battle of, 1792, 169 van der Post, Sir Laurens, 159 Vansittart, Sir Robert, 113 Vatican Council, Second, 17, 23, 25 Vienna talks (NATO-Warsaw Pact), Viet Nam, 62; war in, 82, 171 Viet Nam, North, 65 Vitoria, Francisco de, 14–16, 33, 35

war: outlawing and prohibition of, war crimes, 55–62, 179 war-fighting and war-winning, 33 Warsaw Pact, 117, 141 Washington, George, 169 Washington Naval Treaty, 1922, 111 weapons: development of absolute, 45–6; cruel and indiscriminate, 71-2, 79-81, 91-2, 99-100 Weber, Max, 158-9 West Bank of the River Jordan, 89 Whewell, William, 36 women and children: protection of, 81, 97-8; UN resolution on, 188-9 World Council of Churches: First Assembly (1948), 22–3 World Health Organisation, 66

Yugoslavia, 84

Zaire (formerly Congo), 67 Zimbabwe, 142 Zuckerman, Solly, Baron, 139